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This Preliminary Official Statement and the information contained herein are subject to completion, amendment or other change without any notice. These securities may not be sold nor may offers to buy be accepted prior to
the time the Official Statement is delivered in final form. Under no circumstances shall this Preliminary Official Statement constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of these
securities in any jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws of any such jurisdiction.

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED MAY 8, 2013
NEW ISSUES – BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY

RATINGS: See "Ratings" Herein

In the opinion of Squire Sanders (US) LLP, Bond Counsel, under existing law (i) assuming continuing compliance with certain covenants and the
accuracy of certain representations, interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not an item of tax
preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations, and (ii) interest on the Bonds is exempt
from Arizona state income tax. Interest on the Bonds may be subject to certain federal taxes imposed only on certain corporations, including the
corporate alternative minimum tax on a portion of that interest. For a more complete discussion of the tax aspects, see “TAX MATTERS” herein.

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
$50,000,000
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
SERIES 2013A

$39,675,000*
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS
SERIES 2013B

Dated: Date of Initial Delivery

Due: July 1, as shown on inside cover

The $50,000,000 principal amount of General Obligation Bonds, Series 2013A (the “Improvement Bonds”) and $39,675,000* principal
amount of General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2013B (the “Refunding Bonds” and, together with the Improvement Bonds, the “Bonds”)
being issued by Pima County, Arizona (the “County”) will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for The Depository Trust Company,
New York, New York (“DTC”), which will act as securities depository for the Bonds for purposes of the book-entry-only system maintained thereby.
Purchases of beneficial interests in the Bonds will be made in book-entry-only form in amounts of $5,000 of principal due on a maturity date or any
integral multiple thereof.
Interest on the Bonds will accrue from the dated date and will be payable until maturity or prior redemption semiannually on January 1 and
July 1 (each an “Interest Payment Date”), commencing January 1, 2014 and principal of the Bonds will be payable annually in accordance with the
schedules set forth on the inside cover page hereof. So long as the Bonds are registered in the name of DTC, or its nominee, payments of the
principal of and interest on the Bonds will be made directly by the paying agent, initially U.S. Bank National Association, to DTC which, in turn, is
obligated to remit such payments to its participants for subsequent distribution to beneficial owners of the Bonds. See Appendix F – “Book-EntryOnly System.”
The Improvement Bonds will be subject to redemption prior to their stated maturities on or after July 1, 2023* as provided under “THE
BONDS – Redemption Provisions” herein. The Refunding Bonds will not be subject to redemption prior to their stated maturities.
The Improvement Bonds are being issued for the purpose of (i) funding various capital projects in the County and (ii) paying costs related
to the issuance of the Improvement Bonds. The Refunding Bonds are being issued for the purpose of (i) refunding the Bonds Being Refunded (as
defined herein) and (ii) paying costs related to the issuance of the Refunding Bonds. See “SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS” herein.
Upon their issuance, the Bonds will be direct and general obligations of the County, payable as to principal and interest, from ad valorem
taxes to be levied against all taxable property within the County without limitation as to rate or amount to pay the principal of and interest on the
Improvement Bonds, and without limitation as to rate but limited to an amount to pay the principal of and interest on the Refunding Bonds of not
greater than the amount of ad valorem taxes that would have been levied to pay the Bonds Being Refunded, which funds are irrevocably pledged for
the payment of principal of and interest on the Refunding Bonds when and as the same fall due, subject to the rights of the owners of the Bonds
Being Refunded to payment of the Bonds Being Refunded from the same tax source in the event of a deficiency in the moneys and obligations issued
by or guaranteed by the United State of America which will be purchased from the proceeds of the sale of the Refunding Bonds and other moneys
available therefor and placed in trust for the purpose of making all payments when due on the Bonds Being Refunded .

MATURITY SCHEDULES AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON INSIDE FRONT COVER PAGE
This cover page contains only a brief description of the Bonds and the security therefor. It is not intended to be a summary of material
information with respect to the Bonds. Investors should read the entire Official Statement to obtain information necessary to make an informed
investment decision.
The Bonds are offered when, as and if issued by the County and received by the underwriter identified below (the “Underwriter”) subject
to the approving opinion of Squire Sanders (US) LLP, Bond Counsel, as to validity and tax exemption. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for
the Underwriter by its counsel, Greenberg Traurig, LLP. It is expected that the Bonds will be available for delivery through the facilities of DTC in
New York, New York, on or about June 5, 2013*.

RBC CAPITAL MARKETS
May __, 2013

* Preliminary, subject to change.

MATURITY SCHEDULES*
$50,000,000
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
SERIES 2013A
Due
July 1
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021

Principal
Amount*
$2,250,000
2,855,000
2,915,000
2,975,000
3,030,000
3,125,000
3,215,000
3,315,000

Interest
Rate

Yield

Due
July 1
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028

CUSIP (a)

Principal
Amount*
$3,415,000
3,515,000
3,620,000
3,740,000
3,870,000
4,005,000
4,155,000

Interest
Rate

Yield

CUSIP (a)

$39,675,000*
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS
SERIES 2013B
Due
July 1
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020

Principal
Amount*
$260,000
4,755,000
4,890,000
9,545,000
9,785,000
5,275,000
5,165,000

Interest
Rate

Yield

CUSIP (a)

(a) Copyright 2013, American Bankers Association. CUSIP data is provided by CUSIP Global Services, managed
by Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC on behalf of the American Bankers Association. CUSIP numbers
are provided for information only. None of the County, the Underwriter or their counsel take responsibility for
the accuracy of such numbers.

* Preliminary, subject to change.
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This Official Statement, which includes the cover page, the inside cover page and the appendices
hereto, does not constitute an offering of any security other than the original offering of the Bonds identified
on the cover hereof. No person has been authorized by Pima County, Arizona (the “County”), to give any
information or to make any representations other than as contained in this Official Statement, and if given or
made, such other information or representation not so authorized should not be relied upon as having been
given or authorized by the County.
All financial and other information presented in this Official Statement has been provided by the
County from its records, except for information expressly attributed to other sources. The presentation of
information, including tables of receipts from taxes and other sources, is intended to show certain historic
information, and is not intended to indicate future or continuing trends in the financial position or other
affairs of the County. No representation is made that the past experience, as shown by such financial and
other information, will necessarily continue or be repeated in the future. This Official Statement contains, in
part, estimates and matters of opinion, whether or not expressly stated to be such, which are not intended as
statements or representations of fact or certainty, and no representation is made as to the correctness of such
estimates and opinions, or that they will be realized. All forecasts, projections, assumptions, opinions or
estimates are “forward looking statements,” which must be read with an abundance of caution and which
may not be realized or may not occur in the future. The information and expressions of opinion herein are
subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made
hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs
of the County since the date hereof.
A wide variety of other information, including financial information, concerning the County is
available from publications and websites of the County and others. Any such information that is inconsistent
with the information set forth in this Official Statement should be disregarded. No such information is a part
of, or incorporated into, this Official Statement, except as expressly noted herein.
RBC Capital Markets, LLC (the “Underwriter”) has provided the following sentence for inclusion in
this Official Statement: The Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in
accordance with, and as part of, its responsibilities to investors in accordance with the Federal securities laws
as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the
accuracy or completeness of such information.
IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OVERALLOT OR
EFFECT TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE BONDS
AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET.
SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME.
The issuance and sale of the Bonds have not been registered under the Federal Securities Act of 1933
or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, both as amended, in reliance upon exemptions provided thereunder
by Sections 3(a)2 and 3(a)12, respectively, for the issuance and sale of municipal securities; nor have the
issuance and sale of the Bonds been qualified under the Securities Act of Arizona, in reliance upon various
exemptions thereunder. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer
to buy in any state in which such offer or solicitation is not authorized or in which the person making such
offer or solicitation is not qualified to do so or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or
solicitation.
The information contained herein in Appendix F – “Book-Entry-Only System” has been furnished by
The Depository Trust Company, and no representation has been made by the County or the Underwriter, or
any of their counsel or agents, as to the accuracy or completeness of such information.
The County has undertaken to provide continuing disclosure with respect to the Bonds as required
by Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission. See “Continuing Secondary Market Disclosure”
and Appendix D – “Form of Continuing Disclosure Undertaking” herein.
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PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
$50,000,000
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
SERIES 2013A

$39,675,000*
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS
SERIES 2013B

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT
The purpose of this Official Statement, which includes the cover page, the inside cover page and the
appendices hereto, is to provide information in connection with the sale and issuance of the $50,000,000 principal
amount of General Obligation Bonds, Series 2013A (the “Improvement Bonds”) and $39,675,000* principal amount
of General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2013B (the “Refunding Bonds” and, together with the Improvement
Bonds, the “Bonds”) by Pima County, Arizona (the “County”).
The offering of the Bonds is made only by way of this Official Statement, which supersedes any other
information or materials used in connection with the offer or sale of the Bonds. Accordingly, prospective purchasers
of the Bonds should read this entire Official Statement before making their investment decision.
All financial and other information presented in this Official Statement with respect to the County has been
provided by representatives of the County from its records, except for information expressly attributed to other
sources. The presentation of financial and other information, including tables of receipts from taxes and other
sources, is intended to show recent historical information and, except as expressly stated otherwise, is not intended
to indicate future or continuing trends in the financial position or other affairs of the County. No representation is
made that past experience, as shown by such financial and other information, will necessarily continue or be
repeated in the future. This Official Statement contains, in part, estimates and matters of opinion, whether or not
expressly stated to be such, which are not intended as statements or representations of fact or certainty, and no
representation is made as to the correctness of such estimates and opinions, or that they will be realized. All
forecasts, projections, assumptions, opinions or estimates are "forward looking statements," which must be read with
an abundance of caution and which may not be realized or may not occur in the future. The information and
expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official
Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no
change in the affairs of the County since the date hereof.
References to provisions of Arizona law, whether codified in the Arizona Revised Statutes or uncodified, or
of the Arizona Constitution, are references to those current provisions. Those provisions may be amended, repealed
or supplemented.

THE BONDS
Authorization and Use of Funds
The Bonds are being issued pursuant to the authority contained in Title 35, Chapter 3, Articles 3 and 4,
Arizona Revised Statutes, and under the provisions of an authorizing resolution (the “Bond Resolution”) adopted by
the Board of Supervisors of Pima County, Arizona (the “Board”) on May 7, 2013. The Improvement Bonds are
being issued for the purpose of (i) funding various capital projects in the County and (ii) paying costs related to the
issuance of the Improvement Bonds. The Refunding Bonds are being issued for the purpose of (i) refunding the
Bonds Being Refunded (as defined herein) and (ii) paying costs related to the issuance of the Refunding Bonds.
See “SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS” herein.
The Improvement Bonds offered herein represent a portion of the aggregate principal amount authorized to
be issued by the voters of the County at elections held on May 20, 1997, May 18, 2004 and May 16, 2006. After the
* Preliminary, subject to change.
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issuance of the Improvement Bonds, the County will have $28,681,000 principal amount of authorized but unissued
general obligation bonds. General obligation bonds of the County are outstanding currently, and additional general
obligation bonds may be authorized at future elections.
General Description
As described herein in Appendix F – “Book-Entry-Only System,” the Bonds will be registered in the name
of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York for purposes of the
book-entry-only system provided thereby. So long as DTC, or its nominee, is the registered owner of all of the
Bonds, all payments on the Bonds will be made directly to DTC for payment to the owners as described herein in
Appendix F – “Book-Entry-Only System.”
The Bonds will be dated the date of initial delivery thereof and will be available in amounts of $5,000 of
principal due on a maturity date or any integral multiple thereof. The Bonds will bear interest from their dated date,
payable semiannually on January 1 and July 1 (each an “Interest Payment Date”), commencing January 1, 2014.
Interest on the Bonds will be paid by the bond registrar and paying agent, initially U.S. Bank National Association,
or its successors (the “Bond Registrar and Paying Agent”), to the owners thereof (initially Cede & Co., as nominee
for DTC) as shown on the registration books maintained by the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent, at the close of
business on the fifteenth day of the month preceding each Interest Payment Date or if such day is a Saturday,
Sunday or holiday on the next preceding business day (the “Record Date”). So long as the Bonds are in DTC’s
book-entry-only system, and thereafter at the written request and expense of the owners of $1,000,000 or more in
aggregate principal amount of Bonds delivered to the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent prior to a Record Date,
interest and principal will be paid by wire transfer to a bank account in the continental United States.
Security and Source of Payment
The Bonds will be direct and general obligations of the County and will be payable as to both principal and
interest from ad valorem taxes to be levied against all taxable property within the County, without limitation as to
rate or amount to pay the principal of and interest on the Improvement Bonds, and without limitation as to rate but
limited to an amount to pay the principal of and interest on the Refunding Bonds of not greater than the amount of
ad valorem taxes that would have been levied to pay the Bonds Being Refunded, which funds are irrevocably
pledged for the payment of principal of and interest on the Refunding Bonds when and as the same fall due, subject
to the rights of the owners of the Bonds Being Refunded to payment of the Bonds Being Refunded from the same
tax source in the event of a deficiency in the moneys and obligations issued by or guaranteed by the United States of
America (“U.S. Government Obligations”) which will be purchased from the proceeds of the sale of the Refunding
Bonds and other moneys available therefor and placed in trust for the purpose of making all payments when due on
the Bonds Being Refunded. See “PLAN OF FINANCE” herein. General obligation and general obligation
refunding bonds heretofore and hereafter issued by the County have and will have an equal claim with the Bonds
upon the proceeds of taxes levied for debt service by the County with the same limitations described above.
Redemption Provisions*
Improvement Bonds. The Improvement Bonds maturing on or before July 1, 2023 will not be subject to
call for redemption prior to their respective maturity dates. The Improvement Bonds maturing on or after July 1,
2024 will be subject to call for redemption on any date on or after July 1, 2023 at the election of the County, in
whole or in part from maturities selected by the County and within any maturity by lot, by the payment of a
redemption price equal to the principal amount of each Improvement Bond called for redemption plus accrued
interest to the date fixed for redemption, without premium.
No Prior Redemption of Refunding Bonds. The Refunding Bonds will not be subject to redemption prior to
their respective maturity dates.

* Preliminary, subject to change.
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Notice of Redemption
So long as the Improvement Bonds are in DTC book-entry-only system, notice of redemption of any
Improvement Bond will be provided to DTC by electronic media as described herein in Appendix F – “Book-EntryOnly System” not more than sixty (60) nor less than thirty (30) days prior to the date set for redemption. Thereafter,
notices will be mailed on the same schedule to the registered owner of the Improvement Bond or Improvement
Bonds being redeemed at the address shown on the Bond Register maintained by the Bond Registrar. Failure to give
proper notice of redemption shall not affect the redemption of any Improvement Bond for which proper notice was
given.

PLAN OF FINANCE*
Refunding Bonds. A portion of the net proceeds of the Refunding Bonds will be placed in a trust account
(the “Depository Trust”) with U.S. Bank National Association, as depository trustee (the “Depository Trustee”) and
will be used to acquire U.S. Government Obligations, the maturing principal of and interest income with respect to
which are calculated to be sufficient to pay, when due, the principal of and interest on the following bonds (the
“Bonds Being Refunded”):

Issue
(Dated
Date)

General
Obligation
Bonds

Original
Principal
Amount

6-1-2004

Series 2004

$65,000,000

Series 2005

65,000,000

5-1-2005

Maturity
Dates
to be
Refunded*
(July 1)
2015
through
2019
2017
through
2018
and 2020

Principal
Amount
Being
Refunded*

Redemption
Date

Redemption
Premium on
Bonds Being
Refunded

$24,420,000

7-1-2014

0%

14,435,000

7-1-2015

0%

To the extent that the monies and the U.S. Government Obligations held in the Depository Trust are not
sufficient to pay, when due, the principal of, interest and premium due on the Bonds Being Refunded, as they are
redeemed as stated above, the ad valorem taxes levied to pay the Refunding Bonds will be subject to the prior right
of the owners of the Bonds Being Refunded to payment from the same tax levy. See “THE BONDS – Security and
Source of Payment” and “MATHEMATICAL VERIFICATION.”
Improvement Bonds. The net proceeds received from the sale of the Improvement Bonds will be used to
fund various capital projects within the County and to pay costs related to the issuance of the Improvement Bonds.

MATHEMATICAL VERIFICATION
Concurrently with the delivery of and payment for the Bonds, Grant Thornton, LLP, a firm of independent
certified public accountants, will deliver to the County its verification report indicating that it has verified, in
accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the mathematical
accuracy of computations prepared by RBC Capital Markets, LLC, (the “Underwriter”), relating to (a) the
sufficiency of the anticipated receipts from the Government Obligations, together with the initial cash deposit, to
pay, when redeemed, the principal, interest and applicable premiums on the Bonds Being Refunded and (b) the
“yield” on the Government Obligations and the Bonds.

* Preliminary, subject to change.
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The report of Grant Thornton, LLP will state that the scope of its engagement was limited to verifying the
mathematical accuracy of the computations contained in schedules provided to it by the Underwriter and that it has
no obligation to update its report because of events occurring, or data or information coming to its attention,
subsequent to the date of its report.

SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS
The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be applied as follows:
Sources of Funds:
Proceeds of Bonds
Net Reoffering Premium/(Discount)
Total Sources
Uses of Funds:
County Capital Project Expenditures
Deposit to Depository Trust
Payment of Issuance Expenses (Including Underwriter’s Discount)
Deposit to Interest Account (a)
Total Uses
(a) Reflects net premium from sale of the Bonds that Arizona law requires be deposited to Interest
Account.

LEGAL MATTERS
Legal matters incident to the authorization, sale and issuance of the Bonds by the County and to the taxexempt status of interest on the Bonds are subject to the legal opinion of Squire Sanders (US) LLP (“Bond
Counsel”). The signed legal opinion of Bond Counsel, dated and premised on the law in effect as of the date of the
Bonds, will be delivered to the Underwriter at the time of original delivery of the Bonds.
The proposed text of the legal opinion is set forth as Appendix C - “Form of Opinion of Bond Counsel.”
The legal opinion to be delivered may vary from the text of Appendix C if necessary to reflect the facts and law
existing on the date of delivery. The opinion will speak only as of its date, and subsequent distribution, by
recirculation of this Official Statement or otherwise, should not be construed as a representation that Bond Counsel
has reviewed or expressed any opinion concerning any matters relating to the Bonds subsequent to the original
delivery of the Bonds.
Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Underwriter by Greenberg Traurig, LLP as counsel to the
Underwriter.

TAX MATTERS
General
In the opinion of Squire Sanders (US) LLP, Bond Counsel, under existing law: (i) interest on the Bonds is
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “Code”), and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum
tax imposed on individuals and corporations, and (ii) interest on the Bonds is exempt from Arizona state income tax.
Bond Counsel expresses no opinion as to any other tax consequences regarding the Bonds.

4

The opinion on tax matters will be based on and will assume the accuracy of certain representations and
certifications, and continuing compliance with certain covenants, of the County contained in the transcript of
proceedings and that are intended to evidence and assure the foregoing, including that the Bonds are and will remain
obligations the interest on which is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes. Bond Counsel will
not independently verify the accuracy of the County’s certifications and representations or the continuing
compliance with the County’s covenants.
The opinion of Bond Counsel is based on current legal authority and covers certain matters not directly
addressed by such authority. It represents Bond Counsel’s legal judgment as to exclusion of interest on the Bonds
from gross income for federal income tax purposes but is not a guaranty of that conclusion. The opinion is not
binding on the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) or any court. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion about (i) the
effect of future changes in the Code and the applicable regulations under the Code or (ii) the interpretation and the
enforcement of the Code or those regulations by the IRS.
The Code prescribes a number of qualifications and conditions for the interest on state and local
government obligations to be and to remain excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, some of
which require future or continued compliance after issuance of the obligations. Noncompliance with these
requirements by the County may cause loss of such status and result in the interest on the Bonds being included in
gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactively to the date of issuance of the Bonds. The County has
covenanted to take the actions required of it for the interest on the Bonds to be and to remain excluded from gross
income for federal income tax purposes, and not to take any actions that would adversely affect that exclusion.
After the date of issuance of the Bonds, Bond Counsel will not undertake to determine (or to so inform any person)
whether any actions taken or not taken, or any events occurring or not occurring, or any other matters coming to
Bond Counsel’s attention, may adversely affect the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of
interest on the Bonds or the market value of the Bonds.
A portion of the interest on the Bonds earned by certain corporations may be subject to a federal corporate
alternative minimum tax. In addition, interest on the Bonds may be subject to a federal branch profits tax imposed
on certain foreign corporations doing business in the United States and to a federal tax imposed on excess net
passive income of certain S corporations. Under the Code, the exclusion of interest from gross income for federal
income tax purposes may have certain adverse federal income tax consequences on items of income, deduction or
credit for certain taxpayers, including financial institutions, certain insurance companies, recipients of Social
Security and Railroad Retirement benefits, those that are deemed to incur or continue indebtedness to acquire or
carry tax-exempt obligations, and individuals otherwise eligible for the earned income tax credit. The applicability
and extent of these and other tax consequences will depend upon the particular tax status or other tax items of the
owner of the Bonds. Bond Counsel will express no opinion regarding those consequences.
Payments of interest on tax-exempt obligations, including the Bonds, are generally subject to IRS Form
1099-INT information reporting requirements. If a Bond owner is subject to backup withholding under those
requirements, then payments of interest will also be subject to backup withholding. Those requirements do not
affect the exclusion of such interest from gross income for federal income tax purposes.
Bond Counsel’s engagement with respect to the Bonds ends with the issuance of the Bonds, and, unless
separately engaged, Bond Counsel is not obligated to defend the County or the owners of the Bonds regarding the
tax status of interest thereon in the event of an audit examination by the IRS. The IRS has a program to audit taxexempt obligations to determine whether the interest thereon is includible in gross income for federal income tax
purposes. If the IRS does audit the Bonds, under current IRS procedures, the IRS will treat the County as the
taxpayer and the beneficial owners of the Bonds will have only limited rights, if any, to obtain and participate in
judicial review of such audit. Any action of the IRS, including but not limited to selection of the Bonds for audit, or
the course or result of such audit, or an audit of other obligations presenting similar tax issues, may affect the market
value of the Bonds.
Prospective purchasers of the Bonds upon their original issuance at prices other than the respective prices
indicated on the inside cover of this Official Statement and prospective purchasers of the Bonds at other than their
original issuance, should consult their own tax advisers regarding other tax considerations such as the consequences
of market discount, as to all of which Bond Counsel expresses no opinion.
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Risk of Future Legislative Changes and/or Court Decisions
Legislation affecting tax-exempt obligations is regularly considered by the United States Congress and may
also be considered by the State legislature. Court proceedings may also be filed, the outcome of which could modify
the tax treatment of obligations such as the Bonds. There can be no assurance that legislation enacted or proposed,
or actions by a court, after the date of issuance of the Bonds will not have an adverse effect on the tax status of
interest on the Bonds or the market value or marketability of the Bonds. These adverse effects could result, for
example, from changes to federal or state income tax rates, changes in the structure of federal or state income taxes
(including replacement with another type of tax), or repeal (or reduction in the benefit) of the exclusion of interest
on the Bonds from gross income for federal or state income tax purposes for all or certain taxpayers.
For example, recent presidential and legislative proposals would eliminate, reduce or otherwise alter the tax
benefits currently provided to certain owners of state and local government bonds, including proposals that would
result in additional federal income tax on taxpayers that own tax-exempt obligations if their incomes exceed certain
thresholds. Investors in the Bonds should be aware that any such future legislative actions (including federal
income tax reform) may retroactively change the treatment of all or a portion of the interest on the Bonds for federal
income tax purposes for all or certain taxpayers. In such event, the market value of the Bonds may be adversely
affected and the ability of holders to sell their Bonds in the secondary market may be reduced. The Bonds are not
subject to special mandatory redemption, and the interest rates on the Bonds are not subject to adjustment in the
event of any such change.
Investors should consult their own financial and tax advisers to analyze the importance of these risks.
Original Issue Discount and Original Issue Premium
Certain of the Bonds (“Discount Bonds”) as indicated on the cover page of this Official Statement were
offered and sold to the public at an original issue discount (“OID”). OID is the excess of the stated redemption price
at maturity (the principal amount) over the “issue price” of a Discount Bond. The issue price of a Discount Bond is
the initial offering price to the public (other than to bond houses, brokers or similar persons acting in the capacity of
underwriters or wholesalers) at which a substantial amount of the Discount Bonds of the same maturity is sold
pursuant to that offering. For federal income tax purposes, OID accrues to the owner of a Discount Bond over the
period to maturity based on the constant yield method, compounded semiannually (or over a shorter permitted
compounding interval selected by the owner). The portion of OID that accrues during the period of ownership of a
Discount Bond (i) is interest excluded from the owner’s gross income for federal income tax purposes to the same
extent, and subject to the same considerations discussed above, as other interest on the Bonds, and (ii) is added to
the owner’s tax basis for purposes of determining gain or loss on the maturity, redemption, prior sale or other
disposition of that Discount Bond. The amount of OID that accrues each year to a corporate owner of a Discount
Bond is taken into account in computing the corporation’s liability for federal alternative minimum tax. A purchaser
of a Discount Bond in the initial public offering at the price for that Discount Bond stated on the inside front cover
page of this Official Statement who holds that Discount Bond to maturity will realize no gain or loss upon the
retirement of that Discount Bond.
Certain of the Bonds (“Premium Bonds”) as indicated on the inside front cover page of this Official
Statement were offered and sold to the public at a price in excess of their stated redemption price (the principal
amount) at maturity. That excess constitutes bond premium. For federal income tax purposes, bond premium is
amortized over the period to maturity of a Premium Bond, based on the yield to maturity of that Premium Bond (or,
in the case of a Premium Bond callable prior to its stated maturity, the amortization period and yield may be
required to be determined on the basis of an earlier call date that results in the lowest yield on that Premium Bond),
compounded semiannually. No portion of that bond premium is deductible by the owner of a Premium Bond. For
purposes of determining the owner’s gain or loss on the sale, redemption (including redemption at maturity) or other
disposition of a Premium Bond, the owner’s tax basis in the Premium Bond is reduced by the amount of bond
premium that is amortized during the period of ownership. As a result, an owner may realize taxable gain for
federal income tax purposes from the sale or other disposition of a Premium Bond for an amount equal to or less
than the amount paid by the owner for that Premium Bond. A purchaser of a Premium Bond in the initial public
offering at the price for that Premium Bond stated on the inside front cover page of this Official Statement who
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holds that Premium Bond to maturity (or, in the case of a callable Premium Bond, to its earlier call date that results
in the lowest yield on that Premium Bond) will realize no gain or loss upon the retirement of that Premium Bond.
Owners of Discount Bonds and Premium Bonds should consult their own tax advisers as to the
determination for federal income tax purposes of the amount of OID or bond premium properly accruable or
amortizable in any period with respect to the Discount or Premium Bonds and as to other federal tax consequences
and the treatment of OID and bond premium for purposes of state and local taxes on, or based on, income.

LITIGATION
To the knowledge of appropriate representatives of the County, no litigation or administrative action or
proceeding is pending or threatened to restrain or enjoin, or seeking to restrain or enjoin: the issuance or delivery of
the Bonds; the levy and/or collection of taxes to pay the principal of and interest on, the Bonds; contesting or
questioning the proceedings and authority under which the Bonds have been authorized and are to be issued, sold,
executed or delivered; or the validity of the Bonds. Appropriate representatives of the County will deliver a
certificate to that effect at the time of the original delivery of the Bonds.
The County has been cooperating fully with the U.S. Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”) and the
Inspector General of the Arizona Health Care Cost Containment System (“AHCCCS”), Arizona's Medicaid agency,
since discovering that the County improperly billed AHCCCS for administration fees on vaccinations for a period of
time beginning in 2005. The improper billing, which was inadvertent, ceased as soon as it was discovered, and the
County has been accepted into OIG’s Self-Disclosure Protocol program (SDP). Nevertheless, it is anticipated that
the County will be required to pay some amount of civil penalties and damages under the state and federal false
claims acts (31 U.S.C §§ 3729-3733 and A.R.S. § 36-2918). Federal and state authorities have not yet determined
the amount of the penalty. It is anticipated that successful completion under the SDP will significantly mitigate the
amount of penalties assessed against the County and, in the opinion of County management, that such penalties will
not be material to the County.
The County has been named as a defendant in several lawsuits for which appropriate representatives of the
County believe either that the County has adequate self-insurance or insurance coverage in the event of liability or
that such liability would not otherwise materially and adversely affect the financial condition of the County.

UNDERWRITING
The Underwriter has agreed to purchase the Bonds, subject to certain conditions, at a purchase price of
$_____________. If the Bonds are sold to produce the yields shown on the inside front cover page hereof, the
Underwriter’s compensation will be $___________. The Underwriter will be obligated to accept delivery and pay
for all of the Bonds if any are delivered. The Underwriter may offer and sell the Bonds to certain dealers (including
dealers depositing Bonds into unit investment trusts) and others at yields higher than the public offering yields
reflected on the inside front cover page hereof. The initial public offering yields may be changed from time to time
by the Underwriter.
The Underwriter may also receive a fee for conducting a competitive bidding process regarding the
investment of certain proceeds of the Refunding Bonds.

RATINGS
Fitch Ratings (“Fitch”) and Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC (“S&P”) have assigned the Bonds
ratings of “AA” and “AA-,” respectively. Such ratings reflect only the respective views of Fitch and S&P, and any
explanation of the meaning or significance of the ratings may only be obtained from the rating agencies. The
County furnished to the rating agencies certain information and materials, some of which may not have been
included in this Official Statement relating to the Bonds or the County.
Generally, rating agencies base their ratings on such information and materials and on their own
investigations, studies and assumptions. There can be no assurance that a rating when assigned will continue for any
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given period of time or that it will not be lowered or withdrawn entirely by a rating agency if in its judgment
circumstances so warrant. Any lowering or withdrawal of a rating may have an adverse effect on the marketability
or market price of the Bonds.

CONTINUING SECONDARY MARKET DISCLOSURE
The County has covenanted for the benefit of certain holders of the Bonds to provide certain financial
information and operating data relating to the County by no later than February 1 in each year commencing
February 1, 2014 (the “Annual Reports”), and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events (the
“Notice of Listed Events”). The Annual Reports, the Notices of Listed Events and any other document or
information required to be filed as set forth in Appendix D – “Form of Continuing Disclosure Undertaking” will be
filed by the County with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB”) through the MSRB’s Electronic
Municipal Market Access system as described in such Form. The specific nature of the information to be contained
in the Annual Reports and the Notices of Listed Events is set forth in such Form.
These covenants have been made in order to assist the Underwriter in complying with S.E.C. Rule 15c212(b)(5) (the “Rule”). Pursuant to Arizona law, the ability of the County to provide information pursuant to such
covenants is subject to annual appropriation to, among other things, cover the costs of preparing and disseminating
the Annual Report and the Notices of Listed Events. A failure by the County to comply with these covenants must
be reported in accordance with the Rule and must be considered by any broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer
before recommending the purchase or sale of the Bonds in the secondary market. Consequently, such a failure may
adversely affect the transferability and liquidity of the Bonds and their market price.
The County has complied with all existing continuing disclosure undertakings relating to the County for the
last five years in all material respects.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Included as Appendix E of this Official Statement are excerpts of the County’s Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. The County has not requested or obtained the consent of
the Office of the Arizona Auditor General to include such excerpts in the Official Statement and the Office of the
Arizona Auditor General has performed no procedures subsequent to rendering their opinion on such
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.

CONCLUDING STATEMENT
To the extent that any statements made in this Official Statement involve matters of opinion or estimates,
whether or not expressly stated to be such, they are made as such and not as representations of fact or certainty and
no representation is made that any of these opinions or estimates have been or will be realized. Information in this
Official Statement has been derived by the County from official and other sources and is believed by the County to
be accurate and reliable. Information other than that obtained from official records of the County has not been
independently confirmed or verified by the County and its accuracy is not guaranteed.
Neither this Official Statement nor any statement that may have been or that may be made orally or in
writing is to be construed as a part of a contract with the original purchasers or subsequent owners of the Bonds.
By:
Chairman, Board of Supervisors

By:
County Administrator
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APPENDIX A

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
General Economic and Demographic Information
General Information
Pima County, Arizona (the “County”) is located in the southern portion of the State of Arizona (“Arizona”
or the “State”), with a section of its southern boundary bordering Mexico. The boundaries of the County encompass
an area of approximately 9,184 square miles. Organized in 1864 by the Arizona Territorial Legislature as one of the
State's four original counties, the County is today the second most populous county in Arizona with an estimated
2012 population of 990,380. Approximately 53% of the County’s population resides in the City of Tucson, Arizona
(“Tucson”), the County seat of government and southern Arizona’s largest city.
TABLE 1
Population Statistics For Pima County,
the City of Tucson and the State of Arizona

2012 Estimate (a)
2010 Census
2000 Census
1990 Census
1980 Census
1970 Census
(a)

Pima
County
990,380
980,263
843,746
666,880
531,443
351,667

City of
Tucson
523,471
520,116
486,699
405,390
330,537
262,933

State of
Arizona
6,498,569
6,392,017
5,130,632
3,665,228
2,716,546
1,775,399

Population estimates as of July 1, 2012 (released December 2012) provided by the Office of Employment
and Population Statistics, Arizona Department of Administration.

Source: Except as otherwise described, U.S. Census Bureau.
Organization
The County is governed by a five-member Board, each member of which is elected for a four-year term to
represent one of the designated districts within the County. The chairman is selected by the Board from among its
members. The Board is responsible for establishing the policies of the various County departments and approving
the annual budgets of these departments. The Board appoints a County Administrator who is responsible for the
general administration and overall operations of the various departments of the County.
Mr. Charles H. Huckelberry was appointed County Administrator in December 1993. From 1987 to 1993,
Mr. Huckelberry served as an Assistant County Manager with responsibility for the administration of public works.
He served as the Director of Pima County's Department of Transportation and the Flood Control District (the
“District”) from 1979 to 1987; as Deputy Director of the Wastewater Department from 1976 to 1979; and as the
Wastewater Department's Manager of Field Engineering from 1974 to 1976. He was self employed as a civil
engineering and land surveying consultant for one year. From 1972 to 1973, Mr. Huckelberry was employed as a
Research and Development Engineer for the Shell Oil Company. He holds both a Bachelor of Science Degree in
Mining Engineering and a Master of Science Degree in Civil Engineering from The University of Arizona and is a
registered professional engineer and land surveyor as well as a member of numerous professional organizations.
Mr. Thomas Burke was appointed Finance and Risk Management Director in January 2005 and had served
as Deputy Director of Finance from May 2004. Prior to his move to Finance, Mr. Burke served as Deputy Director
of Pima County's Department of Natural Resources, Parks and Recreation from 2003 to 2004. From 2000 to 2003,
he was a Deputy County Attorney representing various Pima County departments including the County Assessor,
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County Treasurer and Public Works departments. From 1989 to 1998, Mr. Burke served as the Manager of Pima
County’s Real Property Services and from 1994 to 1998 also served as the County’s Superintendent of Streets
overseeing special taxing districts. During 1998 to 2000, he was a partner in an Arizona law firm representing local
governments. Prior to his work with Pima County, Mr. Burke was an attorney with a Tucson law firm from 1983 to
1989 and was a Certified Public Accountant with Ernst & Whinney from 1976 to 1980. Mr. Burke holds a Bachelor
of Science in Business Administration with a major in Accounting and a Juris Doctor, both from The University of
Arizona, and is licensed as an attorney in the State of Arizona.
Transportation
Tucson is the economic and transportation center of the County, as well as southern Arizona. Tucson is
traversed by Interstates 10 and 19, as well as State Highways 77, 83, 85 and 86. Interstate 10 passes through Tucson
and connects Tucson with the City of Phoenix, Arizona, to the north and Los Angeles, California, to the west and
New Mexico and Texas to the east. Interstate 19 provides access to the City of Nogales, Arizona and Mexico to the
south, while U.S. Highway 86 connects with a direct route to the Gulf of California vacation areas. The main line of
the Union Pacific Railroad extends across Tucson to the eastern portion of the County. Tucson International
Airport, located approximately 20 minutes from Tucson's downtown business area, provides local, regional, national
and international air service through several airlines. The airport has an 11,000-ft. lighted, paved primary runway, a
9,100-ft. paved secondary runway and a 7,000-ft paved runway, all of which can accommodate all major types of
carriers. The County is also served by Greyhound bus lines and Amtrak.
Economy
The economy of the County is based largely on a variety of service industries, trade, and government
employment. Figures from the Arizona Department of Administration, Office of Employment and Population
Statistics indicate that 360,900 persons were employed, on average (not including the agricultural industry), in the
County in 2012. The following table presents the County’s average annual total employment by industry for the
periods indicated. During the recent recession, employment decreased in the County from 2008 through 2010, but
has shown signs of stabilizing and growth in 2011 and 2012, as reflected in the information shown below.
TABLE 2
Pima County
Average Annual Employment
Number of Persons Employed 2008-2012
Industry
Goods Producing
Construction
Manufacturing
Service Providing
Trade, Transportation and Utilities
Information
Financial Activities
Professional and Business Services
Education and Health Services
Leisure and Hospitality
Other Services
Government
Total Wage & Salary Employment

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

24,700
27,200

18,300
25,100

16,800
24,000

16,400
23,400

16,400
23,300

62,700
5,300
17,200
51,400
57,100
40,400
15,700
79,800
381,500

58,200
4,700
17,500
47,100
58,500
38,700
14,700
79,100
361,900

56,600
4,300
17,600
45,700
58,300
38,100
14,300
78,200
353,900

57,700
4,200
18,800
46,700
59,800
39,100
12,500
76,800
355,400

57,700
4,300
18,900
48,200
61,000
40,400
12,700
78,000
360,900

Source: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, by Arizona Department of Administration, Office of
Employment and Population Statistics.
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The average unemployment rate for the County in 2012 was 7.3%. The average annual unemployment
rates for 2011 and 2010 were 8.4% and 9.4%, respectively. The table below shows comparative unemployment
rates for the County, the State and the United States for the periods indicated. As reflected for the United States as a
whole, the unemployment rate for Arizona and for the County saw significant increases in 2009 and 2010 but
decreased in 2011 and 2012.
TABLE 3
Pima County
Comparative Employment Statistics (a)
Calendar
Year
2012
2011
2010
2009
2008
(a)

Pima County
Average
Average
Employment
Unemployment
429,167
33,581
426,406
39,207
433,795
45,259
441,966
43,817
446,651
26,725

Unemployment Rate
Pima
County
Arizona
7.3%
8.3%
8.4%
9.4%
9.4%
10.4%
9.0%
9.8%
5.6%
6.0%

U.S.
8.1%
8.9%
9.6%
9.3%
5.8%

Data shown in table is not seasonally adjusted.

Source: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics and Arizona Department of Administration, Office of
Employment and Population Statistics.
The following table indicates the major employers in southern Arizona, which includes the County, as
reported in April 2012.
TABLE 4
Southern Arizona
Major Employers

Company
University of Arizona
Raytheon Missile Systems
State of Arizona
Davis-Monthan Air Force Base
Wal-Mart Stores Inc.
Tucson Unified School District
U.S. Army Intelligence Center and Fort Huachuca
Pima County
U.S. Customs & Border Protection/ U.S. Border Patrol
The University of Arizona Health Network
Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc.
Carondelet Health Network
City of Tucson
Tohono O'odham Nation
Fry's Food Stores
TMC HealthCare
Corrections Corp. of America (CCA)
Pima Community College
Asarco LLC
Afni Inc.

Type of Business
Higher Education
Military & Defense
Government
Military & Defense
Retailers
Education
Military & Defense
Government
Government
Health Care
Mining & Agriculture
Health Care
Government
Government
Restaurants & Food Distribution
Health Care
Other
Higher Education
Mining and Agriculture
Call Centers, Business Services & Staffing

Source: The Star 200, The Arizona Daily Star (April 2012).
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Approximate
Number of FullTime Equivalents
10,681
10,500
9,061
8,566
7,300
6,674
6,198
6,170
6,000
5,594
5,068
4,635
4,541
4,350
3,100
2,904
2,482
2,386
2,348
2,198

Non-Governmental Employment
From 2008 through 2010, average employment figures across all categories with the exception of financial
activities and education and health services showed declines in employment. During that time, average nongovernmental employment in the County fell by approximately 26,000 jobs, or approximately 8.6%. In 2011 and
2012, employment figures for all categories showed signs of either growth or stabilization, with overall employment
up 1.9%, in comparison to the 2010 figures.
The average annual employment in service-providing categories in 2012 was 243,200. It is anticipated that
as the County continues to grow in population and economic activity, service-providing employment will continue
to provide the primary source of jobs in the County. As detailed in TABLE 2, employment in the Education and
Health Services and Trade, Transportation and Utilities have been the primary areas of employment in the serviceproviding industry.
Government
Government employment plays an important role in the County with Federal, State and local government
employees averaging approximately 78,000 in 2012. The State and Davis-Monthan Air Force Base are significant
contributors to government employment in the County. (See “Southern Arizona - Major Employers” listed in
TABLE 4.) Davis-Monthan Air Force Base is a major training ground for active duty members on the A-10
“Warthog” aircraft. The facility is also responsible for the education of tactical missile crews. Its storage capacity of
2,500 aircraft is the largest in the world. In the past, Davis-Monthan Air Force Base reportedly has been included on
lists of installations considered for closure or realignment by the Defense Base Closure and Realignment
Commission. There can be no assurances that Davis-Monthan Air Force Base will not be included on similar lists in
the future. Any such closure or realignment would most likely be subject to review and approval by, among others,
the Department of Defense and the President of the United States and would have a negative but unquantifiable
effect on the County.
Manufacturing
The manufacturing sector in the County continues to be dominated by the high technology industries of
aerospace and electronics. Raytheon Missile Systems, the largest manufacturing company and largest employer in
the County, is a major supplier of advanced munitions. Civilian aviation products and services are provided by
Bombardier, which has an aircraft maintenance facility in Tucson, and Universal Avionics Systems Corp., which
builds and installs advanced instrumentation, communication and navigation systems for civil aircrafts. Texas
Instruments manufactures electronic circuitry and data storage devices. Ventana Medical Systems provides
computerized medical laboratory equipment.
Average annual employment in the manufacturing sector within the County in 2012 was 23,300,
representing 6.5% of the County’s total wage and salary employment base. Manufacturing employment in the
County has decreased each year since 2008, but has shown signs of stabilization in 2012. Since 2008, average
manufacturing employment fell by approximately 3,900 jobs, or approximately 14.3%.
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The following table presents the major manufacturers in the County and Tucson metropolitan area as of
April 2012:
TABLE 5
Southern Arizona
Major Manufacturers
Company
IBM Corp.*
Ventana Medical Systems Inc.
Bombardier Aerospace
Honeywell Aerospace*
B/E Aerospace Inc.
Texas Instruments Inc.
Marana Aerospace Solutions, Inc.
Sargent Aerospace & Defense
FLSmidth Krebs
Universal Avionics Systems Corp.

Type of Business
Manufacturing & Research
Manufacturing & Research
Aerospace & Aircraft
Aerospace & Aircraft
Aerospace & Aircraft
Manufacturing & Research
Aerospace & Aircraft
Aerospace & Aircraft
Manufacturing & Research
Aerospace & Aircraft

Approximate 2012
Employment
1,350
1,070
709
650
500
370
336
275
267
242

* Estimated
Source: The Star 200, The Arizona Daily Star (April 2012).
The County’s proximity to Mexico makes twin plant “maquiladora” operations practical. Components are
manufactured in Tucson and transported duty-free to Nogales, Sonora, Mexico, 65 miles south of Tucson, for
assembly. Among the companies operating “twin plants” in Tucson and Nogales are General Electric, Samsonite,
Motorola, Acco, Moen Faucets and Masterlock. These manufacturers contribute to the County’s economy in many
ways including the support of numerous suppliers and peripheral industries. The proximity of the Mexican border is
more significant to manufacturing concerns given the existence of the North American Free Trade Agreement
between Canada, the United States and Mexico. However, the uncertainty of the U.S. and Mexican economies may
negatively impact the employment of the previously described manufacturing concerns.
Tourism
Tourism is an important economic mainstay in the County and the Tucson area. The County’s climate,
historical and cultural sites, location and proximity to vacation areas in California, Mexico, and other Southwest
destinations attract vacationers, conventioneers and other visitors. The Metropolitan Tucson Convention and
Visitors Bureau estimated that 688 convention bookings with 222,102 convention delegates visited the Tucson area
in fiscal year 2011-12, the most recent data available. In the Tucson area, the Bureau estimated that there were
approximately 197 hotels and resorts with 16,727 rooms. Points of interest, recreational sites and sight-seeing
attractions include the Arizona-Sonora Desert Museum, Kitt Peak National Observatory, Pima Air and Space
Museum, Titan Missile Museum, Saguaro National Park, Mission San Xavier del Bac, Mount Lemmon, Sabino
Canyon, Biosphere 2, and numerous resorts and golf courses.
According to the Arizona Hospitality Research & Resource Center, tourists in the County spent $1.37
billion in calendar year 2011, a slight increase from tourism-related expenditures in calendar year 2010. In calendar
year 2012, tourists in the County spent approximately $1.44 billion, an increase of 5.33% from the prior year.
The figures in the following table include the estimated tourist portion of amusement, bar and restaurant,
hotel and motel, and retail gross sales. Shown below are tourist dollars expended in the County and State economies
for 2008 through 2012.
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TABLE 6
Total Tourist Expenditures
($ in millions)
Year
2012
2011
2010
2009
2008

Pima County
$1,443
1,370
1,296
1,304
1,414

State of Arizona
$10,017
9,549
8,844
8,795
9,871

Source: Arizona Hospitality Research & Resources Center, The W.A. Franke College of Business, Northern
Arizona University.
Education
The University of Arizona (the “University”) provides approximately 10,681 jobs to the area and is an
important link to the economic growth of the County. Its presence as a research university has assisted in attracting
new business enterprises over the years. The academic organization of the University is comprised of twelve
undergraduate colleges, four graduate and professional colleges and a number of interdisciplinary programs.
Enrollment figures for the fall semester of 2012 were estimated at 40,223 undergraduate and graduate full-time
students. This enrollment includes students in continuing education programs, interns and residents, post-doctoral
programs and on-campus non-credit students.
Pima County Community College offers two-year programs in vocational and technical education. Total
student enrollment for Pima County Community College for 2011-12 was 59,303 students.
Source: The University of Arizona and Pima County Community College.
Wholesale and Retail Trade
Wholesale and retail trade includes restaurants, hotels, taverns, service stations, automobile repair shops,
shopping malls and wholesale dealers. The largest individual employers in the retail sector (companies with more
than 1,000 employees) are Wal-Mart Stores, Fry’s Food and Drug Stores, Bashas’ Inc., Walgreen Co., Safeway
Stores Inc., Home Depot, Albertsons-Osco and Crosstown Traders.
The retail sales figures set forth below are based on the sales tax collections within the County excluding
penalties, late charges and nontaxable items. The sales tax rate levied by the State on retail sales within the County
is 5.6% (not including a temporary 1.0% tax). In addition, cities and towns within the County generally levy a 2%
to 4% sales tax. The County Regional Transportation Authority levies a county-wide 0.5% sales tax.
The following table sets forth retail sales figures in the County for the periods indicated. After many years
of continued growth, retail sales in the County decreased by 7.14% in calendar year 2008 and by an additional
9.86% in calendar year 2009. While continuing to decrease in calendar year 2010, the rate of decline slowed to
2.20% and in calendar year 2011, retail sales in the County increased by 7.8% from the prior year. As indicated by
the following table, retail sales increased by 5.6% in 2012.
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TABLE 7
Pima County Retail Sales (a)
Year
2012
2011
2010
2009
2008

Amount
$7,290,710,677
6,904,863,298
6,402,891,553
6,547,084,057
7,263,583,414

% Change
5.60%
7.80%
(2.20%)
(9.86%)
(7.14%)

(a) Excludes food and gasoline sales.
Source: Arizona Department of Revenue.
Financial Institutions
The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) collects deposit balances for commercial and savings
banks as of June 30 of each year. The following table illustrates the summary of bank deposits of all FDIC-insured
institutions within the County for the past five fiscal years. As of June 30, 2012, there were 18 institutions with 193
offices in the County, with a deposit balance of approximately $12.152 billion.
TABLE 8
Pima County
Bank Deposits
June 30
2012
2011
2010
2009
2008

Amount
$12,152,000,000
11,973,000,000
11,892,000,000
11,502,000,000
11,215,000,000

Source: Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.
Mining
According to the Arizona Mining Association, Arizona leads the nation in copper production, accounting
for approximately 63% of the total U.S. mine production. However, the cyclical nature of this industry has caused
consolidation of its resources to improve production. In the early 1980's, the Arizona copper industry's direct
economic impact on the Arizona economy regularly exceeded $1.0 billion, peaking in 1981 at approximately $1.612
billion when the industry employed roughly 25,000 persons. Since that time, employment in this sector has
significantly decreased, with employment in the mining industry within the County being approximately 2,100 in
2012.
Agriculture
Agriculture plays a less significant role in the economy of the County as a whole, but a small portion of the
County relies on agriculture as its leading economic source. Principal crops harvested are cotton, wheat and hay, as
well as vegetables. The following table sets forth the total cash receipts for all crops and livestock products in the
County for the most recent five years for which reports are available.
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TABLE 9
Cash Receipts From Agricultural Marketing
(Total Crops and Livestock)
Pima County
Year
2011
2010
2009
2008
2007

Receipts
$89,334,000
71,595,000
62,422,000
71,663,000
73,400,000

Source: Arizona Agricultural Statistics, September 2012.
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APPENDIX B
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Financial Information
Introduction
The fiscal year for the County is from July 1 through June 30. The County’s budget process is an ongoing
function. Each fiscal year’s process starts with the issuance in December of guidelines to all departments within
which budgets must be developed. Department budget requests are submitted in February. A review process then
takes place culminating with the County Administrator’s submission of a proposed budget to the Board in time for
budget hearings in mid-June. State statutes require that a tentative budget be adopted by the Board no later than the
third Monday in July. At the time the final budget is adopted, which can be no later than the first Monday in August
of each year, the Board holds a public hearing and meeting to determine the tax levy needed to support the budget.
Taxes are then assessed and levied no later than the third Monday in August.
Expenditure Limitation
Beginning in fiscal year 1981-82, the County became subject to an annual expenditure limitation which is
set by the Arizona Economic Estimates Commission. This limitation is based on the County’s annual expenditures
for fiscal year 1979-80, with this base adjusted to reflect interim population, cost of living and boundary changes.
Certain expenditures are specifically exempt from the limit, including expenditures made from federal funds and
bond sale proceeds, as well as debt service payments. The limitations can be exceeded for certain emergency
expenditures or if approved by the voters. The Constitution provisions which relate to the expenditure limitation
provide three processes to exceed the spending limit: a permanent base adjustment, a one-time override, and a
capital project accumulation.
The County’s expenditure limitation for the 2012-13 fiscal year is $516,422,727. The County’s
expenditures for the 2012-13 fiscal year are anticipated to be under the limit. The County’s 2013-14 fiscal year
expenditure limitation is $527,442,812, and the County anticipates that its expenditures for such year will be under
the limit.
Ad Valorem Taxes
At the general election held November 6, 2012, the voters of the State ratified Senate Concurrent
Resolution 1025, which amends a provision of the Arizona Constitution relating to the State’s property tax
system. Beginning in tax year 2015 (for operations beginning in the County’s fiscal year 2015-16), and for tax
years thereafter, the constitutional amendment will limit the value of real property and improvements, including
mobile homes, used for all ad valorem tax purposes (both primary and secondary tax purposes) to the lesser of
the full cash value of the property or an amount five percent greater than the taxable value of property
determined for the prior year. The foregoing limitation does not apply to (1) equalization orders that the Arizona
Legislature exempts from such limitation; (2) property used in the business of patented or unpatented producing
mines, mills and smelters; (3) producing oil, gas and geothermal interests; (4) real property and improvements
used for operation of telephone, telegraph, gas, water and electric utilities; (5) aircraft that is regularly scheduled
and operated by an aircraft company; (6) standing timber; (7) pipelines; and (8) personal property, except mobile
homes.
The information which follows under the heading “Ad Valorem Taxes” summarizes the assessment, levy
and collection process as it currently exists. It is expected that numerous statutory changes will be required in
order to implement this voter-approved constitutional amendment. It is uncertain when or if such additional
changes will be made and what form such changes will take if enacted.
General
Arizona (the “State” or “Arizona”) property taxes are divided into two systems, primary and secondary.
Secondary property taxes are those taxes imposed for payment of bonded indebtedness, for exceeding a budget,
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expenditure or tax limitation pursuant to voter approval and for operating and maintaining certain special districts.
Primary property taxes are all ad valorem taxes other than secondary property taxes.
Under the primary system, the full cash value of locally-assessed real property (consisting primarily of
residential, commercial, industrial, agricultural and unimproved property) cannot increase by more than 10% per
year, except under certain circumstances. This limitation does not apply to mines, utilities and railroads which are
assessed by the State. Annual tax levies under the primary system are based on the nature of the property taxed and
the taxing authority. Primary taxes levied on residential property only are limited to 1% of the limited full cash
value of such property. In addition, primary taxes levied on all types of property by counties, cities, towns and
community college districts are limited to a maximum increase of 2% over the prior year's levy plus any amount
directly attributable to new construction and annexation. The 2% limitation does not apply to primary taxes levied
for local school districts. The County does not currently levy its primary tax to the maximum allowed under the
law.
Secondary assessed valuation represents the value used in determining property tax levies for the payment
of principal and interest on bonds, school district voter-approved budget overrides and special district taxes and the
calculation of maximum bonded indebtedness allowed under the State’s Constitutional debt limit. See “Debt
Limitation” herein. Under the secondary system, there is no limitation on annual increases in full cash value of any
property. In addition, annual tax levies for voter-approved bonded indebtedness, overrides and special district taxes
are unlimited.
Arizona law provides for a property valuation “freeze” for certain residential property owners sixty-five
years of age and older. Owners of residential property may obtain such freeze against valuation increases (the
“Property Valuation Protection Option”) if the owner’s total income from all sources does not exceed 400% (500%
for two or more owners of the same property) of the “Social Security Income Benefit Rate.” The Property Valuation
Protection Option must be renewed every three years. If the property is sold to a person who does not qualify, the
valuation reverts to its current full cash value. Any freeze on increases in full cash value will translate to the
secondary assessed value of the affected property as hereinafter described.
Additionally, all property, both real and personal, is assigned a classification to determine its assessed
valuation for tax purposes. Each legal classification is defined by property use and has an assessment ratio (a
percentage factor) which is multiplied by the limited or full cash values of the property to obtain the assessed
valuations.
Tax Procedures
The tax year in Arizona is defined as the calendar year, although tax procedures begin prior to January 1 of
each tax year and continue through May of the succeeding calendar year. The first step in the tax process, for taxing
entities other than certain special districts, is the determination of the full cash value of each individually-owned
parcel of land within the State. Property valuations are established on most property by the individual county
assessors, with the State Department of Revenue determining the valuation of centrally assessed properties such as
gas, water and electrical utilities, railroads, mines and pipelines. The appropriate property classification assessment
ratio is then applied to the full cash value to determine the assessed valuation for such parcel. The assessment ratios
utilized over the five-year period 2009 through 2013 for each class of property are set forth below.
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Property Tax Assessment Ratios
2009 through 2013
Property Classification (a)
Mining, Utility, Commercial and Industrial (b)
Agriculture and Vacant Land (b)
Owner Occupied Residential
Leased or Rented Residential
Railroad, Private Car Company and Airline
Flight Property (c)
(a)
(b)

(c)

2009
22.0%
16.0%
10.0%
10.0%

2010
21.0%
16.0%
10.0%
10.0%

2011
20.0%
16.0%
10.0%
10.0%

2012
20.0%
16.0%
10.0%
10.0%

2013
19.5%
16.0%
10.0%
10.0%

18.0%

17.0%

17.0%

15.0%

15.0%

Additional classes of property exist, but seldom amount to a significant portion of a governmental entity’s total
valuation.
For each of the tax years 2011, 2012 and 2013, full cash values up to $67,268, $68,079 and $133,868,
respectively, on commercial, industrial and agricultural personal property are exempt from taxation. This
exemption is indexed annually for inflation. Any portion of the full cash value in excess of that amount will be
assessed at the applicable rate. Effective January 1, 2011, the assessment ratio for mining, utilities, commercial
and industrial property was reduced by one percentage point annually, resulting in an assessment ratio of
20.0% thereafter. The assessment ratio for mining, utilities, commercial and industrial property will be
reduced to 19.5% for tax year 2013 and further reduced one-half of one percent for each year to 18.0% for
2016 and thereafter. The assessment ratio for agricultural and vacant property will be reduced to 15.0% for tax
year 2016 and thereafter.
This percentage is determined annually to be equal to the ratio of (i) the total assessed valuation of all mining,
utility, commercial, industrial, and military reuse zone properties, agricultural personal property and certain
leasehold personal property to (ii) the total full cash (market) value of such properties.

Source: State and County Abstract of the Assessment Roll, Arizona Department of Revenue.
From time to time, bills have been introduced in the Arizona Legislature to reduce the property tax
assessment ratios on various classes of property and such bills may be introduced in the current or future legislative
sessions. The County cannot determine whether any such measures will become law or how they might affect
property tax collections for the County.
Delinquent Tax Procedures
The property taxes due to the County are billed, along with State and other taxes, ordinarily in September
of the calendar tax year and are due and payable in two installments on October 1 and March 1 and become
delinquent on November 1 and May 1. Delinquent taxes are subject to an interest penalty of 16% per annum
prorated monthly as of the first day of the month unless the full year's taxes are paid by December 31. After the
close of the tax collection period, the County Treasurer prepares a delinquent property tax list and the property so
listed is subject to a tax lien sale in February of the succeeding year. In the event that there is no purchaser for the
tax lien at the sale, the tax lien is assigned to the State, and the tax lien is reoffered for sale from time to time until
such time as the taxes, penalties and interest put on the lien is sold, subject to redemption, for an amount sufficient
to cover all delinquent and current taxes.
It should be noted that in the event of bankruptcy of a taxpayer pursuant to the United States Bankruptcy
Code (the "Bankruptcy Code"), the law is currently unsettled as to whether a lien can be attached against the
taxpayer's property for property taxes levied during the pendency of bankruptcy. Such taxes might constitute an
unsecured and possibly noninterest bearing administrative expense payable only to the extent that the secured
creditors of a taxpayer are oversecured, and then possibly only on the prorated basis with other allowed
administrative claims. It cannot be determined, therefore, what adverse impact bankruptcy might have on the ability
to collect ad valorem taxes on a property of a taxpayer within the County. Proceeds to pay such taxes come only
from the taxpayer or from a sale of the tax lien on the property.
When a debtor files or is forced into bankruptcy, any act to obtain possession of the debtor’s estate, any act
to create or perfect any lien against the property of the debtor or any act to collect, assess or recover a claim against
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the debtor that arose before the commencement of the bankruptcy would be stayed pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code.
While the stay of a bankruptcy court may not prevent the sale of tax liens against the real property of a bankrupt
taxpayer, the judicial or administrative foreclosure of a tax lien against the real property of a debtor would be subject
to the stay of a bankruptcy court. It is reasonable to conclude that “tax sale investors” may be reluctant to purchase
tax liens under such circumstances, and, therefore, the timeliness of post bankruptcy petition tax collections
becomes uncertain.
Property Valuations
The following table lists various property valuations for the County for the current fiscal year and
preliminary valuations for fiscal year 2013-14, which reflect a decline in valuation as shown.
Valuations for 2012-13 Fiscal Year
Estimated Actual Valuation (a)
Net Secondary Assessed Valuation
Net Primary Assessed Valuation

$67,389,331,666
8,171,211,922
8,073,937,734

Estimated Valuations for 2013-14 Fiscal Year (b)
Net Secondary Assessed Valuation
Net Primary Assessed Valuation

$7,623,691,280
7,559,235,262

(a) Actual full cash value net of estimated value of property exempt from taxation.
(b) Estimated valuations for the 2013-14 fiscal year provided by the Pima County Assessor. Valuations
for the 2013-14 fiscal year are not official until approved by the Board of Supervisors on the third
Monday in August for the following fiscal year. Although the final official valuations are not expected
to differ materially from the estimated valuations, they are subject to positive or negative adjustments
until approved by the Board of Supervisors.
Source: 2012 Property Tax Rates and Assessed Values, Arizona Tax Research Association; 2012 Abstract of the
Assessment Roll, Arizona Department of Revenue; and 2013 Planning Abstract of Values, Pima County
Department of Finance and Risk Management, Budget Division.
Net Secondary Assessed Valuation Comparisons and Trends
The information set forth below is shown to indicate the ratio between assessed values and estimated actual
values for the County, as well as changes in the secondary assessed valuations of the County and overlapping
municipal units on a comparative basis. The basis of property assessment for these years is shown under “Ad
Valorem Taxes - Tax Procedures.”
Net Secondary Assessed Value and Estimated
Actual Cash Value Comparison
Fiscal
Year
2012-13
2011-12
2010-11
2009-10
2008-09

Net Secondary
Assessed Valuation
$8,171,211,922
8,448,281,586
9,342,561,193
9,860,980,900
9,594,861,519

Estimated Actual
Valuation (a)
$67,389,331,666
70,163,492,245
77,358,317,302
80,653,625,457
79,245,821,370

Net Secondary Assessed
Valuation as a Percentage of the
Estimated Actual Valuation
12.13%
12.04%
12.08%
12.23%
12.11%

(a) Actual full cash value net of estimated value of property exempt from taxation.
Source: Abstract of the Assessment Roll, Arizona Department of Revenue; Property Tax Rates and Assessed
Values, Arizona Tax Research Association.
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Net Secondary Assessed Valuation Comparisons
Fiscal
Year
2012-13
2011-12
2010-11
2009-10
2008-09

City of
Tucson
$3,377,401,416
3,487,959,628
3,914,105,239
4,030,242,132
3,895,581,900

Percent
Change
(3.17%)
(10.89%)
(2.88%)
3.46%
11.80%

Pima
County
$8,171,211,922
8,448,281,586
9,342,561,193
9,860,980,900
9,594,861,519

Percent
Change
(3.28%)
(9.57%)
(5.26%)
2.77%
16.72%

State of
Arizona
$56,271,814,583
61,700,292,915
75,643,290,656
86,504,734,898
86,090,579,647

Percent
Change
(8.80%)
(18.43%)
(12.56%)
0.48%
19.84%

Source: Property Tax Rates and Assessed Values, Arizona Tax Research Association.
Net Secondary Assessed Valuations of Major Taxpayers
Shown below are the major property taxpayers located within the County, an estimate of their current
assessed value and their relative proportion of the County’s net secondary assessed value.

Taxpayer (a)
Unisource Energy Corporation
Phelps Dodge Corporation
Asarco Incorporated
Southwest Gas Corporation
Qwest Corporation
Trico Electric Co-Op Incorporated
DND Neffson Company
Northwest Hospital LLC
Wal-Mart Stores Incorporated
Verizon Wireless

Use of Property
Utility
Mining
Mining
Utility
Telecommunications
Utility
Shopping Mall
Healthcare
Retail
Telecommunications

2012-13
Net Secondary
Assessed Valuation
$179,262,189
142,418,548
83,778,094
61,718,147
53,224,503
22,132,791
17,998,093
17,723,236
15,580,807
14,290,781
$608,127,189

As Percent of County's
2012-13 Net Secondary
Assessed Valuation
2.19%
1.74%
1.03%
0.76%
0.65%
0.27%
0.22%
0.22%
0.19%
0.17%
7.44%

(a) Some of such taxpayers or their parent corporations are subject to the informational requirements of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and in accordance therewith file reports,
proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”).
Such reports, proxy statements and other information (collectively, the “Filings”) may be inspected and copied
at the public reference facilities maintained by the Commission at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C.
20549 and at the Commission’s regional offices at Northwestern Atrium Center, 500 West Madison Street,
Suite 1400, Chicago, Illinois 60661. Copies of the Filings can be obtained from the public reference section of
the Commission at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549 at prescribed rates. In addition, the Filings
may also be inspected at the offices of the New York Stock Exchange at 20 Broad Street, New York, New York
10005. The Filings may also be obtained through the Internet on the Commission’s EDGAR data base at
http://www.sec.gov. No representative of the County, Bond Counsel, the Underwriter or Underwriter’s Counsel
have examined the information set forth in the Filings for accuracy or completeness, nor do they assume
responsibility for the same.
Source: Pima County Assessor.
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Record of Real and Secured Personal Property Taxes Levied and Collected
Property taxes are levied and collected on all taxable property within the County and are certified to by the
County Treasurer. The following table sets forth the County’s real and secured personal property tax collected yearto-date for the current fiscal year and the past six full fiscal years.
Fiscal
Year
2012-13
2011-12
2010-11
2009-10
2008-09
2007-08

Real and Secured
Personal Property
Tax Levy
$324,785,757
335,466,625
352,275,617
353,593,620
322,901,974
305,699,225

Fiscal Year Collections (a)
Percent of
Amount
Tax Levy
(c)
(c)
$323,013,333
96.29%
335,747,500
95.31
338,592,132
95.76
309,375,563
95.81
294,220,625
96.25

Total Collections (b)
Percent of
Amount
Tax Levy
$182,384,915
56.16%
334,920,700
99.84
346,920,223
98.48
351,788,227
99.44
321,859,597
99.66
304,703,860
99.67

(a) Reflects collections made through June 30th, the end of the fiscal year, on such year’s levy. Property taxes are
payable in two installments. The first installment is due the first day of October and becomes delinquent on
November 1, but is waived if the full tax year's taxes are paid in full by December 31. The second installment
becomes due the first day of March and is delinquent on May 1. Interest at the rate of 16% per annum attaches
on first and second installments following their delinquent dates. Penalties for delinquent payments are not
included in the above collection figures.
(b) Reflects collections made through March 31, 2013 against the current and prior levies.
(c) In the process of collection.
Source: Pima County Treasurer.
Tax Rate Data
The tax rates provided below reflect the total property tax rate levied by the County. As such, the rates are
the sum of the primary tax rate, which is levied against the primary assessed value within the County, and the
secondary tax rate for debt service payments, the County Library District, the County Fire District Assistance Tax
and the County Flood Control District, all of which are levied against the County’s secondary assessed value (except
in the case of the Flood Control District, which is levied against the District's secondary assessed value, excluding
the value of personal property).
Fiscal
Year
2012-13
2011-12
2010-11
2009-10
2008-09
2007-08

Primary
Tax Rate
$3.4178
3.4178
3.3133
3.3133
3.3913
3.6020

Secondary
Tax Rate
$1.4342
1.4313
1.3665
1.2784
1.2789
1.4654

Total
Tax Rate
$4.8520
4.8491
4.6798
4.5917
4.6702
5.0674

Source: Property Tax Rates and Assessed Values, Arizona Tax Research Foundation.
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Debt Limitation
Pursuant to the Arizona Constitution, outstanding general obligation debt for County purposes may not
exceed 15% of a County’s net secondary assessed valuation. The following indicates the County's current bonding
capacity.
Net Secondary Assessed Valuation (FY 2012-13)
15% Constitutional Limitation
Net Direct General Obligation Bonds Outstanding (a)
Plus: The Bonds
Unused 15% Limitation

$8,171,211,922
1,225,681,788
417,290,000*
89,675,000*
$718,716,788*

(a) Net of Bonds Being Refunded.
General Obligation Bonded Debt Outstanding
The following chart lists the outstanding general obligation bonded debt of the County that will be
outstanding after the issuance of the Bonds..
Date of
Original
Issue
Amount
Original Purpose
01-15-03
$50,000,000
Various Improvements
06-01-04
65,000,000
Various Improvements
05-01-05
65,000,000
Various Improvements
01-01-07
95,000,000
Various Improvements
02-15-08
100,000,000
Various Improvements
04-22-09
75,000,000
Various Improvements
12-02-09
113,535,000
Various Improvements/ Refunding
05-25-11
75,000,000
Various Improvements
06-13-12
76,225,000
Various Improvements / Refunding
Subtotal
Less: The Bonds Being Refunded
Plus: The Bonds
Total General Obligation Bonded Debt to be Outstanding

* Preliminary, subject to change.
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Maturity
Dates
7-1-03/13
7-1-05/19
7-1-06/20
7-1-07/21
7-1-08/22
7-1-09/23
7-1-10/24
7-1-12/26
7-1-13/27

Average
Int. Rates
3.900%
4.207%
4.016%
4.028%
3.934%
3.913%
3.579%
4.371%
3.311%

Remaining
Balance
Outstanding
$ 3,750,000
32,660,000
35,635,000
62,295,000
71,250,000
38,000,000
84,255,000
52,075,000
76,225,000
$456,145,000
(38,855,000)*
89,675,000*
$506,965,000*

Annual Debt Service Requirements of Outstanding General Obligation
Bonded Debt Outstanding*
The following chart indicates the general obligation debt service requirements of the County that will be
outstanding after the issuance of the Bonds.
Fiscal
Year
Ending
(June 30)
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028

Existing General Obligation
Bonded Debt Outstanding(a)*
Principal
Interest
$49,175,000
$16,238,869
41,775,000
13,890,356
32,600,000
12,415,556
33,410,000
11,271,807
30,310,000
10,121,381
27,560,000
9,049,256
35,360,000
7,987,731
33,770,000
6,674,394
35,275,000
5,439,619
36,735,000
4,097,519
24,525,000
2,607,019
15,480,000
1,573,613
8,355,000
912,063
8,735,000
533,413
4,225,000
137,313

The Bonds
Principal*
Interest (b)*
$2,510,000
7,610,000
7,805,000
12,520,000
12,815,000
8,400,000
8,380,000
3,315,000
3,415,000
3,515,000
3,620,000
3,740,000
3,870,000
4,005,000
4,155,000

$2,640,816
2,412,738
2,260,538
2,104,438
1,854,038
1,469,588
1,217,588
966,188
866,738
764,288
658,838
541,188
410,288
274,838
124,650

Total
Debt Service
Requirement (c)*
$65,413,869
60,816,172
55,038,294
54,747,344
55,055,819
51,278,294
53,217,319
50,041,982
44,995,807
45,114,257
31,411,307
21,332,451
13,548,251
13,548,701
8,642,151
4,279,650

(a) Net of the Bonds Being Refunded.
(b) The first interest payment date on the Bonds is January 1, 2014. Interest is estimated.
(c) Amounts may not add due to rounding.
Net Direct and Overlapping General Obligation Bonded Debt
The chart below reflects the property valuation and outstanding general obligation debt for jurisdictions
that overlap the County’s boundaries. The overlapping bonded debt figures were compiled from information
obtained from the County Treasurer's Office and individual jurisdictions. A breakdown of each overlapping
jurisdiction's applicable general obligation bonded debt, net secondary assessed valuation and combined tax rate per
$100 assessed valuation follows.

Jurisdiction
State of Arizona
Pima County
Pima County Flood Control District (c)
Elementary School Districts
Unified School Districts
Cities and Towns
Pima County Community College District

2012-13
Net Secondary
Assessed
Valuation
$56,271,814,583
8,171,211,922
7,244,629,122
366,458,665
7,785,454,018
4,629,486,505
8,171,211,922

General
Obligation
Bonded Debt
Outstanding
(a)(f)(g)
None
$506,965,000*
None
16,000,000
601,650,000
209,071,010
3,280,000

Total

* Preliminary, subject to change.
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Portion Applicable
to the County
Net Debt
Amount
Percent
100%
None
100%
$506,965,000*
100%
None
100%
16,000,000
100%
601,650,000
100%
209,071,010
3,280,000
100%
$1,336,966,010*

Combined
Tax Rate
Per $100
Assessed
Valuation (e)
$0.0000
5.1602 (b)
0.2635
2.0607 (d)
6.2713 (d)
0.9362 (d)
1.1741

Jurisdiction
State of Arizona
Pima County
Pima County Flood Control District (c)
Pima County Community College District
Elementary School Districts:
San Fernando ESD #35
Empire ESD #37
Continental ESD #39
Redington ESD #44
Altar Valley ESD #51

2012-13 Net
Secondary
Assessed
Valuation
$56,271,814,583
8,171,211,922
7,244,629,122
8,171,211,922

General
Obligation
Bonded Debt
Outstanding
(a)(f)(g)
None
$506,965,000*
None
3,280,000

Combined Tax
Rate Per $100
Assessed
Valuation (e)
None
$5.1602 (b)
0.2635
1.1741

1,521,446
8,049,979
320,207,916
1,398,244
35,281,080

None
None
16,000,000
None
None

4.0331
1.2484
1.5729
5.9198
6.4355

Unified School Districts:
Tucson USD #1
Marana USD #6
Flowing Wells USD #8
Amphitheater USD #10
Sunnyside USD #12
Tanque Verde USD #13
Ajo USD #15
Catalina Foothills USD #16
Vail USD #20
Sahuarita USD #30
Indian Oasis Baboquivari USD #40

3,264,316,779
766,417,621
208,197,581
1,482,678,329
447,030,726
184,878,059
20,065,919
585,344,020
452,490,744
372,866,553
1,167,687

270,675,000
46,245,000
22,370,000
83,035,000
42,840,000
13,370,000
None
30,345,000
47,605,000
45,165,000
None

7.3187
5.5863
5.9778
5.5539
6.3154
4.1538
3.5338
4.7472
5.9120
5.5183
0.0000

Cities and Towns:
City of Tucson
City of South Tucson
Town of Marana
Town of Oro Valley
Town of Sahuarita

3,377,401,416
23,716,054
435,484,019
592,761,968
200,123,048

209,071,010
None
None
None
None

1.2639
2.7640
0.0000
0.0000
0.0000

(a) Includes general obligation bonds outstanding. Does not include outstanding principal amount of various cities
and towns improvement districts’ bonded debt and outstanding principal amount of various County
improvement districts’ bonded debt, as the indebtedness of these districts is presently being paid from special
assessments levied against property owners residing within the various improvement districts. Also does not
include various fire districts.
Also does not include the obligation of the Central Arizona Water Conservation District (“CAWCD”) to the
United States of America, Department of the Interior, for repayment of certain capital costs for construction of
the Central Arizona Project (“CAP”), a major reclamation project that has been substantially completed by the
Department of the Interior. The obligation is evidenced by a master contract between CAWCD and the
Department of the Interior. In April 2003, the United States and CAWCD agreed to settle litigation over the
amount of the construction cost repayment obligation, the amount of the respective obligations for payment of
the operation, maintenance and replacement costs and the application of certain revenues and credits against
such obligations and costs. Under the agreement, CAWCD’s obligation for substantially all of the CAP features
that have been constructed so far will be set at $1.646 billion, which amount assumes (but does not mandate)
that the United States will acquire a total of 667,724 acre feet of CAP water for federal purposes. The United
States will complete unfinished CAP construction work related to the water supply system and regulatory
* Preliminary, subject to change.
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(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

storage stages of CAP at no additional cost to CAWCD. Of the $1.646 billion repayment obligation, 73% will
be interest bearing and the remaining 27% will be non-interest bearing. These percentages will be fixed for the
entire 50-year repayment period, which commenced October l, 1993. CAWCD is a multi-county water
conservation district having boundaries coterminous with the exterior boundaries of Maricopa, Pima and Pinal
Counties. It was formed for the express purpose of paying administrative costs and expenses of the CAP and to
assist in the repayment to the United States of the CAP capital costs. Repayment will be made from a
combination of power revenues, subcontract revenues (i.e., agreements with municipal, industrial and
agricultural water users for delivery of CAP water) and a tax levy against all taxable property within CAWCD’s
boundaries. At the date of this Official Statement, the tax levy is limited to fourteen cents per $100 of secondary
assessed valuation, of which twelve cents is being currently levied. (See Arizona Revised Statutes, Sections 483715 and 48-3715.02.) There can be no assurance that such levy limit will not be increased or removed at any
time during the life of the contract.
The County's total tax rate shown includes the County’s primary and secondary debt service tax rates, the State
equalization tax rate of $0.4717, the $0.3460 tax rate of the Free Library District, the $0.1000 tax rate of the
Central Arizona Project and the $0.0447 tax rate of the Fire District Assistance Tax.
The boundaries of the Pima County Flood Control District are coterminous with those of the County; however,
the Flood Control District only levies taxes on real property.
The tax rate shown is a weighted average based on each jurisdiction's proportionate amount of secondary
assessed valuation.
The combined tax rate includes the tax rate for debt service payments, which is based on the secondary assessed
valuation of the entity, and the tax rate for all other purposes such as maintenance and operation and capital
outlay, which is based on the primary assessed valuation of the municipality or school district.
The following table lists general obligation bonds authorized but unissued for the County and jurisdictions
within the County.

Jurisdiction
Pima County
Amphitheater Unified School District No. 10
Catalina Foothills Unified School District No. 16
Marana Unified School District No. 6
Sahuarita Unified School District No. 30
Sunnyside Unified School District No. 12

Authorized But Unissued
General Obligation Bonds
$28,681,000
81,000,000
6,075,000
16,825000
1,650,000
52,650,000

(g) Additional general obligation bonds may be authorized by these and other jurisdictions within the County at
future elections.
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Net Direct and Overlapping General Obligation Bonded Debt Ratios
The County’s direct and overlapping general obligation bonded debt is shown below on a per capita basis
and as a percent of the County's net secondary assessed valuation and estimated actual valuation.
Per Capita Net
Debt (Pop. @
990,380)(a)
Net Direct General Obligation Bonded Debt
($506,965,000*)
Net Direct and Overlapping General
Obligation
Bonded Debt ($1,336,966,010*)

As Percent of County's 2012-13
Secondary Assessed
Est. Actual
Valuation
Valuation
($8,171,211,922)
($67,389,331,666)

$511.89

6.20%

0.75%

$1,349.95

16.36%

1.98%

(a) Source: U.S. Census Bureau.
Street and Highway Revenue Bonded Debt Outstanding
The following chart indicates the outstanding street and highway bonds of the County.
Date of
Original
Issue
Amount
Purpose
1-15-03
35,000,000
Street & Highway Improvements
5-01-05
51,200,000
Street & Highway Improvements
1-01-07
21,000,000
Street & Highway Improvements
2-15-08
25,000,000
Street & Highway Improvements
12-02-09
23,420,000
Street & Highway Improvements/ Refunding
05-30-12
32,945,000
Street & Highway Improvements/ Refunding
Total Street and Highway Revenue Bonds Outstanding

Maturity
Dates
7-1-04/13
7-1-09/20
7-1-09/22
7-1-09/22
7-1-13/24
7-1-13/27

Remaining
Balance
Outstanding
$2,670,000
36,865,000
17,770,000
24,400,000
23,420,000
32,945,000
$138,070,000

Sewer Revenue Debt Outstanding
The following table lists the outstanding sewer revenue bonds, loans and obligations of the County that
have a lien on the revenues of the County’s wastewater system.
Date of
Original
Issue
Amount
Purpose
05-01-04
$25,770,000
Refunding
05-11-04
19,967,331
Sewer Improvements (a)(b)
01-01-07
50,000,000
Sewer Improvements
05-01-08
75,000,000
Sewer Improvements
05-06-09
18,940,000
Sewer Improvements
10-09-09
10,002,383
Sewer Improvements (a)
06-17-10
165,000,000
Sewer Improvements
03-30-11
43,625,000
Refunding
12-13-11
189,160,000
Sewer Improvements
12-06-12
128,795,000
Sewer Improvements
Total Sewer Revenue Bonds, Loans and Obligations Outstanding

Remaining
Maturity Dates
7-1-05/15
7-1-05/24
7-1-07/26
7-1-09/23
7-1-10/24
7-1-10/24
7-1-14/25
7-1-12/16
7-1-12/16
7-1-13/27

Balance
Outstanding
$10,405,000
14,542,414
38,770,000
73,580,000
16,715,000
6,626,732
165,000,000
29,840,000
183,935,000
128,795,000
$668,209,146

(a) Represents funds borrowed under separate Loan Agreements with the Water Infrastructure Finance Authority of
Arizona (“WIFA”).
(b) May 11, 2004, the County entered into certain Loan Agreements with WIFA totaling $18,015,219. In
September 2005, the County amended those Loan Agreements and added an additional $1,952,112.
* Preliminary, subject to change.
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Lease, Lease-Purchase and Purchase Agreements
The County has one lease purchase agreement outstanding. The County department benefited by the
agreement and the scheduled payments on the agreement over the past five fiscal years appears below.
County Department
Clerk of Superior Court
Environmental Quality
Fiscal Year Total

2007-08
$82
$82

Fiscal Year (in Thousands)
2008-09
2009-10
2010-11
$131
$111
$37
$131
$111
$37

2011-12
$298
$298

Source: Pima County Finance and Risk Management Department.
Certificates of Participation (a)
The following table indicates the outstanding and to be outstanding certificates of participation of the
County.
Date of
Original
Issue
Amount
Purpose
09-01-99
$ 4,875,000
Refunding
10-01-03
27,525,000
Refunding
05-01-07
30,320,000
New Money
02-04-10
20,000,000
New Money
Total Certificates of Participation Outstanding

Original
Maturity
Dates
1-1-13/14
1-1-05/18
7-1-08/22
6-1-11/19

Remaining
Balance
Outstanding
$ 1,220,000
12,335,000
22,505,000
16,225,000
$52,285,000

(a) Does not include approximately $80,000,000 principal amount of new money Certificates of Participation the
County plans to issue prior to the end of fiscal year 2013 pursuant to a separate official statement.
Retirement Plans
The County contributes to four separate defined benefit pension plans for the benefit of all full-time
employees and elected officials. Please refer to “Note 9 - Retirement Plans” of Appendix F hereto for a more
detailed description of these plans and the County contributions to the various plans.
The Arizona State Retirement System (“ASRS”), a cost-sharing, multiple employer defined benefit plan,
has reported increases in its unfunded liabilities. The most recent annual reports for the ASRS may be accessed at:
https://www.azasrs.gov/web/FinancialReports.do. The effect of the increase in ASRS’ unfunded liabilities on the
County, or on the County’s and its employees’ future annual contribution to ASRS, are projected to increase in
future years.
The board for the ASRS has adopted contribution rates for fiscal years 2012 and 2013. For the year ended
June 30, 2012, active plan members were required by statute to contribute at the actuarially determined rate of 10.74
percent (10.50 percent retirement and 0.24 percent long-term disability) of the members’ annual covered payroll.
The County was also required by statute to contribute at the actuarially determined rate of 10.74 percent (9.87
percent for retirement, 0.63 percent for health insurance premium, and 0.24 percent long-term disability) of the
members’ annual covered payroll. For fiscal year 2013, the rate, including retirement and long-term disability, was
increased to 11.14 percent for the County and to 11.14 percent for employees.
Legislation enacted by the State in 2012 made changes to how ASRS operates, effective July 1, 2011,
which includes requiring employers to pay an alternative contribution rate for retired employees of ASRS that return
to work, changing the age at which an employee can retire without penalty based upon years of service, limiting
permanent increases in retirement benefits and establishing a study committee that will review the feasibility and
cost to changing the current defined benefit plan to a defined contribution plan.
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The ASRS has reported increases in its unfunded liabilities. The effect of the increase in the ASRS’
unfunded liabilities on the County, or on the County’s and its employees’ future annual contribution to the ASRS,
are projected to increase in future years.
The Arizona Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (“PSPRS”), an agent multiple-employer defined
benefit plan that covers public safety personnel who are regularly assigned to hazardous duties, for which the
Arizona State Legislature establishes and may amend active plan members’ contribution rate, has reported increases
in its unfunded liabilities.
The most recent annual reports for the PSPRS may be assessed at
http://www.psprs.com/sys_psprs/ Annual Reports/cato_annual_rpts_psprs.htm. The effect of the increase in the
PSPRS’s unfunded liabilities is expected to result in increased contributions by the County and its employees,
however the specific impact on the County, or on the County’s and its employees’ future annual contributions to the
PSPRS, cannot be determined at this time.
The Corrections Officers Retirement Plan (“CORP”), an agent multiple-employer defined benefit plan that
covers certain County employees whose primary duties require direct inmate contact, for which the Arizona State
Legislature establishes and may amend active plan members’ and the County’s contribution rates, has reported
increases in its unfunded liabilities. The most recent annual reports for the EORP may be accessed at:
http://www.psprs.com/sys_eorp/Annual reports/cato_Annual_rpts_CORP.htm. The effect of the increase in the
EORP’s unfunded liabilities is expected to result in increased contributions by the County and its employees,
however the specific impact on the County, or on the County’s and its employees’ future annual contributions to the
EORP, cannot be determined at this time.
For the year ended June 30, 2012, active PSPRS members were required by statute to contribute 8.65
percent of the members’ annual covered payroll, and the County was required to contribute at the actuarially
determined rate of 24.24 percent, the aggregate of which is the actuarially required amount. As allowed by statute,
the County contributed 3.65 percent of the members’ required contribution, with the members contributing 5.00
percent. The health insurance premium portion of the contribution was set at 1.83 percent of covered payroll.
Active CORP members were required by statues to contribute 8.41 percent of the members’ annual covered payroll,
and the County was required to contribute at the actuarially determined rate of 9.38 percent, the aggregate of which
is the actuarially required amount. The health insurance premium portion of the contribution rate was actuarially set
at 1.30 percent of covered payroll.
The Elected Officials Retirement Plan (EORP) (and the PSPRS as it relates to County Attorney
Investigators) are relatively insignificant to the County’s financial picture.
New Reporting Requirements. Government Accounting Standards Board adopted Statement Number 68,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions (“GASB 68”), which, beginning with fiscal years starting after
June 15, 2014, requires cost-sharing employers to report their “proportionate share” of the plan’s net pension
liability in their government-wide financial statements. GASB 68 will also require that the cost-sharing employer’s
pension expense component include its proportionate share of the plan’s pension expense, the net effect of annual
changes in the employer’s proportionate share and the annual differences between the employer’s actual
contributions and its proportionate share. The new reporting requirements imposed by GASB 68 will change the
financial statements of the County, but what the specific effect will be is unknown at this time.
Other Post Employment Benefits
In fiscal year 2007-08, the County implemented Government Accounting Standards Board Statement
Number 45, Accounting by Employers for Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions (“GASB 45”), which
requires reporting the actuarially accrued cost of post-employment benefits, other than pension benefits (“OPEB”),
such as health and life insurance for current and future retirees. Plan benefits covered by GASB 45 must be
recognized as current costs over the working lifetime of employees, and to the extent such costs are not pre-funded,
the reporting of such costs as a financial statement liability.
The County has, in the past, offered its retired employees, their spouses and survivors continuing access to
health care insurance through the County’s health plan until they reach an age covered by Medicare, a benefit that
was discontinued effective July 1, 2010. Participating retirees were required to pay 100% of applicable health care
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insurance premiums. The County makes no payments for OPEB costs for such retirees, but for fiscal year 2007-08
the County reported an implicit rate subsidy described in Note 10 of the 2007-08 Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report. For fiscal year 2008-09, the County did not report any OPEB liability because the County determined that,
to the degree GASB 45 applied, any OPEB liability would not be material. Because the program was discontinued
as of July 1, 2010, the County had no OPEB costs for fiscal year 2009-10, or for subsequent years unless the
program is reinstituted.

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank.)
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PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF ALL
GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES (a)
(In $000)

Revenues by Source:
Property Taxes
Special Assessments
Licenses and Permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for Services
Fines and Forfeits
Interest Income
Miscellaneous
Total Revenues
Expenditures by Fund:
General
Special Revenues
Debt Service
Capital Projects
Total Expenditures
Excess of Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Premium on bonds
Proceeds of Long-Term Debt
Payment to Escrow Agent
Gain on Investment
Operating Transfers In (Out)
Capital Leases
Sale of General Fixed Assets
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Net Change in Fund Balance
Beginning Fund Balance, as restated
Changes in Reserve for Inventory
Changes in Reserve for Prepaids
Ending Fund Balance

2007-08

2008-09

Actual
2009-10

2010-11

2011-12

$381,862
556
7,710
312,634
58,890
6,480
14,218
21,752
804,102

$396,241
441
6,989
292,236
55,346
6,283
5,335
22,414
785,285

$423,443
536
7,791
296,004
60,376
8,443
4,612
17,442
818,647

$421,623
330
8,494
308,219
54,491
6,786
1,723
14,162
815,828

$407,711
245
8,155
327,939
56,881
10,249
2,286
24,796
838,262

460,537
218,307
76,764
139,539
895,147

462,276
196,677
121,091
146,334
926,378

426,361
195,926
108,092
162,306
892,685

429,182
204,612
96,484
153,203
883,481

445,798
217,139
104,324
149,612
916,873

(91,045)

(141,093)

(74,038)

(67,653)

(78,611)

1,964
175,000
312
714
27
178,017

675
109,400
4,867
876
115,818

1,909
156,955
(32,361)
445
1,118
128,066

3,276
75,000
4,708
59
83,043

7,349
109,170
(33,013)
26,010
894
1,938
112,348

86,972
230,660
(55)
$317,577

(25,275)
317,577
(55)
$292,247

54,028
292,247
4
(9)
$346,270

15,390
346,270
43
27
$361,730

33,737
361,730
(55)
(27)
$395,385

Source: Pima County Finance and Risk Management Department.
(a) This table has not been subject to any separate audit procedures.
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PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
STATEMENT OF FUND BALANCES - ALL GOVERNMENTAL
FUND TYPES (a)
(In $000)

General
Reserved
Unreserved
Designated
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
Special Revenue
Reserved
Unreserved
Designated
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
Debt Service
Reserved
Unreserved
Assigned
Capital Projects
Reserved
Unreserved
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
Total Fund Balance

2007-08

2008-09

$ 5,415
35,438
29,536
70,389

$ 4,363
35,803
40,166

4,699
77,451
82,150

Actual
2009-10 (b)

2010-11

2011-12

$4,089
522
3,093
73,837
81,541

$3,315
336
357
73,547
77,555

$2,720
333
118
77,596
80,767

5,255
81,196
4,925
91,376

2,011
82,957
15,305
3,221
(5,793)
97,701

2,011
94,567
37,978
4,368
(9,180)
129,744

1,550
105,468
10,264
16,682
(9,013)
124,951

12,395
12,395

33,842
33,842

40,868
40,868

35,903
35,903

28,298
28,298

152,643
152,643
$317,577

42
126,821
126,863
$292,247

18
124,830
1,487
52
(227)
126,160
$346,270

12
112,668
6,639
(791)
118,528
$361,730

157,688
7,234
(3,553)
161,369
$395,385

Source: Pima County Finance and Risk Management Department.
(a) This table has not been subject to any separate audit procedures.
(b) During the year ended June 30, 2010, the County adopted early implementation of the provisions of GASB
Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions. GASB Statement No. 54
establishes criteria for classifying governmental fund balances into specifically defined classifications to make
the nature and extent of the constraints placed on fund balance more transparent.
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PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN GENERAL FUND BALANCE (a)
(In $000)
2007-08

2008-09

Actual
2009-10 (b)

2010-11

2011-12

Estimated
2012-13 (c)

$268,493
2,971
148,158
32,307
5,020
3,343
8,314
468,606

$281,749
2,747
131,966
35,330
4,720
1,084
7,099
464,695

$304,441
2,738
128,927
40,356
7,011
1,198
4,868
489,539

$301,493
2,681
122,952
35,361
5,344
418
4,722
472,971

$291,647
2,696
127,029
39,117
5,213
621
12,659
478,982

$281,955
2,747
130,300
31,874
5,774
528
7,769
460,947

192,839
118,623
2,906
106,502
16,325
17,418

184,434
121,704
2,767
115,481
15,580
16,368

184,606
117,378
2,702
87,089
14,671
13,996

186,193
116,573
2,792
90,572
14,183
12,949

197,190
123,235
2,919
94,292
15,195
12,967

198,445
129,039
3,774
98,780
17,186
12,485

3,115
2,805
4
460,537

3,510
2,426
6
462,276

3,635
2,281
3
426,361

3,800
2,113
7
429,182

445,798

459,709

8,069

2,419

63,178

43,789

33,184

1,238

4,760
4,760

371
(33,013)
(32,642)

204
(22,007)
(21,803)

11
(47,786)
(47,775)

1,608
(31,580)
(29,972)

(35,228)
(35,228)

Net Change in Fund Balance

12,829

(30,223)

41,375

(3,986)

3,212

(33,990)

Beginning Fund Balance, as restated

57,560

70,389

40,166

81,541

77,555

80,767

$70,389

$40,166

$81,541

$77,555

$80,767

$46,777

Revenues by Source:
Property Taxes
Licenses and Permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for Services
Fines and Forfeits
Interest Income
Miscellaneous
Total Revenues
Expenditures:
Current
General Government
Public Safety
Health
Welfare
Culture & Recreation
Education & Econ. Opport.
Debt Service:
Principal
Interest
Miscellaneous
Total Expenditures
Excess of Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Sale of General Fixed Assets
Operating Transfers In (Out)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Ending Fund Balance

Source: Pima County Finance and Risk Management Department.
(a) This table has not been subject to any separate audit procedures.
(b) The $28 million decrease in the welfare expense line was primarily due to a $16 million refund that was
received for fiscal year 2009-10 from the Arizona Long-Term Care System (ALTCS) and Arizona Health Care
Cost Containment System (AHCCCS).
(c) Reflects estimated amounts based on actual data through February 28, 2013, as provided by the County’s
Finance and Risk Management Department. The information presented constitutes “forward looking
statements” which must be read with an abundance of caution and may not be realized or may not occur in the
future.
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APPENDIX C
FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL
[Closing Date]
Pima County, Arizona
Tucson, Arizona
Ladies and Gentlemen:
We have served as bond counsel relating to the issuance by Pima County, Arizona (the “County”) of its
$50,000,000 aggregate principal amount of bonds designated the Pima County, Arizona, General Obligation Bonds,
Series 2013A (the “Improvement Bonds”) and its $39,675,000* aggregate principal amount of bonds designated the
Pima County, Arizona, General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2013B (the “Refunding Bonds” and, together
the Improvement Bonds, the “Bonds”). The Bonds are issued pursuant to Title 35, Chapter 3, Articles 3 and 4 of the
Arizona Revised Statutes, and under the provisions of an authorizing resolution adopted by the Board of Supervisors
of the County on May 7, 2013 (the “Bond Resolution”). Capitalized terms not defined in this letter are used as
defined in the Bond Resolution.
In our capacity as bond counsel, we have examined the transcript of proceeding relating to the issuance of
the Bonds, copy of the signed and authenticated Improvement Bond of the first maturity, copy of the signed and
authenticated Refunding Bond of the first maturity, and such other documents, matters and law as we deem
necessary to render the opinion set forth in this letter.
Based on that examination and subject to the limitations stated below, we are of the opinion that under
existing law:
1.
The Bonds constitute valid and legal general obligations of the County, and the principal of and
interest on the Bonds, unless paid from other sources, are to be paid from the proceeds of the levy of ad valorem
taxes on all property subject to ad valorem taxes levied by the County, without limitation as to rate or amount to pay
the principal and interest on the Improvement Bonds, and without limitation as to rate but limited to an amount not
greater than the amount of ad valorem taxes that would have been levied to pay the bonds being refunded with
proceeds of the sale of the Refunding Bonds (the “Bonds Being Refunded”), which funds are irrevocably pledged
for the payment of principal of and interest on the Refunding Bonds when and as the same fall due, subject to the
rights of the owners of the Bonds Being Refunded to payment of the Bonds Being Refunded from the same tax
source in the event of a deficiency in the moneys and obligations issued by or guaranteed by the United State of
America which will be purchased from the proceeds of the sale of the Refunding Bonds and other moneys available
therefor and placed in trust for the purpose of making all payments when due on the Bonds Being Refunded. It is
required by law that there be levied, assessed and collected, in the same manner as other taxes of the County, an
annual tax upon such taxable property in the County sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds
when due.
2.
The interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under
Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended (the “Code”), and is not treated as an item of tax
preference for purposes of the alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations; however, portions
of the interest on the Bonds earned by certain corporations may be subject to a corporate alternative minimum tax.
The interest on the Bonds is exempt from Arizona state income tax. We express no opinion as to any other tax
consequences regarding the Bonds.

* Preliminary, subject to change.
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Pima County, Arizona
[Closing Date]
Page 2
The opinion stated above are based on an analysis of existing laws, regulations, rulings and court decisions
and cover certain matters not directly addressed by such authorities. In rendering all such opinion, we assume,
without independent verification, and rely upon (i) the accuracy of the factual matters represented, warranted or
certified in the proceedings and documents we have examined and (ii) the due and legal authorization, execution and
delivery of those documents by, and the valid, binding and enforceable nature of those documents upon, any parties
other than the County.
In rendering those opinion with respect to treatment of the interest on the Bonds, we further assume and
rely upon compliance with the covenants in the proceedings and documents we have examined, including those of
the County. Failure to comply with certain of those covenants subsequent to issuance of the Bonds may cause
interest on the Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactively to their date of
issuance.
The rights of the owners of the Bonds and the enforceability of the Bonds and the Bond Resolution are
subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, arrangement, fraudulent conveyance or transfer, reorganization, moratorium and
other laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights, to the application of equitable principles, to the exercise of
judicial discretion, and to limitations on legal remedies against public entities.
The opinion rendered in this letter are stated only as of this date, and no other opinion shall be implied or
inferred as a result of anything contained in or omitted from this letter. Our engagement as bond counsel with
respect to the Bonds has concluded on this date.
Respectfully submitted,
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APPENDIX D
FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
$50,000,000
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
SERIES 2013A

$39,675,000*
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS
SERIES 2013B

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING
FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROVIDING
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE INFORMATION
UNDER SECTION (b)(5) OF RULE 15c2-12

This Continuing Disclosure Undertaking (this “Undertaking”) is executed and delivered by Pima County,
Arizona (the “County”), in connection with the issuance and sale of its $50,000,000 aggregate principal amount of
Pima County, Arizona, General Obligation Bonds, Series 2013A (the “Improvement Bonds”) and its $39,675,000*
aggregate principal amount of bonds designated the Pima County, Arizona, General Obligation Refunding Bonds,
Series 2013B (together with the Improvement Bonds, the “Bonds”), being issued pursuant to a resolution adopted by
the Board of Supervisors of the County on May 7, 2013 (the “Bond Resolution”).
In connection with the Bonds, the County covenants and agrees as follows:
1.
Definitions. In addition to the terms defined above, the terms set forth below shall have the
following meanings in this Undertaking, unless the context clearly otherwise requires.
“Annual Information” means the financial information and operating data set forth in Exhibit I.
“Annual Information Disclosure” means the dissemination of disclosure concerning Annual
Information and the dissemination of the Audited Financial Statements as set forth in Section 4.
“Audited Financial Statements” means the general purpose audited financial statements of the
County prepared pursuant to the standards and as described in Exhibit I.
“Commission” means the Securities and Exchange Commission.
“Dissemination Agent” means any agent designated as such in writing by the County and which
has filed with the County a written acceptance of such designation, and such agent’s successors and assigns.
“EMMA” means the Electronic Municipal Market Access system of the MSRB. Information
regarding submissions to EMMA is available at http://emma.msrb.org.
“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

* Preliminary, subject to change.
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“Listed Event” means the occurrence of any of the events with respect to the Bonds set forth in
Exhibit II.
“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.
“Rule” means Rule 15c2-12 adopted by the Commission under the Exchange Act, as the same may
be amended from time to time.
“Undertaking” means the obligations at the County pursuant to Sections 4, 5, 6 and 7 hereof.
“Underwriter” includes each broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer acting as an underwriter
in the primary offering of the Bonds.
2.
Purpose of this Undertaking. This Undertaking is executed and delivered by the County as of the
date set forth below, for the benefit of the beneficial owners of the Bonds and in order to assist the Underwriter in
complying with the requirements of the Rule.
3.
CUSIP Number/Final Official Statement. The base CUSIP Number of the Bonds is 721663. The
Final Official Statement relating to the Bonds is dated ________, 2013.
4.
Annual Information Disclosure. Subject to Section 8 of this Undertaking, the County shall
disseminate its Annual Information and its Audited Financial Statement, if any (in the form and by the dates set
forth in Exhibit I) to the MSRB through EMMA, in a format prescribed by the MSRB. The County is required to
deliver such information in such manner and by such time so that such entities receive the information on the date
specified.
If any part of the Annual Information can no longer be generated because the operations to which
it is related have been materially changed or discontinued, the County will disseminate a statement to such effect as
part of its Annual Information for the year in which such event first occurs.
If any amendment is made to this Undertaking, the Annual Information for the year in which such
amendment is made shall contain a narrative description of the reasons for such amendment and its impact on the
type of information being provided.
5.
Listed Events Disclosure. Subject to Section 8 of this Undertaking, the County hereby covenants
that it will disseminate notice of occurrence of a Listed Event to the MSRB through EMMA not later than ten
business days after the occurrence of the Listed Event, in a format prescribed by the MSRB, except that for the
events 2, 7, 10, 13 and 14, listed in Exhibit II, the County will provide such notice if it determines that such event
would be material under applicable federal securities laws.
6.
Consequences of Failure of the County to Provide Information. The County shall give notice in a
timely manner to the MSRB through EMMA, in a format prescribed by the MSRB, of any failure to provide Annual
Information Disclosure when the same is due hereunder.
In the event of a failure of the County to comply with any provision of this Undertaking, the
beneficial owner of any Bond may seek mandamus or specific performance by court order, to cause the County to
comply with its obligations under this Undertaking. A default under this Undertaking shall not be an event of
default on the Bonds or under the Bond Resolution. The sole remedy under this Undertaking in the event of any
failure of the County to comply with this Undertaking shall be an action to compel performance.
7.
Amendments; Waiver. Notwithstanding any provision of this Undertaking, the County by
certified resolutions authorizing each amendment or waiver, may amend this Undertaking, and any provision of this
Undertaking may be waived, if:
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(a)
The amendment is made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a
change in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature, or status of the County, or type of
business conducted;
(b)
This Undertaking, as amended, would have complied with the requirements of the Rule at
the time of the primary offering, after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the rule, as well as
any change in circumstances; and
(c)
The amendment does not materially impair the interests of the beneficial owners of the
Bonds, as determined by an independent counsel or other entity unaffiliated with the County.
8.
Non-Appropriation. The performance by the County of its obligations in this Undertaking shall be
subject to the annual appropriation of any funds that may be necessary to permit such performance. In the event of a
failure by the County to comply with its covenants under this Undertaking due to a failure to appropriate the
necessary funds, the County covenants to provide prompt notice of such fact to the MSRB through EMMA.
9.
Termination of Undertaking. The Undertaking of the County shall be terminated hereunder when
the County no longer has liability for any obligation relating to repayment of the Bonds or the Rule no longer
applies to the Bonds. The County shall give notice in a timely manner if this Section is applicable to the MSRB
through EMMA.
10.
Dissemination Agent. The County may, from time to time, appoint or engage a Dissemination
Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Undertaking, and may discharge any such Dissemination
Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent.
11.
Additional Information. Nothing in this Undertaking shall be deemed to prevent the County from
disseminating any other information using the means of dissemination set forth in this Undertaking or any other
means of communication, or including any other information in any Annual Information Disclosure or notice of
occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is required by this Undertaking. If the County chooses to
include any information from any document or notice of occurrence of Listed Event in addition to that which is
specifically required by this Undertaking, the County shall have no obligation under this Undertaking to update such
information or include it in any future disclosure or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event.
12.
Beneficiaries. This Undertaking has been executed in order to assist the Underwriter in complying
with the Rule; however, this Undertaking shall inure solely to the benefit of the County, the Dissemination Agent, if
any, and the beneficial owners of the Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.
13.
Recordkeeping. The County shall maintain records of all Annual Information Disclosure and
notices of occurrence of Listed Events including the content of such disclosure or notices, the names of the entities
with whom such disclosure or notices were filed and the date of filing such disclosure or notices.
14.
Assignment. The County shall not transfer its obligations in connection to the Bonds unless the
transferee agrees to assume all obligation of the County under this Undertaking or to execute an Undertaking under
the Rule.
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA

By:________________________________
Thomas Burke
Finance and Risk Management Director
Dated: [Closing Date]
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EXHIBIT I
ANNUAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
“Annual Financial Information” means quantitative financial information and operating data concerning the
operations of the County of the type set forth in the Official Statement in Appendix B (i) under the heading “Net
Secondary Assessed Valuation Comparisons and Trends” in the table entitled “Net Secondary Assessed Valuation
Comparisons” (with respect to the County only), (ii) in the table under the heading “Record of Real and Secured
Personal Property Taxes Levied and Collected,” (iii) in the table under the heading “Tax Rate Data,” (iv) in the table
under the heading “Debt Limitation,” and (v) in the table under the heading “Certificates of Participation.”
Annual Financial Information exclusive of Audited Financial Statements will be provided to the MSRB
through EMMA, no later than the first business day in February of each year, commencing February 1, 2014.
Audited Financial Statements as described below should be filed at the same time as the Annual Financial
Information. If Audited Financial Statements are not available when the Annual Financial Information is filed,
unaudited financial statements shall be included, to be followed up by Audited Financial Statements when available.
Audited Financial Statements will be prepared according to generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”), as applied to governmental units as modified by State law, Audited Financial Statements will be
provided to the MSRB through EMMA, at the same time as Annual Financial Information is filed, or if not available
when such Annual Financial Information is filed, within 30 days after availability to the County.
If any change is made to the Annual Financial Information as permitted by Section 4 of this Undertaking,
the County will disseminate a notice of such change as required by Section 4, including changes in fiscal year or
GAAP.
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EXHIBIT II
EVENTS FOR WHICH NOTICE OF OCCURRENCE
OF LISTED EVENTS IS REQUIRED
1.

Principal and interest payment delinquencies;

2.

Non-payment related defaults, if material;

3.

Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;

4.

Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;

5.

Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

6.

Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final determinations of
taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations
with respect to the tax status of the security, or other material events affecting the tax status of the security;

7.

Modifications to rights of security holders, if material;

8.

Bond calls, if material, and tender offers;

9.

Defeasances;

10.

Release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of securities, if material;

11.

Rating changes;

12.

Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the County;

Note: for the purposes of the event identified in paragraph 12, the event is considered to occur when any of
the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the County in a proceeding
under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under State or federal law in which a court or
governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the County, or if
such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governmental body and officials or officers in possession
but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a
plan of reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or
jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the County.
13.

The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the County or the sale of all or
substantially all of the assets of the County, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a
definitive agreement to undertake such action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any
such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; and

14.

Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if material.
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APPENDIX E

EXCERPTS FROM
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
JUNE 30, 2012
The following are excerpts from the County’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2012. The County has not requested the State of Arizona Auditor General to perform any review of the
County’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report subsequent to June 30, 2012. These are the most recent audited
financial statements available to the County. These financial statements are not current and may not represent the
current financial position of the County.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
Members of the Arizona State Legislature
The Board of Supervisors of
Pima County, Arizona
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities,
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and aggregate remaining fund information
of Pima County as of and for the year ended June 30, 2012, which collectively comprise the County’s basic
financial statements as listed in the table of contents. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
County’s management. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our
audit. We did not audit the financial statements of certain departments, one major fund, and one component
unit, which account for the following percentages of the assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses or
expenditures of the opinion units affected:
Opinion Unit/Department
Government-Wide Statements
Governmental Activities:
Stadium District
School Reserve Fund
Self-Insurance Trust
Business-Type Activities:
Regional Wastewater Reclamation Department
Development Services
Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units:
Southwestern Fair Commission
Fund Statements
Major Fund:
Regional Wastewater Reclamation Department
Enterprise Fund
Aggregate Remaining Fund Information:
Stadium District
School Reserve Fund
Development Services
Self-Insurance Trust

Assets

Liabilities

Revenues

Expenses/
Expenditures

1.47%
0.10%
2.74%

2.06%
0.03%
4.30%

0.36%
0.46%
0.14%

0.90%
0.52%
0.00%

98.98%
0.29%

99.84%
0.11%

68.83%
2.71%

63.51%
3.73%

99.84%

100.00%

97.82%

98.82%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

0.43%
0.34%
0.60%
10.22%

0.37%
0.11%
0.51%
25.29%

1.00%
1.26%
2.10%
6.85%

1.81%
1.43%
2.68%
3.83%

Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose reports thereon have been furnished to us,
and our opinions, insofar as they relate to the amounts included for those entities, are based solely on the
reports of the other auditors.
We conducted our audit in accordance with U.S. generally accepted auditing standards and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General
of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
2910 NORTH 44
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examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit and the reports of
the other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of the other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities,
business-type activities, aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and aggregate
remaining fund information of Pima County as of June 30, 2012, and the respective changes in financial
position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles require that the Management’s Discussion and Analysis on
pages 11 through 29, the Budgetary Comparison Schedule on pages 81 and 82, and the Schedule of Agent
Retirement Plans’ Funding Progress on page 83 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain
limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
auditing standards, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquires, the
basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do
not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the County’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual fund statements and
schedules and the introductory and statistical sections listed in the table of contents are presented for
purposes of additional analysis and are not required parts of the basic financial statements. Such information is
the responsibility of the County’s management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The combining and individual
fund statements and schedules have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
U.S. generally accepted auditing standards by us and the other auditors. In our opinion, based on our audit,
the procedures performed as described previously, and the reports of the other auditors, the combining and
individual fund statements and schedules are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic
financial statements as a whole. The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express
an opinion or provide any assurance on them.
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we will also issue our report on our consideration of the
County’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters at a future date. The purpose of that
report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit.

Debbie Davenport
Auditor General
December 18, 2012

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
This section of Pima County’s comprehensive annual financial report presents a discussion and analysis
of the County’s financial performance during the year ended June 30, 2012 and should be read in
conjunction with the County’s basic financial statements in the following sections. All dollar amounts are
expressed in thousands (000’s) unless otherwise noted.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
•

At June 30, 2012, the net position for the County increased $125 million from the prior year.
Increases were experienced in all net asset categories, with a $98 million increase in net investment in
capital assets, an increase of $1 million in restricted net position and an increase of $26 million in
unrestricted net position.

•

Assets of the County exceeded its liabilities by $2,274, an increase of 5.8% from the prior year. Of
this amount, $223,785 is available for general government expenditures (unrestricted net position).
Unrestricted net position increased by $25,731 from last year, or approximately 13%.

•

$240,165 is restricted for specific purposes (restricted net position), and $1,810 is net investment in
capital assets.

The chart below presents the composition of restricted and unrestricted net position for the current and
prior years:
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●

General Fund revenues increased by $6,011 from the prior year while expenditures increased by
$16,616.

•

The General Fund unassigned fund balance increased to $77,596, from $73,547 in the prior year. The
unassigned fund balances comprise 96% of the total fund balance of $80,767.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the County's basic financial
statements. The County's basic financial statements consist of three components: (1) Government-wide
statements, (2) Fund statements, and (3) Notes. Required supplementary information is included in
addition to the basic financial statements.
Government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of
County finances in a manner similar to a private-sector business.
The statement of net position presents information on all County assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and
deferred inflows with the difference between them reported as net position. Over time, increases or
decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the County is
improving or deteriorating.
The statement of activities presents information showing how net position changed during the most recent
fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the
change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported
12

in this statement for some items that will result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected
taxes and earned but unused vacation or sick leave).
Both of these government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the County that are
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other
functions that are intended to recover all or a portion of their costs through user fees and charges
(business-type activities). The governmental activities of the County include general government, public
safety, highways and streets, sanitation, health, welfare, culture and recreation, and education and
economic opportunity. The business-type activities of the County include Pima Health System &
Services, Regional Wastewater Reclamation, Development Services, and the County’s downtown parking
garages.
Discretely presented component units are included in the basic financial statements. They consist of two
legally separate entities for which the County is financially accountable. The County reports the
Southwestern Fair Commission, which operates the County Fairgrounds and the annual Pima County
Fair, as a discretely presented component unit. The Pima County Sports and Tourism Authority (S&TA)
is also reported as a discrete component unit. S&TA is a nonprofit municipal corporation established to
promote professional and amateur sports events and other suitable activities for the benefit of the public.
The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 31-33.

Fund financial statements are groupings of related accounts that are used to maintain control over
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The County, like other state and
local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate finance-related legal compliance with
applicable State statutes and Federal Office of Management and Budget budgeting guidelines. All of the
funds can be divided into three categories: (1) governmental funds, (2) proprietary funds, and (3)
fiduciary funds.
Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental
activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial
statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of
expendable resources, as well as on balances of expendable resources available at the end of the fiscal
year. Such information may be useful in evaluating the County’s near-term financing requirements.
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between
governmental funds and governmental activities.
The County maintains fifteen individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the
Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and in the Governmental Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures
and Changes in Fund Balances for the General, Capital Projects and Debt Service funds which are
reported as major funds. Data from the other governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated
presentation. Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental funds is provided in the
form of combining statements.
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The governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 34-37.
statements for non-major governmental funds can be found on pages 86-89.

The combining

Proprietary funds are maintained in two ways. Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions
presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The County uses
enterprise funds to account for certain health care services, including medical and long-term health care,
sewer systems maintenance and operation, real estate-related development services, and parking garage
operations. Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs
internally among the County’s various functions. The County uses internal service funds to account for
risk management, automotive fleet maintenance and operations, printing services, telecommunications,
wireless and IT network infrastructure. Because these services predominantly benefit governmental
rather than business-type functions, most of the assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and deferred inflows
of these services have been included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial
statements.
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only
in more detail. Regional Wastewater Reclamation and Pima Health System & Services operations are
considered to be major funds of the County. Data from the other enterprise funds are combined into a
single, aggregated presentation. Similarly, the County’s internal service funds are combined into a single,
aggregated presentation in the proprietary funds financial statements. Individual fund data for the other
enterprise and internal service funds are provided in the form of combining statements.
The proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 38-41. The combining statements
for other enterprise and internal service funds can be found on pages 105-112.
Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the government.
Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources of
those funds are not available to support the County’s programs.
The fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 42-43.

Notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding
of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes can be found on
pages 46-79.
Required Supplementary Information (RSI) is presented concerning the County’s General Fund
budgetary schedule and the schedule of retirement plans’ funding progress. Required supplementary
information can be found on pages 81-83.
Combining Statements and Other Schedules referred to earlier provide information for non-major
governmental, enterprise, internal service, and fiduciary funds and are presented immediately following
the required supplementary information. Combining and individual fund statements and schedules can be
found on pages 86-116.
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
As noted earlier, net position may serve as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position over
time. County assets exceeded liabilities by $2,274 at June 30, 2012. The following table shows
condensed information for the Schedule of Assets, Liabilities and Net Position:
Table 1
Schedule of Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position
At June 30, 2012 and 2011
Governmental Activities
2012
2011
Current and other assets
Capital assets (net):
Land, buildings, equipment,
infrastructure & other assets

$596,855

$529,767

Business-type Activities
2012
2011
$246,415

$226,442

Total
2012

2011

$843,270

$756,209

1,809,998

1,718,730

1,092,477

905,710

2,902,475

2,624,440

$2,406,853

2,248,497

1,338,892

1,132,152

3,745,745

3,380,649

120,443
716,370

71,038
715,013

42,655
592,539

51,975
393,678

163,098
1,308,909

123,013
1,108,691

Total liabilities

836,813

786,051

635,194

445,653

1,472,007

1,231,704

Net position
Net investment in
capital assets

1,245,227

1,136,033

564,561

575,525

1,809,788

1,711,558

167,498
157,315

161,807
164,606

72,667
66,470

77,526
33,448

240,165
223,785

239,333
198,054

$1,570,040

$1,462,446

$703,698

$686,499

$2,273,738

$2,148,945

Total assets
Current and other liabilities
Long-term liabilities

Restricted
Unrestricted
Total net position

Assets

Current and other assets increased by $87,061 mainly due to an increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents,
$91,543.
Capital assets increased by $278,035 primarily due to the following:
•
•

An increase of $221,970 in construction in progress, with $45,340 for governmental activities and
$176,630 for business-type activities.
Capitalization of software, $20,614, resulted in a net increase in Equipment of $23,224 in the
governmental activities and an accompanying decrease of $2,799 for business-type activities.

Total liabilities for the primary government increased by $240,303. Current liabilities increased $40,085
mainly due to an overall increase in accounts payable, with accounts payable for governmental activities
increasing $47,119 and accounts payable for business-type activities increasing by $10,815.
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Net position
The largest portion of the County’s net position reflects its investment in capital assets (i.e. land,
buildings, infrastructure, and equipment), less any related outstanding debt used to acquire those assets.
As of June 30, 2012, net investment in capital assets totaled $1,809,788, comprising approximately 79.6%
of total net position. The County uses a portion of these capital assets to provide services to its citizens,
with the other portion available to its citizens for use; consequently, these assets are not available for
future spending. The $98,230 increase in capital assets, net of related debt, is primarily due to the
significant amount of capital project activity. Although the County’s investments in capital assets are
reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be
provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these
liabilities.
Unrestricted net position for the primary government increased $25,731 mainly due to an increase in
business-type activities of 99% ($33,022), specifically; the Regional Wastewater Reclamation Fund had
an increase in its unrestricted net position of 120% from $25,652 to $56,462.

The table below provides the composition of net position for the County as of June 30, 2012.

Restricted net position represent resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be
used. As of June 30, 2012, restricted net position totaled $240,165 and comprised approximately 10% of
total net position. This represents an $832 increase in restricted net position from the prior fiscal year.
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The remaining balance of the County’s net position represents unrestricted net position, which may be
used to meet the County’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. As of June 30, 2012, unrestricted
net position totaled $223,785 and comprised approximately 10% of total net position.
Governmental activities
The following table shows details of the changes in net position for governmental activities:
Table 2
Governmental Activities
Schedule of Changes in Net Position
For the Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011
2012
Program revenues:
    Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions
Total program revenues
General revenues:
   Property taxes
State-shared taxes
Investment earnings
Other general revenues
      Total general revenues

$

66,904
143,388
47,528
257,820

Variance
Amount
Percent

2011
$

60,077
136,472
65,030
261,579

$

6,827
6,916
(17,502)
(3,759)

11.4%
5.1%
-26.9%
-1.4%

394,963
116,660
3,416
43,072
558,111

416,985
111,804
2,153
33,336
564,278

(22,022)
4,856
1,263
9,736
(6,167)

-5.3%
4.3%
58.7%
29.2%
-1.1%

Total revenues

815,931

825,857

(9,926)

-1.2%

Expenses:
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Sanitation
Health
Welfare
Culture and recreation
Education and economic opportunity
Amortization
Interest on long-term debt
      Total expenses

223,005
150,349
69,183
7,224
47,248
94,409
61,900
55,126
805
24,776
734,025

218,843
146,395
73,348
6,208
36,475
90,521
67,063
56,626
(2,626)
26,079
718,932

4,162
3,954
(4,165)
1,016
10,773
3,888
(5,163)
(1,500)
3,431
(1,303)
15,093

1.9%
2.7%
-5.7%
16.4%
29.5%
4.3%
-7.7%
-2.6%
-130.7%
-5.0%
2.1%

Excess before transfers

81,906

106,925

(25,019)

-23.4%

Transfers in
Change in net position

25,688
107,594

4,650
111,575

21,038
(3,981)

452.4%
-3.6%

Ending net position

$

1,570,040
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$

1,462,446

$

107,594

7.4%

Ending net position for governmental activities increased by $107,594, a 7.4% increase. This year’s
change in net position decreased by $3,981 from last year, primarily due to a decrease in overall revenues
of $9,926 and an increase in expenses of $15,093.
Factors affecting the $9,926 decrease in revenues from governmental activities:


Revenue from capital grants and contributions decreased by $17,502 in Highway and Streets
Activity. This is primarily from a decrease in ARRA Stimulus revenue, $4,071, a decrease in
State Revenue of $6,232 and a decrease of $10,348 in Capital Contributions.

Total expenses for governmental activities were $734,025, up 2.1% or $15,093 compared to the previous
year’s total of $718,932. Factors contributing to the increase in expenses:


Health expenses increased by $10,772, of which $7,603 was related to a grant called
Communities Putting Prevention to Work which was awarded at $15 million. This grant was
predominantly awarded to funding partners in fiscal year 2012.

The increase in the Transfers in line item of $21,038 was due to an equity transfer of $26,436 from Pima
Health System & Services to Other Special Revenue Fund.
The chart below presents general and program revenues, as a percentage to total revenues. The amount
provided from each revenue source for governmental activities, as a percentage to total revenue for
governmental activities, has not changed significantly from the prior fiscal year. Property taxes,
operating grants, and state-shared taxes continue to account for approximately 72% of the County’s
revenues.

General and Program Revenues - Governmental Activities
Property taxes

50%

State-shared
taxes

Capital grants &
contributions

14%

8%
Investment
earnings

1%

Other general
revenue

Operating grants

16%

4%

Charges for
services

7%
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The chart below presents expenses by function as a percentage to total expenses by function for
governmental activities:

Each expense by function as a proportion to total expenses by function for governmental activities has not
changed significantly from the prior fiscal year. General government, public safety, and welfare account
for approximately two-thirds of the County’s total expenses.
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Business-type activities
Business-type activities, which are composed exclusively of enterprise funds, are intended to recover all
or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges. Change in net position for businesstype activities added $17,199 or 2.5% to the County's $124,793 change in total net position for the year
ended June 30, 2012. The following table shows changes in net position for business-type activities:
Table 3
Business-type Activities
Schedule of Changes in Net Position
For the Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011
2012
Program revenues:
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions
Total program revenues
General revenues:
Investment earnings
Other general revenues
      Total general revenues

$ (141,942)
(3,416)
(1,516)
(146,874)

-39.1%
-72.8%
-36.2%
-39.5%

1,001
1,903
2,904

900
2,681
3,581

101
(778)
(677)

11.2%
-29.0%
-18.9%

Total revenues

228,334

375,885

(147,551)

-39.3%

Expenses:
Regional Wastewater Reclamation
Pima Health System & Services
Development Services
Parking Garages
      Total expenses

117,774
58,773
6,912
1,988
185,447

113,495
200,305
6,982
1,538
322,320

4,279
(141,532)
(70)
450
(136,873)

3.8%
-70.7%
-1.0%
29.3%
-42.5%

Excess before transfers

42,887

53,565

(10,678)

-19.9%

Transfers in (out)

(25,688)

(4,650)

(21,038)

Change in net position

17,199

48,915

(31,716)

452.4%
-64.8%

Beginning net position

686,499

637,584

48,915

7.7%

686,499

$ 17,199

2.5%

$

221,479
1,275
2,676
225,430

703,698

$

Variance
Amount
Percent

363,421
4,691
4,192
372,304

Ending net position

$

2011

$

Key elements of the change in net position from business-type activities include:


Primarily due to the closing of the Pima Health System & Service Enterprise Fund charges for
services revenue decreased by $141,942 and Pima Heath System & Services Expenses decreased
$141,532.



The increase of $21,038 in the Transfers in (out) line is due to an equity transfer $26,436 from
Pima Health System & Services to Other Special Revenue Fund.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNTY’S FUNDS
As noted earlier, the County uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with financerelated legal requirements.

Governmental funds
The County’s general government functions are accounted for in the General, Special Revenue, Debt
Service, and Capital Project funds. Included in these funds are special districts governed by the Board of
Supervisors (i.e. Flood Control, Library and Stadium Districts). The focus of the County's governmental
funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows and balances of expendable resources.
Such information is useful in assessing the County's financing requirements. In particular, unassigned
fund balances may serve as a useful measure of a government's net resources available for spending at the
end of the fiscal year.
Major Governmental Funds
General Fund
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the County. At June 30, 2012, total fund balance of the
General Fund was $80,767.
The net change in fund balance for the General Fund was $3,212. Revenues increased by $6,011.
Property Taxes decreased by $9,846, while Intergovernmental revenues, Charges for services, and
Miscellaneous revenues increased by $15,770.


Property taxes decreased $9,846 primarily due to lower assessed property valuations with the tax
rates remaining constant.



Intergovernmental revenue increased by $4,077 due to increases in State Shared Sales Tax of
$4,093.



Service fee revenue increased by $3,756 primarily in two areas:
 Correctional Housing Revenues of $1,772
 Fees for Recording Documents of $779.



Miscellaneous earnings increased by $7,937 of which $7,917 was Other Miscellaneous Revenue
– Operating.

Expenditures for the General Fund increased by $16,616 primarily in two categories:


The net increase in General Government expenditures of $10,997:
 County Administrator expenditures increased by $5,129 primarily from a $1,586
increase in payments to other governments and agencies.


Superior Court expenditures increased by $3,463 primarily from increased
payroll costs.
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There was an increase in Public Safety expenditures of $6,663, primarily as a result of the Sheriff
Department purchasing a helicopter for $2,556, and Sheriff operations expenditures increasing
$2,935.

Capital Projects Fund
Revenues for the Capital Projects Fund decreased by $3,530 and expenditures in capital outlay decreased
by $3,591. The net change in fund balance was an increase of $42,841.


Of the decrease in revenues, $3,147, can be attributed to intergovernmental revenues; Federal
revenue decreased by $2,947 and State revenue decreased by $871.



Expenditures decreased by $3,591 in capital outlay primarily from the decrease in expenditures
relating to the construction of the Behavioral Health Pavilion, $20,506, with an increase of
$15,584 in the Emergency Communications Systems expenditures.

The fund reported a $101,129 deficiency of revenues over expenditures. A net transfer in of $65,545 and
that resulted in a net change in the fund balance of $42,841 for the Capital Projects Fund.
Debt Service Fund
The fund accounts for the accumulation of resources for and the payment of principal and interest of
general long-term debt. At June 30, 2012, the net change in fund balance was a decrease of $7,605.
Secondary tax revenues remained relatively constant with a decrease of $3,160. Expenditures, mainly as
a result of increased principal payments, increased $7,840 from last fiscal year.
Budget to Actual Comparison for the General Fund
Overall, actual revenues were more than budgeted revenues by $18,734 and actual expenditures were less
than budgeted expenditures by $45,856. No variances between the budget to actual amounts at the
departmental level were significant enough to affect the County’s ability to provide future services.

Overview of all governmental funds
At June 30, 2012, the County's governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $395,385, an
increase of $33,655 from the prior year. Approximately 16.4% of the combined fund balances, or
$65,030, constitutes unassigned fund balance, which is available to meet the County's current and future
needs.
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The following table presents the amount of revenues from various sources and increases or (decreases)
from the prior year:
Table 4
Governmental Funds
Revenues Classified by Source
For the Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011
2012
2011
Amount
Percent
Amount
Percent
Taxes
Special assessments
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fines and forfeits
Interest
Miscellaneous
Total revenues

$

$

407,711
245
8,155
327,939
56,881
10,249
2,286
24,796
838,262

48.6%
0.0%
1.0%
39.1%
6.8%
1.2%
0.3%
3.0%
100.0%

$

$

421,623
330
8,494
308,219
54,491
6,786
1,723
14,162
815,828

51.7%
0.1%
1.0%
37.8%
6.7%
0.8%
0.2%
1.7%
100.0%

Variance
Amount
Percent
$

$

(13,912)
(85)
(339)
19,720
2,390
3,463
563
10,634
22,434

-3.3%
-25.8%
-4.0%
6.4%
4.4%
51.0%
32.7%
75.1%
2.7%

The following provides an explanation of revenues by source that changed significantly from the prior
year:
•

The $19,720 increase in intergovernmental revenue was due to a $18,798 increase in Other
Governmental Funds.

•

The $13,912 decrease in tax revenue is due to a $9,846 decrease in the General Fund revenue
from decreased property values.

The following table presents expenditures by function compared to prior year amounts:
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Table 5
Governmental Funds
Expenditures by Function
For the Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011
Government Function

2012
Amount
Percent

General government
$ 236,020
Public safety
145,711
Highways and streets
33,651
Sanitation
6,317
Health
46,672
Welfare
94,360
Culture and recreation
52,103
Education and economic opportunity
47,798
Capital outlay
149,612
Debt service:
- Principal
78,688
- Interest
24,762
- Miscellaneous
1,179
Total expenditures
$ 916,873

2011
Amount
Percent

25.7%
15.9%
3.7%
0.7%
5.1%
10.3%
5.7%
5.2%
16.3%

$ 223,611
136,709
34,614
5,375
36,511
90,572
49,986
50,432
153,203

25.3%
15.5%
3.9%
0.6%
4.1%
10.3%
5.7%
5.7%
17.3%

8.6%
2.7%
0.1%
100.0%

76,361
26,086
21
$ 883,481

8.6%
3.0%
0.0%
100.0%

Variance
Amount
Percent
$

$

12,409
9,002
(963)
942
10,161
3,788
2,117
(2,634)
(3,591)

5.5%
6.6%
-2.8%
17.5%
27.8%
4.2%
4.2%
-5.2%
-2.3%

2,327
3.0%
(1,324)
-5.1%
1,158 5514.3%
33,392
3.8%

Total expenditures in governmental funds increased during the year by $33,392, primarily due to the
following:
•

Health expenditures increased by $10,161 primarily from the Communities Putting Prevention to
Work grant.

•

Public safety expenditures increased by $9,002 due to the Sheriff’s Department purchase of a
helicopter, $2,556.

•

General Government expenditures increased by $12,409 due to a $10,997 increase in the general
fund.

Proprietary funds
The County’s proprietary fund functions are contained in the enterprise and internal service funds. The
enterprise funds of the County are Pima Health System & Services, Regional Wastewater Reclamation,
Development Services, and Parking Garages. Pima Health System & Services contract with the Arizona
Health Care Cost Containment System (AHCCCS) terminated on September 30, 2011. As a result, the
fund was closed and year-end balances were transferred to the other governmental funds as of June 30,
2012. These business-type activities are accounted for in a similar fashion to private-sector businesses
and the costs for services provided are expected to be covered either fully or in part by generated
revenues, which include fees charged to external users.
The internal service funds consist of the Self-Insurance Trust Fund and Other Internal Service Funds,
which are comprised of multiple smaller funds consisting of Fleet Services, Print Shop, and
Wireless/Telecommunications. The change in net position for all Internal Service Funds was $10,128,
generated primarily from the operations of the Self Insurance Trust Fund.
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The following table presents a comparison of this year’s enterprise fund activities with the prior year:

Table 6
Enterprise Funds
Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For the Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011
2012
Operating revenues:
Net patient services
Charges for services
Other
Total net operating revenues

$

Operating expenses:
Employee compensation
Medical claims
Operating supplies and services
Utilities
Sludge and refuse disposal
Repair and maintenance
Insurance premiums
General and administrative
Consultants and professional services
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses

2011

52,018
153,128
1,387
206,533

$

205,814
137,838
2,821
346,473

$ (153,796)
15,290
(1,434)
(139,940)

-74.7%
11.1%
-50.8%
-40.4%

67,469
157,607
8,986
5,845
1,438
7,611

-22.0%
-75.2%
13.0%
-100.0%
8.0%
-10.4%
100.0%
22.4%
-32.9%
11.9%
-43.3%

1,553
6,819
23,318
5,471
35,819
174,891

19,058
8,157
32,022
308,193

(14,812)
(118,511)
1,172
(5,845)
115
(792)
4,260
(2,686)
3,797
(133,302)

Operating gain (loss)

31,642

38,280

(6,638)

-17.3%

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Intergovernmental revenue
Investment earnings
Sewer connection fees
Interest expense
Loss on disposal of capital assets
Amortization of deferred charges
Claim and judgment contingency losses
Premium tax
Total nonoperating revenues

1,380
1,001
16,507
(6,539)
25
(941)
(3,080)
(1,112)
7,241

4,856
952
19,624
(9,567)
(596)
(750)
(4,099)
10,420

(3,476)
49
(3,117)
3,028
621
(191)
(3,080)
2,987
(3,179)

-71.6%
5.1%
-15.9%
-31.7%
-104.2%
25.5%
100.0%
-72.9%
-30.5%

Income (loss) before contributions
and transfers

38,883

48,700

(9,817)

-20.2%

2,571
1,475
(27,163)
15,766

4,027
866
(5,516)
48,077

(1,456)
609
(21,647)
$ (32,311)

-36.2%
70.3%
392.4%
-67.2%

Capital contributions
Transfers in
Transfers (out)
Change in net position

52,657
39,096
10,158

Variance
Amount
Percent

$

$

While net patient revenues from Pima Health System & Services decreased by $153,796, revenues
continued to exceed operating expenses, generating an operating gain for all enterprise funds this year.
Regional Wastewater Reclamation contributed approximately 96%, or $30,476 to the $31,642 operating
gain for all enterprise funds.
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•

Charges for service revenue increased by $15,290 due primarily to a $9,853 increase in Regional
Wastewater Reclamation Sewer utility service fees.

•

Medical claims expense decreased $118,511 and employee compensation expense decreased
$14,812 due to the termination of the AHCCCS contract with Pima Health System & Services

•

Transfers in and transfers out are significantly more this year. This fiscal year, the transfer out of
$26,436 from Pima Health System & Services to Other Special Revenue was due to the
movement of equity from the Enterprise Fund to a new Other Special Revenue Fund. Last fiscal
year, Pima Health System & Services transferred out $4,596 as an equity transfer to the General
fund.

The chart below presents the revenues and expenses for business-type activities:

Capital Assets and Debt Administration
Capital Assets
The County’s total net investment in capital assets as of June 30, 2012 amounted to $2,902 (net of
accumulated depreciation), an increase of 10.6% ($278,035). Of this amount, $91,268 (32.8%) came
from governmental activities and $186,767 (67.2%) came from business-type activities. The County’s
investment in capital assets consists of land, buildings, sewage conveyance systems, infrastructure,
equipment, and construction in progress.
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Capital assets for the governmental and business-type activities are presented below to illustrate changes
from the prior year:
Table 7
Governmental and Business-type Activities
Capital Assets
For the Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011
Governmental Activities
2012
2011
Land
Construction in progress
Buildings and improvements
Infrastructure
Sewage conveyance systems
Equipment
Total

$

467,661 $
248,317
422,879
607,049

Business-type Activities
2012
2011

448,790 $
202,977
432,149
593,946

15,409 $
342,111
212,446

442,803
64,092
40,868
79,708
$ 1,809,998 $ 1,718,730 $ 1,092,477 $

Total
2012

2011

15,409 $
165,481
207,081

483,070 $
464,199
590,428
368,458
635,325
639,230
607,049
593,946
435,232
442,803
435,232
82,507
143,800
123,375
905,710 $ 2,902,475 $ 2,624,440

Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following:
Governmental activities
• Construction in progress increased $45,340 or 22.3% compared to last fiscal year. Current major
projects in progress include:
o the Regional Public Safety Communication System
o Pavement Preservation Program
o Magee Rd Cortaro Farms Rd: Thornydale Rd to Mona Lisa
o Justice Court/Municipal Court Complex
o Magee Rd, Cortaro Farms Rd, Mona Lisa Rd to La Canada
•

Equipment acquisitions increased $23,224, or 56.8%, due to the capitalization of the County’s
new financial reporting system, $20,614 and a helicopter by the Sheriff department for $2,590.

Business-type activities
• Construction in progress increased approximately $176,630, or 106.7%, mainly due to Regional
Optimization Master Planning (ROMP) activities.
The County’s infrastructure assets are recorded at historical cost and estimated historical cost in the
government-wide financial statements. Additional information regarding the County’s capital assets can
be found in Note 5 of the financial statements on pages 58-60.
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Long-term Debt
Significant, comparative long-term debt entered into during the last two fiscal years is presented below:
Table 8
Long-Term Debt
For the Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011
2012
Bonds issued (at face value):
General Obligation
$
76,225
Street and Highway Revenue (Transportation)
32,945
Sewer Revenue
Sewer System Revenue Obligations
189,160
Total

$

2011
$75,000
43,625

298,330

$ 118,625

During the year, $76,225 of General Obligation Bonds were issued, which included $16,225 of General
Obligations bonds issued to refund the 2003 Series (maturities 7/1/2014 through 7/1/2017) and $60,000 of
new debt issued for the purpose of funding various capital projects in the County.
In addition, the County issued $32,945 in Street and Highway Revenue Bonds. Of the amount issued
$18,425 was used for the improvement, construction, and reconstruction of streets and highways, $14,520
was used to partially refund the 2003 Series (maturities 7/1/2014 through 7/1/2018).
$189,160 of Sewer System Revenue Obligations were issued to finance additions and improvements to
the sewage and conveyance systems.
The most recent ratings for Pima County’s bonds and COPs are:

Table 9
Credit Ratings
Standard & Poor's
Rating
Date
Certificate of Participation (COPs)
General Obligation
Street and Highway Revenue
Sewer Bonds*
Sewer Revenue Obligations

A+
AAAA
AAA+

May-2012
Apr-2012
Apr-2012
Nov-2012
Nov-2012

Fitch Ratings
Rating
Date
AAAA
AA
AA
AA-

Apr-2012
Apr-2012
Apr-2012
Nov-2012
Nov-2012

* This excludes the 2012A Sewer Refunding bonds which have ratings equal to the Obligations
The State constitution limits the amount of general obligation debt a governmental entity may issue to 6%
of its net assessed valuation without voter approval. However, Pima County has voter approval for
general obligation debt up to 15%. The current debt limitation for Pima County is $1,267,242, which is
significantly in excess of Pima County’s outstanding general obligation debt.
Additional information regarding the County’s debt can be found in Note 7 of the financial statements on
Pages 63-70
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Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget
Primary property taxes
The recession continues to impact the local economy, primarily evident by decreasing market values of
existing property. The primary net assessed value for fiscal year 2012-13 decreased $236 million or
2.84%. The contraction of the property tax base is expected to continue into fiscal year 2015-16 with the
net assessed value projected to decline by more than 6%.
The tax rate for fiscal year 2012-13 will remain constant, resulting in a levy that is $8 million less than
fiscal year 2011-12.
State shared revenues
An indication of increased consumer confidence is evident by positive projections of state shared sales tax
revenue. Current projections indicate a $7.4 million increase in fiscal year 2012-13. Even with this
positive projection however, it is still $13,286 less than the County received at its peak in fiscal year
2006-07.
Other revenues
General government revenues are expected to decrease by almost $6 million, primarily from $1 million
decrease from Federal payments in lieu of property taxes and $4.9 million less from grant, enterprise and
special revenue funds for central administrative support services.
University of Arizona Medical Center – South Campus
A two year agreement with the Arizona Board of Regents (ABOR) on behalf of the University Of
Arizona College Of Medicine provides funding for the University of Arizona Medical Center – South
Campus: $20 million in fiscal year 2010-11, $15 million in fiscal year 2011-12. The Board of
Supervisor’s have approved a second two year contract with ABOR with an annual funding of $15
million for each fiscal year.

Request for Information
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the County’s finances. Any questions
concerning the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should
be addressed to the Finance and Risk Management Department, 130 W. Congress, 6th Floor, Tucson, AZ,
85701.
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Basic Financial Statements

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 1

(in thousands)

Governmental
Activities
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Property taxes receivable (net)
Interest receivable
Internal balances
Due from other governments
Accounts receivable (net)
Inventories
Prepaids
Other assets
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans receivable
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Capital assets being depreciated (net):
Buildings and improvements
Sewage conveyance system
Equipment
Infrastructure

$

Primary Government
Business-type
Activities

504,113 $
14,456
209
(3,133)
62,462
6,499
2,476
3,513
3,206

107,152

2,326
728

112,242

114,568
728

467,661
248,317

15,409
342,111

483,070
590,428

422,879

212,446
442,803
79,708

635,325
442,803
143,800
607,049

2,306

2,406,853

1,338,892

3,745,745

5,629

65,710

35,317
365

205

2,133

101,027
365
1,991
52,382
3
2,484
4,846

74,713
641,657
836,813

26,995
565,544
635,194

101,708
1,207,201
1,472,007

232

1,245,227

564,561

1,809,788

2,972

64,092
607,049

Total assets
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Interest payable
Contract retentions
Employee compensation
Due to other governments
Deposits and rebates
Deferred revenues
Noncurrent liabilities:
Due within one year
Due in more than one year
Total liabilities

1,991
47,542
3
2,484
2,713

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Facilities, justice, library, tax stabilization,
and community development
Highways and streets
Debt service
Capital projects
Regional wastewater
Healthcare
Unrestricted
Total net position

95
3,133

$

66,470
703,698

611,265
14,456
304

$

62,462
21,842
5,782
3,524
8,339

15,343
3,306
11
5,133

22,538
31,680
18,449

30,224
1,360
157,315
1,570,040

$

4,840

103,592
32,322

$

Component
Units

Total

$

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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103,592
32,322
22,538
61,904
18,449
1,360
223,785
2,273,738

1,056

5
36
60

1,500

666
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$

2,425
5,397

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012
(in thousands)

Program Revenues

Functions/Programs
Primary government:
Governmental activities:
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Sanitation
Health
Welfare
Culture and recreation
Education and economic opportunity
Amortization - unallocated
Interest on long-term debt
Total governmental activities
Business-type activities:
Regional Wastewater Reclamation
Pima Health System & Services
Development Services
Parking Garages
Total business-type activities
Total primary government

Expenses

$

$

Component units:
Sports & Tourism Authority
Southwestern Fair Commission
Total component units

$
$

223,005
150,349
69,183
7,224
47,248
94,409
61,900
55,126
805
24,776
734,025
117,774
58,773
6,912
1,988
185,447
919,472

59
4,959
5,018

Operating
Grants and
Contributions

Charges for
Services

$

$

$
$

30,444
12,047
5,059
3,487
12,605
2,254
1,008

28,533
9,303
51,567
1,133
24,830
68
403
27,551

66,904

143,388

154,601
58,722
6,073
2,083
221,479
288,383

20
4,940
4,960

General revenues:
Property taxes, levied for general purposes
Property taxes, levied for regional flood control district
Property taxes, levied for library district
Property taxes, levied for debt service
Hotel/motel taxes, levied for sports facility and tourism
Other taxes, levied for stadium district
Unrestricted share of state sales tax
Unrestricted share of state vehicle license tax
Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs
Interest and penalties on delinquent taxes
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Transfers
Total general revenues and transfers
Change in net position
Net position at beginning of year
Net position at end of year

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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$

Capital
Grants and
Contributions

$

261
2,325

47,528
2,571

1,275

$

$
$

1,275
144,663

1
120
121

4,130
5,561
35,251

105

$

2,676
50,204

Exhibit A - 2

Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Position

Governmental
Activities

$

Primary Government
Business-type
Activities

(159,898)
(123,438)
22,694
(2,604)
(9,813)
(94,341)
(58,982)
(24,242)
(805)
(24,776)
(476,205)

$

$

(476,205)

Component
Units

Total

39,398
1,224
(734)
95
39,983
39,983

(159,898)
(123,438)
22,694
(2,604)
(9,813)
(94,341)
(58,982)
(24,242)
(805)
(24,776)
(476,205)

Functions/Programs
Primary government:
Governmental activities:
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Sanitation
Health
Welfare
Culture and recreation
Education and economic opportunity
Amortization - unallocated
Interest on long-term debt
Total governmental activities

39,398
1,224
(734)
95
39,983
(436,222)

Business-type activities:
Regional Wastewater Reclamation
Pima Health System & Services
Development Services
Parking Garages
Total business-type activities
Total primary government

$
$

$

280,585
19,991
29,015
65,372
6,285
1,608
93,123
23,537
4,268
8,235
3,416
22,676
25,688
583,799
107,594
1,462,446
1,570,040

$

1,001
1,903
(25,688)
(22,784)
17,199
686,499
703,698 $

(38)
101
63

280,585
19,991
29,015
65,372
6,285
1,608
93,123
23,537
4,268
8,235
4,417
24,579

92

561,015
124,793
2,148,945
2,273,738

92
155
5,242
5,397

$

Component units:
Sports & Tourism Authority
Southwestern Fair Commission
Total component units
General revenues:
Property taxes, levied for general purposes
Property taxes, levied for regional flood control district
Property taxes, levied for library district
Property taxes, levied for debt service
Hotel/motel taxes, levied for sports facility and tourism
Other taxes, levied for stadium district
Unrestricted share of state sales tax
Unrestricted share of state vehicle license tax
Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs
Interest and penalties on delinquent taxes
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Transfers
Total general revenues and transfers
Change in net position
Net position at beginning of year
Net position at end of year

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds
June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 3

(in thousands)

General

Capital Projects

Debt Service

Other
Governmental
Funds

Total
Governmental
Funds

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Property taxes receivable (net)
Interest receivable
Due from other funds
Due from other governments
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenditures
Loan receivable
Other assets
Restricted cash equivalents
Total assets

$

91,085
10,148
73
7,528
21,513
1,903
67
1,984
669

$

181,519

$

26,639
2,440
16
1,575
11

$

123,579
1,868
81
4,892
29,808
3,122
1,374
72
59
1,018
45

$

422,822
14,456
191
15,143
62,350
6,071
1,441
2,056
728
1,018
2,326

21
1,148
11,018
1,046

2,281
$

134,970

$

197,033

$

30,681

$

165,918

$

528,602

$

20,679

$

29,136

$

148

$

$

Liabilities and fund balances
Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Medical claims payable
Contract retentions
Employee compensation
Due to other funds
Due to other governments
Deposits and rebates
Deferred revenues

12,984
543
3
199
19,795

Total liabilities

54,203

Fund balances:
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

118
77,596

Total fund balances

80,767

Total liabilities and fund balances

2,720
333

$

134,970

1,980
20
1,901

77

12,787
271
11
4,445
12,515

2,281
346

2,158

4
10,934

62,750
271
1,991
17,449
15,036
3
2,484
33,233

35,664

2,383

40,967

133,217

1,550
105,468
10,264
16,682
(9,013)

4,270
263,489
17,498
45,098
65,030

124,951

395,385

157,688
7,234

28,298

(3,553)
161,369
$

197,033

28,298
$

30,681

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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$

165,918

$

528,602

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 4

(in thousands)

Fund balances - total governmental funds

$

395,385

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of
Net Position are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources
and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds
Governmental capital assets
Less accumulated depreciation
Some liabilities and their associated issuance costs are not due and payable
in the current period and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds
Bonds payable
Certificates of participation payable
Loans and leases payable
Unamortized deferred issuance costs reported as other assets

$ 2,628,502
(840,418)

(603,093)
(39,772)
(16,431)
2,188

Some compensated absences are not due and payable shortly after
June 30, 2012, and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds
Employee compensation
Some liabilities are not due and payable shortly after June 30, 2012, and
are therefore not reported in the governmental funds
Landfill liability
Pollution remediation liability

1,788,084

(657,108)

(29,138)

(20,872)
(805)

(21,677)

Deferred revenue in governmental funds is susceptible to full accrual on the
government-wide statements

30,521

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain
activities to individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal service
funds are included in governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position

63,973

Net position of governmental activities

$ 1,570,040

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 5

(in thousands)

Revenues:
Property taxes
Special assessments
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fines and forfeits
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous

General
$

291,647
2,696
127,029
39,117
5,213
621
12,659

Total revenues

Capital Projects

$
$

478,982

Expenditures:
Current:
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Sanitation
Health
Welfare
Culture and recreation
Education and economic opportunity
Capital outlay
Debt service - principal
- interest
- miscellaneous

Debt Service
66,148

44,141
3,079

11

698
565

242

48,483

66,401

Other
Governmental
Funds

Total
Governmental
Funds

$

$

197,190
123,235
2,919
94,292
15,195
12,967

Total expenditures
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures

838,262

38,830
22,476
33,651
6,317
43,753
68
36,908
34,831
78,390
24,762
1,172

298
7

236,020
145,711
33,651
6,317
46,672
94,360
52,103
47,798
149,612
78,688
24,762
1,179

104,324

217,139

916,873

33,184

(101,129)

(37,923)

27,257

(78,611)

894

Total other financing sources (uses)

(29,972)

25,237

330
45,820
(79,012)

894
7,349
30,745
(33,013)
78,425
1,938
141,924
(115,914)

143,970

30,318

(31,968)

112,348

3,212

42,841

(7,605)

(4,711)

33,737

77,555

118,528

35,903

7,349
30,745
(33,013)

78,425
65,677
(132)

129,744

Changes in nonspendable fund balance:
Change in inventory
Change in prepaids
Fund balances at end of year

244,396

149,612

1,608
5,190
(36,770)

Fund balances at beginning of year

361,730

(55)
(27)
$

407,711
245
8,155
327,939
56,881
10,249
2,286
24,796

445,798

Other financing sources (uses):
Capital leases
Premium on bonds
Proceeds-refunding debt
Payments to escrow agent
Face amount of long-term debt
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Transfers in
Transfers (out)

Net change in fund balances

149,612

49,916
245
5,459
156,758
14,685
5,036
725
11,572

80,767

$

161,369

$

28,298

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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$

124,951

(55)
(27)
$

395,385

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 6

(in thousands)

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds

$

33,737

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities
are different because:
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However,
in the Statement of Activities, the cost of those assets is depreciated
over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense
Expenditures for capital assets
Less current year depreciation

$

141,790
(58,595)

83,195

(78,425)
(7,349)
(30,745)
78,688
33,013
(894)
1,153
(805)

(5,364)

8,137
4,234
(18,688)
(1,550)

(7,867)

(803)
(928)
228
(3,217)
(82)

(4,802)

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds, leases) provides current financial
resources to governmental funds but increases long-term liabilities in the Statement
of Net Position. Repayment of the principal of debt is an expenditure in the governmental
funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position.
Also, governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, discounts and
similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized
in the Statement of Activities. This amount is the net effect of these differences in the
treatment of long-term debt and related items
Face amount of long-term debt
Premium on bonds
Proceeds on refunding bonds
Debt service - principal payments
Payments to escrow agent
Amendment to capital lease
Deferred issuance costs
Amortization expense
Some revenues reported in the Statement of Activities do not represent
the collection of current financial resources and therefore are not reported as
revenues in the governmental funds
Donations of capital assets
Property tax revenues
Intergovernmental
Other
Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of
current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in the
governmental funds
Change in compensated absences
Change in landfill liability
Pollution remediation liability
Net book value of capital asset disposals
Other
Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain
activities to individual funds. A portion of the net expense of the internal service funds is
reported with governmental activities
Change in net position of governmental activities

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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8,695
$

107,594

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 7

(in thousands)
Business-type Activities
Enterprise Funds
Pima
Health System
& Services
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Interest receivable
Due from other funds
Due from other governments
Accounts receivable (net)
Inventory
Prepaid expense
Total current assets
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Capital assets:
Land and other improvements
Buildings and improvements
Sewage conveyance system
Equipment
Less accumulated depreciation
Construction in progress
Total capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation)
Deferred financing costs
Total noncurrent assets

Regional
Wastewater
Reclamation

$

$

Total
Enterprise
Funds

7,661

$

4
3
145

15,198
3,306
6
189,925

-

5
7,818

40,453

-

13,641
373,747
702,236
112,298
(457,349)
342,111
1,086,684
5,133
1,132,270

-

-

Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Employee compensation
Interest payable
Due to other funds
Deferred revenues
Current sewer revenue bonds and obligations payable
Current portion of wastewater loans payable
Current portion reported but unpaid losses
Current portion incurred but not reported losses
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities:
Contracts and notes
Sewer revenue bonds and obligations payable
Wastewater loans payable
Reported but unpaid losses
Incurred but not reported losses
Total noncurrent liabilities

-

Total liabilities

-

107,152
71,789
95
47
15,343
3,306
11
197,743

Governmental
ActivitiesInternal Service
Funds

$

81,291
18
218
112
428
1,035
1,457
84,559

40,453
1,768
12,927

5,793

15,409
386,674
702,236
113,508
(467,461)
342,111
1,092,477
5,133
1,138,063

1,322,195

13,611

1,335,806

106,473

34,994
4,148
365
121
2,131
24,445
2,550

323
692

35,317
4,840
365
121
2,133
24,445
2,550

2,689
955

1,210
(10,112)
5,793

2

68,754

1,017

592
614
38,895
(19,349)
1,162
21,914
21,914

251
1

4,202
2,114
10,212

69,771

15,365
525,930
21,169

15,365
525,930
21,169

3,080
565,544

3,080
565,544

19,253
9,828
29,081

634,298

1,017

635,315

39,293

558,768

5,793

564,561

21,914

6,801

22,538
31,680
18,449
63,263

45,266

12,594

700,491

Some amounts reported for business-type activities in the
Statement of Net Position are different because certain internal
service fund assets and liabilities are included with business-type
activities.

3,207

Net position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Debt service
Capital projects
Regional wastewater reclamation
Unrestricted
Total net position

99,491
71,789
91
44

Other
Enterprise
Funds

22,538
31,680
18,449
56,462
$

-

$

687,897

$

Net position of business-type activities

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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$

703,698

$

67,180

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 8

(in thousands)
Business-type Activities
Enterprise Funds

Operating revenues:
Net patient services
Charges for services
Other

Pima
Health System
& Services
$

Total net operating revenues
Operating expenses:
Employee compensation
Medical claims
Operating supplies and services
Sludge and refuse disposal
Repair and maintenance
Incurred losses
Insurance premiums
General and administrative
Consultants and professional services
Depreciation
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Intergovernmental revenue
Investment earnings
Sewer connection fees
Interest expense
Gain/(loss) on disposal of capital assets
Amortization of deferred charges
Claim and judgment contingency losses
Premium tax

52,018
6,704
1,182

Regional
Wastewater
Reclamation
$

8,330
39

$

52,018
153,128
1,387

$

42,585
407

138,260

8,369

206,533

42,992

11,370
39,096
587

35,474

5,813

7,646

95

96

9,476
1,553
6,501

222

52,657
39,096
10,158
1,553
6,819

6,655
231
115
58,150

14,212
5,091
35,477
107,784

2,451
149
227
8,957

23,318
5,471
35,819
174,891

1,398
2,209
4,619
3,707
1,302
3,510
33,796

1,754

30,476

(588)

31,642

9,196

105
35

1,380
1,001
16,507
(6,539)
25
(941)
(3,080)
(1,112)

848
16,507
(6,519)
(317)
(941)
(3,080)

(20)
342
(1,112)

Income (loss) before contributions and transfers

$

Governmental
ActivitiesInternal Service
Funds

Total
Enterprise
Funds

59,904

1,275
118

Total nonoperating revenues

138,094
166

Other
Enterprise
Funds

9,405

1,260
(25)

603

6,498

140

7,241

1,235

2,357

36,974

(448)

38,883

10,431

1,000
(18)

2,571
1,475
(27,163)

Capital contributions
Transfers in
Transfers (out)

(26,436)

Change in net position

(24,079)

39,311

534

15,766

10,128

24,079

648,586

12,060

684,725

57,052

12,594

700,491

Net position at beginning of year
Net position at end of year

$

2,571
475
(709)

$

687,897

$

Some amounts reported for business-type activities in the
Statement of Activities are different because a portion of the
net expense of certain internal service funds is reported
with business-type activities.
Change in net position of business-type activities

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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1,433
$

17,199

19
(322)

$

67,180

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 9

(in thousands)

Pima
Health System
& Services
Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from other funds for goods and services provided
Cash received from customers for goods and services provided
Cash received from miscellaneous operations
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services
Cash payments to other funds for goods and services
Cash payments for incurred losses
Cash payments to employees for services

Regional
Wastewater
Reclamation

Other
Enterprise
Funds

Total
Enterprise
Funds

Governmental
ActivitiesInternal Service
Funds
$

$

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities

55,170
7,886
(61,250)
(5,099)

$

140,575
166
(26,849)
(8,540)

(12,449)

(35,366)

(15,742)

69,986

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Interest paid on short-term credit
Cash transfers in from other funds
Cash transfers out to other funds
Loans with other funds
Premium tax
Intergovernmental revenues

(26,436)
(555)
(1,112)
2,347

(234)
(244)

Net cash provided by (used for) noncapital financing activities

(25,776)

(478)

$

8,422

$

(1,454)
(2,123)
(4,996)

(52,811)

402
(14,962)
(4,496)
(7,607)
(6,597)

54,093

8,998

(151)

(20)

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of bonds and loans
Principal paid on bonds and loans
Interest paid on bonds and loans
Proceeds from premium
Sewer connection fees
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Purchase of capital assets

42,258

204,167
8,052
(89,553)
(15,762)

(322)
306

105

(20)
1,000
(26,688)
(817)
(1,112)
2,452

1,069

(25,185)

(16)

(199,105)

189,160
(22,030)
(11,869)
21,682
16,203
762
(199,105)

333
(7,158)

(5,959)

(5,197)

(6,825)

1,000
(18)
(18)

189,160
(22,030)
(11,869)
21,682
16,203
762

Net cash provided by (used for) capital and
related financing activities

762

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest received on cash and investments

133

793

33

959

1,254

Net cash provided by investing activities

133

793

33

959

1,254

(40,623)

64,342

951

24,670

3,411

40,623

147,391

6,710

194,724

77,880

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$

$

211,733

$

(continued)

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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7,661

$

219,394

$

81,291

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 9.1

(in thousands)

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used for) operating activities
Operating income (loss)

Pima
Health System
& Services
$
1,754

Regional
Wastewater
Reclamation
$
30,476

Other
Enterprise
Funds
$
(588)

Total
Enterprise
Funds
$
31,642

115

35,477

227

35,819

2,976
216
91
78

2,481

4
49
72

5,461
265
618
180

250
(136)

(18,717)
(175)

Governmental
ActivitiesInternal Service
Funds
$
9,196

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to
net cash provided by (used for) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Other
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in assets:
Accounts receivable
Due from other governments
Inventory and other assets
Prepaid expense
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable
Due to other governments
Reported but unpaid losses
Incurred but not reported losses
Other current liabilities

527
30

(19,854)
(39)

887

(1,079)

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities

$

(15,742)

108
$

69,986

(29)
$

(151)

$

54,093

Regional Wastewater Reclamation Enterprise Fund received developer-built conveyance systems with estimated fair value of $3,520.
This contribution was recorded as an increase in capital assets and capital contributions.
Regional Wastewater Reclamation Enterprise Fund recorded a Board of Supervisors' approved connection fee credit agreement of $951.
This credit was recorded as an increase to deferred revenue and a decrease to capital contributions.
Regional Wastewater Reclamation Enterprise Fund retired expired Sewer Credit Agreements totaling $2. This transaction was recorded
as a decrease to deferred revenue and an increase in capital contributions.
Regional Wastewater Reclamation Enterprise Fund retired capital assets with a net book value of $314.
Pima Health System & Services retired equipment with a net book value of $286.
Pima Health System & Services transferred equipment with a net book value of $134 to the County's general government.

Internal Service Funds sold capital assets with a net book value of $358.

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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(262)
(71)
(84)
(433)
2,227
(1)
(5,397)
155

(1,000)

Noncash investing, capital, and noncapital financing activities during the year ended June 30, 2012:

Internal Service Funds received a capital contribution of $19.

3,510
158

$

8,998

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position - Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 10

(in thousands)
Investment
Trust
Funds
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Interest receivable
Due from other governments
Total assets

$

297,724
96

$

57,450
3,704

$

297,820

Liabilities
Employee compensation
Due to other governments
Deposits and rebates
Total liabilities
Net position
Held in trust for pool participants

Agency
Funds

$

297,820

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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$

61,154

$

496
38,700
21,958

$

61,154

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 11

(in thousands)
Investment
Trust
Funds

Additions
Contributions from participants
Total contributions

$

Investment earnings
Total investment earnings

1,426
1,426

Total additions

2,610,356

Deductions
Distributions to participants

2,710,812

Total deductions

2,710,812

Change in net position

(100,456)

Net position held in trust July 1, 2011
Net position held in trust June 30, 2012

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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2,608,930
2,608,930

398,276
$

297,820

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Combining Statement of Net Position
Component Units
June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 12

(in thousands)

Sports &
Tourism
Authority
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable (net)
Inventories
Prepaids
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Capital assets (net):
Buildings and improvements
Machinery and equipment
Total assets

$

Southwestern
Fair
Commission
9

$

9

Liabilities
Accounts payable
Deposits and rebates
Total liabilities
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted
Total net position

$

9
9

$

1,047
5
36
60

Total
$

1,056
5
36
60

1,500

1,500

2,306
666
5,620

2,306
666
5,629

205
27
232

205
27
232

2,972
2,416
5,388

2,972
2,425
5,397

$

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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$

$

20
20

4,960

4,940
4,940

General revenues:
Miscellaneous
Total general revenues
Change in net position
Net position at beginning of year
Net position at end of year

5,018

Total component units

59
59

4,959
4,959

$

$

Southwestern Fair Commission (SFC)
Operations
Total SFC

Sports & Tourism Authority (S&TA)
Operations
Total S&TA

Expenses

Charges for
Services

$

$

121

120
120

1
1

Operating
Grants and
Contributions

Program Revenues

(in thousands)

$

$

S&TA

$

(38)
47
9 $

(38)

(38)
(38)

SFC

92
92
193
5,195
5,388

101

101
101

$

$

Net (Expense) Revenue

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Combining Statement of Activities
Component Units
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

92
92
155
5,242
5,397

63

101
101

(38)
(38)

Total

Exhibit A - 13

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2012
(in thousands)

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies of Pima County (County) conform to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) applicable to governmental units as promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) and the regulatory requirements of the State of Arizona. A summary of the County’s significant
accounting policies follows.
During the year ended June 30, 2012, the County early implemented the provisions of GASB Statement No. 61,
The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus, an amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34. GASB
Statement No. 61 modifies certain requirements for the inclusion of component units in the financial reporting
entity. The County also early implemented the provisions of GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of
Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position. GASB Statement No. 63
establishes criteria for reporting the consumption and acquisition of net position that is applicable to future
reporting periods.
A.

Reporting Entity

The County is a general-purpose local government that is governed by a separately elected Board of
Supervisors. The accompanying financial statements present the activities of the County (the primary
government) and its component units.
Component units are legally separate entities for which the County is considered financially accountable.
Blended component units, although legally separate entities, are, in substance, part of the County’s operations.
Each blended component described below provides a financial benefit and/or financial burden to the County.
Therefore, data from these units are combined with data of the primary government. Discretely presented
component units, on the other hand, are reported in a separate column in the government-wide financial
statements to emphasize they are legally separate from the County. Each blended and discretely presented
component unit discussed below has a June 30 year-end.
The Pima County Stadium District, a legally separate entity, was formed to promote and establish major league
baseball spring training in Pima County. The County Board of Supervisors is the Board of Directors of the
District. Acting in the capacity of the Board of Directors, the Pima County Board of Supervisors is able to
impose its will on the District. The Board of Directors levies the car rental surcharge rates and the recreation
vehicle (RV) park tax for the District. The District is reported as a special revenue fund (blended component
unit) in these financial statements. Complete financial statements for the District can be obtained from the Pima
County Department of Finance and Risk Management located at 130 West Congress Street, Tucson, Arizona
85701.
The Pima County Library District was established in 1986 when legislation allowed full taxing authority and the
ability to enter into agreements with other jurisdictions for the provision of library services. The Pima County
Board of Supervisors is the Board of Directors of the District. The Library District is reported as a special
revenue fund (blended component unit) in these financial statements. Separate financial statements for the
District are not available.
The Pima County Regional Flood Control District was established in 1978. The District is responsible for
floodplain management activities for the unincorporated areas of Pima County (except national forests, parks,
monuments, and Native American Nations), the City of South Tucson, and the Town of Sahuarita. The Pima
County Board of Supervisors is the Board of Directors for the Flood Control District. The Regional Flood
Control District is reported as a special revenue fund (blended component unit) in these financial statements.
Separate financial statements for the District are not available.
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
The Pima County Street Lighting Improvement Districts (SLIDs) are responsible for street lighting for specific
regions of unincorporated Pima County. All budgetary and operational activities are administered by the Pima
County Board of Supervisors and meet the criteria for a blended component unit. SLIDs are reported as a
special revenue fund in these financial statements. Separate financial statements for the SLIDs are not
available.
The Southwestern Fair Commission, Inc. (SFC) is a nonprofit corporation, which manages and maintains the
fairgrounds owned by the County and conducts annual fair and other events at the fairgrounds. The
Commission’s members are appointed and can be removed at any time by the Pima County Board of
Supervisors. Based on these factors, and because SFC does not provide services entirely, or almost entirely to
the County, but rather to the general citizenry, SFC is reported as a separate component unit (discrete
presentation) in these financial statements. Complete financial statements for SFC can be obtained from the
Pima County Department of Finance and Risk Management located at 130 West Congress Street, Tucson,
Arizona 85701.
The Pima County Sports and Tourism Authority (S&TA) is a nonprofit municipal corporation established to
promote professional and amateur sports events and other suitable activities for the benefit of the public and to
increase opportunities for amateur youth sports in Pima County. S&TA members are appointed and can be
removed at any time by the Board of Supervisors. Based on these factors, and because S&TA does not provide
services entirely, or almost entirely to the County, but rather to the general citizenry, S&TA is reported as a
separate component unit (discrete presentation) in these financial statements. Separate financial statements
are unavailable for S&TA.
Related Organization:
The Industrial Authority of Pima County (Authority) is a legally separate entity that was created to promote
economic development and the development of affordable housing. The Authority fulfills its function through
the issuance of tax-exempt bonds. The County Board of Supervisors appoints the Authority’s Board of
Directors. The Authority’s operations are completely separate from the County and the County is not
financially accountable for the Authority. Therefore, the financial activities of the Authority have not been
included in the accompanying financial statements.
B.

Basis of Accounting

Primary government:
The government-wide, proprietary fund, and fiduciary fund financial statements are presented using the
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting with the exception of agency
funds, which have no measurement focus. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at
the time liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place. Property taxes are
recognized as revenue in the year for which they are levied. Grants and donations are recognized as revenue as
soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.
Governmental funds in the fund-based financial statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recognized
when measurable and available. The County considers all revenues reported in the governmental funds to be
available if the revenues are collected within 30 days after year-end. Revenues that are collected after 30 days
are reported as deferred revenues. The County’s major revenue sources that are susceptible to accrual are
property taxes, intergovernmental, and charges for services. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund
liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt, claims and judgments,
compensated absences, landfill closure and post-closure care costs, and pollution remediation, which are
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
recognized as expenditures to the extent they are due and payable. General capital asset acquisitions are
reported as expenditures in governmental funds. Proceeds of general long-term debt and acquisitions under
capital lease agreements are reported as other financing sources. The County may fund certain programs by a
combination of restricted, committed, assigned, and/or unassigned (general) revenues. When an
expenditure/expense is incurred that can be paid from either restricted or unrestricted fund balances/net
position, the County uses restricted fund balance/net position first. When an expenditure is incurred that can
be paid from more than one category of unrestricted fund balances, the County will use committed amounts
first, followed by assigned amounts, and lastly unassigned amounts. Fund balances of the governmental funds
are reported separately within classifications based on a hierarchy of the constraints placed on the use of those
resources. The classifications are based on the relative strength of the constraints that control how the specific
amounts can be spent. The classifications are nonspendable, restricted, and unrestricted, which includes
committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance classifications.
The nonspendable fund balance classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either not
in spendable form, such as inventories, or are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.
Restricted fund balances are those that have externally imposed restrictions on their usage by creditors, such as
through debt covenants, grantors, contributors, or laws and regulations.
Committed fund balances are self-imposed limitations set prior to the year-end closing. The Pima County
Board of Supervisors is the highest level of decision making authority. Imposed limitations on the use of funds
must be approved by the Board of Supervisors at a regular supervisory meeting. Any modifications and/or
rescissions must also be approved by the board.
Assigned fund balances are limitations resulting from the intended use of funds. The Pima County Board of
Supervisors and/or its representative, the County Administrator, can authorize the constraints for the specific
purpose. Modifications or rescissions of the constraints can also be authorized by the same action that limited
the funds.
The unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General Fund and includes all spendable
amounts not reported in the other classifications. Also, deficits in fund balances of the other governmental
funds are reported as unassigned.
The County does not have a formal minimum fund balance policy, however, all County funds fund balances or
net position are analyzed throughout the year and reserved as necessary during the budgetary appropriation
process.
The County’s business-type activities and enterprise funds follow FASB Statements and Interpretations issued
on or before November 30, 1989, Accounting Principles Board Opinions, and Accounting Research
Bulletins, unless those pronouncements conflict with GASB pronouncements. The County has chosen the
option not to follow FASB statements and interpretations issued after November 30, 1989.

C.

Basis of Presentation

The basic financial statements include both government-wide and fund-based financial statements. The
government-wide statements focus on the County as a whole, while the fund-based statements focus on major
funds. Each presentation provides valuable information that can be analyzed and compared between years and
between governments to enhance the usefulness of the information.
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Government-wide statements provide information about the primary government and its component units.
The statements include a statement of net position and a statement of activities. These statements report the
financial activities of the overall government, except for fiduciary activities. They also distinguish between
thegovernmental and business-type activities of the County and between the County and its discretely
presentedcomponent units.
Governmental activities are financed primarily through taxes and
intergovernmental revenues. Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to
external parties. A statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program
revenues for each function of the County’s governmental activities and segment of its business-type activities.
Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program or function and, therefore, are clearly
identifiable to a particular function. The County does not allocate indirect expenses to programs or functions.
Program revenues include:




Charges for services (fines and forfeitures, licenses and permits, and special assessments);
Operating grants and contributions; and
Capital grants and contributions

Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including internally dedicated resources and all taxes
levied or imposed by the County, are reported as general revenues. The net effect of interfund activity has
been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements to minimize the double counting of internal
activities.
Fund-based financial statements provide information about the County’s funds, including fiduciary funds
and blended component units. Separate statements are presented for the governmental, proprietary, and
fiduciary fund categories. The emphasis of fund-based financial statements is on major governmental and
enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining governmental and enterprise funds are
aggregated and reported as non-major funds. Fiduciary funds are aggregated and reported by fund type.
Proprietary funds are financed mainly by fees and charges received from users of the services provided by the
fund’s operations. Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods
in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. All revenues and expenses not meeting
this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.
The County reports the following major governmental funds:
The General Fund is the County’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the
general government, except for those required to be accounted for in another fund.
The Capital Projects Fund accounts for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or construction of
capital facilities and other capital assets, other than those financed by proprietary funds.
The Debt Service Fund accounts for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment of, general long-term
debt principal and interest.
The County reports the following major enterprise funds:
Pima Health System and Services (PHS&S) provided payment for health care services including inpatient
hospital care and outpatient clinical care for medical and psychiatric problems, indigent health care under the
Arizona Health Care Cost Containment System (AHCCCS), an alternative to Medicaid, home health services,
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
and long-term nursing care. The County’s AHCCCS contracts terminated on September 30, 2011, and the
Pima Health System and Services ceased operations. All residual balances of the fund were transferred to the
other governmental funds at June 30, 2012.
Regional Wastewater Reclamation (RWR) accounts for the management and operation of wastewater
treatment and water pollution control programs.
The County reports the following fund types:
Internal Service Funds account for the financing of goods or services provided by one department or agency
to other departments or agencies of the County, or to other governmental units, on a cost-reimbursement
basis.These funds account for fleet maintenance and operation, insurance, graphic services, and
telecommunications services.
Investment Trust Funds account for assets held by the County Treasurer in an external investment pool and
individual investment accounts for the benefit of outside jurisdictions.
Agency Funds account for the assets held by the County as an agent for individuals, private organizations, or
other governmental units. The agency funds are custodial in nature and do not present results of operations.
D.

Cash and Investments

Primary government:
For purposes of its statements of cash flows, the County considers only those highly liquid investments, with a
maturity period of 3 months or less when purchased, to be cash equivalents. All investments are stated at fair
value.
If an individual fund has a deficit balance in the amount on deposit with the County Treasurer at year-end, that
balance is reclassified as an amount due to other funds.
E.

Inventories and Prepaids

The County accounts for its inventories in the Health Fund using the purchase method. Inventories of the
Health Department consist of expendable supplies held for consumption and are recorded as expenditures at
the time of purchase. Amounts on hand at year-end are shown on the balance sheet as an asset for
informational purposes only and are offset by nonspendable fund balance to indicate that they do not constitute
“available spendable resources.” These inventories are stated at cost using the first-in, first-out method or
average cost method.
Inventories of the Transportation Department are recorded as assets when purchased and expensed when used.
Inventories in Transportation are valued at lower of cost or market, cost being determined using the moving
average method.
Inventories in the government-wide and proprietary funds’ financial statements are recorded as assets when
purchased and expensed when consumed.
Inventories of RWR, an enterprise fund, are valued at lower of cost or market, cost being determined using the
moving average method.
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Inventories of Internal Service Funds are valued at lower of cost or market, cost being determined using the
moving average method.
Prepaid expenses/expenditures are accounted for using the consumption method, except for the School Reserve
Fund reported as an Other Governmental Fund, which uses the purchase method.
F.

Property Tax Calendar

The County levies real and personal property taxes on or before the third Monday in August that become due
and payable in two equal installments. The first installment is due on the first day of October and becomes
delinquent after the first business day of November. The second installment is due on the first day of March of
the next year and becomes delinquent after the first business day of May. A lien assessed against real and
personal property attaches on the first day of January preceding assessment and levy.
G.

Capital Assets

Capital assets are reported at actual cost or estimated historical cost if historical records are not available.
Donated assets are reported at estimated fair value at the time received.
Capitalization thresholds, depreciation methods, and estimated useful lives of capital assets reported in the
government-wide statements and proprietary funds are as follows (excluding component units):

Capitalization
Threshold

Depreciation
Method

Estimated
Useful Life

Land

All

N/A

N/A

Land improvements (Reported in buildings and improvements)

All

Straight Line

20 - 30 Years

$100

Straight Line

10 - 50 Years

$5

Straight Line

4 - 25 Years

Infrastructure/Sewer conveyance systems

$100

Straight Line

10 - 50 Years

Intangible (Reported in land, equipment, and infrastructure)

$100

Straight Line

Varies

Buildings and improvements
Equipment

Discretely presented component units:
SFC capital assets are reported at actual cost. Depreciation is provided by the straight-line method over the
assets’ estimated useful life, which range from 5 to 40 years.
H.

Investment Earnings

Investment earnings are composed of interest, dividends, and net changes in the fair value of applicable
investments.

51

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2012
(in thousands)

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

I.

Compensated Absences

Compensated absences consist of vacation leave and a calculated amount of sick leave earned by employees
based on services already rendered.
Employees may accumulate up to 240 hours of vacation depending upon years of service, but any vacation
hours in excess of the maximum amount that are unused at their year-end are forfeited. Upon termination of
employment, all unused and unforfeited vacation benefits are paid to employees. Accordingly, vacation
benefitsareaccrued as a liability in theJRYHUQPHQWZLGHDQGSURSULHWDU\IXQG financial statementsin
(PSOR\HH&RPSHQVDWLRQ
Employees may accumulate up to 1920 hours of sick leave. Generally, sick leave benefits provide for ordinary
sick pay and are cumulative but are forfeited upon termination of employment. Sick leave benefits do not vest
with employees; however, employees who are eligible to retire from County service into the Arizona State
Retirement System, Public Safety Personnel Retirement System, or Corrections Officer Retirement Plan may
request sick leave be converted to annual leave on a predetermined conversion basis. An estimate of those
retirement payouts is accrued as a liability in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements in
Employee Compensation. &ompensaWHGDEVHQFHV for the governmental funds is accrued based on vacation
and sick leave paid within the first two pay periods after fiscal year end.
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Note 2: Fund Balance Classifications
The table below details the fund balance categories and classifications:

General
Fund

Capital Projects
Fund

Debt Service
Fund

Other
Governmental
Funds

CAFR
Total

Net Position:
Nonspendable:
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Loan receivable
Permanent fund principal
Total nonspendable

$

67
1,984
669

$

2,720

Restricted for:
Capital Projects
Streets and highways
Other
Justice Court Complex
Judicial activities
Flood Control District
Health
Law enforcement
Library District
Parks and recreation
School reserve
Social services
Streets and highways
Tire fund
Other purposes
Total restricted

$

42,385
78,481
22,651

$

1,441
2,056
728
45
4,270

157,688

34,367
9,712
9,792
4,385
15,217
17
508
3,186
22,877
1,214
4,193
105,468

42,385
78,481
22,651
34,367
23,883
9,792
4,385
15,217
17
508
3,186
22,877
1,214
4,526
263,489

7,234
7,234

414
4,440
5,410
10,264

414
4,440
12,644
17,498

805
1,648
1,890
1,130
11,209
16,682

28,298
114
805
1,652
1,890
1,130
11,209
45,098

14,171

333
333

1,374
72
59
45
1,550

Committed to:
School reserve
Sports promotion (Stadium)
Other purposes
Total committed
Assigned to:
Debt service reserve
Judicial activities
Health
Parks and recreation
Landfill
School reserve
Other purposes
Total assigned
Unassigned:
Total Net Position

$

114

28,298

4

118
$

77,596
80,767

28,298
(3,553)
161,369

$

53

$

28,298

$

(9,013)
124,951

$

65,030
395,385

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2012
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Note 3: Cash and Investments
Primary Government
The County’s cash and investment policies are governed by State statutes and by bond covenants. The County
Treasurer is authorized to invest public monies in the State Treasurer’s Investment Pool; interest bearing
savings accounts, certificates of deposit and repurchase agreements in eligible depositories; bonds or other
obligations issued or guaranteed by the United States government or any of the senior debt of its agencies,
sponsored agencies, corporations, sponsored corporations, or instrumentalities; specified state and local
government bonds; specified commercial paper, bonds, debentures, and notes issued by corporations organized
and doing business in the United States; bonds or other evidences of indebtedness of the State of Arizona or any
of its counties, cities, towns, or school districts as specified by statute; and bonds of any county municipal
district, municipal utility, or special taxing district of any state that are payable from revenues, earnings, or a
special tax pledged for all payments on the obligations. In addition, the County Treasurer may invest trust
funds in fixed income securities of corporations doing business in the United States.
Credit risk—The State statutes have the following requirements for credit risk:
1.

Commercial paper must be of prime quality and be rated within the top two ratings by a nationally
recognized rating agency.

2.

Corporate bonds, debentures, and notes must be rated within the top three ratings by a nationally
recognized rating agency.

3.

Fixed income securities must carry one of the two highest ratings by Moody’s Investors Service and
Standard and Poor’s rating service. If only one of the above-mentioned services rates the security, it
must carry the highest rating of that service.

Custodial credit risk—Statutes require collateral for demand deposits and certificates of deposit at 101 percent
of all deposits not covered by federal depository insurance.
Concentration of credit risk—Statutes do not include any requirements for concentration of credit risk.
Interest rate risk—Statutes require that public monies invested in securities and deposits have a maximum
maturity of 5 years. Investments in repurchase agreements must have a maximum maturity of 180 days.
Foreign currency risk—Statutes do not allow foreign investments.
Deposits—At June 30, 2012, the carrying amount of the County’s deposits was $57,136 and the bank balance
was $66,485.
Custodial credit risk—Custodial credit risk is the risk that the County will not be able to recover its deposits if
a financial institution fails. The County does not have a formal policy with respect to custodial credit risk. As
of June 30, 2012, $1,977 of the County’s bank balance was exposed to custodial credit risk because it was
uninsured and uncollateralized.
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Note 3: Cash and Investments (continued)
Investments—At June 30, 2012, the County’s investments consisted of $552,258 invested in marketable
securities and $471,556 invested in the State Treasurer’s Investment Pool. Cash from the County and from
externally legally separate governments are pooled to purchase the investments in marketable securities and the
State Treasurer’s Pool. The State Board of Investment provides oversight for the State Treasurer’s pools. The
fair value of a participant’s position in the pool approximates the value of that participant’s pool shares and the
participant’s shares are not identified with specific investments.
Credit risk—Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.
The County does not have a formal investment policy with respect to credit risk.
At June 30, 2012, credit risk for the County’s investments was as follows:

Investment Type

Rating

Rating Agency

Amount

S&P / Moody's
$
S&P / Moody's
S&P / Moody's
S&P / Moody's
S&P / Moody's
S&P / Moody's
Marketable securities

Commercial paper
Corporate bonds
Federal Farm Credit Bank
Federal Home Loan Bank
Freddie Mac (Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp)
Money market mutual fund

A1/P1
A-/A3
AA+/Aaa
AA+/Aaa
AA+/Aaa
AAAm/Aaa

State Treasurer Investment Pool 5
State Treasurer Investment Pool 500
State Treasurer Investment Pool 7

S&P
AAAf/S1+
Unrated
Unrated
State Treasurer's Investment Pool

234,756
72,529
164,271
471,556
$

Total

38,545
376,649
15,204
52,582
5,099
11,175
499,254

970,810

Custodial credit risk—For an investment, custodial risk is the risk that, in the event of the counterparty’s
failure, the County will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the
possession of an outside party. The County has no formal policy with respect to custodial credit risk. Of the
County’s $1,023,814 of investments, $541,083, consisting of the commercial paper, corporate bonds, Federal
Farm Credit Bank, Federal Home Loan Bank, Freddie Mac discount notes, and U.S. Treasury notes, is
uninsured and held by a counterparty in the County’s name in book entry form.
Concentration of credit risk—The County has no formal policy with respect to limiting the amount the
Treasurer may invest in any one issuer. At June 30, 2012, the County had investments in the Federal Home
Loan Bank with a fair value of $52,582 or 5.1% of total investments.
Interest rate risk—Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect an
investment’s fair value. The County does not have a formal investment policy with respect to interest rate risk.
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Note 3: Cash and Investments (continued)
As of June 30, 2012, the County had the following investments:

Investment Type

Weighted Average
Maturity (Years)

Amount
$

State Treasurer Investment Pool 5
State Treasurer Investment Pool 500
State Treasurer Investment Pool 7
Commercial paper
Corporate bonds
Federal Farm Credit Bank
Federal Home Loan Bank
Freddie Mac (Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp)
U.S. Treasury Notes
Money market mutual fund

234,756
72,529
164,271
38,545
376,649
15,204
52,582
5,099
53,004
11,175

0.07
7.36
0.08
0.17
1.72
2.40
1.67
0.48
1.14
0.14

$ 1,023,814

Total

A reconciliation of cash, deposits, and investments to amounts shown on the Statements of Net Position follows:

Cash on
Hand
Cash, deposits, and investments:

$

57

Amount of
Deposits
$
57,136

Amount of
Investments
$ 1,023,814

Total
$ 1,081,007

Governmental Business-type Investment
Activities
Activities
Trust Funds
Statement of Net Position:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and
cash equivalents
Total

Agency
Funds

Totals

$

504,113

$

107,152

$

297,724

$

57,450

$ 966,439

$

2,326
506,439

$

112,242
219,394

$

297,724

$

57,450

114,568
$ 1,081,007

County Treasurer’s Investment Pool—Arizona Revised Statutes require community colleges, school districts,
and other local governments to deposit certain public monies with the County Treasurer. The County Treasurer
has a fiduciary responsibility to administer those and the County monies under her stewardship. The County
Treasurer invests, on a pool basis, all idle monies not specifically invested for a fund or program. In addition,
the County Treasurer determines the fair value of those pooled investments annually at June 30. The County
Treasurer’s Investment Pool is not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission as an investment
company and there is no regulatory oversight of its operations. The structure of the Pool does not provide for
shares and the County has not provided or obtained any legally binding guarantees to support the value of the
participants’ investments. The County Treasurer allocates interest earnings to each of the Pool’s participants.
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Note 3: Cash and Investments (continued)
Substantially, all deposits and investments of the County’s primary government are included in the County
Treasurer’s investment pool. Therefore, the deposit and investment risks of the Treasurer’s investment pool are
substantially the same as the County’s deposit and investment risks disclosed above.
The Pool’s assets consist of the following:

Commercial paper
Corporate bonds
Federal Farm Credit Bank
Federal Home Loan Bank
Freddie Mac (Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp)
U.S. Treasury Notes
State Treasurer Investment Pool 5
Deposits
Interest Receivable
Total assets

Principal

Interest
Rates

Maturities

Fair Value

$ 38,550
358,606
15,000
52,250
5,000
51,290
76,601
19,605
96

0.1-0.2%
0.4-7.3%
0.5-1.7%
0.3-3.1%
4.1%
1.1-3.9%
N/A
N/A
N/A

07/12-11/12
08/12-03/17
10/13-12/15
08/12-05/16
12/12
08/12-07/14
N/A
N/A
N/A

$

$

A condensed statement of the investment pool’s net position and changes in net position follows:

Statement of Net Position
Assets held in trust for:
Internal participants
External participants
Total assets
Total liabilities
Total net position held in trust
Statement of Changes in Net Position
Total additions
Total deductions
Net increase
Net position held in trust:
July 1, 2011
June 30, 2012
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$

503,836
133,549
637,385

$

637,385

$ 7,353,082
(7,321,183)
31,899
$

605,486
637,385

38,545
376,649
15,204
52,582
5,099
53,004
76,601
19,605
96
637,385
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Note 4: Due from Other Governments
Governmental activities:
Capital
Projects
Fund

General
Fund
Federal government:
Grants and contributions
State of Arizona:
Taxes and shared revenues
Grants and contributions
Other Cities:
Reimbursement for services
Other governments:
Reimbursement for services
Total due from other governments
fund based statements

$

187

$

Debt
Other
Service Governmental
Fund
Funds

-

20,083

$ 1,733

995

802

248

8,483

$ 21,513

$ 11,018

$

$

11

$

11

$

16,951

Internal
Service
Funds

Total
Governmental
Activities

$

$

1

17,139

7,720
3,305

3

29,536
3,308

1,544

88

3,440

288

20

9,039

29,808

$

112

$

62,462

Note 5: Capital Assets
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2012, was as follows:
Balance
July 1, 2011
(as reclassified)*
Governmental activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Total capital assets not being depreciated

$

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements
Infrastructure
Equipment
Total capital assets being depreciated

448,790
202,977
651,767

$

601,905
1,155,494
118,810
1,876,209

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements
Infrastructure
Equipment
Total accumulated depreciation

(169,797)
(561,651)
(77,798)
(809,246)

Total capital assets being depreciated, net
Governmental activities capital assets, net

Increases

1,066,963
$

1,718,730
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$

19,813
122,018
141,831

$

(942)
(76,678)
(77,620)

9,342
47,894
34,871
92,107

(7,522)
(321)
(6,686)
(14,529)

(16,373)
(34,688)
(11,044)
(62,105)

5,324
321
5,939
11,584

30,002

(2,945)

171,833

Balance
June 30, 2012

Decreases

$

(80,565)

$

467,661
248,317
715,978
603,725
1,203,067
146,995
1,953,787
(180,846)
(596,018)
(82,903)
(859,767)
1,094,020

$

1,809,998
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Note 5: Capital Assets (continued)
Balance
July 1, 2011
Business-type activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Total capital assets not being depreciated

$

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements
Infrastructure
Equipment
Total capital assets being depreciated

15,409
165,481
180,890

$

369,351
681,720
110,063
1,161,134

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements
Infrastructure
Equipment
Total accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets being depreciated, net
Business-type activities capital assets, net

Increases

(162,270)
(246,488)
(27,556)
(436,314)
724,820
905,710

$

$

215,835
215,835

$

(39,205)
(39,205)

20,202
21,149
5,339
46,690

(2,879)
(633)
(1,894)
(5,406)

(14,624)
(13,264)
(7,931)
(35,819)

2,666
319
1,687
4,672

10,871
226,706

Balance
June 30, 2012

Decreases

$

(734)
(39,939)

$

15,409
342,111
357,520
386,674
702,236
113,508
1,202,418
(174,228)
(259,433)
(33,800)
(467,461)

$

734,957
1,092,477

* At July 1, 2011, the general government buildings, improvements, and infrastructure of $40 and $104, respectively were reclassified to equipment.
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Note 5: Capital Assets (continued)
Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:
Governmental activities:
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Sanitation
Health
Welfare
Culture and recreation
Education and economic opportunity
Internal service funds
Total governmental activities depreciation expense

$

10,203
9,981
29,711
1,119
687
85
5,938
871
3,510
62,105

$

Business-type activities:
Pima Health System & Services
Parking Garages
Regional Wastewater Reclamation
Development Services
Total business-type activities depreciation expense

$

115
218
35,477
9
35,819

$

Balance
July 1, 2011

Increases

Balance
June 30, 2012

Decreases

Discretely presented component units:
Southwestern Fair Commission (SFC):
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Total capital assets being depreciated

$

5,017
2,417
7,434

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Total accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets being depreciated, net
SFC capital assets, net

$

366
171
537

(2,857)
(1,738)
(4,595)

(220)
(184)
(404)

2,839

133

2,839
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$

$

133

$

(45)
(45)

$

5,383
2,543
7,926
(3,077)
(1,877)
(4,954)

45
45

2,972
$

2,972
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Note 6: Claims, Judgments, and Risk Management
Risk Management and Claims Liability
The County is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; injuries to employees; medical malpractice; environmental claims; and natural disasters.
Claims against the County are accounted for in the Self Insurance Trust Fund (the Fund), an internal service
fund. Annually, an actuarial evaluation is performed to determine the County’s anticipated losses except for
environmental, unemployment, and dental losses. Environmental losses are based on reported claims and the
County risk manager’s knowledge and experience. Unemployment and dental losses are based on claims that
have been submitted but not yet paid by the Fund. Losses accounted for include reported and paid, reported
but unpaid, and incurred but not reported. All liabilities of the Fund except for environmental, unemployment,
and dental losses are reported at their present value using an expected future investment yield assumption of
four percent.
The Fund is liable for any single general or automobile liability claim up to $2,500, per occurrence; workers’
compensation claim up to $1,000, per occurrence; or any medical malpractice claims in aggregate up to
$5,000, in any policy year. The County purchases commercial insurance for claims in excess of coverage
provided by the Fund and for some other risks of loss. Settled claims have not exceeded insurance coverage in
any of the last three fiscal years.
Payment of unemployment and dental claims is fully self-funded. Payment of environmental claims is
generally self-funded, although some claims filed could result in past insurers being liable for such losses.
All of the County’s departments participate in the Fund. With the exception of environmental, dental, and
unemployment losses, charges are based on actuarial estimates of the amounts needed to pay prior- and
current-year claims. Charges for environmental losses are based on historical experience. Charges for dental
and unemployment losses are based on actual claims paid.
The claims liability of $35,397 reported in the Fund at June 30, 2012, is based on estimates of the ultimate cost
of claims that have been reported but not settled and of claims that have been incurred but not reported. The
ultimate cost of claims includes incremental claim adjustment expenses that have been allocated to specific
claims, as well as salvage and subrogation. No other claim adjustment expenses have been included.
2012

2011

Claims liabilities - beginning
Current-year claims and changes in estimates
Claims payment

$

40,795
2,209
(7,607)

$

38,378
9,099
(6,682)

Claims liabilities balance - ending

$

35,397

$

40,795

Litigation
Pima County is a defendant in a number of court actions. In the opinion of County management, the final
disposition of these actions, if unfavorable, will not have a material effect upon the County's financial
statements.

61

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2012
(in thousands)

Note 6: Claims, Judgments, and Risk Management (continued)
Pollution Remediation
The County has estimated and reported an environmental liability of $805 in the government-wide financial
statements for governmental activities (in noncurrent liabilities). Remediation efforts are currently underway at one
County site: El Camino del Cerro.
Remediation efforts continue at the El Camino del Cerro site which is approximately bordered by the Santa Cruz
River on the west, Interstate 10 on the east and El Camino del Cerro Road on the south. The groundwater
contamination is suggested to resonate from the municipal and solid waste landfill operated on the site from 1973 to
1977.
The estimated liability was calculated based upon the expected future outlays associated with the estimate of one
pump-and-treat system for one year. There is potential for changes due to increased costs associated with sewage
disposal costs, construction costs for extraction and injection wells, and/or changes in the estimated extent of
contamination.
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Note 7: Long-Term Liabilities
The following schedule details the County’s long-term liability and obligation activity for the year ended June
30, 2012.
Balance
July 1, 2011

Additions

Balance
Due within
Reductions June 30, 2012
1 year

$

$

$

Governmental activities:
General obligation bonds
Plus unamortized deferred amount
Total general obligation bonds

452,750
3,106
455,856

456,145
5,412
461,557

$ 49,175
400
49,575

26,285
159
26,444

138,070
3,466
141,536

12,055
73
12,128

46,895
1,340
48,235

8,165
298
8,463

38,730
1,042
39,772

3,875
23
3,898

18,565
(790)

2,230
(290)
298
2,238

16,335
(500)
596
16,431

2,780
(282)
298
2,796

2,210
5,397

23,455
11,942

4,202
2,114

131,410
(35)
131,375

Transportation revenue bonds
Plus unamortized deferred amount
Total transportation revenue bonds
Certificates of participation
Plus unamortized deferred amount
Total certificates of participation
Capital leases payable:
Jail capital lease
Less unamortized deferred amount
Other capital leases
Total capital leases

76,225
3,689
79,914
32,945
3,660
36,605

894
894

17,775

Reported but unpaid losses (Note 6)
Incurred but not reported losses (Note 6)

23,456
17,339

2,209

Landfill closure and post-closure
care costs (Note 8)

19,944

928

1,033

Pollution remediation (Note 6)
Total governmental activities
long-term liabilities

$

715,013

72,830
1,383
74,213

$

20,872
228

$ 120,550
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805
$

716,370

$

74,713
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Note 7: Long-Term Liabilities (continued)
Balance
July 1, 2011

Additions

Reductions

Balance
June 30, 2012

Due within
1 year

$

$

169,310
1,712
171,022

$ 14,895

5,225
3,114
8,339

348,935
30,418
379,353

9,550

3,685
(14)
3,671

23,719

2,550

23,719

2,550

1,341

15,365

Business-type activities:
Sewer revenue bonds
Plus unamortized deferred amount
Total revenue bonds payable

$

182,430
2,352
184,782

Sewer revenue obligations
Plus unamortized deferred amount
Total revenue obligations payable

165,000
11,849
176,849

Regional Wastewater Reclamation
(RWR) loans payable
Less unamortized deferred amount
Total loans payable

27,404
(14)
27,390

$ 189,160
21,683
210,843

4,657

Contracts and notes

12,049
3,080

Incurred but not reported losses
Total business-type activities
long-term liabilities

13,120
640
13,760

$

393,678

$ 225,972

14,895

9,550

3,080
$

27,111

$

592,539

$ 26,995

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS OUTSTANDING
Governmental Activities
(Payments made from property tax revenues of the Debt Service Fund)
General obligation bonds payable at June 30, 2012, consisted of the outstanding general obligation bonds
presented below. Of the total amounts originally authorized, $7,697 from the May 20, 1997, $66,318 from the
May 18, 2004, and $4,666 from the May 16, 2006 bond elections remain unissued.
The following table presents amounts outstanding by issue.
Issue
Amount
Issue
Series of 2003
50,000
Series of 2004
65,000
Series of 2005
65,000
Series of 2007
95,000
Series of 2008
100,000
Series of 2009
75,000
Series of 2009A
90,000
Series of 2009A Refunding
23,535
Series of 2011
75,000
Series of 2012A
60,000
Series of 2012B Refunding
16,225
G.O. bonds outstanding
Plus unamortized deferred amount:

Interest
Rates
4.00%
3.00 - 5.00%
3.50 - 5.00%
3.00 - 4.50%
3.50 - 4.00%
3.00 - 4.13%
3.00 - 4.00%
3.00 - 3.50%
2.00 - 5.00%
1.00 - 4.00%
2.00 - 3.00%

Maturities
2013
2013-19
2013-20
2013-21
2013-22
2013-23
2013-24
2013-16
2013-26
2013-27
2013-17

Total G.O. bonds outstanding
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Outstanding
June 30, 2012
$
3,750
32,660
35,635
62,295
71,250
38,000
73,435
10,820
52,075
60,000
16,225
456,145
5,412
$
461,557
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Note 7: Long-Term Liabilities (continued)
The following schedule details general obligation bond debt service requirements to maturity at June 30, 2012.
Year Ending June 30,
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018 - 2022
2023 - 2027
Total

Principal
49,175
41,775
37,015
38,045
39,710
189,105
61,320
$
456,145
$

Interest
16,974
15,361
13,886
12,560
11,207
34,457
5,764
$
110,209
$

REFUNDED GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
In 2012, the County defeased $15,850 of General Obligation Bonds, Series 2003 by issuing $16,225 of General
Obligation Bonds that have an average life of 3.54 years and an average interest rate of 2.355%. This refunding
transaction resulted in an economic gain of $875 and a reduction in debt service payments of $910. The
proceeds of the new bonds were placed in an irrevocable trust to provide for future debt service payments of the
refunded debt. Accordingly, the trust account assets and liability for the defeased bonds are not included in the
County’s financial statements. The Series 2003 Bonds remain legally defeased in substance at the amount
disclosed below.
Principal
Outstanding
June 30, 2012
Issue
2003 General Obligation Refunded Bonds

$

15,850

TRANSPORTATION BONDS PAYABLE
Governmental Activities
(Payments made from street and highway revenues)
Pima County transportation revenue bonds were issued to provide monies to construct improvements to the
County’s streets and highways. Of the total amount originally authorized, $89,375 from the November 4, 1997
bond election remains unissued.
Issue
Interest
Amount
Rates
Maturities
Issue
Series of 2003
35,000
4.00%
2013
Series of 2005
51,200
3.50 - 5.00%
2013-20
Series of 2007
21,000
3.25 - 4.75%
2013-22
Series of 2008
25,000
3.25 - 4.50%
2013-22
Series of 2009
15,000
3.00 - 4.00%
2013-24
Series of 2009 Refunding
8,420
3.00 - 4.00%
2013-24
Series of 2012
18,425
3.00 - 5.00%
2013-27
Series of 2012 Refunding
14,520
4.00 - 5.00%
2013-18
Transportation bonds outstanding
Plus unamortized deferred amount:
Total transportation bonds outstanding
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Outstanding
June 30, 2012
2,670
36,865
17,770
24,400
15,000
8,420
18,425
14,520
138,070
3,466
$
141,536
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Note 7: Long-Term Liabilities (continued)
The following schedule details transportation bond debt service requirements to maturity at June 30, 2012.
Year Ending June 30,
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018 - 2022
2023 - 2027
Total

Principal
12,055
12,425
12,910
13,430
14,050
59,985
13,215
$
138,070
$

Interest
5,537
4,969
4,488
3,983
3,372
8,743
1,116
$
32,208
$

Pima County has pledged future highway user revenues, net of specified operating expenses, to repay $138,070
in transportation revenue bonds issued between 2003 and 2012. Proceeds from the bonds provide financing for
construction of various highways and streets within Pima County. The bonds are payable from net highway
user revenues and are payable through 2027. Annual principal and interest payments on the bonds are expected
to require approximately 96 percent of net revenues. Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the
bonds is  $170,278.  Principal and interest paid  for bonds in the current year and  total QHWKLJKZD\XVHU
UHYHQXHVwere $15,940 and $13,499, respectively.
REFUNDED TRANSPORTATION BONDS
In 2012, the County defeased $15,270 of Transportation Bonds, Series 2003, by issuing $14,520 of
Transportation Bonds that have an average life of 4.18 years and an average interest rate of 4.195%. The
proceeds of the new bonds were placed in an irrevocable trust to provide for legal defeasance of the refunded
debt on July 1, 2013. This refunding transaction was performed primarily to restructure outstanding debt in
order to align projected future revenues with corresponding debt service requirements and resulted in a
reduction in debt service payments of $1,167 and an economic gain of $1,106. The Series 2003 Bonds remain
legally defeased in substance at the amount disclosed below.
Principal
Outstanding
June 30, 2012

Issue
2003 Transportation Refunded Bonds

$

15,270

CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION
Governmental Activities
(Payments made from General Fund revenues)
Certificates of Participation represent proportionate interests in semiannual lease payments. The County’s
obligation to make lease payments is subject to annual appropriations being made by the County for that
purpose. On May 1, 2007, the County issued Certificates of Participation Series 2007A for $28,765 to finance
the acquisition of and improvements to a 22-story office tower located in downtown Tucson and to acquire and
construct replacement facilities for the Pima County Community Services Department. On February 4, 2010,
the County issued Certificates of Participation Series 2010 for $20,000 to finance the replacement computer
enterprise system composed of servers and other hardware, computer terminals, software, and system training.
The new enterprise system will serve the County with finance, budget, procurement, human resources, and
material management systems.
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Note 7: Long-Term Liabilities (continued)
The following schedule details outstanding Certificates of Participation payable at June 30, 2012.
Issue
Interest
Amount
Rates
Maturities
Issue
Series of 2007A
$ 28,765
4.25 - 5.00%
2013-22
Series of 2010
20,000
3.00 - 5.25%
2013-19
Certificates of participation outstanding
Plus unamortized deferred amount:
Total certificates of participation outstanding

Outstanding
June 30, 2012
$
22,505
16,225
38,730
1,042
$
39,772

The following schedule details debt service requirements to maturity for the County’s Certificates of
Participation payable at June 30, 2012.
Year Ending June 30,
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018 - 2022
Total

Principal
3,875
4,020
4,170
4,345
4,570
17,750
$
38,730
$

Interest
1,766
1,627
1,472
1,297
1,074
2,269
$
9,505
$

CAPITAL LEASES
Governmental Activities
On February 1, 1997, the County entered into an agreement to sell certain jail facilities and then lease them
back for a 15-year term. The jail facilities were sold for $34,500, and the proceeds were used to finance the
construction of the baseball stadium. On September 1, 1999 and October 1, 2003, Pima County amended the
capital lease agreement between U.S. Bank Trust National Association and Pima County. The amendments
extended the lease term to 2014 and 2018 respectively, increased the range of interest rates, and increased the
County’s obligation under the lease agreement. The County has also entered into capital leases for heavy
equipment for use at its landfill sites. The outstanding balance as of June 30, 2012, for these leases totaled $596.
The net book value of assets acquired through capital leases consists of $15,908 of buildings and $867 of
equipment.
The following schedule details capital lease debt service requirements to maturity at June 30, 2012.
Governmental Activities:
Year Ending June 30,
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018

Buildings
Principal
Interest
$
2,780
$
647
2,485
511
2,605
399
2,710
293
2,820
181
2,935
62
$ 16,335
$
2,093
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Equipment
Interest
Principal
$
298
298

$

596
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Note 7: Long-Term Liabilities (continued)
SEWER REVENUE BONDS, LOANS, AND OBLIGATIONS
Business-type Activities
(Payments made from user charges received in the RWR)
Pima County sewer revenue bonds, as presented below, were issued to provide monies to construct
improvements to the County’s Regional Wastewater Reclamation system and for the defeasance of prior sewer
revenue bonds. As of June 30, 2012, the County has issued the total amounts originally authorized from the
May 20, 1997 and May 18, 2004 bond elections.
Issue
Interest
Amount
Rates
Issue
Maturities
Series of 2004 Refunding
25,770
4.60 - 5.50%
2013-15
Series of 2007
50,000
3.75 - 5.00%
2013-26
Series of 2008
75,000
4.00 - 5.00%
2013-23
Series of 2009
18,940
3.25 - 4.25%
2013-24
Series of 2011 Refunding
43,625
2.00 - 5.00%
2013-16
Sewer revenue bonds outstanding
Plus unamortized deferred amount:
Total sewer revenue bonds outstanding

Outstanding
June 30, 2012
$
10,405
38,770
73,580
16,715
29,840
169,310
1,712
$
171,022

The following schedule details sewer revenue bond debt service requirements to maturity at June 30, 2012.
Year Ending June 30,
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018 - 2022
2023 - 2026
Total

Principal
$
14,895
16,765
17,555
15,950
11,250
65,300
27,595
$
169,310

Interest
$
7,347
6,661
5,882
5,057
4,354
14,260
2,086
$
45,647

On June 17, 2010, Pima County entered into an agreement, whereby future revenues were pledged, that
provided monies to be used primarily to pay a portion of the capital project costs associated with the
construction, expansion, and improvement of sewer treatment facilities and conveyance systems for the countywide sewer system, including the Ina Road and Roger Road Wastewater Reclamation Facilities. In December
2011, the County issued Sewer Revenue Obligations Series 2011B for $189,160 to provide additional funding
for the construction and improvements of the County’s wastewater conveyance systems and treatment facilities.
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Note 7: Long-Term Liabilities (continued)

Issue
Interest
Amount
Rates
Maturities
Issue
Series of 2010
$ 165,000
2.50 - 5.00%
2014-25
Series of 2011B
189,160
1.00 - 5.00%
2013-26
Sewer revenue obligations outstanding
Plus unamortized deferred amount:
Total sewer revenue obligations outstanding

Outstanding
June 30, 2012
$
165,000
183,935
348,935
30,418
$
379,353

The following schedule details sewer revenue obligation debt service requirements to maturity at June 30, 2012.
Year Ending June 30,
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018 - 2022
2023 - 2026
Total

Principal
9,550
11,935
12,330
12,850
25,915
149,710
126,645
$
348,935
$

Interest
17,028
16,646
16,169
15,596
14,984
54,785
14,609
$
149,817
$

In prior years, the Regional Wastewater Reclamation Enterprise Fund entered into loan agreements (1996 to
provide funds for the defeasance of prior sewer revenue bonds, and 2004 which was used for construction and
improvement of wastewater treatment facilities). In October 2009, the County entered into an additional loan
agreement for the funding of construction of wastewater treatment facilities. Interest is payable semiannually
and is calculated based on the principal amount of the loan outstanding during such period.

Issue
1996 Loans payable
2004 Loans payable
2009 Loans payable

Issue
Amount
$ 11,313
19,967
8,002

Interest
Rate
Maturities
3.19%
2013
1.81%
2013-24
0.96%
2013-24
Total loans payable

Outstanding
June 30, 2012
$
1,105
15,518
7,096
$
23,719

The following schedule details loans payable debt service requirements to maturity at June 30, 2012.
Year Ending June 30,
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018 - 2022
2023 - 2026
Total

Principal
2,550
1,489
1,535
1,581
1,629
8,922
6,013
$
23,719
$
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Interest
687
622
576
529
480
1,613
278
$
4,785
$
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Note 7: Long-Term Liabilities (continued)
Pima County has pledged future user charges, net of specified operating expenses, to repay $169,310 in sewer
revenue bonds issued between 2004 and 2011, $23,719 in sewer revenue loans issued between 1996 and 2009,
and $348,935 in sewer revenue obligations issued in 2010 and 2011. Proceeds from the bonds, loans, and
obligations provided financing for construction of various treatment facilities and sewer infrastructure within
Pima County. The bonds, loans, and obligations are payable from net sewer revenues and are payable through
fiscal year 2026. Annual principal and interest payments on the bonds and obligations are expected to require
approximately 42 percent of net revenues. The annual principal and interest payments on the loans are expected
to require approximately 9 percent of net revenues. Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the
bonds is $214,957. Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the loans is $28,504. Total principal
and interest remaining to be paid on the obligations is $498,752. Principal and interest paid for bonds, loans
and obligations in the current year and total customer net revenues were $39,586, $4,069, and $80,142,
respectively.
All sewer revenue bonds were issued and the loan agreements were executed with a first lien on the pledge of
the RWR net revenues and have restrictive covenants, primarily related to minimum utility rates and limitations
on future bond issues. The bond covenants also require the RWR to either maintain a surety bond guaranteeing
the payment of annual debt service or to maintain in the Bond Reserve Account monies equal to the average
annual debt service payment. At June 30, 2012, the RWR had a surety bond to meet the requirements of the
debt covenants. The County is also authorized to issue for the RWR additional parity bonds if certain
conditions are met, primarily that net revenues for the fiscal year immediately preceding issuance of the parity
bonds exceed 120 percent of the maximum annual debt service requirements immediately after such issuance.
CONTRACTS AND NOTES
Business-type Activities
(Payments made from restricted assets in the RWR)
Contracts and notes consist of contract retentions for several construction projects. Generally, interest is not
accrued and the timing of payments is based on completion of the related construction projects.
LEGAL DEBT MARGIN
County General Obligation Bonds
General obligation debt may not exceed 6 percent of the value of the County’s taxable property as of the latest
assessment. However, with voter approval, debt may be incurred up to 15 percent of the value of taxable
property. Pima County has received voter approval for all general obligation debt. The legal debt margin at
June 30, 2012, is as follows:

Net assessed valuation

$ 8,448,282

Debt limit (15% of net assessed valuation):

1,267,242

Less amount of debt applicable to debt limit:
General obligation bonds outstanding

$

Less fund balance in debt service fund
available for payment of general
obligation bond principal

456,145

(22,602)

Legal debt margin available

433,543
$
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Note 8: Landfill Liabilities
Solid Waste Landfill Closure and Post-Closure Care Costs:
State and Federal laws and regulations require the County to place a final cover on its solid waste landfill sites
when these sites stop accepting waste and to perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the sites
for thirty years after their closure. Although closure and post-closure care costs will not be paid until near or
after the date the landfills stop accepting waste, the County records a portion of these closure and post-closure
care costs as a long-term liability in each period, based on landfill capacity used as of each balance sheet date.
The $20,872 reported as landfill closure and post-closure care long-term liability within the governmental
activities represents the cumulative amount reported to date, based on the percentage used of each landfill's total
estimated capacity. The County will recognize the remaining estimated cost of closure and post-closure care of
$5,608 as the remaining estimated capacities are used. These amounts are based on what it would cost to
perform all closure and post-closure care in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012; actual costs may change due to
inflation, changes in technology, or changes in regulations.

Landfill Site

Capacity Used
June 30, 2012

Ajo
Sahuarita
Tangerine

71%
51%
95%

Estimated
Remaining
Service Life
38 Years
30 Years
5 Years

The County plans to fund the estimated closure and post-closure care costs with proceeds of general obligation
bonds and with solid waste tipping fees.
According to State and Federal laws and regulations, the County must comply with the local government
financial test requirements that ensure the County can meet the costs of landfill closure, post-closure, and
corrective action when needed. The County is in compliance with these requirements. The Ina Road Landfill
facility is closed to municipal solid waste and only receives green waste and construction debris. It is not
subject to the closure and post-closure cost requirements referred to above. Pima County estimates that it will
cost approximately $10,596 when closure occurs and plans to fund the costs with proceeds of general obligation
bonds and with solid waste tipping fees. At this time, there is no closure date available.
Note 9: Pension and Other Post (PSOR\PHQW%HQHILWV
Pension Plan Descriptions
The County contributes to the Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS), the Corrections Officer Retirement
Plan (CORP), the Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS), consisting of Pima County Sheriffs
and Pima County - County Attorney Investigators, and the Elected Officials Retirement Plan (EORP). The
EORP and the PSPRS are not described due to their relative insignificance to the County’s financial
statements. Benefits are established by state statute and generally provide retirement, death, long-term
disability, survivor, and health insurance premium benefits. The retirement benefits are generally paid at a
percentage, based on years of service, of the retiree’s average compensation. Long-term disability benefits
vary by circumstance, but generally pay a percentage of the employee’s monthly compensation. Health
insurance premium benefits are generally paid as a fixed dollar amount per month towards the retiree’s
healthcare insurance premiums, in amounts based on whether the benefit is for the retiree or for the retiree and
his or her dependents.
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Note 9: PensionV and Other 3RVW(PSOR\PHQW%HQHILWV (continued)
The ASRS administers a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan; a cost-sharing, multipleemployer defined benefit health insurance premium plan; and a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit
long-term disability plan that covers employees of the State of Arizona and employees of participating political
subdivisions, including general employees of the County and school districts. The ASRS is governed by the
Arizona State Retirement System Board according to the provisions of A.R.S. Title 38, Chapter 5, Article 2.
The PSPRS administers an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan and an agent multipleemployer defined benefit health insurance premium plan that covers public safety personnel who are regularly
assigned hazardous duty as employees of the State of Arizona or one of its political subdivisions. The PSPRS,
acting as a common investment and administrative agent, is governed by a seven-member board, known as The
Board of Trustees, and the participating local boards according to the provisions of A.R.S. Title 38, Chapter 5,
Article 4.
The CORP administers an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan and an agent multipleemployer defined benefit health insurance premium plan that covers certain employees of the State of Arizona’s
Departments of Corrections and Juvenile Corrections and County employees whose primary duties require
direct inmate contact. The CORP is governed by the Board of Trustees of PSPRS and the participating local
boards according to the provisions of A.R.S. Title 38, Chapter 5, Article 6.
Each plan issues a publicly available financial report that includes its financial statements and required
supplementary information. A report may be obtained by contacting the applicable plan.
ASRS

PSPRS and CORP

3300 N. Central Ave
Phoenix, AZ 85012
(602) 240-2000 or
(800) 621-3778

3010 East Camelback Road
Suite 200
Phoenix, AZ 85016-4416
(602) 255-5575

Funding Policy
The Arizona State Legislature establishes and may amend active plan members’ and the County’s contribution
rates for ASRS, PSPRS and CORP.
Cost-sharing plans
For the year ended June 30, 2012, active ASRS members were required by statute to contribute at the
actuarially determined rate of 10.74 percent (10.5 percent for retirement and 0.24 percent for long-term
disability) of the members’ annual covered payroll. The County is required by statute to contribute at an
actuarially determined rate. For the year ended June 30, 2012 the County contributed 10.74 percent (9.87
percent for retirement, 0.63 percent for health insurance premium, and 0.24 percent for long-term disability) of
the members’ annual covered payroll. For the year ended June 30, 2011, the County contributed 9.85
percent (9.01 percent for retirement, .59 percent for health insurance premium, and 0.25 percent for longterm disability) of the members’ annual covered payroll. For the year ended June 30, 2010, the County
contributed 9.4 percent (8.34 percent for retirement, 0.66 percent for health insurance premium, and 0.40
percent for long-term disability) of the members’ annual covered payroll.
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Note 9: Pension and Other Post (PSOR\PHQW%HQHILWV (continued)

ASRS
Retirement
Fund

Health Benefit
Supplement
Fund

Long-term
Disability
Fund

Year ended June 30, 2012
2012
2011
2010

$
$
$

21,290
21,774
20,234

$
$
$

1,359
1,426
1,601

$
$
$

518
604
970

Agent plans
For the year ended June 30, 2012, active PSPRS members were required by statute to contribute 8.65 percent of
the members’ annual covered payroll, and the County was required to contribute at the actuarially determined
rate of 24.24 percent, the aggregate of which is the actuarially required amount. As allowed by statute, the
County contributed 3.65 percent of the members’ required contribution, with the members contributing 5.00
percent. The health insurance premium portion of the contribution was set at 1.83 percent of covered payroll.
Active CORP members were required by statute to contribute 8.41 percent of the members’ annual covered
payroll, and the County was required to contribute at the actuarially determined rate of 9.38 percent, the
aggregate of which is the actuarially required amount. The health insurance premium portion of the contribution
rate was actuarially set at 1.30 percent of covered payroll.
Actuarial methods and assumptions
The contribution requirements for the year ended June 30, 2012 were established by the June 30, 2010 actuarial
valuations and those actuarial valuations were based on the following actuarial methods and assumptions.
Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability
of events in the future. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plans and the annual required
contributions are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations and new
estimates are made. The required schedule of funding progress presented as required supplementary information
provides multi-year trend information that shows whether the actuarial value of the plans’ assets are increasing
or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits.
Projections of benefits are based on 1) the plans as understood by the County and plans’ members and include
the types of benefits in force at the valuation date, and 2) the pattern of sharing benefit costs between the
County and plans’ members to that point. Actuarial calculations reflect a long-term perspective and employ
methods and assumptions that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the
actuarial value of assets. The significant actuarial methods and assumptions used are the same for all plans and
related benefits (unless noted), and the actuarial methods and assumptions used to establish the fiscal year 2012
contribution requirements, are as follows:
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Note 9: Pension and Other Post (PSOR\PHQW%HQHILWV (continued)
PSPRS
June 30, 2010
Projected unit credit

Actuarial valuation date
Actuarial cost method
Actuarial Assumptions:
Investment rate of return
Projected salary increases
includes inflation at
Amortization method
Remaining amortization period

CORP
June 30, 2010
Projected unit credit

8.50%
5.50% - 8.50%
5.50%
Level percent-of-pay closed

8.50%
5.50% - 8.50%
5.50%
Level percent-of-pay closed

26 Years for unfunded actuarial accrued liability,
20 years for excess

26 Years for unfunded actuarial accrued liability,
20 years for excess

7-year Smoothed market value

7-year Smoothed market value

Asset valuation method

Annual Pension and OPEB Cost
The County’s pension/OPEB cost for the PSPRS and CORP agent plans for the year ended June 30, 2012, and
related information follows:
PSPRS

CORP

Health
Insurance

Pension

Health
Insurance

Pension

Annual pension/Healthcare cost

$

8,445

$

638

$

2,076

$

288

Contributions made

$

8,699

$

384

$

2,218

$

146
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Note 9: Pension and Other Post Employment Benefits (continued)
Trend Information
Annual pension cost information for the current and 2 preceding years follows for the PSPRS and CORP agent
plans. Annual OPEB cost information for FY 2012, FY 2011 and FY 2010 is as follows:
Plan

Year Ended
June 30

Annual Pension/
Healthcare
Cost

Percentage of
Annual Cost
Contributed

Net Pension/
Healthcare
Obligation

PSPRS
Pension

2012

$

8,445

103%

Health insurance

2012

$

638

60%

Pension

2011

$

8,303

103%

Health insurance

2011

$

624

63%

Pension

2010

$

8,761

102%

Health insurance

2010

$

591

75%

Pension

2012

$

2,076

107%

Health insurance

2012

$

288

51%

Pension

2011

$

1,824

108%

Health insurance

2011

$

282

50%

Pension

2010

$

1,943

102%

Health insurance

2010

$

232

79%

$

254

$

232

$

151

$

142

$

140

$

49

CORP

Funded Status
The funded status of the plans, as of the most recent valuation date of June 30, 2012, along with the actuarial
assumptions and methods used in those valuations follow. Additionally, the required schedule of funding
progress, presented as Exhibit B-2 following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend
information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the
actuarial accrued liability for benefits.
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Note 9: Pension & Other Post (PSOR\PHQW%HQHILWV (continued)

PSPRS
Pension
Actuarial accrued liability

$

268,903

Actuarial value of assets

$

149,085

Unfunded actuarial accrued liability
(funding excess)

$

119,818

Funded ratio
$

Unfunded actuarial accrued liability
(funding excess) as a percentage of covered payroll

Remaining amortization period
Asset valuation method

$

$

55.4 %

Covered payroll

Actuarial valuation date
Actuarial cost method
Actuarial Assumptions:
Investment rate of return
Projected salary increases
includes inflation at
Amortization method

CORP
Health
Insurance

31,920
375.4 %

Pension

7,325

$

83,526

0

$

51,797

7,325

$

31,729

0 %
$

31,920
22.9 %

Health
Insurance
$

3,161
0

$

3,161

62.0 %
$

21,743

0 %
$

21,743

145.9 %

PSPRS
June 30, 2012
Entry Age Normal

CORP
June 30, 2012
Entry Age Normal

8.00%
5.00% - 9.00%
5.00%
Level percentage of pay closed

8.00%
5.00% - 8.25%
5.00%
Level percentage of pay closed

24 Years for unfunded ,
20 years for overfunded
7-year smoothed market

24 Years for unfunded ,
20 years for overfunded
7-year smoothed market
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Note 10: Interfund Transactions
A. Interfund Assets/Liabilities
Due from / Due to Other funds are used to record loans or unpaid operating transfers between funds.

$

12
$

Se
rv
ic
e

$

77

680

$

44

To
ta
l

In
te
r

R
RW

7,408

77

na
l

ta
l

$

130

Debt Service

O
t
ov her
er
nm
en
G

eb
tS
er
D

Ca
p
$

Capital Projects

vi
ce

Pr
oj
ec
ts
ita
l

al
en
er
G

Amounts recorded as due to:

General

s

Amounts recorded as due from:

$

31

$

7,528

217

1,148

3

4,892

1,575

Other Governmental

412

50

1

43

RWR

1,575
4,427

44

Other Enterprise

3

3

Internal Services

218

218

Total

$

543

$

1,901

$

77

$

12,515

$

121

$

251

$

15,408

B. Transfers
Transfers are used to record transactions between individual funds to subsidize their operations and fund debt
service payments and capital construction projects.

General
Capital Projects

$

Other Governmental

56,512

7,420

16,792 $

19,535

175
$

Other Enterprise

132

s
Se
rv
ice
To
tal

na
l
In
ter

ise
R
RW

Ot
he
rE
nt
er
pr

vi
ce
Se
r

PH
S&

5,190

8,815

RWR

s

m
en
tal
Ot
he
rG

$

Debt Service

Total

ov
er
n

Pr
oj
ec
ts
Ca
p

ita
l

al
ne
r
Ge

Amounts recorded as transfers in:

Amounts recorded as transfers out:

$
$
326

96
613 $

$
18

254

65,677

68

25,237

26,110

45,820

343

475

1,000
$

36,770 $

5,190

1,000
132 $

79,012 $

77

26,436 $

709 $

18 $

322 $

143,399
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Note 11: Construction and Other Significant Commitments
At June 30, 2012, Pima County had the following major contractual commitments related to Facilities
Management; General Government; Natural Resources, Parks and Recreation; Pima Health System and
Services; Regional Flood Control; Regional Wastewater Reclamation; and Transportation.
Facilities Management
At June 30, 2012, the Pima County Facilities Management Department had construction contractual
commitments of $42,025 and other contractual commitments related to service contracts of $6,525. Funding for
these expenditures will be provided from general fund revenues.
General Government
At June 30, 2012, Pima County had contractual commitments related to service contracts for Community
Development and Neighborhood Conservation Department of $11,051, Office of Court Appointed Counsel of
$55,324 and, Institutional Health of $63,593. Procurement Department had construction contractual
commitments of $95,429 and other contractual commitments related to service contracts of $3,851. Sheriff
Department had contractual commitments related to construction contracts of $3,275 and other related
contractual commitments related to service contracts of $8,960. Funding for these expenditures will be
provided from general fund revenues.
Natural Resources, Parks and Recreation
At June 30, 2012, Pima County had contractual commitments related to construction contracts for Natural
Resources, Parks and Recreation of $14 and other contractual commitments related to services of $20,032.
Funding for these expenditures will be provided from general obligation bonds.
Pima Health System & Services
At June 30, 2012, Pima County had contractual commitments related to service contracts for Pima Health
System & Services of $18,922. Funding for these expenses will be primarily provided from federal and state
funding sources.
Regional Flood Control
At June 30, 2012, the Regional Flood Control fund had construction contractual commitments of $790 and other
contractual commitments related to service contracts of $7,196. Funding for these expenditures will be
primarily from tax levy revenues.
Regional Wastewater Reclamation
At June 30, 2012, the Regional Wastewater Reclamation Enterprise Fund had construction contractual
commitments of $77,916 and other contractual commitments related to service contracts of $30,958. Funding
for these expenses will be primarily from Sewer Revenue Obligations and related fees.
Transportation
At June 30, 2012, the Pima County Transportation Department had construction contractual commitments of
$37,415 and other contractual commitments related to service contracts of $21,481. Funding for these
expenditures will be primarily provided from Transportation Revenue Bonds and Highway User Tax Revenue,
the primary source of revenue for the Transportation Department.
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Note 12: Subsequent Event
Sewer System Revenue Obligations – On December 1, 2012 the RWR will issue Series 2012A Obligations in
the amount of $150,000 to provide funds for the construction of improvements and extensions to the sewer
system of the County.
Interest is payable semiannually and is calculated based on the principal amount of the loan outstanding during
such period. Payments will be made from user charges received in the Regional Wastewater Reclamation
Enterprise Fund.
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APPENDIX F
BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM
THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS APPENDIX HAS BEEN PROVIDED BY DTC.
NO
REPRESENTATION IS MADE BY THE COUNTY, BOND COUNSEL, OR THE UNDERWRITER AS TO THE
ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF SUCH INFORMATION PROVIDED BY DTC OR AS TO THE ABSENCE
OF MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGES IN SUCH INFORMATION SUBSEQUENT TO THE DATE HEREOF.
DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully-registered securities
registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an
authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered Bond certificate will be issued for each maturity of the
Bonds, each in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC.
DTC, the world’s largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York
Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the
Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code,
and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and
municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct
Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales
and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and
pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities
certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust
companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly owned subsidiary of The
Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities
Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC
is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both
U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear
through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect
Participants”). DTC has a Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on
file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com.
Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will
receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Bond
(“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive
written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written
confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct
Participant or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of
ownership interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct Participants and
Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates
representing their ownership interests in Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Bonds
is discontinued.
To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the
name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such
other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual
Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts
such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct Participants and Indirect
Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.
Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to
Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by
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arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.
Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of
significant events with respect to the Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the
Bond Resolution. For example, Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the
Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial
Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent and request that
copies of notices be provided directly to them.
Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Bonds
unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC
mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent as soon as possible after the record date. The
Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts
Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).
Principal, interest and redemption payments on the Bonds will be made by the Bond Registrar and Paying
Agent to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s
practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information
from the County or the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent, on payable date in accordance with their respective
holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing
instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form
or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, the Bond Registrar
and Paying Agent or the County, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to
time. Payment of principal, interest and redemption proceeds to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be
requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent,
disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such
payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct Participants and Indirect Participants.
DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Bonds at any time by giving
reasonable notice to the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent or the County. Under such circumstances, in the event
that a successor depository is not obtained, Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered.
The County may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a
successor securities depository). In that event, Bond certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC.
NEITHER THE COUNTY NOR THE BOND REGISTRAR AND PAYING AGENT WILL HAVE
RESPONSIBILITY OR OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPANTS WITH RESPECT TO (1) THE ACCURACY OF
ANY RECORDS MAINTAINED BY DTC, ANY DIRECT PARTICIPANT, OR ANY INDIRECT
PARTICIPANT; (2) ANY NOTICE THAT IS PERMITTED OR REQUIRED TO BE GIVEN TO THE OWNERS
OF THE BONDS UNDER THE BOND RESOLUTION; (3) THE SELECTION BY DTC OR ANY DIRECT
PARTICIPANT OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANT OF ANY PERSON TO RECEIVE PAYMENT IN THE EVENT
OF A PARTIAL REDEMPTION OF THE BONDS; (4) THE PAYMENT BY DTC OR ANY DIRECT
PARTICIPANT OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANT OF ANY AMOUNT WITH RESPECT TO THE PRINCIPAL OR
REDEMPTION PREMIUM, IF ANY, OR INTEREST DUE WITH RESPECT TO THE BONDS; (5) ANY
CONSENT GIVEN OR OTHER ACTION TAKEN BY DTC AS THE OWNER OF BONDS; OR (6) ANY
OTHER MATTERS.
So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Bonds, as nominee for DTC, references herein to
owner of the Bonds (other than under the caption “TAX MATTERS”) shall mean Cede & Co., as aforesaid, and
shall not mean the Beneficial Owners of such Bonds.
When reference is made to any action which is required or permitted to be taken by the Beneficial Owners,
such reference shall only relate to those permitted to act (by statute, regulation or otherwise) on behalf of such
Beneficial Owners for such purposes. When notices are given, they shall be sent by the County or the Bond
Registrar and Paying Agent to DTC only.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT
NEW ISSUES – BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY

RATINGS: See "Ratings" Herein

In the opinion of Squire Sanders (US) LLP, Bond Counsel, under existing law (i) assuming continuing compliance with certain covenants and
the accuracy of certain representations, interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not an
item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations, and (ii) interest on the
Bonds is exempt from Arizona state income tax. Interest on the Bonds may be subject to certain federal taxes imposed only on certain
corporations, including the corporate alternative minimum tax on a portion of that interest. For a more complete discussion of the tax
aspects, see “TAX MATTERS” herein.

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
$50,000,000
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
SERIES 2013A

$38,575,000
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS
SERIES 2013B

Dated: Date of Initial Delivery

Due: July 1, as shown on inside cover

The $50,000,000 principal amount of General Obligation Bonds, Series 2013A (the “Improvement Bonds”) and $38,575,000
principal amount of General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2013B (the “Refunding Bonds” and, together with the Improvement Bonds,
the “Bonds”) being issued by Pima County, Arizona (the “County”) will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for The
Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), which will act as securities depository for the Bonds for purposes of the bookentry-only system maintained thereby. Purchases of beneficial interests in the Bonds will be made in book-entry-only form in amounts of
$5,000 of principal due on a maturity date or any integral multiple thereof.
Interest on the Bonds will accrue from the dated date and will be payable until maturity or prior redemption semiannually on
January 1 and July 1 (each an “Interest Payment Date”), commencing January 1, 2014 and principal of the Bonds will be payable annually in
accordance with the schedules set forth on the inside cover page hereof. So long as the Bonds are registered in the name of DTC, or its
nominee, payments of the principal of and interest on the Bonds will be made directly by the paying agent, initially U.S. Bank National
Association, to DTC which, in turn, is obligated to remit such payments to its participants for subsequent distribution to beneficial owners of
the Bonds. See Appendix F – “Book-Entry-Only System.”
The Improvement Bonds will be subject to redemption prior to their stated maturities on or after July 1, 2023 as provided under
“THE BONDS – Redemption Provisions” herein. The Refunding Bonds will not be subject to redemption prior to their stated maturities.
The Improvement Bonds are being issued for the purpose of (i) funding various capital projects in the County and (ii) paying costs
related to the issuance of the Improvement Bonds. The Refunding Bonds are being issued for the purpose of (i) refunding the Bonds Being
Refunded (as defined herein) and (ii) paying costs related to the issuance of the Refunding Bonds. See “SOURCES AND USES OF
FUNDS” herein.
Upon their issuance, the Bonds will be direct and general obligations of the County, payable as to principal and interest, from ad
valorem taxes to be levied against all taxable property within the County without limitation as to rate or amount to pay the principal of and
interest on the Improvement Bonds, and without limitation as to rate but limited to an amount to pay the principal of and interest on the
Refunding Bonds of not greater than the amount of ad valorem taxes that would have been levied to pay the Bonds Being Refunded, which
funds are irrevocably pledged for the payment of principal of and interest on the Refunding Bonds when and as the same fall due, subject to
the rights of the owners of the Bonds Being Refunded to payment of the Bonds Being Refunded from the same tax source in the event of a
deficiency in the moneys and obligations issued by or guaranteed by the United State of America which will be purchased from the proceeds
of the sale of the Refunding Bonds and other moneys available therefor and placed in trust for the purpose of making all payments when due
on the Bonds Being Refunded .

MATURITY SCHEDULES AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON INSIDE FRONT COVER PAGE
This cover page contains only a brief description of the Bonds and the security therefor. It is not intended to be a summary of
material information with respect to the Bonds. Investors should read the entire Official Statement to obtain information necessary to make
an informed investment decision.
The Bonds are offered when, as and if issued by the County and received by the underwriter identified below (the “Underwriter”)
subject to the approving opinion of Squire Sanders (US) LLP, Bond Counsel, as to validity and tax exemption. Certain legal matters will be
passed upon for the Underwriter by its counsel, Greenberg Traurig, LLP. It is expected that the Bonds will be available for delivery through
the facilities of DTC in New York, New York, on or about June 5, 2013.

RBC CAPITAL MARKETS
May 21, 2013

MATURITY SCHEDULES
$50,000,000
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
SERIES 2013A
Due
July 1
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

Principal
Amount
$3,000,000
2,885,000
2,930,000
2,980,000
3,030,000
3,095,000

2020
2020

1,700,000
1,455,000

Interest
Rate
1.00%
1.50
1.75
1.75
2.00
2.00
2.00
3.00

Yield
0.31%
0.48
0.68
0.97
1.26
1.57

CUSIP (a)
721663 WV0
721663 WW8
721663 WX6
721663 WY4
721663 WZ1
721663 XA5

1.87
1.87

721663 XB3
721663 XT4

Due
July 1
2021
2021

Principal
Amount
$1,195,000
2,035,000

Interest
Rate
2.50%
3.00

Yield
2.16%
2.16

CUSIP (a)
721663 XC1
721663 XU1

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028

3,325,000
3,425,000
3,525,000
3,630,000
3,775,000
3,930,000
4,085,000

3.00
3.00
3.00
4.00
4.00
4.00
4.00

2.35
2.55
2.76*
2.81*
2.92*
3.02*
3.10*

721663 XD9
721663 XE7
721663 XF4
721663 XG2
721663 XH0
721663 XJ6
721663 XK3

* Yield calculated to the first optional redemption date, July 1, 2023.

$38,575,000
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS
SERIES 2013B
Due
July 1
2014
2015
2016
2017

Principal
Amount
$10,000
4,480,000
4,650,000
9,355,000

Interest
Rate
2.00%
3.00
3.00
3.00

2018
2018

3,220,000
6,460,000

2019
2020

5,245,000
5,155,000

Yield
0.39%
0.48
0.68
0.97

CUSIP (a)
721663 XL1
721663 XM9
721663 XN7
721663 XP2

3.00
4.00

1.26
1.21

721663 XQ0
721663 XW7

3.00
3.00

1.57
1.87

721663 XR8
721663 XS6

(a) Copyright 2013, American Bankers Association. CUSIP data is provided by CUSIP Global Services, managed
by Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC on behalf of the American Bankers Association. CUSIP numbers
are provided for information only. None of the County, the Underwriter or their counsel take responsibility for
the accuracy of such numbers.
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This Official Statement, which includes the cover page, the inside cover page and the appendices
hereto, does not constitute an offering of any security other than the original offering of the Bonds identified
on the cover hereof. No person has been authorized by Pima County, Arizona (the “County”), to give any
information or to make any representations other than as contained in this Official Statement, and if given or
made, such other information or representation not so authorized should not be relied upon as having been
given or authorized by the County.
All financial and other information presented in this Official Statement has been provided by the
County from its records, except for information expressly attributed to other sources. The presentation of
information, including tables of receipts from taxes and other sources, is intended to show certain historic
information, and is not intended to indicate future or continuing trends in the financial position or other
affairs of the County. No representation is made that the past experience, as shown by such financial and
other information, will necessarily continue or be repeated in the future. This Official Statement contains, in
part, estimates and matters of opinion, whether or not expressly stated to be such, which are not intended as
statements or representations of fact or certainty, and no representation is made as to the correctness of such
estimates and opinions, or that they will be realized. All forecasts, projections, assumptions, opinions or
estimates are “forward looking statements,” which must be read with an abundance of caution and which
may not be realized or may not occur in the future. The information and expressions of opinion herein are
subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made
hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs
of the County since the date hereof.
A wide variety of other information, including financial information, concerning the County is
available from publications and websites of the County and others. Any such information that is inconsistent
with the information set forth in this Official Statement should be disregarded. No such information is a part
of, or incorporated into, this Official Statement, except as expressly noted herein.
RBC Capital Markets, LLC (the “Underwriter”) has provided the following sentence for inclusion in
this Official Statement: The Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in
accordance with, and as part of, its responsibilities to investors in accordance with the Federal securities laws
as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the
accuracy or completeness of such information.
IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OVERALLOT OR
EFFECT TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE BONDS
AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET.
SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME.
The issuance and sale of the Bonds have not been registered under the Federal Securities Act of 1933
or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, both as amended, in reliance upon exemptions provided thereunder
by Sections 3(a)2 and 3(a)12, respectively, for the issuance and sale of municipal securities; nor have the
issuance and sale of the Bonds been qualified under the Securities Act of Arizona, in reliance upon various
exemptions thereunder. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer
to buy in any state in which such offer or solicitation is not authorized or in which the person making such
offer or solicitation is not qualified to do so or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or
solicitation.
The information contained herein in Appendix F – “Book-Entry-Only System” has been furnished by
The Depository Trust Company, and no representation has been made by the County or the Underwriter, or
any of their counsel or agents, as to the accuracy or completeness of such information.
The County has undertaken to provide continuing disclosure with respect to the Bonds as required
by Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission. See “Continuing Secondary Market Disclosure”
and Appendix D – “Form of Continuing Disclosure Undertaking” herein.

iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS
INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT ....................................................................................................................
THE BONDS......................................................................................................................................................
Authorization and Use of Funds..................................................................................................................
General Description.....................................................................................................................................
Security and Source of Payment..................................................................................................................
Redemption Provisions................................................................................................................................
Notice of Redemption..................................................................................................................................
PLAN OF FINANCE .........................................................................................................................................
MATHEMATICAL VERIFICATION ...............................................................................................................
SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS..................................................................................................................
LEGAL MATTERS ...........................................................................................................................................
TAX MATTERS ................................................................................................................................................
General ........................................................................................................................................................
Risk of Future Legislative Changes and/or Court Decisions.......................................................................
Original Issue Premium...............................................................................................................................
LITIGATION .....................................................................................................................................................
UNDERWRITING .............................................................................................................................................
RATINGS...........................................................................................................................................................
CONTINUING SECONDARY MARKET DISCLOSURE...............................................................................
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS............................................................................................................................
CONCLUDING STATEMENT .........................................................................................................................
Appendix A -

Pima County, Arizona
General Economic and Demographic Information

Appendix B -

Pima County, Arizona
Financial Information

Appendix C -

Form of Opinion of Bond Counsel

Appendix D -

Form of Continuing Disclosure Undertaking

Appendix E -

Excerpts from Pima County, Arizona
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
For The Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2012

Appendix F -

Book-Entry-Only System

iv

Page
1
1
1
2
2
2
2
3
3
4
4
4
4
6
6
6
7
7
7
8
8

(THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
$50,000,000
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
SERIES 2013A

$38,575,000
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS
SERIES 2013B

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT
The purpose of this Official Statement, which includes the cover page, the inside cover page and the
appendices hereto, is to provide information in connection with the sale and issuance of the $50,000,000 principal
amount of General Obligation Bonds, Series 2013A (the “Improvement Bonds”) and $38,575,000 principal amount
of General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2013B (the “Refunding Bonds” and, together with the Improvement
Bonds, the “Bonds”) by Pima County, Arizona (the “County”).
The offering of the Bonds is made only by way of this Official Statement, which supersedes any other
information or materials used in connection with the offer or sale of the Bonds. Accordingly, prospective purchasers
of the Bonds should read this entire Official Statement before making their investment decision.
All financial and other information presented in this Official Statement with respect to the County has been
provided by representatives of the County from its records, except for information expressly attributed to other
sources. The presentation of financial and other information, including tables of receipts from taxes and other
sources, is intended to show recent historical information and, except as expressly stated otherwise, is not intended
to indicate future or continuing trends in the financial position or other affairs of the County. No representation is
made that past experience, as shown by such financial and other information, will necessarily continue or be
repeated in the future. This Official Statement contains, in part, estimates and matters of opinion, whether or not
expressly stated to be such, which are not intended as statements or representations of fact or certainty, and no
representation is made as to the correctness of such estimates and opinions, or that they will be realized. All
forecasts, projections, assumptions, opinions or estimates are "forward looking statements," which must be read with
an abundance of caution and which may not be realized or may not occur in the future. The information and
expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official
Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no
change in the affairs of the County since the date hereof.
References to provisions of Arizona law, whether codified in the Arizona Revised Statutes or uncodified, or
of the Arizona Constitution, are references to those current provisions. Those provisions may be amended, repealed
or supplemented.

THE BONDS
Authorization and Use of Funds
The Bonds are being issued pursuant to the authority contained in Title 35, Chapter 3, Articles 3 and 4,
Arizona Revised Statutes, and under the provisions of an authorizing resolution (the “Bond Resolution”) adopted by
the Board of Supervisors of Pima County, Arizona (the “Board”) on May 7, 2013. The Improvement Bonds are
being issued for the purpose of (i) funding various capital projects in the County and (ii) paying costs related to the
issuance of the Improvement Bonds. The Refunding Bonds are being issued for the purpose of (i) refunding the
Bonds Being Refunded (as defined herein) and (ii) paying costs related to the issuance of the Refunding Bonds.
See “SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS” herein.
The Improvement Bonds offered herein represent a portion of the aggregate principal amount authorized to
be issued by the voters of the County at elections held on May 20, 1997, May 18, 2004 and May 16, 2006. After the
issuance of the Improvement Bonds, the County will have $28,681,000 principal amount of authorized but unissued
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general obligation bonds. General obligation bonds of the County are outstanding currently, and additional general
obligation bonds may be authorized at future elections.
General Description
As described herein in Appendix F – “Book-Entry-Only System,” the Bonds will be registered in the name
of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York for purposes of the
book-entry-only system provided thereby. So long as DTC, or its nominee, is the registered owner of all of the
Bonds, all payments on the Bonds will be made directly to DTC for payment to the owners as described herein in
Appendix F – “Book-Entry-Only System.”
The Bonds will be dated the date of initial delivery thereof and will be available in amounts of $5,000 of
principal due on a maturity date or any integral multiple thereof. The Bonds will bear interest from their dated date,
payable semiannually on January 1 and July 1 (each an “Interest Payment Date”), commencing January 1, 2014.
Interest on the Bonds will be paid by the bond registrar and paying agent, initially U.S. Bank National Association,
or its successors (the “Bond Registrar and Paying Agent”), to the owners thereof (initially Cede & Co., as nominee
for DTC) as shown on the registration books maintained by the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent, at the close of
business on the fifteenth day of the month preceding each Interest Payment Date or if such day is a Saturday,
Sunday or holiday on the next preceding business day (the “Record Date”). So long as the Bonds are in DTC’s
book-entry-only system, and thereafter at the written request and expense of the owners of $1,000,000 or more in
aggregate principal amount of Bonds delivered to the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent prior to a Record Date,
interest and principal will be paid by wire transfer to a bank account in the continental United States.
Security and Source of Payment
The Bonds will be direct and general obligations of the County and will be payable as to both principal and
interest from ad valorem taxes to be levied against all taxable property within the County, without limitation as to
rate or amount to pay the principal of and interest on the Improvement Bonds, and without limitation as to rate but
limited to an amount to pay the principal of and interest on the Refunding Bonds of not greater than the amount of
ad valorem taxes that would have been levied to pay the Bonds Being Refunded, which funds are irrevocably
pledged for the payment of principal of and interest on the Refunding Bonds when and as the same fall due, subject
to the rights of the owners of the Bonds Being Refunded to payment of the Bonds Being Refunded from the same
tax source in the event of a deficiency in the moneys and obligations issued by or guaranteed by the United States of
America (“U.S. Government Obligations”) which will be purchased from the proceeds of the sale of the Refunding
Bonds and other moneys available therefor and placed in trust for the purpose of making all payments when due on
the Bonds Being Refunded. See “PLAN OF FINANCE” herein. General obligation and general obligation
refunding bonds heretofore and hereafter issued by the County have and will have an equal claim with the Bonds
upon the proceeds of taxes levied for debt service by the County with the same limitations described above.
Redemption Provisions
Improvement Bonds. The Improvement Bonds maturing on or before July 1, 2023 will not be subject to
call for redemption prior to their respective maturity dates. The Improvement Bonds maturing on or after July 1,
2024 will be subject to call for redemption on any date on or after July 1, 2023 at the election of the County, in
whole or in part from maturities selected by the County and within any maturity by lot, by the payment of a
redemption price equal to the principal amount of each Improvement Bond called for redemption plus accrued
interest to the date fixed for redemption, without premium.
No Prior Redemption of Refunding Bonds. The Refunding Bonds will not be subject to redemption prior to
their respective maturity dates.
Notice of Redemption
So long as the Improvement Bonds are in DTC book-entry-only system, notice of redemption of any
Improvement Bond will be provided to DTC by electronic media as described herein in Appendix F – “Book-EntryOnly System” not more than sixty (60) nor less than thirty (30) days prior to the date set for redemption. Thereafter,
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notices will be mailed on the same schedule to the registered owner of the Improvement Bond or Improvement
Bonds being redeemed at the address shown on the Bond Register maintained by the Bond Registrar. Failure to give
proper notice of redemption shall not affect the redemption of any Improvement Bond for which proper notice was
given.

PLAN OF FINANCE
Refunding Bonds. A portion of the net proceeds of the Refunding Bonds will be placed in a trust account
(the “Depository Trust”) with U.S. Bank National Association, as depository trustee (the “Depository Trustee”) and
will be used to acquire U.S. Government Obligations, the maturing principal of and interest income with respect to
which are calculated to be sufficient to pay, when due, the principal of and interest on the following bonds (the
“Bonds Being Refunded”):

Issue
(Dated
Date)

General
Obligation
Bonds

Original
Principal
Amount

6-1-2004

Series 2004

$65,000,000

Series 2005

65,000,000

5-1-2005

Maturity
Dates
to be
Refunded
(July 1)
2015
through
2019
2017
through
2018
and 2020

Principal
Amount
Being
Refunded

Redemption
Date

Redemption
Premium on
Bonds Being
Refunded

$24,420,000

7-1-2014

0%

14,435,000

7-1-2015

0%

To the extent that the monies and the U.S. Government Obligations held in the Depository Trust are not
sufficient to pay, when due, the principal of, interest and premium due on the Bonds Being Refunded, as they are
redeemed as stated above, the ad valorem taxes levied to pay the Refunding Bonds will be subject to the prior right
of the owners of the Bonds Being Refunded to payment from the same tax levy. See “THE BONDS – Security and
Source of Payment” and “MATHEMATICAL VERIFICATION.”
Improvement Bonds. The net proceeds received from the sale of the Improvement Bonds will be used to
fund various capital projects within the County and to pay costs related to the issuance of the Improvement Bonds.

MATHEMATICAL VERIFICATION
Concurrently with the delivery of and payment for the Bonds, Grant Thornton, LLP, a firm of independent
certified public accountants, will deliver to the County its verification report indicating that it has verified, in
accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the mathematical
accuracy of computations prepared by RBC Capital Markets, LLC, (the “Underwriter”), relating to (a) the
sufficiency of the anticipated receipts from the Government Obligations, together with the initial cash deposit, to
pay, when redeemed, the principal, interest and applicable premiums on the Bonds Being Refunded and (b) the
“yield” on the Government Obligations and the Bonds.
The report of Grant Thornton, LLP will state that the scope of its engagement was limited to verifying the
mathematical accuracy of the computations contained in schedules provided to it by the Underwriter and that it has
no obligation to update its report because of events occurring, or data or information coming to its attention,
subsequent to the date of its report.
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SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS
The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be applied as follows:
Sources of Funds:
Proceeds of Bonds
Reoffering Premium

$88,575,000.00
5,791,271.10

Total Sources

$94,366,271.10

Uses of Funds:
County Capital Project Expenditures
Deposit to Depository Trust
Payment of Issuance Expenses (Including Underwriter’s Discount)
Deposit to Interest Account (a)
Total Uses

$49,932,000.00
41,511,723.07
805,880.00
2,116,668.03
$94,366,271.10

(a) Reflects net premium from sale of the Bonds that Arizona law requires be deposited to Interest
Account.

LEGAL MATTERS
Legal matters incident to the authorization, sale and issuance of the Bonds by the County and to the taxexempt status of interest on the Bonds are subject to the legal opinion of Squire Sanders (US) LLP (“Bond
Counsel”). The signed legal opinion of Bond Counsel, dated and premised on the law in effect as of the date of the
Bonds, will be delivered to the Underwriter at the time of original delivery of the Bonds.
The proposed text of the legal opinion is set forth as Appendix C - “Form of Opinion of Bond Counsel.”
The legal opinion to be delivered may vary from the text of Appendix C if necessary to reflect the facts and law
existing on the date of delivery. The opinion will speak only as of its date, and subsequent distribution, by
recirculation of this Official Statement or otherwise, should not be construed as a representation that Bond Counsel
has reviewed or expressed any opinion concerning any matters relating to the Bonds subsequent to the original
delivery of the Bonds.
Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Underwriter by Greenberg Traurig, LLP as counsel to the
Underwriter.

TAX MATTERS
General
In the opinion of Squire Sanders (US) LLP, Bond Counsel, under existing law: (i) interest on the Bonds is
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “Code”), and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum
tax imposed on individuals and corporations, and (ii) interest on the Bonds is exempt from Arizona state income tax.
Bond Counsel expresses no opinion as to any other tax consequences regarding the Bonds.
The opinion on tax matters will be based on and will assume the accuracy of certain representations and
certifications, and continuing compliance with certain covenants, of the County contained in the transcript of
proceedings and that are intended to evidence and assure the foregoing, including that the Bonds are and will remain
obligations the interest on which is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes. Bond Counsel will
not independently verify the accuracy of the County’s certifications and representations or the continuing
compliance with the County’s covenants.
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The opinion of Bond Counsel is based on current legal authority and covers certain matters not directly
addressed by such authority. It represents Bond Counsel’s legal judgment as to exclusion of interest on the Bonds
from gross income for federal income tax purposes but is not a guaranty of that conclusion. The opinion is not
binding on the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) or any court. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion about (i) the
effect of future changes in the Code and the applicable regulations under the Code or (ii) the interpretation and the
enforcement of the Code or those regulations by the IRS.
The Code prescribes a number of qualifications and conditions for the interest on state and local
government obligations to be and to remain excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, some of
which require future or continued compliance after issuance of the obligations. Noncompliance with these
requirements by the County may cause loss of such status and result in the interest on the Bonds being included in
gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactively to the date of issuance of the Bonds. The County has
covenanted to take the actions required of it for the interest on the Bonds to be and to remain excluded from gross
income for federal income tax purposes, and not to take any actions that would adversely affect that exclusion.
After the date of issuance of the Bonds, Bond Counsel will not undertake to determine (or to so inform any person)
whether any actions taken or not taken, or any events occurring or not occurring, or any other matters coming to
Bond Counsel’s attention, may adversely affect the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of
interest on the Bonds or the market value of the Bonds.
A portion of the interest on the Bonds earned by certain corporations may be subject to a federal corporate
alternative minimum tax. In addition, interest on the Bonds may be subject to a federal branch profits tax imposed
on certain foreign corporations doing business in the United States and to a federal tax imposed on excess net
passive income of certain S corporations. Under the Code, the exclusion of interest from gross income for federal
income tax purposes may have certain adverse federal income tax consequences on items of income, deduction or
credit for certain taxpayers, including financial institutions, certain insurance companies, recipients of Social
Security and Railroad Retirement benefits, those that are deemed to incur or continue indebtedness to acquire or
carry tax-exempt obligations, and individuals otherwise eligible for the earned income tax credit. The applicability
and extent of these and other tax consequences will depend upon the particular tax status or other tax items of the
owner of the Bonds. Bond Counsel will express no opinion regarding those consequences.
Payments of interest on tax-exempt obligations, including the Bonds, are generally subject to IRS Form
1099-INT information reporting requirements. If a Bond owner is subject to backup withholding under those
requirements, then payments of interest will also be subject to backup withholding. Those requirements do not
affect the exclusion of such interest from gross income for federal income tax purposes.
Bond Counsel’s engagement with respect to the Bonds ends with the issuance of the Bonds, and, unless
separately engaged, Bond Counsel is not obligated to defend the County or the owners of the Bonds regarding the
tax status of interest thereon in the event of an audit examination by the IRS. The IRS has a program to audit taxexempt obligations to determine whether the interest thereon is includible in gross income for federal income tax
purposes. If the IRS does audit the Bonds, under current IRS procedures, the IRS will treat the County as the
taxpayer and the beneficial owners of the Bonds will have only limited rights, if any, to obtain and participate in
judicial review of such audit. Any action of the IRS, including but not limited to selection of the Bonds for audit, or
the course or result of such audit, or an audit of other obligations presenting similar tax issues, may affect the market
value of the Bonds.
Prospective purchasers of the Bonds upon their original issuance at prices other than the respective prices
indicated on the inside cover of this Official Statement and prospective purchasers of the Bonds at other than their
original issuance, should consult their own tax advisers regarding other tax considerations such as the consequences
of market discount, as to all of which Bond Counsel expresses no opinion.
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Risk of Future Legislative Changes and/or Court Decisions
Legislation affecting tax-exempt obligations is regularly considered by the United States Congress and may
also be considered by the State legislature. Court proceedings may also be filed, the outcome of which could modify
the tax treatment of obligations such as the Bonds. There can be no assurance that legislation enacted or proposed,
or actions by a court, after the date of issuance of the Bonds will not have an adverse effect on the tax status of
interest on the Bonds or the market value or marketability of the Bonds. These adverse effects could result, for
example, from changes to federal or state income tax rates, changes in the structure of federal or state income taxes
(including replacement with another type of tax), or repeal (or reduction in the benefit) of the exclusion of interest
on the Bonds from gross income for federal or state income tax purposes for all or certain taxpayers.
For example, recent presidential and legislative proposals would eliminate, reduce or otherwise alter the tax
benefits currently provided to certain owners of state and local government bonds, including proposals that would
result in additional federal income tax on taxpayers that own tax-exempt obligations if their incomes exceed certain
thresholds. Investors in the Bonds should be aware that any such future legislative actions (including federal
income tax reform) may retroactively change the treatment of all or a portion of the interest on the Bonds for federal
income tax purposes for all or certain taxpayers. In such event, the market value of the Bonds may be adversely
affected and the ability of holders to sell their Bonds in the secondary market may be reduced. The Bonds are not
subject to special mandatory redemption, and the interest rates on the Bonds are not subject to adjustment in the
event of any such change.
Investors should consult their own financial and tax advisers to analyze the importance of these risks.
Original Issue Premium
Certain of the Bonds (“Premium Bonds”) as indicated on the inside front cover page of this Official
Statement were offered and sold to the public at a price in excess of their stated redemption price (the principal
amount) at maturity. That excess constitutes bond premium. For federal income tax purposes, bond premium is
amortized over the period to maturity of a Premium Bond, based on the yield to maturity of that Premium Bond (or,
in the case of a Premium Bond callable prior to its stated maturity, the amortization period and yield may be
required to be determined on the basis of an earlier call date that results in the lowest yield on that Premium Bond),
compounded semiannually. No portion of that bond premium is deductible by the owner of a Premium Bond. For
purposes of determining the owner’s gain or loss on the sale, redemption (including redemption at maturity) or other
disposition of a Premium Bond, the owner’s tax basis in the Premium Bond is reduced by the amount of bond
premium that is amortized during the period of ownership. As a result, an owner may realize taxable gain for
federal income tax purposes from the sale or other disposition of a Premium Bond for an amount equal to or less
than the amount paid by the owner for that Premium Bond. A purchaser of a Premium Bond in the initial public
offering at the price for that Premium Bond stated on the inside front cover page of this Official Statement who
holds that Premium Bond to maturity (or, in the case of a callable Premium Bond, to its earlier call date that results
in the lowest yield on that Premium Bond) will realize no gain or loss upon the retirement of that Premium Bond.
Owners of Premium Bonds should consult their own tax advisers as to the determination for federal income
tax purposes of the amount of bond premium properly amortizable in any period with respect to the Premium Bonds
and as to other federal tax consequences and the treatment of bond premium for purposes of state and local taxes
on, or based on, income.

LITIGATION
To the knowledge of appropriate representatives of the County, no litigation or administrative action or
proceeding is pending or threatened to restrain or enjoin, or seeking to restrain or enjoin: the issuance or delivery of
the Bonds; the levy and/or collection of taxes to pay the principal of and interest on, the Bonds; contesting or
questioning the proceedings and authority under which the Bonds have been authorized and are to be issued, sold,
executed or delivered; or the validity of the Bonds. Appropriate representatives of the County will deliver a
certificate to that effect at the time of the original delivery of the Bonds.
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The County has been cooperating fully with the U.S. Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”) and the
Inspector General of the Arizona Health Care Cost Containment System (“AHCCCS”), Arizona's Medicaid agency,
since discovering that the County improperly billed AHCCCS for administration fees on vaccinations for a period of
time beginning in 2005. The improper billing, which was inadvertent, ceased as soon as it was discovered, and the
County has been accepted into OIG’s Self-Disclosure Protocol program (SDP). Nevertheless, it is anticipated that
the County will be required to pay some amount of civil penalties and damages under the state and federal false
claims acts (31 U.S.C §§ 3729-3733 and A.R.S. § 36-2918). Federal and state authorities have not yet determined
the amount of the penalty. It is anticipated that successful completion under the SDP will significantly mitigate the
amount of penalties assessed against the County and, in the opinion of County management, that such penalties will
not be material to the County.
The County has been named as a defendant in several lawsuits for which appropriate representatives of the
County believe either that the County has adequate self-insurance or insurance coverage in the event of liability or
that such liability would not otherwise materially and adversely affect the financial condition of the County.

UNDERWRITING
The Underwriter has agreed to purchase the Bonds, subject to certain conditions, at a purchase price of
$93,781,676.10. If the Bonds are sold to produce the yields shown on the inside front cover page hereof, the
Underwriter’s compensation will be $584,595.00. The Underwriter will be obligated to accept delivery and pay for
all of the Bonds if any are delivered. The Underwriter may offer and sell the Bonds to certain dealers (including
dealers depositing Bonds into unit investment trusts) and others at yields higher than the public offering yields
reflected on the inside front cover page hereof. The initial public offering yields may be changed from time to time
by the Underwriter.
The Underwriter may also receive a fee for conducting a competitive bidding process regarding the
investment of certain proceeds of the Refunding Bonds.

RATINGS
Fitch Ratings (“Fitch”) and Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC (“S&P”) have assigned the Bonds
ratings of “AA” and “AA-,” respectively. Such ratings reflect only the respective views of Fitch and S&P, and any
explanation of the meaning or significance of the ratings may only be obtained from the rating agencies. The
County furnished to the rating agencies certain information and materials, some of which may not have been
included in this Official Statement relating to the Bonds or the County.
Generally, rating agencies base their ratings on such information and materials and on their own
investigations, studies and assumptions. There can be no assurance that a rating when assigned will continue for any
given period of time or that it will not be lowered or withdrawn entirely by a rating agency if in its judgment
circumstances so warrant. Any lowering or withdrawal of a rating may have an adverse effect on the marketability
or market price of the Bonds.

CONTINUING SECONDARY MARKET DISCLOSURE
The County has covenanted for the benefit of certain holders of the Bonds to provide certain financial
information and operating data relating to the County by no later than February 1 in each year commencing
February 1, 2014 (the “Annual Reports”), and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events (the
“Notice of Listed Events”). The Annual Reports, the Notices of Listed Events and any other document or
information required to be filed as set forth in Appendix D – “Form of Continuing Disclosure Undertaking” will be
filed by the County with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB”) through the MSRB’s Electronic
Municipal Market Access system as described in such Form. The specific nature of the information to be contained
in the Annual Reports and the Notices of Listed Events is set forth in such Form.
These covenants have been made in order to assist the Underwriter in complying with S.E.C. Rule 15c212(b)(5) (the “Rule”). Pursuant to Arizona law, the ability of the County to provide information pursuant to such
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covenants is subject to annual appropriation to, among other things, cover the costs of preparing and disseminating
the Annual Report and the Notices of Listed Events. A failure by the County to comply with these covenants must
be reported in accordance with the Rule and must be considered by any broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer
before recommending the purchase or sale of the Bonds in the secondary market. Consequently, such a failure may
adversely affect the transferability and liquidity of the Bonds and their market price.
The County has complied with all existing continuing disclosure undertakings relating to the County for the
last five years in all material respects.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Included as Appendix E of this Official Statement are excerpts of the County’s Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. The County has not requested or obtained the consent of
the Office of the Arizona Auditor General to include such excerpts in the Official Statement and the Office of the
Arizona Auditor General has performed no procedures subsequent to rendering their opinion on such
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.

CONCLUDING STATEMENT
To the extent that any statements made in this Official Statement involve matters of opinion or estimates,
whether or not expressly stated to be such, they are made as such and not as representations of fact or certainty and
no representation is made that any of these opinions or estimates have been or will be realized. Information in this
Official Statement has been derived by the County from official and other sources and is believed by the County to
be accurate and reliable. Information other than that obtained from official records of the County has not been
independently confirmed or verified by the County and its accuracy is not guaranteed.
Neither this Official Statement nor any statement that may have been or that may be made orally or in
writing is to be construed as a part of a contract with the original purchasers or subsequent owners of the Bonds.
By:

/s/ Ramón Valadez
Chairman, Board of Supervisors

By:

/s/ C.H. Huckelberry
County Administrator
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APPENDIX A

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
General Economic and Demographic Information
General Information
Pima County, Arizona (the “County”) is located in the southern portion of the State of Arizona (“Arizona”
or the “State”), with a section of its southern boundary bordering Mexico. The boundaries of the County encompass
an area of approximately 9,184 square miles. Organized in 1864 by the Arizona Territorial Legislature as one of the
State's four original counties, the County is today the second most populous county in Arizona with an estimated
2012 population of 990,380. Approximately 53% of the County’s population resides in the City of Tucson, Arizona
(“Tucson”), the County seat of government and southern Arizona’s largest city.
TABLE 1
Population Statistics For Pima County,
the City of Tucson and the State of Arizona

2012 Estimate (a)
2010 Census
2000 Census
1990 Census
1980 Census
1970 Census
(a)

Pima
County
990,380
980,263
843,746
666,880
531,443
351,667

City of
Tucson
523,471
520,116
486,699
405,390
330,537
262,933

State of
Arizona
6,498,569
6,392,017
5,130,632
3,665,228
2,716,546
1,775,399

Population estimates as of July 1, 2012 (released December 2012) provided by the Office of Employment
and Population Statistics, Arizona Department of Administration.

Source: Except as otherwise described, U.S. Census Bureau.
Organization
The County is governed by a five-member Board, each member of which is elected for a four-year term to
represent one of the designated districts within the County. The chairman is selected by the Board from among its
members. The Board is responsible for establishing the policies of the various County departments and approving
the annual budgets of these departments. The Board appoints a County Administrator who is responsible for the
general administration and overall operations of the various departments of the County.
Mr. Charles H. Huckelberry was appointed County Administrator in December 1993. From 1987 to 1993,
Mr. Huckelberry served as an Assistant County Manager with responsibility for the administration of public works.
He served as the Director of Pima County's Department of Transportation and the Flood Control District (the
“District”) from 1979 to 1987; as Deputy Director of the Wastewater Department from 1976 to 1979; and as the
Wastewater Department's Manager of Field Engineering from 1974 to 1976. He was self employed as a civil
engineering and land surveying consultant for one year. From 1972 to 1973, Mr. Huckelberry was employed as a
Research and Development Engineer for the Shell Oil Company. He holds both a Bachelor of Science Degree in
Mining Engineering and a Master of Science Degree in Civil Engineering from The University of Arizona and is a
registered professional engineer and land surveyor as well as a member of numerous professional organizations.
Mr. Thomas Burke was appointed Finance and Risk Management Director in January 2005 and had served
as Deputy Director of Finance from May 2004. Prior to his move to Finance, Mr. Burke served as Deputy Director
of Pima County's Department of Natural Resources, Parks and Recreation from 2003 to 2004. From 2000 to 2003,
he was a Deputy County Attorney representing various Pima County departments including the County Assessor,
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County Treasurer and Public Works departments. From 1989 to 1998, Mr. Burke served as the Manager of Pima
County’s Real Property Services and from 1994 to 1998 also served as the County’s Superintendent of Streets
overseeing special taxing districts. During 1998 to 2000, he was a partner in an Arizona law firm representing local
governments. Prior to his work with Pima County, Mr. Burke was an attorney with a Tucson law firm from 1983 to
1989 and was a Certified Public Accountant with Ernst & Whinney from 1976 to 1980. Mr. Burke holds a Bachelor
of Science in Business Administration with a major in Accounting and a Juris Doctor, both from The University of
Arizona, and is licensed as an attorney in the State of Arizona.
Transportation
Tucson is the economic and transportation center of the County, as well as southern Arizona. Tucson is
traversed by Interstates 10 and 19, as well as State Highways 77, 83, 85 and 86. Interstate 10 passes through Tucson
and connects Tucson with the City of Phoenix, Arizona, to the north and Los Angeles, California, to the west and
New Mexico and Texas to the east. Interstate 19 provides access to the City of Nogales, Arizona and Mexico to the
south, while U.S. Highway 86 connects with a direct route to the Gulf of California vacation areas. The main line of
the Union Pacific Railroad extends across Tucson to the eastern portion of the County. Tucson International
Airport, located approximately 20 minutes from Tucson's downtown business area, provides local, regional, national
and international air service through several airlines. The airport has an 11,000-ft. lighted, paved primary runway, a
9,100-ft. paved secondary runway and a 7,000-ft paved runway, all of which can accommodate all major types of
carriers. The County is also served by Greyhound bus lines and Amtrak.
Economy
The economy of the County is based largely on a variety of service industries, trade, and government
employment. Figures from the Arizona Department of Administration, Office of Employment and Population
Statistics indicate that 360,900 persons were employed, on average (not including the agricultural industry), in the
County in 2012. The following table presents the County’s average annual total employment by industry for the
periods indicated. During the recent recession, employment decreased in the County from 2008 through 2010, but
has shown signs of stabilizing and growth in 2011 and 2012, as reflected in the information shown below.
TABLE 2
Pima County
Average Annual Employment
Number of Persons Employed 2008-2012
Industry
Goods Producing
Construction
Manufacturing
Service Providing
Trade, Transportation and Utilities
Information
Financial Activities
Professional and Business Services
Education and Health Services
Leisure and Hospitality
Other Services
Government
Total Wage & Salary Employment

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

24,700
27,200

18,300
25,100

16,800
24,000

16,400
23,400

16,400
23,300

62,700
5,300
17,200
51,400
57,100
40,400
15,700
79,800
381,500

58,200
4,700
17,500
47,100
58,500
38,700
14,700
79,100
361,900

56,600
4,300
17,600
45,700
58,300
38,100
14,300
78,200
353,900

57,700
4,200
18,800
46,700
59,800
39,100
12,500
76,800
355,400

57,700
4,300
18,900
48,200
61,000
40,400
12,700
78,000
360,900

Source: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, by Arizona Department of Administration, Office of
Employment and Population Statistics.

A-2

The average unemployment rate for the County in 2012 was 7.3%. The average annual unemployment
rates for 2011 and 2010 were 8.4% and 9.4%, respectively. The table below shows comparative unemployment
rates for the County, the State and the United States for the periods indicated. As reflected for the United States as a
whole, the unemployment rate for Arizona and for the County saw significant increases in 2009 and 2010 but
decreased in 2011 and 2012.
TABLE 3
Pima County
Comparative Employment Statistics (a)
Calendar
Year
2012
2011
2010
2009
2008
(a)

Pima County
Average
Average
Employment
Unemployment
429,167
33,581
426,406
39,207
433,795
45,259
441,966
43,817
446,651
26,725

Unemployment Rate
Pima
County
Arizona
7.3%
8.3%
8.4%
9.4%
9.4%
10.4%
9.0%
9.8%
5.6%
6.0%

U.S.
8.1%
8.9%
9.6%
9.3%
5.8%

Data shown in table is not seasonally adjusted.

Source: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics and Arizona Department of Administration, Office of
Employment and Population Statistics.
The following table indicates the major employers in southern Arizona, which includes the County, as
reported in April 2012.
TABLE 4
Southern Arizona
Major Employers

Company
University of Arizona
Raytheon Missile Systems
State of Arizona
Davis-Monthan Air Force Base
Wal-Mart Stores Inc.
Tucson Unified School District
U.S. Army Intelligence Center and Fort Huachuca
Pima County
U.S. Customs & Border Protection/ U.S. Border Patrol
The University of Arizona Health Network
Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc.
Carondelet Health Network
City of Tucson
Tohono O'odham Nation
Fry's Food Stores
TMC HealthCare
Corrections Corp. of America (CCA)
Pima Community College
Asarco LLC
Afni Inc.

Type of Business
Higher Education
Military & Defense
Government
Military & Defense
Retailers
Education
Military & Defense
Government
Government
Health Care
Mining & Agriculture
Health Care
Government
Government
Restaurants & Food Distribution
Health Care
Other
Higher Education
Mining and Agriculture
Call Centers, Business Services & Staffing

Source: The Star 200, The Arizona Daily Star (April 2012).
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Approximate
Number of FullTime Equivalents
10,681
10,500
9,061
8,566
7,300
6,674
6,198
6,170
6,000
5,594
5,068
4,635
4,541
4,350
3,100
2,904
2,482
2,386
2,348
2,198

Non-Governmental Employment
From 2008 through 2010, average employment figures across all categories with the exception of financial
activities and education and health services showed declines in employment. During that time, average nongovernmental employment in the County fell by approximately 26,000 jobs, or approximately 8.6%. In 2011 and
2012, employment figures for all categories showed signs of either growth or stabilization, with overall employment
up 1.9%, in comparison to the 2010 figures.
The average annual employment in service-providing categories in 2012 was 243,200. It is anticipated that
as the County continues to grow in population and economic activity, service-providing employment will continue
to provide the primary source of jobs in the County. As detailed in TABLE 2, employment in the Education and
Health Services and Trade, Transportation and Utilities have been the primary areas of employment in the serviceproviding industry.
Government
Government employment plays an important role in the County with Federal, State and local government
employees averaging approximately 78,000 in 2012. The State and Davis-Monthan Air Force Base are significant
contributors to government employment in the County. (See “Southern Arizona - Major Employers” listed in
TABLE 4.) Davis-Monthan Air Force Base is a major training ground for active duty members on the A-10
“Warthog” aircraft. The facility is also responsible for the education of tactical missile crews. Its storage capacity of
2,500 aircraft is the largest in the world. In the past, Davis-Monthan Air Force Base reportedly has been included on
lists of installations considered for closure or realignment by the Defense Base Closure and Realignment
Commission. There can be no assurances that Davis-Monthan Air Force Base will not be included on similar lists in
the future. Any such closure or realignment would most likely be subject to review and approval by, among others,
the Department of Defense and the President of the United States and would have a negative but unquantifiable
effect on the County.
Manufacturing
The manufacturing sector in the County continues to be dominated by the high technology industries of
aerospace and electronics. Raytheon Missile Systems, the largest manufacturing company and largest employer in
the County, is a major supplier of advanced munitions. Civilian aviation products and services are provided by
Bombardier, which has an aircraft maintenance facility in Tucson, and Universal Avionics Systems Corp., which
builds and installs advanced instrumentation, communication and navigation systems for civil aircrafts. Texas
Instruments manufactures electronic circuitry and data storage devices. Ventana Medical Systems provides
computerized medical laboratory equipment.
Average annual employment in the manufacturing sector within the County in 2012 was 23,300,
representing 6.5% of the County’s total wage and salary employment base. Manufacturing employment in the
County has decreased each year since 2008, but has shown signs of stabilization in 2012. Since 2008, average
manufacturing employment fell by approximately 3,900 jobs, or approximately 14.3%.
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The following table presents the major manufacturers in the County and Tucson metropolitan area as of
April 2012:
TABLE 5
Southern Arizona
Major Manufacturers
Company
IBM Corp.*
Ventana Medical Systems Inc.
Bombardier Aerospace
Honeywell Aerospace*
B/E Aerospace Inc.
Texas Instruments Inc.
Marana Aerospace Solutions, Inc.
Sargent Aerospace & Defense
FLSmidth Krebs
Universal Avionics Systems Corp.

Type of Business
Manufacturing & Research
Manufacturing & Research
Aerospace & Aircraft
Aerospace & Aircraft
Aerospace & Aircraft
Manufacturing & Research
Aerospace & Aircraft
Aerospace & Aircraft
Manufacturing & Research
Aerospace & Aircraft

Approximate 2012
Employment
1,350
1,070
709
650
500
370
336
275
267
242

* Estimated
Source: The Star 200, The Arizona Daily Star (April 2012).
The County’s proximity to Mexico makes twin plant “maquiladora” operations practical. Components are
manufactured in Tucson and transported duty-free to Nogales, Sonora, Mexico, 65 miles south of Tucson, for
assembly. Among the companies operating “twin plants” in Tucson and Nogales are General Electric, Samsonite,
Motorola, Acco, Moen Faucets and Masterlock. These manufacturers contribute to the County’s economy in many
ways including the support of numerous suppliers and peripheral industries. The proximity of the Mexican border is
more significant to manufacturing concerns given the existence of the North American Free Trade Agreement
between Canada, the United States and Mexico. However, the uncertainty of the U.S. and Mexican economies may
negatively impact the employment of the previously described manufacturing concerns.
Tourism
Tourism is an important economic mainstay in the County and the Tucson area. The County’s climate,
historical and cultural sites, location and proximity to vacation areas in California, Mexico, and other Southwest
destinations attract vacationers, conventioneers and other visitors. The Metropolitan Tucson Convention and
Visitors Bureau estimated that 688 convention bookings with 222,102 convention delegates visited the Tucson area
in fiscal year 2011-12, the most recent data available. In the Tucson area, the Bureau estimated that there were
approximately 197 hotels and resorts with 16,727 rooms. Points of interest, recreational sites and sight-seeing
attractions include the Arizona-Sonora Desert Museum, Kitt Peak National Observatory, Pima Air and Space
Museum, Titan Missile Museum, Saguaro National Park, Mission San Xavier del Bac, Mount Lemmon, Sabino
Canyon, Biosphere 2, and numerous resorts and golf courses.
According to the Arizona Hospitality Research & Resource Center, tourists in the County spent $1.37
billion in calendar year 2011, a slight increase from tourism-related expenditures in calendar year 2010. In calendar
year 2012, tourists in the County spent approximately $1.44 billion, an increase of 5.33% from the prior year.
The figures in the following table include the estimated tourist portion of amusement, bar and restaurant,
hotel and motel, and retail gross sales. Shown below are tourist dollars expended in the County and State economies
for 2008 through 2012.
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TABLE 6
Total Tourist Expenditures
($ in millions)
Year
2012
2011
2010
2009
2008

Pima County
$1,443
1,370
1,296
1,304
1,414

State of Arizona
$10,017
9,549
8,844
8,795
9,871

Source: Arizona Hospitality Research & Resources Center, The W.A. Franke College of Business, Northern
Arizona University.
Education
The University of Arizona (the “University”) provides approximately 10,681 jobs to the area and is an
important link to the economic growth of the County. Its presence as a research university has assisted in attracting
new business enterprises over the years. The academic organization of the University is comprised of twelve
undergraduate colleges, four graduate and professional colleges and a number of interdisciplinary programs.
Enrollment figures for the fall semester of 2012 were estimated at 40,223 undergraduate and graduate full-time
students. This enrollment includes students in continuing education programs, interns and residents, post-doctoral
programs and on-campus non-credit students.
Pima County Community College offers two-year programs in vocational and technical education. Total
student enrollment for Pima County Community College for 2011-12 was 59,303 students.
Source: The University of Arizona and Pima County Community College.
Wholesale and Retail Trade
Wholesale and retail trade includes restaurants, hotels, taverns, service stations, automobile repair shops,
shopping malls and wholesale dealers. The largest individual employers in the retail sector (companies with more
than 1,000 employees) are Wal-Mart Stores, Fry’s Food and Drug Stores, Bashas’ Inc., Walgreen Co., Safeway
Stores Inc., Home Depot, Albertsons-Osco and Crosstown Traders.
The retail sales figures set forth below are based on the sales tax collections within the County excluding
penalties, late charges and nontaxable items. The sales tax rate levied by the State on retail sales within the County
is 5.6% (not including a temporary 1.0% tax). In addition, cities and towns within the County generally levy a 2%
to 4% sales tax. The County Regional Transportation Authority levies a county-wide 0.5% sales tax.
The following table sets forth retail sales figures in the County for the periods indicated. After many years
of continued growth, retail sales in the County decreased by 7.14% in calendar year 2008 and by an additional
9.86% in calendar year 2009. While continuing to decrease in calendar year 2010, the rate of decline slowed to
2.20% and in calendar year 2011, retail sales in the County increased by 7.8% from the prior year. As indicated by
the following table, retail sales increased by 5.6% in 2012.
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TABLE 7
Pima County Retail Sales (a)
Year
2012
2011
2010
2009
2008

Amount
$7,290,710,677
6,904,863,298
6,402,891,553
6,547,084,057
7,263,583,414

% Change
5.60%
7.80%
(2.20%)
(9.86%)
(7.14%)

(a) Excludes food and gasoline sales.
Source: Arizona Department of Revenue.
Financial Institutions
The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) collects deposit balances for commercial and savings
banks as of June 30 of each year. The following table illustrates the summary of bank deposits of all FDIC-insured
institutions within the County for the past five fiscal years. As of June 30, 2012, there were 18 institutions with 193
offices in the County, with a deposit balance of approximately $12.152 billion.
TABLE 8
Pima County
Bank Deposits
June 30
2012
2011
2010
2009
2008

Amount
$12,152,000,000
11,973,000,000
11,892,000,000
11,502,000,000
11,215,000,000

Source: Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.
Mining
According to the Arizona Mining Association, Arizona leads the nation in copper production, accounting
for approximately 63% of the total U.S. mine production. However, the cyclical nature of this industry has caused
consolidation of its resources to improve production. In the early 1980's, the Arizona copper industry's direct
economic impact on the Arizona economy regularly exceeded $1.0 billion, peaking in 1981 at approximately $1.612
billion when the industry employed roughly 25,000 persons. Since that time, employment in this sector has
significantly decreased, with employment in the mining industry within the County being approximately 2,100 in
2012.
Agriculture
Agriculture plays a less significant role in the economy of the County as a whole, but a small portion of the
County relies on agriculture as its leading economic source. Principal crops harvested are cotton, wheat and hay, as
well as vegetables. The following table sets forth the total cash receipts for all crops and livestock products in the
County for the most recent five years for which reports are available.
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TABLE 9
Cash Receipts From Agricultural Marketing
(Total Crops and Livestock)
Pima County
Year
2011
2010
2009
2008
2007

Receipts
$89,334,000
71,595,000
62,422,000
71,663,000
73,400,000

Source: Arizona Agricultural Statistics, September 2012.
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APPENDIX B
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Financial Information
Introduction
The fiscal year for the County is from July 1 through June 30. The County’s budget process is an ongoing
function. Each fiscal year’s process starts with the issuance in December of guidelines to all departments within
which budgets must be developed. Department budget requests are submitted in February. A review process then
takes place culminating with the County Administrator’s submission of a proposed budget to the Board in time for
budget hearings in mid-June. State statutes require that a tentative budget be adopted by the Board no later than the
third Monday in July. At the time the final budget is adopted, which can be no later than the first Monday in August
of each year, the Board holds a public hearing and meeting to determine the tax levy needed to support the budget.
Taxes are then assessed and levied no later than the third Monday in August.
Expenditure Limitation
Beginning in fiscal year 1981-82, the County became subject to an annual expenditure limitation which is
set by the Arizona Economic Estimates Commission. This limitation is based on the County’s annual expenditures
for fiscal year 1979-80, with this base adjusted to reflect interim population, cost of living and boundary changes.
Certain expenditures are specifically exempt from the limit, including expenditures made from federal funds and
bond sale proceeds, as well as debt service payments. The limitations can be exceeded for certain emergency
expenditures or if approved by the voters. The Constitution provisions which relate to the expenditure limitation
provide three processes to exceed the spending limit: a permanent base adjustment, a one-time override, and a
capital project accumulation.
The County’s expenditure limitation for the 2012-13 fiscal year is $516,422,727. The County’s
expenditures for the 2012-13 fiscal year are anticipated to be under the limit. The County’s 2013-14 fiscal year
expenditure limitation is $527,442,812, and the County anticipates that its expenditures for such year will be under
the limit.
Ad Valorem Taxes
At the general election held November 6, 2012, the voters of the State ratified Senate Concurrent
Resolution 1025, which amends a provision of the Arizona Constitution relating to the State’s property tax
system. Beginning in tax year 2015 (for operations beginning in the County’s fiscal year 2015-16), and for tax
years thereafter, the constitutional amendment will limit the value of real property and improvements, including
mobile homes, used for all ad valorem tax purposes (both primary and secondary tax purposes) to the lesser of
the full cash value of the property or an amount five percent greater than the taxable value of property
determined for the prior year. The foregoing limitation does not apply to (1) equalization orders that the Arizona
Legislature exempts from such limitation; (2) property used in the business of patented or unpatented producing
mines, mills and smelters; (3) producing oil, gas and geothermal interests; (4) real property and improvements
used for operation of telephone, telegraph, gas, water and electric utilities; (5) aircraft that is regularly scheduled
and operated by an aircraft company; (6) standing timber; (7) pipelines; and (8) personal property, except mobile
homes.
The information which follows under the heading “Ad Valorem Taxes” summarizes the assessment, levy
and collection process as it currently exists. It is expected that numerous statutory changes will be required in
order to implement this voter-approved constitutional amendment. It is uncertain when or if such additional
changes will be made and what form such changes will take if enacted.
General
Arizona (the “State” or “Arizona”) property taxes are divided into two systems, primary and secondary.
Secondary property taxes are those taxes imposed for payment of bonded indebtedness, for exceeding a budget,
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expenditure or tax limitation pursuant to voter approval and for operating and maintaining certain special districts.
Primary property taxes are all ad valorem taxes other than secondary property taxes.
Under the primary system, the full cash value of locally-assessed real property (consisting primarily of
residential, commercial, industrial, agricultural and unimproved property) cannot increase by more than 10% per
year, except under certain circumstances. This limitation does not apply to mines, utilities and railroads which are
assessed by the State. Annual tax levies under the primary system are based on the nature of the property taxed and
the taxing authority. Primary taxes levied on residential property only are limited to 1% of the limited full cash
value of such property. In addition, primary taxes levied on all types of property by counties, cities, towns and
community college districts are limited to a maximum increase of 2% over the prior year's levy plus any amount
directly attributable to new construction and annexation. The 2% limitation does not apply to primary taxes levied
for local school districts. The County does not currently levy its primary tax to the maximum allowed under the
law.
Secondary assessed valuation represents the value used in determining property tax levies for the payment
of principal and interest on bonds, school district voter-approved budget overrides and special district taxes and the
calculation of maximum bonded indebtedness allowed under the State’s Constitutional debt limit. See “Debt
Limitation” herein. Under the secondary system, there is no limitation on annual increases in full cash value of any
property. In addition, annual tax levies for voter-approved bonded indebtedness, overrides and special district taxes
are unlimited.
Arizona law provides for a property valuation “freeze” for certain residential property owners sixty-five
years of age and older. Owners of residential property may obtain such freeze against valuation increases (the
“Property Valuation Protection Option”) if the owner’s total income from all sources does not exceed 400% (500%
for two or more owners of the same property) of the “Social Security Income Benefit Rate.” The Property Valuation
Protection Option must be renewed every three years. If the property is sold to a person who does not qualify, the
valuation reverts to its current full cash value. Any freeze on increases in full cash value will translate to the
secondary assessed value of the affected property as hereinafter described.
Additionally, all property, both real and personal, is assigned a classification to determine its assessed
valuation for tax purposes. Each legal classification is defined by property use and has an assessment ratio (a
percentage factor) which is multiplied by the limited or full cash values of the property to obtain the assessed
valuations.
Tax Procedures
The tax year in Arizona is defined as the calendar year, although tax procedures begin prior to January 1 of
each tax year and continue through May of the succeeding calendar year. The first step in the tax process, for taxing
entities other than certain special districts, is the determination of the full cash value of each individually-owned
parcel of land within the State. Property valuations are established on most property by the individual county
assessors, with the State Department of Revenue determining the valuation of centrally assessed properties such as
gas, water and electrical utilities, railroads, mines and pipelines. The appropriate property classification assessment
ratio is then applied to the full cash value to determine the assessed valuation for such parcel. The assessment ratios
utilized over the five-year period 2009 through 2013 for each class of property are set forth below.
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Property Tax Assessment Ratios
2009 through 2013
Property Classification (a)
Mining, Utility, Commercial and Industrial (b)
Agriculture and Vacant Land (b)
Owner Occupied Residential
Leased or Rented Residential
Railroad, Private Car Company and Airline
Flight Property (c)
(a)
(b)

(c)

2009
22.0%
16.0%
10.0%
10.0%

2010
21.0%
16.0%
10.0%
10.0%

2011
20.0%
16.0%
10.0%
10.0%

2012
20.0%
16.0%
10.0%
10.0%

2013
19.5%
16.0%
10.0%
10.0%

18.0%

17.0%

17.0%

15.0%

15.0%

Additional classes of property exist, but seldom amount to a significant portion of a governmental entity’s total
valuation.
For each of the tax years 2011, 2012 and 2013, full cash values up to $67,268, $68,079 and $133,868,
respectively, on commercial, industrial and agricultural personal property are exempt from taxation. This
exemption is indexed annually for inflation. Any portion of the full cash value in excess of that amount will be
assessed at the applicable rate. Effective January 1, 2011, the assessment ratio for mining, utilities, commercial
and industrial property was reduced by one percentage point annually, resulting in an assessment ratio of
20.0% thereafter. The assessment ratio for mining, utilities, commercial and industrial property will be
reduced to 19.5% for tax year 2013 and further reduced one-half of one percent for each year to 18.0% for
2016 and thereafter. The assessment ratio for agricultural and vacant property will be reduced to 15.0% for tax
year 2016 and thereafter.
This percentage is determined annually to be equal to the ratio of (i) the total assessed valuation of all mining,
utility, commercial, industrial, and military reuse zone properties, agricultural personal property and certain
leasehold personal property to (ii) the total full cash (market) value of such properties.

Source: State and County Abstract of the Assessment Roll, Arizona Department of Revenue.
From time to time, bills have been introduced in the Arizona Legislature to reduce the property tax
assessment ratios on various classes of property and such bills may be introduced in the current or future legislative
sessions. The County cannot determine whether any such measures will become law or how they might affect
property tax collections for the County.
Delinquent Tax Procedures
The property taxes due to the County are billed, along with State and other taxes, ordinarily in September
of the calendar tax year and are due and payable in two installments on October 1 and March 1 and become
delinquent on November 1 and May 1. Delinquent taxes are subject to an interest penalty of 16% per annum
prorated monthly as of the first day of the month unless the full year's taxes are paid by December 31. After the
close of the tax collection period, the County Treasurer prepares a delinquent property tax list and the property so
listed is subject to a tax lien sale in February of the succeeding year. In the event that there is no purchaser for the
tax lien at the sale, the tax lien is assigned to the State, and the tax lien is reoffered for sale from time to time until
such time as the taxes, penalties and interest put on the lien is sold, subject to redemption, for an amount sufficient
to cover all delinquent and current taxes.
It should be noted that in the event of bankruptcy of a taxpayer pursuant to the United States Bankruptcy
Code (the "Bankruptcy Code"), the law is currently unsettled as to whether a lien can be attached against the
taxpayer's property for property taxes levied during the pendency of bankruptcy. Such taxes might constitute an
unsecured and possibly noninterest bearing administrative expense payable only to the extent that the secured
creditors of a taxpayer are oversecured, and then possibly only on the prorated basis with other allowed
administrative claims. It cannot be determined, therefore, what adverse impact bankruptcy might have on the ability
to collect ad valorem taxes on a property of a taxpayer within the County. Proceeds to pay such taxes come only
from the taxpayer or from a sale of the tax lien on the property.
When a debtor files or is forced into bankruptcy, any act to obtain possession of the debtor’s estate, any act
to create or perfect any lien against the property of the debtor or any act to collect, assess or recover a claim against
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the debtor that arose before the commencement of the bankruptcy would be stayed pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code.
While the stay of a bankruptcy court may not prevent the sale of tax liens against the real property of a bankrupt
taxpayer, the judicial or administrative foreclosure of a tax lien against the real property of a debtor would be subject
to the stay of a bankruptcy court. It is reasonable to conclude that “tax sale investors” may be reluctant to purchase
tax liens under such circumstances, and, therefore, the timeliness of post bankruptcy petition tax collections
becomes uncertain.
Property Valuations
The following table lists various property valuations for the County for the current fiscal year and
preliminary valuations for fiscal year 2013-14, which reflect a decline in valuation as shown.
Valuations for 2012-13 Fiscal Year
Estimated Actual Valuation (a)
Net Secondary Assessed Valuation
Net Primary Assessed Valuation

$67,389,331,666
8,171,211,922
8,073,937,734

Estimated Valuations for 2013-14 Fiscal Year (b)
Net Secondary Assessed Valuation
Net Primary Assessed Valuation

$7,623,691,280
7,559,235,262

(a) Actual full cash value net of estimated value of property exempt from taxation.
(b) Estimated valuations for the 2013-14 fiscal year provided by the Pima County Assessor. Valuations
for the 2013-14 fiscal year are not official until approved by the Board of Supervisors on the third
Monday in August for the following fiscal year. Although the final official valuations are not expected
to differ materially from the estimated valuations, they are subject to positive or negative adjustments
until approved by the Board of Supervisors.
Source: 2012 Property Tax Rates and Assessed Values, Arizona Tax Research Association; 2012 Abstract of the
Assessment Roll, Arizona Department of Revenue; and 2013 Planning Abstract of Values, Pima County
Department of Finance and Risk Management, Budget Division.
Net Secondary Assessed Valuation Comparisons and Trends
The information set forth below is shown to indicate the ratio between assessed values and estimated actual
values for the County, as well as changes in the secondary assessed valuations of the County and overlapping
municipal units on a comparative basis. The basis of property assessment for these years is shown under “Ad
Valorem Taxes - Tax Procedures.”
Net Secondary Assessed Value and Estimated
Actual Cash Value Comparison
Fiscal
Year
2012-13
2011-12
2010-11
2009-10
2008-09

Net Secondary
Assessed Valuation
$8,171,211,922
8,448,281,586
9,342,561,193
9,860,980,900
9,594,861,519

Estimated Actual
Valuation (a)
$67,389,331,666
70,163,492,245
77,358,317,302
80,653,625,457
79,245,821,370

Net Secondary Assessed
Valuation as a Percentage of the
Estimated Actual Valuation
12.13%
12.04%
12.08%
12.23%
12.11%

(a) Actual full cash value net of estimated value of property exempt from taxation.
Source: Abstract of the Assessment Roll, Arizona Department of Revenue; Property Tax Rates and Assessed
Values, Arizona Tax Research Association.
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Net Secondary Assessed Valuation Comparisons
Fiscal
Year
2012-13
2011-12
2010-11
2009-10
2008-09

City of
Tucson
$3,377,401,416
3,487,959,628
3,914,105,239
4,030,242,132
3,895,581,900

Percent
Change
(3.17%)
(10.89%)
(2.88%)
3.46%
11.80%

Pima
County
$8,171,211,922
8,448,281,586
9,342,561,193
9,860,980,900
9,594,861,519

Percent
Change
(3.28%)
(9.57%)
(5.26%)
2.77%
16.72%

State of
Arizona
$56,271,814,583
61,700,292,915
75,643,290,656
86,504,734,898
86,090,579,647

Percent
Change
(8.80%)
(18.43%)
(12.56%)
0.48%
19.84%

Source: Property Tax Rates and Assessed Values, Arizona Tax Research Association.
Net Secondary Assessed Valuations of Major Taxpayers
Shown below are the major property taxpayers located within the County, an estimate of their current
assessed value and their relative proportion of the County’s net secondary assessed value.

Taxpayer (a)
Unisource Energy Corporation
Phelps Dodge Corporation
Asarco Incorporated
Southwest Gas Corporation
Qwest Corporation
Trico Electric Co-Op Incorporated
DND Neffson Company
Northwest Hospital LLC
Wal-Mart Stores Incorporated
Verizon Wireless

Use of Property
Utility
Mining
Mining
Utility
Telecommunications
Utility
Shopping Mall
Healthcare
Retail
Telecommunications

2012-13
Net Secondary
Assessed Valuation
$179,262,189
142,418,548
83,778,094
61,718,147
53,224,503
22,132,791
17,998,093
17,723,236
15,580,807
14,290,781
$608,127,189

As Percent of County's
2012-13 Net Secondary
Assessed Valuation
2.19%
1.74%
1.03%
0.76%
0.65%
0.27%
0.22%
0.22%
0.19%
0.17%
7.44%

(a) Some of such taxpayers or their parent corporations are subject to the informational requirements of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and in accordance therewith file reports,
proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”).
Such reports, proxy statements and other information (collectively, the “Filings”) may be inspected and copied
at the public reference facilities maintained by the Commission at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C.
20549 and at the Commission’s regional offices at Northwestern Atrium Center, 500 West Madison Street,
Suite 1400, Chicago, Illinois 60661. Copies of the Filings can be obtained from the public reference section of
the Commission at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549 at prescribed rates. In addition, the Filings
may also be inspected at the offices of the New York Stock Exchange at 20 Broad Street, New York, New York
10005. The Filings may also be obtained through the Internet on the Commission’s EDGAR data base at
http://www.sec.gov. No representative of the County, Bond Counsel, the Underwriter or Underwriter’s Counsel
have examined the information set forth in the Filings for accuracy or completeness, nor do they assume
responsibility for the same.
Source: Pima County Assessor.
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Record of Real and Secured Personal Property Taxes Levied and Collected
Property taxes are levied and collected on all taxable property within the County and are certified to by the
County Treasurer. The following table sets forth the County’s real and secured personal property tax collected yearto-date for the current fiscal year and the past six full fiscal years.
Fiscal
Year
2012-13
2011-12
2010-11
2009-10
2008-09
2007-08

Real and Secured
Personal Property
Tax Levy
$324,785,757
335,466,625
352,275,617
353,593,620
322,901,974
305,699,225

Fiscal Year Collections (a)
Percent of
Amount
Tax Levy
(c)
(c)
$323,013,333
96.29%
335,747,500
95.31
338,592,132
95.76
309,375,563
95.81
294,220,625
96.25

Total Collections (b)
Percent of
Amount
Tax Levy
$182,384,915
56.16%
334,920,700
99.84
346,920,223
98.48
351,788,227
99.44
321,859,597
99.66
304,703,860
99.67

(a) Reflects collections made through June 30th, the end of the fiscal year, on such year’s levy. Property taxes are
payable in two installments. The first installment is due the first day of October and becomes delinquent on
November 1, but is waived if the full tax year's taxes are paid in full by December 31. The second installment
becomes due the first day of March and is delinquent on May 1. Interest at the rate of 16% per annum attaches
on first and second installments following their delinquent dates. Penalties for delinquent payments are not
included in the above collection figures.
(b) Reflects collections made through March 31, 2013 against the current and prior levies.
(c) In the process of collection.
Source: Pima County Treasurer.
Tax Rate Data
The tax rates provided below reflect the total property tax rate levied by the County. As such, the rates are
the sum of the primary tax rate, which is levied against the primary assessed value within the County, and the
secondary tax rate for debt service payments, the County Library District, the County Fire District Assistance Tax
and the County Flood Control District, all of which are levied against the County’s secondary assessed value (except
in the case of the Flood Control District, which is levied against the District's secondary assessed value, excluding
the value of personal property).
Fiscal
Year
2012-13
2011-12
2010-11
2009-10
2008-09
2007-08

Primary
Tax Rate
$3.4178
3.4178
3.3133
3.3133
3.3913
3.6020

Secondary
Tax Rate
$1.4342
1.4313
1.3665
1.2784
1.2789
1.4654

Total
Tax Rate
$4.8520
4.8491
4.6798
4.5917
4.6702
5.0674

Source: Property Tax Rates and Assessed Values, Arizona Tax Research Foundation.
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Debt Limitation
Pursuant to the Arizona Constitution, outstanding general obligation debt for County purposes may not
exceed 15% of a County’s net secondary assessed valuation. The following indicates the County's current bonding
capacity.
Net Secondary Assessed Valuation (FY 2012-13)
15% Constitutional Limitation
Net Direct General Obligation Bonds Outstanding (a)
Plus: The Bonds
Unused 15% Limitation

$8,171,211,922
1,225,681,788
417,290,000
88,575,000
$719,816,788

(a) Net of Bonds Being Refunded.
General Obligation Bonded Debt Outstanding
The following chart lists the outstanding general obligation bonded debt of the County that will be
outstanding after the issuance of the Bonds..
Date of
Original
Issue
Amount
Original Purpose
01-15-03
$50,000,000
Various Improvements
06-01-04
65,000,000
Various Improvements
05-01-05
65,000,000
Various Improvements
01-01-07
95,000,000
Various Improvements
02-15-08
100,000,000
Various Improvements
04-22-09
75,000,000
Various Improvements
12-02-09
113,535,000
Various Improvements/ Refunding
05-25-11
75,000,000
Various Improvements
06-13-12
76,225,000
Various Improvements / Refunding
Subtotal
Less: The Bonds Being Refunded
Plus: The Bonds
Total General Obligation Bonded Debt to be Outstanding
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Maturity
Dates
7-1-03/13
7-1-05/19
7-1-06/20
7-1-07/21
7-1-08/22
7-1-09/23
7-1-10/24
7-1-12/26
7-1-13/27

Average
Int. Rates
3.900%
4.207%
4.016%
4.028%
3.934%
3.913%
3.579%
4.371%
3.311%

Remaining
Balance
Outstanding
$ 3,750,000
32,660,000
35,635,000
62,295,000
71,250,000
38,000,000
84,255,000
52,075,000
76,225,000
$456,145,000
(38,855,000)
88,575,000
$505,865,000

Annual Debt Service Requirements of Outstanding General Obligation
Bonded Debt Outstanding
The following chart indicates the general obligation debt service requirements of the County that will be
outstanding after the issuance of the Bonds.
Fiscal
Year
Ending
(June 30)
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028

Existing General Obligation
Bonded Debt Outstanding(a)
Principal
Interest
$49,175,000
$16,238,869
41,775,000
13,890,356
32,600,000
12,415,556
33,410,000
11,271,807
30,310,000
10,121,381
27,560,000
9,049,256
35,360,000
7,987,731
33,770,000
6,674,394
35,275,000
5,439,619
36,735,000
4,097,519
24,525,000
2,607,019
15,480,000
1,573,613
8,355,000
912,063
8,735,000
533,413
4,225,000
137,313

The Bonds
Principal
Interest (b)
$3,010,000
7,365,000
7,580,000
12,335,000
12,710,000
8,340,000
8,310,000
3,230,000
3,325,000
3,425,000
3,525,000
3,630,000
3,775,000
3,930,000
4,085,000

$2,803,405
2,584,375
2,406,700
2,215,925
1,883,125
1,467,525
1,248,275
1,015,975
925,050
825,300
722,550
616,800
471,600
320,600
163,400

Total
Debt Service
Requirement (c)
$65,413,869
61,478,761
54,964,931
54,668,507
54,982,306
51,202,381
53,155,256
50,002,669
44,960,594
45,082,569
31,382,319
21,301,163
13,513,863
13,515,013
8,612,913
4,248,400

(a) Net of the Bonds Being Refunded.
(b) The first interest payment date on the Bonds is January 1, 2014.
(c) Amounts may not add due to rounding.
Net Direct and Overlapping General Obligation Bonded Debt
The chart below reflects the property valuation and outstanding general obligation debt for jurisdictions
that overlap the County’s boundaries. The overlapping bonded debt figures were compiled from information
obtained from the County Treasurer's Office and individual jurisdictions. A breakdown of each overlapping
jurisdiction's applicable general obligation bonded debt, net secondary assessed valuation and combined tax rate per
$100 assessed valuation follows.

Jurisdiction
State of Arizona
Pima County
Pima County Flood Control District (c)
Elementary School Districts
Unified School Districts
Cities and Towns
Pima County Community College District

2012-13
Net Secondary
Assessed
Valuation
$56,271,814,583
8,171,211,922
7,244,629,122
366,458,665
7,785,454,018
4,629,486,505
8,171,211,922

General
Obligation
Bonded Debt
Outstanding
(a)(f)(g)
None
$505,865,000
None
16,000,000
601,650,000
209,071,010
3,280,000

Total
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Portion Applicable
to the County
Net Debt
Amount
Percent
100%
None
100%
$505,865,000
100%
None
100%
16,000,000
100%
601,650,000
100%
209,071,010
3,280,000
100%
$1,335,866,010

Combined
Tax Rate
Per $100
Assessed
Valuation (e)
$0.0000
5.1602 (b)
0.2635
2.0607 (d)
6.2713 (d)
0.9362 (d)
1.1741

Jurisdiction
State of Arizona
Pima County
Pima County Flood Control District (c)
Pima County Community College District
Elementary School Districts:
San Fernando ESD #35
Empire ESD #37
Continental ESD #39
Redington ESD #44
Altar Valley ESD #51

2012-13 Net
Secondary
Assessed
Valuation
$56,271,814,583
8,171,211,922
7,244,629,122
8,171,211,922

General
Obligation
Bonded Debt
Outstanding
(a)(f)(g)
None
$505,865,000
None
3,280,000

Combined Tax
Rate Per $100
Assessed
Valuation (e)
None
$5.1602 (b)
0.2635
1.1741

1,521,446
8,049,979
320,207,916
1,398,244
35,281,080

None
None
16,000,000
None
None

4.0331
1.2484
1.5729
5.9198
6.4355

Unified School Districts:
Tucson USD #1
Marana USD #6
Flowing Wells USD #8
Amphitheater USD #10
Sunnyside USD #12
Tanque Verde USD #13
Ajo USD #15
Catalina Foothills USD #16
Vail USD #20
Sahuarita USD #30
Indian Oasis Baboquivari USD #40

3,264,316,779
766,417,621
208,197,581
1,482,678,329
447,030,726
184,878,059
20,065,919
585,344,020
452,490,744
372,866,553
1,167,687

270,675,000
46,245,000
22,370,000
83,035,000
42,840,000
13,370,000
None
30,345,000
47,605,000
45,165,000
None

7.3187
5.5863
5.9778
5.5539
6.3154
4.1538
3.5338
4.7472
5.9120
5.5183
0.0000

Cities and Towns:
City of Tucson
City of South Tucson
Town of Marana
Town of Oro Valley
Town of Sahuarita

3,377,401,416
23,716,054
435,484,019
592,761,968
200,123,048

209,071,010
None
None
None
None

1.2639
2.7640
0.0000
0.0000
0.0000

(a) Includes general obligation bonds outstanding. Does not include outstanding principal amount of various cities
and towns improvement districts’ bonded debt and outstanding principal amount of various County
improvement districts’ bonded debt, as the indebtedness of these districts is presently being paid from special
assessments levied against property owners residing within the various improvement districts. Also does not
include various fire districts.
Also does not include the obligation of the Central Arizona Water Conservation District (“CAWCD”) to the
United States of America, Department of the Interior, for repayment of certain capital costs for construction of
the Central Arizona Project (“CAP”), a major reclamation project that has been substantially completed by the
Department of the Interior. The obligation is evidenced by a master contract between CAWCD and the
Department of the Interior. In April 2003, the United States and CAWCD agreed to settle litigation over the
amount of the construction cost repayment obligation, the amount of the respective obligations for payment of
the operation, maintenance and replacement costs and the application of certain revenues and credits against
such obligations and costs. Under the agreement, CAWCD’s obligation for substantially all of the CAP features
that have been constructed so far will be set at $1.646 billion, which amount assumes (but does not mandate)
that the United States will acquire a total of 667,724 acre feet of CAP water for federal purposes. The United
States will complete unfinished CAP construction work related to the water supply system and regulatory
storage stages of CAP at no additional cost to CAWCD. Of the $1.646 billion repayment obligation, 73% will
be interest bearing and the remaining 27% will be non-interest bearing. These percentages will be fixed for the
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(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

entire 50-year repayment period, which commenced October l, 1993. CAWCD is a multi-county water
conservation district having boundaries coterminous with the exterior boundaries of Maricopa, Pima and Pinal
Counties. It was formed for the express purpose of paying administrative costs and expenses of the CAP and to
assist in the repayment to the United States of the CAP capital costs. Repayment will be made from a
combination of power revenues, subcontract revenues (i.e., agreements with municipal, industrial and
agricultural water users for delivery of CAP water) and a tax levy against all taxable property within CAWCD’s
boundaries. At the date of this Official Statement, the tax levy is limited to fourteen cents per $100 of secondary
assessed valuation, of which twelve cents is being currently levied. (See Arizona Revised Statutes, Sections 483715 and 48-3715.02.) There can be no assurance that such levy limit will not be increased or removed at any
time during the life of the contract.
The County's total tax rate shown includes the County’s primary and secondary debt service tax rates, the State
equalization tax rate of $0.4717, the $0.3460 tax rate of the Free Library District, the $0.1000 tax rate of the
Central Arizona Project and the $0.0447 tax rate of the Fire District Assistance Tax.
The boundaries of the Pima County Flood Control District are coterminous with those of the County; however,
the Flood Control District only levies taxes on real property.
The tax rate shown is a weighted average based on each jurisdiction's proportionate amount of secondary
assessed valuation.
The combined tax rate includes the tax rate for debt service payments, which is based on the secondary assessed
valuation of the entity, and the tax rate for all other purposes such as maintenance and operation and capital
outlay, which is based on the primary assessed valuation of the municipality or school district.
The following table lists general obligation bonds authorized but unissued for the County and jurisdictions
within the County.

Jurisdiction
Pima County
Amphitheater Unified School District No. 10
Catalina Foothills Unified School District No. 16
Marana Unified School District No. 6
Sahuarita Unified School District No. 30
Sunnyside Unified School District No. 12

Authorized But Unissued
General Obligation Bonds
$28,681,000
81,000,000
6,075,000
16,825000
1,650,000
52,650,000

(g) Additional general obligation bonds may be authorized by these and other jurisdictions within the County at
future elections.
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Net Direct and Overlapping General Obligation Bonded Debt Ratios
The County’s direct and overlapping general obligation bonded debt is shown below on a per capita basis
and as a percent of the County's net secondary assessed valuation and estimated actual valuation.
Per Capita Net
Debt (Pop. @
990,380)(a)
Net Direct General Obligation Bonded Debt
($505,865,000)
Net Direct and Overlapping General
Obligation
Bonded Debt ($1,335,866,010)

As Percent of County's 2012-13
Secondary Assessed
Est. Actual
Valuation
Valuation
($8,171,211,922)
($67,389,331,666)

$510.78

6.19%

0.75%

$1,348.84

16.35%

1.98%

(a) Source: U.S. Census Bureau.
Street and Highway Revenue Bonded Debt Outstanding
The following chart indicates the outstanding street and highway bonds of the County.
Date of
Original
Issue
Amount
Purpose
1-15-03
35,000,000
Street & Highway Improvements
5-01-05
51,200,000
Street & Highway Improvements
1-01-07
21,000,000
Street & Highway Improvements
2-15-08
25,000,000
Street & Highway Improvements
12-02-09
23,420,000
Street & Highway Improvements/ Refunding
05-30-12
32,945,000
Street & Highway Improvements/ Refunding
Total Street and Highway Revenue Bonds Outstanding

Maturity
Dates
7-1-04/13
7-1-09/20
7-1-09/22
7-1-09/22
7-1-13/24
7-1-13/27

Remaining
Balance
Outstanding
$2,670,000
36,865,000
17,770,000
24,400,000
23,420,000
32,945,000
$138,070,000

Sewer Revenue Debt Outstanding
The following table lists the outstanding sewer revenue bonds, loans and obligations of the County that
have a lien on the revenues of the County’s wastewater system.
Date of
Original
Issue
Amount
Purpose
05-01-04
$25,770,000
Refunding
05-11-04
19,967,331
Sewer Improvements (a)(b)
01-01-07
50,000,000
Sewer Improvements
05-01-08
75,000,000
Sewer Improvements
05-06-09
18,940,000
Sewer Improvements
10-09-09
10,002,383
Sewer Improvements (a)
06-17-10
165,000,000
Sewer Improvements
03-30-11
43,625,000
Refunding
12-13-11
189,160,000
Sewer Improvements
12-06-12
128,795,000
Sewer Improvements
Total Sewer Revenue Bonds, Loans and Obligations Outstanding

Remaining
Maturity Dates
7-1-05/15
7-1-05/24
7-1-07/26
7-1-09/23
7-1-10/24
7-1-10/24
7-1-14/25
7-1-12/16
7-1-12/16
7-1-13/27

Balance
Outstanding
$10,405,000
14,542,414
38,770,000
73,580,000
16,715,000
6,626,732
165,000,000
29,840,000
183,935,000
128,795,000
$668,209,146

(a) Represents funds borrowed under separate Loan Agreements with the Water Infrastructure Finance Authority of
Arizona (“WIFA”).
(b) May 11, 2004, the County entered into certain Loan Agreements with WIFA totaling $18,015,219. In
September 2005, the County amended those Loan Agreements and added an additional $1,952,112.
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Lease, Lease-Purchase and Purchase Agreements
The County has one lease purchase agreement outstanding. The County department benefited by the
agreement and the scheduled payments on the agreement over the past five fiscal years appears below.
County Department
Clerk of Superior Court
Environmental Quality
Fiscal Year Total

2007-08
$82
$82

Fiscal Year (in Thousands)
2008-09
2009-10
2010-11
$131
$111
$37
$131
$111
$37

2011-12
$298
$298

Source: Pima County Finance and Risk Management Department.
Certificates of Participation
The following table indicates the outstanding and to be outstanding certificates of participation of the
County.
Date of
Original
Issue
Amount
Purpose
09-01-99
$ 4,875,000
Refunding
10-01-03
27,525,000
Refunding
05-01-07
30,320,000
New Money
02-04-10
20,000,000
New Money
05-22-13
92,880,000
New Money & Refunding
Total Certificates of Participation Outstanding

Original
Maturity
Dates
1-1-13/14
1-1-05/18
7-1-08/22
6-1-11/19
12-1-13/22

Remaining
Balance
Outstanding
$ 1,220,000
12,335,000
22,505,000
16,225,000
92,880,000
$145,165,000

Retirement Plans
The County contributes to four separate defined benefit pension plans for the benefit of all full-time
employees and elected officials. Please refer to “Note 9 - Retirement Plans” of Appendix F hereto for a more
detailed description of these plans and the County contributions to the various plans.
The Arizona State Retirement System (“ASRS”), a cost-sharing, multiple employer defined benefit plan,
has reported increases in its unfunded liabilities. The most recent annual reports for the ASRS may be accessed at:
https://www.azasrs.gov/web/FinancialReports.do. The effect of the increase in ASRS’ unfunded liabilities on the
County, or on the County’s and its employees’ future annual contribution to ASRS, are projected to increase in
future years.
The board for the ASRS has adopted contribution rates for fiscal years 2012 and 2013. For the year ended
June 30, 2012, active plan members were required by statute to contribute at the actuarially determined rate of 10.74
percent (10.50 percent retirement and 0.24 percent long-term disability) of the members’ annual covered payroll.
The County was also required by statute to contribute at the actuarially determined rate of 10.74 percent (9.87
percent for retirement, 0.63 percent for health insurance premium, and 0.24 percent long-term disability) of the
members’ annual covered payroll. For fiscal year 2013, the rate, including retirement and long-term disability, was
increased to 11.14 percent for the County and to 11.14 percent for employees.
Legislation enacted by the State in 2012 made changes to how ASRS operates, effective July 1, 2011,
which includes requiring employers to pay an alternative contribution rate for retired employees of ASRS that return
to work, changing the age at which an employee can retire without penalty based upon years of service, limiting
permanent increases in retirement benefits and establishing a study committee that will review the feasibility and
cost to changing the current defined benefit plan to a defined contribution plan.
The ASRS has reported increases in its unfunded liabilities. The effect of the increase in the ASRS’
unfunded liabilities on the County, or on the County’s and its employees’ future annual contribution to the ASRS,
are projected to increase in future years.
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The Arizona Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (“PSPRS”), an agent multiple-employer defined
benefit plan that covers public safety personnel who are regularly assigned to hazardous duties, for which the
Arizona State Legislature establishes and may amend active plan members’ contribution rate, has reported increases
in its unfunded liabilities.
The most recent annual reports for the PSPRS may be assessed at
http://www.psprs.com/sys_psprs/ Annual Reports/cato_annual_rpts_psprs.htm. The effect of the increase in the
PSPRS’s unfunded liabilities is expected to result in increased contributions by the County and its employees,
however the specific impact on the County, or on the County’s and its employees’ future annual contributions to the
PSPRS, cannot be determined at this time.
The Corrections Officers Retirement Plan (“CORP”), an agent multiple-employer defined benefit plan that
covers certain County employees whose primary duties require direct inmate contact, for which the Arizona State
Legislature establishes and may amend active plan members’ and the County’s contribution rates, has reported
increases in its unfunded liabilities. The most recent annual reports for the EORP may be accessed at:
http://www.psprs.com/sys_eorp/Annual reports/cato_Annual_rpts_CORP.htm. The effect of the increase in the
EORP’s unfunded liabilities is expected to result in increased contributions by the County and its employees,
however the specific impact on the County, or on the County’s and its employees’ future annual contributions to the
EORP, cannot be determined at this time.
For the year ended June 30, 2012, active PSPRS members were required by statute to contribute 8.65
percent of the members’ annual covered payroll, and the County was required to contribute at the actuarially
determined rate of 24.24 percent, the aggregate of which is the actuarially required amount. As allowed by statute,
the County contributed 3.65 percent of the members’ required contribution, with the members contributing 5.00
percent. The health insurance premium portion of the contribution was set at 1.83 percent of covered payroll.
Active CORP members were required by statues to contribute 8.41 percent of the members’ annual covered payroll,
and the County was required to contribute at the actuarially determined rate of 9.38 percent, the aggregate of which
is the actuarially required amount. The health insurance premium portion of the contribution rate was actuarially set
at 1.30 percent of covered payroll.
The Elected Officials Retirement Plan (EORP) (and the PSPRS as it relates to County Attorney
Investigators) are relatively insignificant to the County’s financial picture.
New Reporting Requirements. Government Accounting Standards Board adopted Statement Number 68,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions (“GASB 68”), which, beginning with fiscal years starting after
June 15, 2014, requires cost-sharing employers to report their “proportionate share” of the plan’s net pension
liability in their government-wide financial statements. GASB 68 will also require that the cost-sharing employer’s
pension expense component include its proportionate share of the plan’s pension expense, the net effect of annual
changes in the employer’s proportionate share and the annual differences between the employer’s actual
contributions and its proportionate share. The new reporting requirements imposed by GASB 68 will change the
financial statements of the County, but what the specific effect will be is unknown at this time.
Other Post Employment Benefits
In fiscal year 2007-08, the County implemented Government Accounting Standards Board Statement
Number 45, Accounting by Employers for Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions (“GASB 45”), which
requires reporting the actuarially accrued cost of post-employment benefits, other than pension benefits (“OPEB”),
such as health and life insurance for current and future retirees. Plan benefits covered by GASB 45 must be
recognized as current costs over the working lifetime of employees, and to the extent such costs are not pre-funded,
the reporting of such costs as a financial statement liability.
The County has, in the past, offered its retired employees, their spouses and survivors continuing access to
health care insurance through the County’s health plan until they reach an age covered by Medicare, a benefit that
was discontinued effective July 1, 2010. Participating retirees were required to pay 100% of applicable health care
insurance premiums. The County makes no payments for OPEB costs for such retirees, but for fiscal year 2007-08
the County reported an implicit rate subsidy described in Note 10 of the 2007-08 Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report. For fiscal year 2008-09, the County did not report any OPEB liability because the County determined that,
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to the degree GASB 45 applied, any OPEB liability would not be material. Because the program was discontinued
as of July 1, 2010, the County had no OPEB costs for fiscal year 2009-10, or for subsequent years unless the
program is reinstituted.

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank.)
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PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF ALL
GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES (a)
(In $000)

Revenues by Source:
Property Taxes
Special Assessments
Licenses and Permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for Services
Fines and Forfeits
Interest Income
Miscellaneous
Total Revenues
Expenditures by Fund:
General
Special Revenues
Debt Service
Capital Projects
Total Expenditures
Excess of Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Premium on bonds
Proceeds of Long-Term Debt
Payment to Escrow Agent
Gain on Investment
Operating Transfers In (Out)
Capital Leases
Sale of General Fixed Assets
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Net Change in Fund Balance
Beginning Fund Balance, as restated
Changes in Reserve for Inventory
Changes in Reserve for Prepaids
Ending Fund Balance

2007-08

2008-09

Actual
2009-10

2010-11

2011-12

$381,862
556
7,710
312,634
58,890
6,480
14,218
21,752
804,102

$396,241
441
6,989
292,236
55,346
6,283
5,335
22,414
785,285

$423,443
536
7,791
296,004
60,376
8,443
4,612
17,442
818,647

$421,623
330
8,494
308,219
54,491
6,786
1,723
14,162
815,828

$407,711
245
8,155
327,939
56,881
10,249
2,286
24,796
838,262

460,537
218,307
76,764
139,539
895,147

462,276
196,677
121,091
146,334
926,378

426,361
195,926
108,092
162,306
892,685

429,182
204,612
96,484
153,203
883,481

445,798
217,139
104,324
149,612
916,873

(91,045)

(141,093)

(74,038)

(67,653)

(78,611)

1,964
175,000
312
714
27
178,017

675
109,400
4,867
876
115,818

1,909
156,955
(32,361)
445
1,118
128,066

3,276
75,000
4,708
59
83,043

7,349
109,170
(33,013)
26,010
894
1,938
112,348

86,972
230,660
(55)
$317,577

(25,275)
317,577
(55)
$292,247

54,028
292,247
4
(9)
$346,270

15,390
346,270
43
27
$361,730

33,737
361,730
(55)
(27)
$395,385

Source: Pima County Finance and Risk Management Department.
(a) This table has not been subject to any separate audit procedures.
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PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
STATEMENT OF FUND BALANCES - ALL GOVERNMENTAL
FUND TYPES (a)
(In $000)

General
Reserved
Unreserved
Designated
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
Special Revenue
Reserved
Unreserved
Designated
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
Debt Service
Reserved
Unreserved
Assigned
Capital Projects
Reserved
Unreserved
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
Total Fund Balance

2007-08

2008-09

$ 5,415
35,438
29,536
70,389

$ 4,363
35,803
40,166

4,699
77,451
82,150

Actual
2009-10 (b)

2010-11

2011-12

$4,089
522
3,093
73,837
81,541

$3,315
336
357
73,547
77,555

$2,720
333
118
77,596
80,767

5,255
81,196
4,925
91,376

2,011
82,957
15,305
3,221
(5,793)
97,701

2,011
94,567
37,978
4,368
(9,180)
129,744

1,550
105,468
10,264
16,682
(9,013)
124,951

12,395
12,395

33,842
33,842

40,868
40,868

35,903
35,903

28,298
28,298

152,643
152,643
$317,577

42
126,821
126,863
$292,247

18
124,830
1,487
52
(227)
126,160
$346,270

12
112,668
6,639
(791)
118,528
$361,730

157,688
7,234
(3,553)
161,369
$395,385

Source: Pima County Finance and Risk Management Department.
(a) This table has not been subject to any separate audit procedures.
(b) During the year ended June 30, 2010, the County adopted early implementation of the provisions of GASB
Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions. GASB Statement No. 54
establishes criteria for classifying governmental fund balances into specifically defined classifications to make
the nature and extent of the constraints placed on fund balance more transparent.
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PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN GENERAL FUND BALANCE (a)
(In $000)
2007-08

2008-09

Actual
2009-10 (b)

2010-11

2011-12

Estimated
2012-13 (c)

$268,493
2,971
148,158
32,307
5,020
3,343
8,314
468,606

$281,749
2,747
131,966
35,330
4,720
1,084
7,099
464,695

$304,441
2,738
128,927
40,356
7,011
1,198
4,868
489,539

$301,493
2,681
122,952
35,361
5,344
418
4,722
472,971

$291,647
2,696
127,029
39,117
5,213
621
12,659
478,982

$281,955
2,747
130,300
31,874
5,774
528
7,769
460,947

192,839
118,623
2,906
106,502
16,325
17,418

184,434
121,704
2,767
115,481
15,580
16,368

184,606
117,378
2,702
87,089
14,671
13,996

186,193
116,573
2,792
90,572
14,183
12,949

197,190
123,235
2,919
94,292
15,195
12,967

198,445
129,039
3,774
98,780
17,186
12,485

3,115
2,805
4
460,537

3,510
2,426
6
462,276

3,635
2,281
3
426,361

3,800
2,113
7
429,182

445,798

459,709

8,069

2,419

63,178

43,789

33,184

1,238

4,760
4,760

371
(33,013)
(32,642)

204
(22,007)
(21,803)

11
(47,786)
(47,775)

1,608
(31,580)
(29,972)

(35,228)
(35,228)

Net Change in Fund Balance

12,829

(30,223)

41,375

(3,986)

3,212

(33,990)

Beginning Fund Balance, as restated

57,560

70,389

40,166

81,541

77,555

80,767

$70,389

$40,166

$81,541

$77,555

$80,767

$46,777

Revenues by Source:
Property Taxes
Licenses and Permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for Services
Fines and Forfeits
Interest Income
Miscellaneous
Total Revenues
Expenditures:
Current
General Government
Public Safety
Health
Welfare
Culture & Recreation
Education & Econ. Opport.
Debt Service:
Principal
Interest
Miscellaneous
Total Expenditures
Excess of Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Sale of General Fixed Assets
Operating Transfers In (Out)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Ending Fund Balance

Source: Pima County Finance and Risk Management Department.
(a) This table has not been subject to any separate audit procedures.
(b) The $28 million decrease in the welfare expense line was primarily due to a $16 million refund that was
received for fiscal year 2009-10 from the Arizona Long-Term Care System (ALTCS) and Arizona Health Care
Cost Containment System (AHCCCS).
(c) Reflects estimated amounts based on actual data through February 28, 2013, as provided by the County’s
Finance and Risk Management Department. The information presented constitutes “forward looking
statements” which must be read with an abundance of caution and may not be realized or may not occur in the
future.
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APPENDIX C
FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL
[Closing Date]
Pima County, Arizona
Tucson, Arizona
Ladies and Gentlemen:
We have served as bond counsel relating to the issuance by Pima County, Arizona (the “County”) of its
$50,000,000 aggregate principal amount of bonds designated the Pima County, Arizona, General Obligation Bonds,
Series 2013A (the “Improvement Bonds”) and its $38,575,000 aggregate principal amount of bonds designated the
Pima County, Arizona, General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2013B (the “Refunding Bonds” and, together
the Improvement Bonds, the “Bonds”). The Bonds are issued pursuant to Title 35, Chapter 3, Articles 3 and 4 of the
Arizona Revised Statutes, and under the provisions of an authorizing resolution adopted by the Board of Supervisors
of the County on May 7, 2013 (the “Bond Resolution”). Capitalized terms not defined in this letter are used as
defined in the Bond Resolution.
In our capacity as bond counsel, we have examined the transcript of proceeding relating to the issuance of
the Bonds, copy of the signed and authenticated Improvement Bond of the first maturity, copy of the signed and
authenticated Refunding Bond of the first maturity, and such other documents, matters and law as we deem
necessary to render the opinion set forth in this letter.
Based on that examination and subject to the limitations stated below, we are of the opinion that under
existing law:
1.
The Bonds constitute valid and legal general obligations of the County, and the principal of and
interest on the Bonds, unless paid from other sources, are to be paid from the proceeds of the levy of ad valorem
taxes on all property subject to ad valorem taxes levied by the County, without limitation as to rate or amount to pay
the principal and interest on the Improvement Bonds, and without limitation as to rate but limited to an amount not
greater than the amount of ad valorem taxes that would have been levied to pay the bonds being refunded with
proceeds of the sale of the Refunding Bonds (the “Bonds Being Refunded”), which funds are irrevocably pledged
for the payment of principal of and interest on the Refunding Bonds when and as the same fall due, subject to the
rights of the owners of the Bonds Being Refunded to payment of the Bonds Being Refunded from the same tax
source in the event of a deficiency in the moneys and obligations issued by or guaranteed by the United State of
America which will be purchased from the proceeds of the sale of the Refunding Bonds and other moneys available
therefor and placed in trust for the purpose of making all payments when due on the Bonds Being Refunded. It is
required by law that there be levied, assessed and collected, in the same manner as other taxes of the County, an
annual tax upon such taxable property in the County sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds
when due.
2.
The interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under
Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended (the “Code”), and is not treated as an item of tax
preference for purposes of the alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations; however, portions
of the interest on the Bonds earned by certain corporations may be subject to a corporate alternative minimum tax.
The interest on the Bonds is exempt from Arizona state income tax. We express no opinion as to any other tax
consequences regarding the Bonds.
The opinion stated above are based on an analysis of existing laws, regulations, rulings and court decisions
and cover certain matters not directly addressed by such authorities. In rendering all such opinion, we assume,
without independent verification, and rely upon (i) the accuracy of the factual matters represented, warranted or
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Pima County, Arizona
[Closing Date]
Page 2
certified in the proceedings and documents we have examined and (ii) the due and legal authorization, execution and
delivery of those documents by, and the valid, binding and enforceable nature of those documents upon, any parties
other than the County.
In rendering those opinion with respect to treatment of the interest on the Bonds, we further assume and
rely upon compliance with the covenants in the proceedings and documents we have examined, including those of
the County. Failure to comply with certain of those covenants subsequent to issuance of the Bonds may cause
interest on the Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactively to their date of
issuance.
The rights of the owners of the Bonds and the enforceability of the Bonds and the Bond Resolution are
subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, arrangement, fraudulent conveyance or transfer, reorganization, moratorium and
other laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights, to the application of equitable principles, to the exercise of
judicial discretion, and to limitations on legal remedies against public entities.
The opinion rendered in this letter are stated only as of this date, and no other opinion shall be implied or
inferred as a result of anything contained in or omitted from this letter. Our engagement as bond counsel with
respect to the Bonds has concluded on this date.
Respectfully submitted,
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APPENDIX D
FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
$50,000,000
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
SERIES 2013A

$38,575,000
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS
SERIES 2013B

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING
FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROVIDING
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE INFORMATION
UNDER SECTION (b)(5) OF RULE 15c2-12

This Continuing Disclosure Undertaking (this “Undertaking”) is executed and delivered by Pima County,
Arizona (the “County”), in connection with the issuance and sale of its $50,000,000 aggregate principal amount of
Pima County, Arizona, General Obligation Bonds, Series 2013A (the “Improvement Bonds”) and its $38,575,000
aggregate principal amount of bonds designated the Pima County, Arizona, General Obligation Refunding Bonds,
Series 2013B (together with the Improvement Bonds, the “Bonds”), being issued pursuant to a resolution adopted by
the Board of Supervisors of the County on May 7, 2013 (the “Bond Resolution”).
In connection with the Bonds, the County covenants and agrees as follows:
1.
Definitions. In addition to the terms defined above, the terms set forth below shall have the
following meanings in this Undertaking, unless the context clearly otherwise requires.
“Annual Information” means the financial information and operating data set forth in Exhibit I.
“Annual Information Disclosure” means the dissemination of disclosure concerning Annual
Information and the dissemination of the Audited Financial Statements as set forth in Section 4.
“Audited Financial Statements” means the general purpose audited financial statements of the
County prepared pursuant to the standards and as described in Exhibit I.
“Commission” means the Securities and Exchange Commission.
“Dissemination Agent” means any agent designated as such in writing by the County and which
has filed with the County a written acceptance of such designation, and such agent’s successors and assigns.
“EMMA” means the Electronic Municipal Market Access system of the MSRB. Information
regarding submissions to EMMA is available at http://emma.msrb.org.
“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
“Listed Event” means the occurrence of any of the events with respect to the Bonds set forth in
Exhibit II.
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“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.
“Rule” means Rule 15c2-12 adopted by the Commission under the Exchange Act, as the same may
be amended from time to time.
“Undertaking” means the obligations at the County pursuant to Sections 4, 5, 6 and 7 hereof.
“Underwriter” includes each broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer acting as an underwriter
in the primary offering of the Bonds.
2.
Purpose of this Undertaking. This Undertaking is executed and delivered by the County as of the
date set forth below, for the benefit of the beneficial owners of the Bonds and in order to assist the Underwriter in
complying with the requirements of the Rule.
3.
CUSIP Number/Final Official Statement. The base CUSIP Number of the Bonds is 721663. The
Final Official Statement relating to the Bonds is dated May 21, 2013.
4.
Annual Information Disclosure. Subject to Section 8 of this Undertaking, the County shall
disseminate its Annual Information and its Audited Financial Statement, if any (in the form and by the dates set
forth in Exhibit I) to the MSRB through EMMA, in a format prescribed by the MSRB. The County is required to
deliver such information in such manner and by such time so that such entities receive the information on the date
specified.
If any part of the Annual Information can no longer be generated because the operations to which
it is related have been materially changed or discontinued, the County will disseminate a statement to such effect as
part of its Annual Information for the year in which such event first occurs.
If any amendment is made to this Undertaking, the Annual Information for the year in which such
amendment is made shall contain a narrative description of the reasons for such amendment and its impact on the
type of information being provided.
5.
Listed Events Disclosure. Subject to Section 8 of this Undertaking, the County hereby covenants
that it will disseminate notice of occurrence of a Listed Event to the MSRB through EMMA not later than ten
business days after the occurrence of the Listed Event, in a format prescribed by the MSRB, except that for the
events 2, 7, 10, 13 and 14, listed in Exhibit II, the County will provide such notice if it determines that such event
would be material under applicable federal securities laws.
6.
Consequences of Failure of the County to Provide Information. The County shall give notice in a
timely manner to the MSRB through EMMA, in a format prescribed by the MSRB, of any failure to provide Annual
Information Disclosure when the same is due hereunder.
In the event of a failure of the County to comply with any provision of this Undertaking, the
beneficial owner of any Bond may seek mandamus or specific performance by court order, to cause the County to
comply with its obligations under this Undertaking. A default under this Undertaking shall not be an event of
default on the Bonds or under the Bond Resolution. The sole remedy under this Undertaking in the event of any
failure of the County to comply with this Undertaking shall be an action to compel performance.
7.
Amendments; Waiver. Notwithstanding any provision of this Undertaking, the County by
certified resolutions authorizing each amendment or waiver, may amend this Undertaking, and any provision of this
Undertaking may be waived, if:
(a)
The amendment is made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a
change in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature, or status of the County, or type of
business conducted;
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(b)
This Undertaking, as amended, would have complied with the requirements of the Rule at
the time of the primary offering, after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the rule, as well as
any change in circumstances; and
(c)
The amendment does not materially impair the interests of the beneficial owners of the
Bonds, as determined by an independent counsel or other entity unaffiliated with the County.
8.
Non-Appropriation. The performance by the County of its obligations in this Undertaking shall be
subject to the annual appropriation of any funds that may be necessary to permit such performance. In the event of a
failure by the County to comply with its covenants under this Undertaking due to a failure to appropriate the
necessary funds, the County covenants to provide prompt notice of such fact to the MSRB through EMMA.
9.
Termination of Undertaking. The Undertaking of the County shall be terminated hereunder when
the County no longer has liability for any obligation relating to repayment of the Bonds or the Rule no longer
applies to the Bonds. The County shall give notice in a timely manner if this Section is applicable to the MSRB
through EMMA.
10.
Dissemination Agent. The County may, from time to time, appoint or engage a Dissemination
Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Undertaking, and may discharge any such Dissemination
Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent.
11.
Additional Information. Nothing in this Undertaking shall be deemed to prevent the County from
disseminating any other information using the means of dissemination set forth in this Undertaking or any other
means of communication, or including any other information in any Annual Information Disclosure or notice of
occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is required by this Undertaking. If the County chooses to
include any information from any document or notice of occurrence of Listed Event in addition to that which is
specifically required by this Undertaking, the County shall have no obligation under this Undertaking to update such
information or include it in any future disclosure or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event.
12.
Beneficiaries. This Undertaking has been executed in order to assist the Underwriter in complying
with the Rule; however, this Undertaking shall inure solely to the benefit of the County, the Dissemination Agent, if
any, and the beneficial owners of the Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.
13.
Recordkeeping. The County shall maintain records of all Annual Information Disclosure and
notices of occurrence of Listed Events including the content of such disclosure or notices, the names of the entities
with whom such disclosure or notices were filed and the date of filing such disclosure or notices.
14.
Assignment. The County shall not transfer its obligations in connection to the Bonds unless the
transferee agrees to assume all obligation of the County under this Undertaking or to execute an Undertaking under
the Rule.
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA

By:________________________________
Thomas Burke
Finance and Risk Management Director
Dated: [Closing Date]
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EXHIBIT I
ANNUAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
“Annual Financial Information” means quantitative financial information and operating data concerning the
operations of the County of the type set forth in the Official Statement in Appendix B (i) under the heading “Net
Secondary Assessed Valuation Comparisons and Trends” in the table entitled “Net Secondary Assessed Valuation
Comparisons” (with respect to the County only), (ii) in the table under the heading “Record of Real and Secured
Personal Property Taxes Levied and Collected,” (iii) in the table under the heading “Tax Rate Data,” (iv) in the table
under the heading “Debt Limitation,” and (v) in the table under the heading “Certificates of Participation.”
Annual Financial Information exclusive of Audited Financial Statements will be provided to the MSRB
through EMMA, no later than the first business day in February of each year, commencing February 1, 2014.
Audited Financial Statements as described below should be filed at the same time as the Annual Financial
Information. If Audited Financial Statements are not available when the Annual Financial Information is filed,
unaudited financial statements shall be included, to be followed up by Audited Financial Statements when available.
Audited Financial Statements will be prepared according to generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”), as applied to governmental units as modified by State law, Audited Financial Statements will be
provided to the MSRB through EMMA, at the same time as Annual Financial Information is filed, or if not available
when such Annual Financial Information is filed, within 30 days after availability to the County.
If any change is made to the Annual Financial Information as permitted by Section 4 of this Undertaking,
the County will disseminate a notice of such change as required by Section 4, including changes in fiscal year or
GAAP.
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EXHIBIT II
EVENTS FOR WHICH NOTICE OF OCCURRENCE
OF LISTED EVENTS IS REQUIRED
1.

Principal and interest payment delinquencies;

2.

Non-payment related defaults, if material;

3.

Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;

4.

Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;

5.

Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

6.

Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final determinations of
taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations
with respect to the tax status of the security, or other material events affecting the tax status of the security;

7.

Modifications to rights of security holders, if material;

8.

Bond calls, if material, and tender offers;

9.

Defeasances;

10.

Release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of securities, if material;

11.

Rating changes;

12.

Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the County;

Note: for the purposes of the event identified in paragraph 12, the event is considered to occur when any of
the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the County in a proceeding
under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under State or federal law in which a court or
governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the County, or if
such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governmental body and officials or officers in possession
but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a
plan of reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or
jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the County.
13.

The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the County or the sale of all or
substantially all of the assets of the County, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a
definitive agreement to undertake such action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any
such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; and

14.

Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if material.

D-5

(THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)

APPENDIX E

EXCERPTS FROM
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
JUNE 30, 2012
The following are excerpts from the County’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2012. The County has not requested the State of Arizona Auditor General to perform any review of the
County’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report subsequent to June 30, 2012. These are the most recent audited
financial statements available to the County. These financial statements are not current and may not represent the
current financial position of the County.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
Members of the Arizona State Legislature
The Board of Supervisors of
Pima County, Arizona
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities,
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and aggregate remaining fund information
of Pima County as of and for the year ended June 30, 2012, which collectively comprise the County’s basic
financial statements as listed in the table of contents. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
County’s management. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our
audit. We did not audit the financial statements of certain departments, one major fund, and one component
unit, which account for the following percentages of the assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses or
expenditures of the opinion units affected:
Opinion Unit/Department
Government-Wide Statements
Governmental Activities:
Stadium District
School Reserve Fund
Self-Insurance Trust
Business-Type Activities:
Regional Wastewater Reclamation Department
Development Services
Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units:
Southwestern Fair Commission
Fund Statements
Major Fund:
Regional Wastewater Reclamation Department
Enterprise Fund
Aggregate Remaining Fund Information:
Stadium District
School Reserve Fund
Development Services
Self-Insurance Trust

Assets

Liabilities

Revenues

Expenses/
Expenditures

1.47%
0.10%
2.74%

2.06%
0.03%
4.30%

0.36%
0.46%
0.14%

0.90%
0.52%
0.00%

98.98%
0.29%

99.84%
0.11%

68.83%
2.71%

63.51%
3.73%

99.84%

100.00%

97.82%

98.82%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

0.43%
0.34%
0.60%
10.22%

0.37%
0.11%
0.51%
25.29%

1.00%
1.26%
2.10%
6.85%

1.81%
1.43%
2.68%
3.83%

Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose reports thereon have been furnished to us,
and our opinions, insofar as they relate to the amounts included for those entities, are based solely on the
reports of the other auditors.
We conducted our audit in accordance with U.S. generally accepted auditing standards and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General
of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
2910 NORTH 44
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examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit and the reports of
the other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of the other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities,
business-type activities, aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and aggregate
remaining fund information of Pima County as of June 30, 2012, and the respective changes in financial
position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles require that the Management’s Discussion and Analysis on
pages 11 through 29, the Budgetary Comparison Schedule on pages 81 and 82, and the Schedule of Agent
Retirement Plans’ Funding Progress on page 83 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain
limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
auditing standards, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquires, the
basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do
not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the County’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual fund statements and
schedules and the introductory and statistical sections listed in the table of contents are presented for
purposes of additional analysis and are not required parts of the basic financial statements. Such information is
the responsibility of the County’s management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The combining and individual
fund statements and schedules have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
U.S. generally accepted auditing standards by us and the other auditors. In our opinion, based on our audit,
the procedures performed as described previously, and the reports of the other auditors, the combining and
individual fund statements and schedules are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic
financial statements as a whole. The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express
an opinion or provide any assurance on them.
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we will also issue our report on our consideration of the
County’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters at a future date. The purpose of that
report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit.

Debbie Davenport
Auditor General
December 18, 2012

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
This section of Pima County’s comprehensive annual financial report presents a discussion and analysis
of the County’s financial performance during the year ended June 30, 2012 and should be read in
conjunction with the County’s basic financial statements in the following sections. All dollar amounts are
expressed in thousands (000’s) unless otherwise noted.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
•

At June 30, 2012, the net position for the County increased $125 million from the prior year.
Increases were experienced in all net asset categories, with a $98 million increase in net investment in
capital assets, an increase of $1 million in restricted net position and an increase of $26 million in
unrestricted net position.

•

Assets of the County exceeded its liabilities by $2,274, an increase of 5.8% from the prior year. Of
this amount, $223,785 is available for general government expenditures (unrestricted net position).
Unrestricted net position increased by $25,731 from last year, or approximately 13%.

•

$240,165 is restricted for specific purposes (restricted net position), and $1,810 is net investment in
capital assets.

The chart below presents the composition of restricted and unrestricted net position for the current and
prior years:
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●

General Fund revenues increased by $6,011 from the prior year while expenditures increased by
$16,616.

•

The General Fund unassigned fund balance increased to $77,596, from $73,547 in the prior year. The
unassigned fund balances comprise 96% of the total fund balance of $80,767.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the County's basic financial
statements. The County's basic financial statements consist of three components: (1) Government-wide
statements, (2) Fund statements, and (3) Notes. Required supplementary information is included in
addition to the basic financial statements.
Government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of
County finances in a manner similar to a private-sector business.
The statement of net position presents information on all County assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and
deferred inflows with the difference between them reported as net position. Over time, increases or
decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the County is
improving or deteriorating.
The statement of activities presents information showing how net position changed during the most recent
fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the
change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported
12

in this statement for some items that will result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected
taxes and earned but unused vacation or sick leave).
Both of these government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the County that are
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other
functions that are intended to recover all or a portion of their costs through user fees and charges
(business-type activities). The governmental activities of the County include general government, public
safety, highways and streets, sanitation, health, welfare, culture and recreation, and education and
economic opportunity. The business-type activities of the County include Pima Health System &
Services, Regional Wastewater Reclamation, Development Services, and the County’s downtown parking
garages.
Discretely presented component units are included in the basic financial statements. They consist of two
legally separate entities for which the County is financially accountable. The County reports the
Southwestern Fair Commission, which operates the County Fairgrounds and the annual Pima County
Fair, as a discretely presented component unit. The Pima County Sports and Tourism Authority (S&TA)
is also reported as a discrete component unit. S&TA is a nonprofit municipal corporation established to
promote professional and amateur sports events and other suitable activities for the benefit of the public.
The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 31-33.

Fund financial statements are groupings of related accounts that are used to maintain control over
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The County, like other state and
local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate finance-related legal compliance with
applicable State statutes and Federal Office of Management and Budget budgeting guidelines. All of the
funds can be divided into three categories: (1) governmental funds, (2) proprietary funds, and (3)
fiduciary funds.
Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental
activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial
statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of
expendable resources, as well as on balances of expendable resources available at the end of the fiscal
year. Such information may be useful in evaluating the County’s near-term financing requirements.
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between
governmental funds and governmental activities.
The County maintains fifteen individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the
Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and in the Governmental Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures
and Changes in Fund Balances for the General, Capital Projects and Debt Service funds which are
reported as major funds. Data from the other governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated
presentation. Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental funds is provided in the
form of combining statements.
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The governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 34-37.
statements for non-major governmental funds can be found on pages 86-89.

The combining

Proprietary funds are maintained in two ways. Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions
presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The County uses
enterprise funds to account for certain health care services, including medical and long-term health care,
sewer systems maintenance and operation, real estate-related development services, and parking garage
operations. Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs
internally among the County’s various functions. The County uses internal service funds to account for
risk management, automotive fleet maintenance and operations, printing services, telecommunications,
wireless and IT network infrastructure. Because these services predominantly benefit governmental
rather than business-type functions, most of the assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and deferred inflows
of these services have been included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial
statements.
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only
in more detail. Regional Wastewater Reclamation and Pima Health System & Services operations are
considered to be major funds of the County. Data from the other enterprise funds are combined into a
single, aggregated presentation. Similarly, the County’s internal service funds are combined into a single,
aggregated presentation in the proprietary funds financial statements. Individual fund data for the other
enterprise and internal service funds are provided in the form of combining statements.
The proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 38-41. The combining statements
for other enterprise and internal service funds can be found on pages 105-112.
Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the government.
Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources of
those funds are not available to support the County’s programs.
The fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 42-43.

Notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding
of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes can be found on
pages 46-79.
Required Supplementary Information (RSI) is presented concerning the County’s General Fund
budgetary schedule and the schedule of retirement plans’ funding progress. Required supplementary
information can be found on pages 81-83.
Combining Statements and Other Schedules referred to earlier provide information for non-major
governmental, enterprise, internal service, and fiduciary funds and are presented immediately following
the required supplementary information. Combining and individual fund statements and schedules can be
found on pages 86-116.
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
As noted earlier, net position may serve as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position over
time. County assets exceeded liabilities by $2,274 at June 30, 2012. The following table shows
condensed information for the Schedule of Assets, Liabilities and Net Position:
Table 1
Schedule of Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position
At June 30, 2012 and 2011
Governmental Activities
2012
2011
Current and other assets
Capital assets (net):
Land, buildings, equipment,
infrastructure & other assets

$596,855

$529,767

Business-type Activities
2012
2011
$246,415

$226,442

Total
2012

2011

$843,270

$756,209

1,809,998

1,718,730

1,092,477

905,710

2,902,475

2,624,440

$2,406,853

2,248,497

1,338,892

1,132,152

3,745,745

3,380,649

120,443
716,370

71,038
715,013

42,655
592,539

51,975
393,678

163,098
1,308,909

123,013
1,108,691

Total liabilities

836,813

786,051

635,194

445,653

1,472,007

1,231,704

Net position
Net investment in
capital assets

1,245,227

1,136,033

564,561

575,525

1,809,788

1,711,558

167,498
157,315

161,807
164,606

72,667
66,470

77,526
33,448

240,165
223,785

239,333
198,054

$1,570,040

$1,462,446

$703,698

$686,499

$2,273,738

$2,148,945

Total assets
Current and other liabilities
Long-term liabilities

Restricted
Unrestricted
Total net position

Assets

Current and other assets increased by $87,061 mainly due to an increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents,
$91,543.
Capital assets increased by $278,035 primarily due to the following:
•
•

An increase of $221,970 in construction in progress, with $45,340 for governmental activities and
$176,630 for business-type activities.
Capitalization of software, $20,614, resulted in a net increase in Equipment of $23,224 in the
governmental activities and an accompanying decrease of $2,799 for business-type activities.

Total liabilities for the primary government increased by $240,303. Current liabilities increased $40,085
mainly due to an overall increase in accounts payable, with accounts payable for governmental activities
increasing $47,119 and accounts payable for business-type activities increasing by $10,815.
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Net position
The largest portion of the County’s net position reflects its investment in capital assets (i.e. land,
buildings, infrastructure, and equipment), less any related outstanding debt used to acquire those assets.
As of June 30, 2012, net investment in capital assets totaled $1,809,788, comprising approximately 79.6%
of total net position. The County uses a portion of these capital assets to provide services to its citizens,
with the other portion available to its citizens for use; consequently, these assets are not available for
future spending. The $98,230 increase in capital assets, net of related debt, is primarily due to the
significant amount of capital project activity. Although the County’s investments in capital assets are
reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be
provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these
liabilities.
Unrestricted net position for the primary government increased $25,731 mainly due to an increase in
business-type activities of 99% ($33,022), specifically; the Regional Wastewater Reclamation Fund had
an increase in its unrestricted net position of 120% from $25,652 to $56,462.

The table below provides the composition of net position for the County as of June 30, 2012.

Restricted net position represent resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be
used. As of June 30, 2012, restricted net position totaled $240,165 and comprised approximately 10% of
total net position. This represents an $832 increase in restricted net position from the prior fiscal year.
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The remaining balance of the County’s net position represents unrestricted net position, which may be
used to meet the County’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. As of June 30, 2012, unrestricted
net position totaled $223,785 and comprised approximately 10% of total net position.
Governmental activities
The following table shows details of the changes in net position for governmental activities:
Table 2
Governmental Activities
Schedule of Changes in Net Position
For the Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011
2012
Program revenues:
    Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions
Total program revenues
General revenues:
   Property taxes
State-shared taxes
Investment earnings
Other general revenues
      Total general revenues

$

66,904
143,388
47,528
257,820

Variance
Amount
Percent

2011
$

60,077
136,472
65,030
261,579

$

6,827
6,916
(17,502)
(3,759)

11.4%
5.1%
-26.9%
-1.4%

394,963
116,660
3,416
43,072
558,111

416,985
111,804
2,153
33,336
564,278

(22,022)
4,856
1,263
9,736
(6,167)

-5.3%
4.3%
58.7%
29.2%
-1.1%

Total revenues

815,931

825,857

(9,926)

-1.2%

Expenses:
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Sanitation
Health
Welfare
Culture and recreation
Education and economic opportunity
Amortization
Interest on long-term debt
      Total expenses

223,005
150,349
69,183
7,224
47,248
94,409
61,900
55,126
805
24,776
734,025

218,843
146,395
73,348
6,208
36,475
90,521
67,063
56,626
(2,626)
26,079
718,932

4,162
3,954
(4,165)
1,016
10,773
3,888
(5,163)
(1,500)
3,431
(1,303)
15,093

1.9%
2.7%
-5.7%
16.4%
29.5%
4.3%
-7.7%
-2.6%
-130.7%
-5.0%
2.1%

Excess before transfers

81,906

106,925

(25,019)

-23.4%

Transfers in
Change in net position

25,688
107,594

4,650
111,575

21,038
(3,981)

452.4%
-3.6%

Ending net position

$

1,570,040
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$

1,462,446

$

107,594

7.4%

Ending net position for governmental activities increased by $107,594, a 7.4% increase. This year’s
change in net position decreased by $3,981 from last year, primarily due to a decrease in overall revenues
of $9,926 and an increase in expenses of $15,093.
Factors affecting the $9,926 decrease in revenues from governmental activities:


Revenue from capital grants and contributions decreased by $17,502 in Highway and Streets
Activity. This is primarily from a decrease in ARRA Stimulus revenue, $4,071, a decrease in
State Revenue of $6,232 and a decrease of $10,348 in Capital Contributions.

Total expenses for governmental activities were $734,025, up 2.1% or $15,093 compared to the previous
year’s total of $718,932. Factors contributing to the increase in expenses:


Health expenses increased by $10,772, of which $7,603 was related to a grant called
Communities Putting Prevention to Work which was awarded at $15 million. This grant was
predominantly awarded to funding partners in fiscal year 2012.

The increase in the Transfers in line item of $21,038 was due to an equity transfer of $26,436 from Pima
Health System & Services to Other Special Revenue Fund.
The chart below presents general and program revenues, as a percentage to total revenues. The amount
provided from each revenue source for governmental activities, as a percentage to total revenue for
governmental activities, has not changed significantly from the prior fiscal year. Property taxes,
operating grants, and state-shared taxes continue to account for approximately 72% of the County’s
revenues.

General and Program Revenues - Governmental Activities
Property taxes

50%

State-shared
taxes

Capital grants &
contributions

14%

8%
Investment
earnings

1%

Other general
revenue

Operating grants

16%

4%

Charges for
services

7%
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The chart below presents expenses by function as a percentage to total expenses by function for
governmental activities:

Each expense by function as a proportion to total expenses by function for governmental activities has not
changed significantly from the prior fiscal year. General government, public safety, and welfare account
for approximately two-thirds of the County’s total expenses.
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Business-type activities
Business-type activities, which are composed exclusively of enterprise funds, are intended to recover all
or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges. Change in net position for businesstype activities added $17,199 or 2.5% to the County's $124,793 change in total net position for the year
ended June 30, 2012. The following table shows changes in net position for business-type activities:
Table 3
Business-type Activities
Schedule of Changes in Net Position
For the Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011
2012
Program revenues:
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions
Total program revenues
General revenues:
Investment earnings
Other general revenues
      Total general revenues

$ (141,942)
(3,416)
(1,516)
(146,874)

-39.1%
-72.8%
-36.2%
-39.5%

1,001
1,903
2,904

900
2,681
3,581

101
(778)
(677)

11.2%
-29.0%
-18.9%

Total revenues

228,334

375,885

(147,551)

-39.3%

Expenses:
Regional Wastewater Reclamation
Pima Health System & Services
Development Services
Parking Garages
      Total expenses

117,774
58,773
6,912
1,988
185,447

113,495
200,305
6,982
1,538
322,320

4,279
(141,532)
(70)
450
(136,873)

3.8%
-70.7%
-1.0%
29.3%
-42.5%

Excess before transfers

42,887

53,565

(10,678)

-19.9%

Transfers in (out)

(25,688)

(4,650)

(21,038)

Change in net position

17,199

48,915

(31,716)

452.4%
-64.8%

Beginning net position

686,499

637,584

48,915

7.7%

686,499

$ 17,199

2.5%

$

221,479
1,275
2,676
225,430

703,698

$

Variance
Amount
Percent

363,421
4,691
4,192
372,304

Ending net position

$

2011

$

Key elements of the change in net position from business-type activities include:


Primarily due to the closing of the Pima Health System & Service Enterprise Fund charges for
services revenue decreased by $141,942 and Pima Heath System & Services Expenses decreased
$141,532.



The increase of $21,038 in the Transfers in (out) line is due to an equity transfer $26,436 from
Pima Health System & Services to Other Special Revenue Fund.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNTY’S FUNDS
As noted earlier, the County uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with financerelated legal requirements.

Governmental funds
The County’s general government functions are accounted for in the General, Special Revenue, Debt
Service, and Capital Project funds. Included in these funds are special districts governed by the Board of
Supervisors (i.e. Flood Control, Library and Stadium Districts). The focus of the County's governmental
funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows and balances of expendable resources.
Such information is useful in assessing the County's financing requirements. In particular, unassigned
fund balances may serve as a useful measure of a government's net resources available for spending at the
end of the fiscal year.
Major Governmental Funds
General Fund
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the County. At June 30, 2012, total fund balance of the
General Fund was $80,767.
The net change in fund balance for the General Fund was $3,212. Revenues increased by $6,011.
Property Taxes decreased by $9,846, while Intergovernmental revenues, Charges for services, and
Miscellaneous revenues increased by $15,770.


Property taxes decreased $9,846 primarily due to lower assessed property valuations with the tax
rates remaining constant.



Intergovernmental revenue increased by $4,077 due to increases in State Shared Sales Tax of
$4,093.



Service fee revenue increased by $3,756 primarily in two areas:
 Correctional Housing Revenues of $1,772
 Fees for Recording Documents of $779.



Miscellaneous earnings increased by $7,937 of which $7,917 was Other Miscellaneous Revenue
– Operating.

Expenditures for the General Fund increased by $16,616 primarily in two categories:


The net increase in General Government expenditures of $10,997:
 County Administrator expenditures increased by $5,129 primarily from a $1,586
increase in payments to other governments and agencies.


Superior Court expenditures increased by $3,463 primarily from increased
payroll costs.
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There was an increase in Public Safety expenditures of $6,663, primarily as a result of the Sheriff
Department purchasing a helicopter for $2,556, and Sheriff operations expenditures increasing
$2,935.

Capital Projects Fund
Revenues for the Capital Projects Fund decreased by $3,530 and expenditures in capital outlay decreased
by $3,591. The net change in fund balance was an increase of $42,841.


Of the decrease in revenues, $3,147, can be attributed to intergovernmental revenues; Federal
revenue decreased by $2,947 and State revenue decreased by $871.



Expenditures decreased by $3,591 in capital outlay primarily from the decrease in expenditures
relating to the construction of the Behavioral Health Pavilion, $20,506, with an increase of
$15,584 in the Emergency Communications Systems expenditures.

The fund reported a $101,129 deficiency of revenues over expenditures. A net transfer in of $65,545 and
that resulted in a net change in the fund balance of $42,841 for the Capital Projects Fund.
Debt Service Fund
The fund accounts for the accumulation of resources for and the payment of principal and interest of
general long-term debt. At June 30, 2012, the net change in fund balance was a decrease of $7,605.
Secondary tax revenues remained relatively constant with a decrease of $3,160. Expenditures, mainly as
a result of increased principal payments, increased $7,840 from last fiscal year.
Budget to Actual Comparison for the General Fund
Overall, actual revenues were more than budgeted revenues by $18,734 and actual expenditures were less
than budgeted expenditures by $45,856. No variances between the budget to actual amounts at the
departmental level were significant enough to affect the County’s ability to provide future services.

Overview of all governmental funds
At June 30, 2012, the County's governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $395,385, an
increase of $33,655 from the prior year. Approximately 16.4% of the combined fund balances, or
$65,030, constitutes unassigned fund balance, which is available to meet the County's current and future
needs.
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The following table presents the amount of revenues from various sources and increases or (decreases)
from the prior year:
Table 4
Governmental Funds
Revenues Classified by Source
For the Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011
2012
2011
Amount
Percent
Amount
Percent
Taxes
Special assessments
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fines and forfeits
Interest
Miscellaneous
Total revenues

$

$

407,711
245
8,155
327,939
56,881
10,249
2,286
24,796
838,262

48.6%
0.0%
1.0%
39.1%
6.8%
1.2%
0.3%
3.0%
100.0%

$

$

421,623
330
8,494
308,219
54,491
6,786
1,723
14,162
815,828

51.7%
0.1%
1.0%
37.8%
6.7%
0.8%
0.2%
1.7%
100.0%

Variance
Amount
Percent
$

$

(13,912)
(85)
(339)
19,720
2,390
3,463
563
10,634
22,434

-3.3%
-25.8%
-4.0%
6.4%
4.4%
51.0%
32.7%
75.1%
2.7%

The following provides an explanation of revenues by source that changed significantly from the prior
year:
•

The $19,720 increase in intergovernmental revenue was due to a $18,798 increase in Other
Governmental Funds.

•

The $13,912 decrease in tax revenue is due to a $9,846 decrease in the General Fund revenue
from decreased property values.

The following table presents expenditures by function compared to prior year amounts:
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Table 5
Governmental Funds
Expenditures by Function
For the Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011
Government Function

2012
Amount
Percent

General government
$ 236,020
Public safety
145,711
Highways and streets
33,651
Sanitation
6,317
Health
46,672
Welfare
94,360
Culture and recreation
52,103
Education and economic opportunity
47,798
Capital outlay
149,612
Debt service:
- Principal
78,688
- Interest
24,762
- Miscellaneous
1,179
Total expenditures
$ 916,873

2011
Amount
Percent

25.7%
15.9%
3.7%
0.7%
5.1%
10.3%
5.7%
5.2%
16.3%

$ 223,611
136,709
34,614
5,375
36,511
90,572
49,986
50,432
153,203

25.3%
15.5%
3.9%
0.6%
4.1%
10.3%
5.7%
5.7%
17.3%

8.6%
2.7%
0.1%
100.0%

76,361
26,086
21
$ 883,481

8.6%
3.0%
0.0%
100.0%

Variance
Amount
Percent
$

$

12,409
9,002
(963)
942
10,161
3,788
2,117
(2,634)
(3,591)

5.5%
6.6%
-2.8%
17.5%
27.8%
4.2%
4.2%
-5.2%
-2.3%

2,327
3.0%
(1,324)
-5.1%
1,158 5514.3%
33,392
3.8%

Total expenditures in governmental funds increased during the year by $33,392, primarily due to the
following:
•

Health expenditures increased by $10,161 primarily from the Communities Putting Prevention to
Work grant.

•

Public safety expenditures increased by $9,002 due to the Sheriff’s Department purchase of a
helicopter, $2,556.

•

General Government expenditures increased by $12,409 due to a $10,997 increase in the general
fund.

Proprietary funds
The County’s proprietary fund functions are contained in the enterprise and internal service funds. The
enterprise funds of the County are Pima Health System & Services, Regional Wastewater Reclamation,
Development Services, and Parking Garages. Pima Health System & Services contract with the Arizona
Health Care Cost Containment System (AHCCCS) terminated on September 30, 2011. As a result, the
fund was closed and year-end balances were transferred to the other governmental funds as of June 30,
2012. These business-type activities are accounted for in a similar fashion to private-sector businesses
and the costs for services provided are expected to be covered either fully or in part by generated
revenues, which include fees charged to external users.
The internal service funds consist of the Self-Insurance Trust Fund and Other Internal Service Funds,
which are comprised of multiple smaller funds consisting of Fleet Services, Print Shop, and
Wireless/Telecommunications. The change in net position for all Internal Service Funds was $10,128,
generated primarily from the operations of the Self Insurance Trust Fund.
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The following table presents a comparison of this year’s enterprise fund activities with the prior year:

Table 6
Enterprise Funds
Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For the Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011
2012
Operating revenues:
Net patient services
Charges for services
Other
Total net operating revenues

$

Operating expenses:
Employee compensation
Medical claims
Operating supplies and services
Utilities
Sludge and refuse disposal
Repair and maintenance
Insurance premiums
General and administrative
Consultants and professional services
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses

2011

52,018
153,128
1,387
206,533

$

205,814
137,838
2,821
346,473

$ (153,796)
15,290
(1,434)
(139,940)

-74.7%
11.1%
-50.8%
-40.4%

67,469
157,607
8,986
5,845
1,438
7,611

-22.0%
-75.2%
13.0%
-100.0%
8.0%
-10.4%
100.0%
22.4%
-32.9%
11.9%
-43.3%

1,553
6,819
23,318
5,471
35,819
174,891

19,058
8,157
32,022
308,193

(14,812)
(118,511)
1,172
(5,845)
115
(792)
4,260
(2,686)
3,797
(133,302)

Operating gain (loss)

31,642

38,280

(6,638)

-17.3%

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Intergovernmental revenue
Investment earnings
Sewer connection fees
Interest expense
Loss on disposal of capital assets
Amortization of deferred charges
Claim and judgment contingency losses
Premium tax
Total nonoperating revenues

1,380
1,001
16,507
(6,539)
25
(941)
(3,080)
(1,112)
7,241

4,856
952
19,624
(9,567)
(596)
(750)
(4,099)
10,420

(3,476)
49
(3,117)
3,028
621
(191)
(3,080)
2,987
(3,179)

-71.6%
5.1%
-15.9%
-31.7%
-104.2%
25.5%
100.0%
-72.9%
-30.5%

Income (loss) before contributions
and transfers

38,883

48,700

(9,817)

-20.2%

2,571
1,475
(27,163)
15,766

4,027
866
(5,516)
48,077

(1,456)
609
(21,647)
$ (32,311)

-36.2%
70.3%
392.4%
-67.2%

Capital contributions
Transfers in
Transfers (out)
Change in net position

52,657
39,096
10,158

Variance
Amount
Percent

$

$

While net patient revenues from Pima Health System & Services decreased by $153,796, revenues
continued to exceed operating expenses, generating an operating gain for all enterprise funds this year.
Regional Wastewater Reclamation contributed approximately 96%, or $30,476 to the $31,642 operating
gain for all enterprise funds.
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•

Charges for service revenue increased by $15,290 due primarily to a $9,853 increase in Regional
Wastewater Reclamation Sewer utility service fees.

•

Medical claims expense decreased $118,511 and employee compensation expense decreased
$14,812 due to the termination of the AHCCCS contract with Pima Health System & Services

•

Transfers in and transfers out are significantly more this year. This fiscal year, the transfer out of
$26,436 from Pima Health System & Services to Other Special Revenue was due to the
movement of equity from the Enterprise Fund to a new Other Special Revenue Fund. Last fiscal
year, Pima Health System & Services transferred out $4,596 as an equity transfer to the General
fund.

The chart below presents the revenues and expenses for business-type activities:

Capital Assets and Debt Administration
Capital Assets
The County’s total net investment in capital assets as of June 30, 2012 amounted to $2,902 (net of
accumulated depreciation), an increase of 10.6% ($278,035). Of this amount, $91,268 (32.8%) came
from governmental activities and $186,767 (67.2%) came from business-type activities. The County’s
investment in capital assets consists of land, buildings, sewage conveyance systems, infrastructure,
equipment, and construction in progress.
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Capital assets for the governmental and business-type activities are presented below to illustrate changes
from the prior year:
Table 7
Governmental and Business-type Activities
Capital Assets
For the Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011
Governmental Activities
2012
2011
Land
Construction in progress
Buildings and improvements
Infrastructure
Sewage conveyance systems
Equipment
Total

$

467,661 $
248,317
422,879
607,049

Business-type Activities
2012
2011

448,790 $
202,977
432,149
593,946

15,409 $
342,111
212,446

442,803
64,092
40,868
79,708
$ 1,809,998 $ 1,718,730 $ 1,092,477 $

Total
2012

2011

15,409 $
165,481
207,081

483,070 $
464,199
590,428
368,458
635,325
639,230
607,049
593,946
435,232
442,803
435,232
82,507
143,800
123,375
905,710 $ 2,902,475 $ 2,624,440

Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following:
Governmental activities
• Construction in progress increased $45,340 or 22.3% compared to last fiscal year. Current major
projects in progress include:
o the Regional Public Safety Communication System
o Pavement Preservation Program
o Magee Rd Cortaro Farms Rd: Thornydale Rd to Mona Lisa
o Justice Court/Municipal Court Complex
o Magee Rd, Cortaro Farms Rd, Mona Lisa Rd to La Canada
•

Equipment acquisitions increased $23,224, or 56.8%, due to the capitalization of the County’s
new financial reporting system, $20,614 and a helicopter by the Sheriff department for $2,590.

Business-type activities
• Construction in progress increased approximately $176,630, or 106.7%, mainly due to Regional
Optimization Master Planning (ROMP) activities.
The County’s infrastructure assets are recorded at historical cost and estimated historical cost in the
government-wide financial statements. Additional information regarding the County’s capital assets can
be found in Note 5 of the financial statements on pages 58-60.
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Long-term Debt
Significant, comparative long-term debt entered into during the last two fiscal years is presented below:
Table 8
Long-Term Debt
For the Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011
2012
Bonds issued (at face value):
General Obligation
$
76,225
Street and Highway Revenue (Transportation)
32,945
Sewer Revenue
Sewer System Revenue Obligations
189,160
Total

$

2011
$75,000
43,625

298,330

$ 118,625

During the year, $76,225 of General Obligation Bonds were issued, which included $16,225 of General
Obligations bonds issued to refund the 2003 Series (maturities 7/1/2014 through 7/1/2017) and $60,000 of
new debt issued for the purpose of funding various capital projects in the County.
In addition, the County issued $32,945 in Street and Highway Revenue Bonds. Of the amount issued
$18,425 was used for the improvement, construction, and reconstruction of streets and highways, $14,520
was used to partially refund the 2003 Series (maturities 7/1/2014 through 7/1/2018).
$189,160 of Sewer System Revenue Obligations were issued to finance additions and improvements to
the sewage and conveyance systems.
The most recent ratings for Pima County’s bonds and COPs are:

Table 9
Credit Ratings
Standard & Poor's
Rating
Date
Certificate of Participation (COPs)
General Obligation
Street and Highway Revenue
Sewer Bonds*
Sewer Revenue Obligations

A+
AAAA
AAA+

May-2012
Apr-2012
Apr-2012
Nov-2012
Nov-2012

Fitch Ratings
Rating
Date
AAAA
AA
AA
AA-

Apr-2012
Apr-2012
Apr-2012
Nov-2012
Nov-2012

* This excludes the 2012A Sewer Refunding bonds which have ratings equal to the Obligations
The State constitution limits the amount of general obligation debt a governmental entity may issue to 6%
of its net assessed valuation without voter approval. However, Pima County has voter approval for
general obligation debt up to 15%. The current debt limitation for Pima County is $1,267,242, which is
significantly in excess of Pima County’s outstanding general obligation debt.
Additional information regarding the County’s debt can be found in Note 7 of the financial statements on
Pages 63-70
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Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget
Primary property taxes
The recession continues to impact the local economy, primarily evident by decreasing market values of
existing property. The primary net assessed value for fiscal year 2012-13 decreased $236 million or
2.84%. The contraction of the property tax base is expected to continue into fiscal year 2015-16 with the
net assessed value projected to decline by more than 6%.
The tax rate for fiscal year 2012-13 will remain constant, resulting in a levy that is $8 million less than
fiscal year 2011-12.
State shared revenues
An indication of increased consumer confidence is evident by positive projections of state shared sales tax
revenue. Current projections indicate a $7.4 million increase in fiscal year 2012-13. Even with this
positive projection however, it is still $13,286 less than the County received at its peak in fiscal year
2006-07.
Other revenues
General government revenues are expected to decrease by almost $6 million, primarily from $1 million
decrease from Federal payments in lieu of property taxes and $4.9 million less from grant, enterprise and
special revenue funds for central administrative support services.
University of Arizona Medical Center – South Campus
A two year agreement with the Arizona Board of Regents (ABOR) on behalf of the University Of
Arizona College Of Medicine provides funding for the University of Arizona Medical Center – South
Campus: $20 million in fiscal year 2010-11, $15 million in fiscal year 2011-12. The Board of
Supervisor’s have approved a second two year contract with ABOR with an annual funding of $15
million for each fiscal year.

Request for Information
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the County’s finances. Any questions
concerning the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should
be addressed to the Finance and Risk Management Department, 130 W. Congress, 6th Floor, Tucson, AZ,
85701.
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Basic Financial Statements

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 1

(in thousands)

Governmental
Activities
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Property taxes receivable (net)
Interest receivable
Internal balances
Due from other governments
Accounts receivable (net)
Inventories
Prepaids
Other assets
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans receivable
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Capital assets being depreciated (net):
Buildings and improvements
Sewage conveyance system
Equipment
Infrastructure

$

Primary Government
Business-type
Activities

504,113 $
14,456
209
(3,133)
62,462
6,499
2,476
3,513
3,206

107,152

2,326
728

112,242

114,568
728

467,661
248,317

15,409
342,111

483,070
590,428

422,879

212,446
442,803
79,708

635,325
442,803
143,800
607,049

2,306

2,406,853

1,338,892

3,745,745

5,629

65,710

35,317
365

205

2,133

101,027
365
1,991
52,382
3
2,484
4,846

74,713
641,657
836,813

26,995
565,544
635,194

101,708
1,207,201
1,472,007

232

1,245,227

564,561

1,809,788

2,972

64,092
607,049

Total assets
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Interest payable
Contract retentions
Employee compensation
Due to other governments
Deposits and rebates
Deferred revenues
Noncurrent liabilities:
Due within one year
Due in more than one year
Total liabilities

1,991
47,542
3
2,484
2,713

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Facilities, justice, library, tax stabilization,
and community development
Highways and streets
Debt service
Capital projects
Regional wastewater
Healthcare
Unrestricted
Total net position

95
3,133

$

66,470
703,698

611,265
14,456
304

$

62,462
21,842
5,782
3,524
8,339

15,343
3,306
11
5,133

22,538
31,680
18,449

30,224
1,360
157,315
1,570,040

$

4,840

103,592
32,322

$

Component
Units

Total

$

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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103,592
32,322
22,538
61,904
18,449
1,360
223,785
2,273,738

1,056

5
36
60

1,500

666
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$

2,425
5,397

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012
(in thousands)

Program Revenues

Functions/Programs
Primary government:
Governmental activities:
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Sanitation
Health
Welfare
Culture and recreation
Education and economic opportunity
Amortization - unallocated
Interest on long-term debt
Total governmental activities
Business-type activities:
Regional Wastewater Reclamation
Pima Health System & Services
Development Services
Parking Garages
Total business-type activities
Total primary government

Expenses

$

$

Component units:
Sports & Tourism Authority
Southwestern Fair Commission
Total component units

$
$

223,005
150,349
69,183
7,224
47,248
94,409
61,900
55,126
805
24,776
734,025
117,774
58,773
6,912
1,988
185,447
919,472

59
4,959
5,018

Operating
Grants and
Contributions

Charges for
Services

$

$

$
$

30,444
12,047
5,059
3,487
12,605
2,254
1,008

28,533
9,303
51,567
1,133
24,830
68
403
27,551

66,904

143,388

154,601
58,722
6,073
2,083
221,479
288,383

20
4,940
4,960

General revenues:
Property taxes, levied for general purposes
Property taxes, levied for regional flood control district
Property taxes, levied for library district
Property taxes, levied for debt service
Hotel/motel taxes, levied for sports facility and tourism
Other taxes, levied for stadium district
Unrestricted share of state sales tax
Unrestricted share of state vehicle license tax
Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs
Interest and penalties on delinquent taxes
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Transfers
Total general revenues and transfers
Change in net position
Net position at beginning of year
Net position at end of year

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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$

Capital
Grants and
Contributions

$

261
2,325

47,528
2,571

1,275

$

$
$

1,275
144,663

1
120
121

4,130
5,561
35,251

105

$

2,676
50,204

Exhibit A - 2

Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Position

Governmental
Activities

$

Primary Government
Business-type
Activities

(159,898)
(123,438)
22,694
(2,604)
(9,813)
(94,341)
(58,982)
(24,242)
(805)
(24,776)
(476,205)

$

$

(476,205)

Component
Units

Total

39,398
1,224
(734)
95
39,983
39,983

(159,898)
(123,438)
22,694
(2,604)
(9,813)
(94,341)
(58,982)
(24,242)
(805)
(24,776)
(476,205)

Functions/Programs
Primary government:
Governmental activities:
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Sanitation
Health
Welfare
Culture and recreation
Education and economic opportunity
Amortization - unallocated
Interest on long-term debt
Total governmental activities

39,398
1,224
(734)
95
39,983
(436,222)

Business-type activities:
Regional Wastewater Reclamation
Pima Health System & Services
Development Services
Parking Garages
Total business-type activities
Total primary government

$
$

$

280,585
19,991
29,015
65,372
6,285
1,608
93,123
23,537
4,268
8,235
3,416
22,676
25,688
583,799
107,594
1,462,446
1,570,040

$

1,001
1,903
(25,688)
(22,784)
17,199
686,499
703,698 $

(38)
101
63

280,585
19,991
29,015
65,372
6,285
1,608
93,123
23,537
4,268
8,235
4,417
24,579

92

561,015
124,793
2,148,945
2,273,738

92
155
5,242
5,397

$

Component units:
Sports & Tourism Authority
Southwestern Fair Commission
Total component units
General revenues:
Property taxes, levied for general purposes
Property taxes, levied for regional flood control district
Property taxes, levied for library district
Property taxes, levied for debt service
Hotel/motel taxes, levied for sports facility and tourism
Other taxes, levied for stadium district
Unrestricted share of state sales tax
Unrestricted share of state vehicle license tax
Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs
Interest and penalties on delinquent taxes
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Transfers
Total general revenues and transfers
Change in net position
Net position at beginning of year
Net position at end of year

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds
June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 3

(in thousands)

General

Capital Projects

Debt Service

Other
Governmental
Funds

Total
Governmental
Funds

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Property taxes receivable (net)
Interest receivable
Due from other funds
Due from other governments
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenditures
Loan receivable
Other assets
Restricted cash equivalents
Total assets

$

91,085
10,148
73
7,528
21,513
1,903
67
1,984
669

$

181,519

$

26,639
2,440
16
1,575
11

$

123,579
1,868
81
4,892
29,808
3,122
1,374
72
59
1,018
45

$

422,822
14,456
191
15,143
62,350
6,071
1,441
2,056
728
1,018
2,326

21
1,148
11,018
1,046

2,281
$

134,970

$

197,033

$

30,681

$

165,918

$

528,602

$

20,679

$

29,136

$

148

$

$

Liabilities and fund balances
Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Medical claims payable
Contract retentions
Employee compensation
Due to other funds
Due to other governments
Deposits and rebates
Deferred revenues

12,984
543
3
199
19,795

Total liabilities

54,203

Fund balances:
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

118
77,596

Total fund balances

80,767

Total liabilities and fund balances

2,720
333

$

134,970

1,980
20
1,901

77

12,787
271
11
4,445
12,515

2,281
346

2,158

4
10,934

62,750
271
1,991
17,449
15,036
3
2,484
33,233

35,664

2,383

40,967

133,217

1,550
105,468
10,264
16,682
(9,013)

4,270
263,489
17,498
45,098
65,030

124,951

395,385

157,688
7,234

28,298

(3,553)
161,369
$

197,033

28,298
$

30,681

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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$

165,918

$

528,602

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 4

(in thousands)

Fund balances - total governmental funds

$

395,385

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of
Net Position are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources
and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds
Governmental capital assets
Less accumulated depreciation
Some liabilities and their associated issuance costs are not due and payable
in the current period and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds
Bonds payable
Certificates of participation payable
Loans and leases payable
Unamortized deferred issuance costs reported as other assets

$ 2,628,502
(840,418)

(603,093)
(39,772)
(16,431)
2,188

Some compensated absences are not due and payable shortly after
June 30, 2012, and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds
Employee compensation
Some liabilities are not due and payable shortly after June 30, 2012, and
are therefore not reported in the governmental funds
Landfill liability
Pollution remediation liability

1,788,084

(657,108)

(29,138)

(20,872)
(805)

(21,677)

Deferred revenue in governmental funds is susceptible to full accrual on the
government-wide statements

30,521

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain
activities to individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal service
funds are included in governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position

63,973

Net position of governmental activities

$ 1,570,040

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 5

(in thousands)

Revenues:
Property taxes
Special assessments
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fines and forfeits
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous

General
$

291,647
2,696
127,029
39,117
5,213
621
12,659

Total revenues

Capital Projects

$
$

478,982

Expenditures:
Current:
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Sanitation
Health
Welfare
Culture and recreation
Education and economic opportunity
Capital outlay
Debt service - principal
- interest
- miscellaneous

Debt Service
66,148

44,141
3,079

11

698
565

242

48,483

66,401

Other
Governmental
Funds

Total
Governmental
Funds

$

$

197,190
123,235
2,919
94,292
15,195
12,967

Total expenditures
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures

838,262

38,830
22,476
33,651
6,317
43,753
68
36,908
34,831
78,390
24,762
1,172

298
7

236,020
145,711
33,651
6,317
46,672
94,360
52,103
47,798
149,612
78,688
24,762
1,179

104,324

217,139

916,873

33,184

(101,129)

(37,923)

27,257

(78,611)

894

Total other financing sources (uses)

(29,972)

25,237

330
45,820
(79,012)

894
7,349
30,745
(33,013)
78,425
1,938
141,924
(115,914)

143,970

30,318

(31,968)

112,348

3,212

42,841

(7,605)

(4,711)

33,737

77,555

118,528

35,903

7,349
30,745
(33,013)

78,425
65,677
(132)

129,744

Changes in nonspendable fund balance:
Change in inventory
Change in prepaids
Fund balances at end of year

244,396

149,612

1,608
5,190
(36,770)

Fund balances at beginning of year

361,730

(55)
(27)
$

407,711
245
8,155
327,939
56,881
10,249
2,286
24,796

445,798

Other financing sources (uses):
Capital leases
Premium on bonds
Proceeds-refunding debt
Payments to escrow agent
Face amount of long-term debt
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Transfers in
Transfers (out)

Net change in fund balances

149,612

49,916
245
5,459
156,758
14,685
5,036
725
11,572

80,767

$

161,369

$

28,298

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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$

124,951

(55)
(27)
$

395,385

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 6

(in thousands)

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds

$

33,737

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities
are different because:
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However,
in the Statement of Activities, the cost of those assets is depreciated
over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense
Expenditures for capital assets
Less current year depreciation

$

141,790
(58,595)

83,195

(78,425)
(7,349)
(30,745)
78,688
33,013
(894)
1,153
(805)

(5,364)

8,137
4,234
(18,688)
(1,550)

(7,867)

(803)
(928)
228
(3,217)
(82)

(4,802)

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds, leases) provides current financial
resources to governmental funds but increases long-term liabilities in the Statement
of Net Position. Repayment of the principal of debt is an expenditure in the governmental
funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position.
Also, governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, discounts and
similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized
in the Statement of Activities. This amount is the net effect of these differences in the
treatment of long-term debt and related items
Face amount of long-term debt
Premium on bonds
Proceeds on refunding bonds
Debt service - principal payments
Payments to escrow agent
Amendment to capital lease
Deferred issuance costs
Amortization expense
Some revenues reported in the Statement of Activities do not represent
the collection of current financial resources and therefore are not reported as
revenues in the governmental funds
Donations of capital assets
Property tax revenues
Intergovernmental
Other
Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of
current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in the
governmental funds
Change in compensated absences
Change in landfill liability
Pollution remediation liability
Net book value of capital asset disposals
Other
Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain
activities to individual funds. A portion of the net expense of the internal service funds is
reported with governmental activities
Change in net position of governmental activities

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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8,695
$

107,594

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 7

(in thousands)
Business-type Activities
Enterprise Funds
Pima
Health System
& Services
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Interest receivable
Due from other funds
Due from other governments
Accounts receivable (net)
Inventory
Prepaid expense
Total current assets
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Capital assets:
Land and other improvements
Buildings and improvements
Sewage conveyance system
Equipment
Less accumulated depreciation
Construction in progress
Total capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation)
Deferred financing costs
Total noncurrent assets

Regional
Wastewater
Reclamation

$

$

Total
Enterprise
Funds

7,661

$

4
3
145

15,198
3,306
6
189,925

-

5
7,818

40,453

-

13,641
373,747
702,236
112,298
(457,349)
342,111
1,086,684
5,133
1,132,270

-

-

Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Employee compensation
Interest payable
Due to other funds
Deferred revenues
Current sewer revenue bonds and obligations payable
Current portion of wastewater loans payable
Current portion reported but unpaid losses
Current portion incurred but not reported losses
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities:
Contracts and notes
Sewer revenue bonds and obligations payable
Wastewater loans payable
Reported but unpaid losses
Incurred but not reported losses
Total noncurrent liabilities

-

Total liabilities

-

107,152
71,789
95
47
15,343
3,306
11
197,743

Governmental
ActivitiesInternal Service
Funds

$

81,291
18
218
112
428
1,035
1,457
84,559

40,453
1,768
12,927

5,793

15,409
386,674
702,236
113,508
(467,461)
342,111
1,092,477
5,133
1,138,063

1,322,195

13,611

1,335,806

106,473

34,994
4,148
365
121
2,131
24,445
2,550

323
692

35,317
4,840
365
121
2,133
24,445
2,550

2,689
955

1,210
(10,112)
5,793

2

68,754

1,017

592
614
38,895
(19,349)
1,162
21,914
21,914

251
1

4,202
2,114
10,212

69,771

15,365
525,930
21,169

15,365
525,930
21,169

3,080
565,544

3,080
565,544

19,253
9,828
29,081

634,298

1,017

635,315

39,293

558,768

5,793

564,561

21,914

6,801

22,538
31,680
18,449
63,263

45,266

12,594

700,491

Some amounts reported for business-type activities in the
Statement of Net Position are different because certain internal
service fund assets and liabilities are included with business-type
activities.

3,207

Net position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Debt service
Capital projects
Regional wastewater reclamation
Unrestricted
Total net position

99,491
71,789
91
44

Other
Enterprise
Funds

22,538
31,680
18,449
56,462
$

-

$

687,897

$

Net position of business-type activities

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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$

703,698

$

67,180

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 8

(in thousands)
Business-type Activities
Enterprise Funds

Operating revenues:
Net patient services
Charges for services
Other

Pima
Health System
& Services
$

Total net operating revenues
Operating expenses:
Employee compensation
Medical claims
Operating supplies and services
Sludge and refuse disposal
Repair and maintenance
Incurred losses
Insurance premiums
General and administrative
Consultants and professional services
Depreciation
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Intergovernmental revenue
Investment earnings
Sewer connection fees
Interest expense
Gain/(loss) on disposal of capital assets
Amortization of deferred charges
Claim and judgment contingency losses
Premium tax

52,018
6,704
1,182

Regional
Wastewater
Reclamation
$

8,330
39

$

52,018
153,128
1,387

$

42,585
407

138,260

8,369

206,533

42,992

11,370
39,096
587

35,474

5,813

7,646

95

96

9,476
1,553
6,501

222

52,657
39,096
10,158
1,553
6,819

6,655
231
115
58,150

14,212
5,091
35,477
107,784

2,451
149
227
8,957

23,318
5,471
35,819
174,891

1,398
2,209
4,619
3,707
1,302
3,510
33,796

1,754

30,476

(588)

31,642

9,196

105
35

1,380
1,001
16,507
(6,539)
25
(941)
(3,080)
(1,112)

848
16,507
(6,519)
(317)
(941)
(3,080)

(20)
342
(1,112)

Income (loss) before contributions and transfers

$

Governmental
ActivitiesInternal Service
Funds

Total
Enterprise
Funds

59,904

1,275
118

Total nonoperating revenues

138,094
166

Other
Enterprise
Funds

9,405

1,260
(25)

603

6,498

140

7,241

1,235

2,357

36,974

(448)

38,883

10,431

1,000
(18)

2,571
1,475
(27,163)

Capital contributions
Transfers in
Transfers (out)

(26,436)

Change in net position

(24,079)

39,311

534

15,766

10,128

24,079

648,586

12,060

684,725

57,052

12,594

700,491

Net position at beginning of year
Net position at end of year

$

2,571
475
(709)

$

687,897

$

Some amounts reported for business-type activities in the
Statement of Activities are different because a portion of the
net expense of certain internal service funds is reported
with business-type activities.
Change in net position of business-type activities

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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1,433
$

17,199

19
(322)

$

67,180

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 9

(in thousands)

Pima
Health System
& Services
Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from other funds for goods and services provided
Cash received from customers for goods and services provided
Cash received from miscellaneous operations
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services
Cash payments to other funds for goods and services
Cash payments for incurred losses
Cash payments to employees for services

Regional
Wastewater
Reclamation

Other
Enterprise
Funds

Total
Enterprise
Funds

Governmental
ActivitiesInternal Service
Funds
$

$

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities

55,170
7,886
(61,250)
(5,099)

$

140,575
166
(26,849)
(8,540)

(12,449)

(35,366)

(15,742)

69,986

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Interest paid on short-term credit
Cash transfers in from other funds
Cash transfers out to other funds
Loans with other funds
Premium tax
Intergovernmental revenues

(26,436)
(555)
(1,112)
2,347

(234)
(244)

Net cash provided by (used for) noncapital financing activities

(25,776)

(478)

$

8,422

$

(1,454)
(2,123)
(4,996)

(52,811)

402
(14,962)
(4,496)
(7,607)
(6,597)

54,093

8,998

(151)

(20)

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of bonds and loans
Principal paid on bonds and loans
Interest paid on bonds and loans
Proceeds from premium
Sewer connection fees
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Purchase of capital assets

42,258

204,167
8,052
(89,553)
(15,762)

(322)
306

105

(20)
1,000
(26,688)
(817)
(1,112)
2,452

1,069

(25,185)

(16)

(199,105)

189,160
(22,030)
(11,869)
21,682
16,203
762
(199,105)

333
(7,158)

(5,959)

(5,197)

(6,825)

1,000
(18)
(18)

189,160
(22,030)
(11,869)
21,682
16,203
762

Net cash provided by (used for) capital and
related financing activities

762

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest received on cash and investments

133

793

33

959

1,254

Net cash provided by investing activities

133

793

33

959

1,254

(40,623)

64,342

951

24,670

3,411

40,623

147,391

6,710

194,724

77,880

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$

$

211,733

$

(continued)

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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7,661

$

219,394

$

81,291

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 9.1

(in thousands)

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used for) operating activities
Operating income (loss)

Pima
Health System
& Services
$
1,754

Regional
Wastewater
Reclamation
$
30,476

Other
Enterprise
Funds
$
(588)

Total
Enterprise
Funds
$
31,642

115

35,477

227

35,819

2,976
216
91
78

2,481

4
49
72

5,461
265
618
180

250
(136)

(18,717)
(175)

Governmental
ActivitiesInternal Service
Funds
$
9,196

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to
net cash provided by (used for) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Other
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in assets:
Accounts receivable
Due from other governments
Inventory and other assets
Prepaid expense
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable
Due to other governments
Reported but unpaid losses
Incurred but not reported losses
Other current liabilities

527
30

(19,854)
(39)

887

(1,079)

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities

$

(15,742)

108
$

69,986

(29)
$

(151)

$

54,093

Regional Wastewater Reclamation Enterprise Fund received developer-built conveyance systems with estimated fair value of $3,520.
This contribution was recorded as an increase in capital assets and capital contributions.
Regional Wastewater Reclamation Enterprise Fund recorded a Board of Supervisors' approved connection fee credit agreement of $951.
This credit was recorded as an increase to deferred revenue and a decrease to capital contributions.
Regional Wastewater Reclamation Enterprise Fund retired expired Sewer Credit Agreements totaling $2. This transaction was recorded
as a decrease to deferred revenue and an increase in capital contributions.
Regional Wastewater Reclamation Enterprise Fund retired capital assets with a net book value of $314.
Pima Health System & Services retired equipment with a net book value of $286.
Pima Health System & Services transferred equipment with a net book value of $134 to the County's general government.

Internal Service Funds sold capital assets with a net book value of $358.

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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(262)
(71)
(84)
(433)
2,227
(1)
(5,397)
155

(1,000)

Noncash investing, capital, and noncapital financing activities during the year ended June 30, 2012:

Internal Service Funds received a capital contribution of $19.

3,510
158

$

8,998

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position - Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 10

(in thousands)
Investment
Trust
Funds
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Interest receivable
Due from other governments
Total assets

$

297,724
96

$

57,450
3,704

$

297,820

Liabilities
Employee compensation
Due to other governments
Deposits and rebates
Total liabilities
Net position
Held in trust for pool participants

Agency
Funds

$

297,820

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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$

61,154

$

496
38,700
21,958

$

61,154

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 11

(in thousands)
Investment
Trust
Funds

Additions
Contributions from participants
Total contributions

$

Investment earnings
Total investment earnings

1,426
1,426

Total additions

2,610,356

Deductions
Distributions to participants

2,710,812

Total deductions

2,710,812

Change in net position

(100,456)

Net position held in trust July 1, 2011
Net position held in trust June 30, 2012

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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2,608,930
2,608,930

398,276
$

297,820

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Combining Statement of Net Position
Component Units
June 30, 2012

Exhibit A - 12

(in thousands)

Sports &
Tourism
Authority
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable (net)
Inventories
Prepaids
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Capital assets (net):
Buildings and improvements
Machinery and equipment
Total assets

$

Southwestern
Fair
Commission
9

$

9

Liabilities
Accounts payable
Deposits and rebates
Total liabilities
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted
Total net position

$

9
9

$

1,047
5
36
60

Total
$

1,056
5
36
60

1,500

1,500

2,306
666
5,620

2,306
666
5,629

205
27
232

205
27
232

2,972
2,416
5,388

2,972
2,425
5,397

$

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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$

$

20
20

4,960

4,940
4,940

General revenues:
Miscellaneous
Total general revenues
Change in net position
Net position at beginning of year
Net position at end of year

5,018

Total component units

59
59

4,959
4,959

$

$

Southwestern Fair Commission (SFC)
Operations
Total SFC

Sports & Tourism Authority (S&TA)
Operations
Total S&TA

Expenses

Charges for
Services

$

$

121

120
120

1
1

Operating
Grants and
Contributions

Program Revenues

(in thousands)

$

$

S&TA

$

(38)
47
9 $

(38)

(38)
(38)

SFC

92
92
193
5,195
5,388

101

101
101

$

$

Net (Expense) Revenue

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Combining Statement of Activities
Component Units
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

92
92
155
5,242
5,397

63

101
101

(38)
(38)

Total

Exhibit A - 13

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2012
(in thousands)

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies of Pima County (County) conform to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) applicable to governmental units as promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) and the regulatory requirements of the State of Arizona. A summary of the County’s significant
accounting policies follows.
During the year ended June 30, 2012, the County early implemented the provisions of GASB Statement No. 61,
The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus, an amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34. GASB
Statement No. 61 modifies certain requirements for the inclusion of component units in the financial reporting
entity. The County also early implemented the provisions of GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of
Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position. GASB Statement No. 63
establishes criteria for reporting the consumption and acquisition of net position that is applicable to future
reporting periods.
A.

Reporting Entity

The County is a general-purpose local government that is governed by a separately elected Board of
Supervisors. The accompanying financial statements present the activities of the County (the primary
government) and its component units.
Component units are legally separate entities for which the County is considered financially accountable.
Blended component units, although legally separate entities, are, in substance, part of the County’s operations.
Each blended component described below provides a financial benefit and/or financial burden to the County.
Therefore, data from these units are combined with data of the primary government. Discretely presented
component units, on the other hand, are reported in a separate column in the government-wide financial
statements to emphasize they are legally separate from the County. Each blended and discretely presented
component unit discussed below has a June 30 year-end.
The Pima County Stadium District, a legally separate entity, was formed to promote and establish major league
baseball spring training in Pima County. The County Board of Supervisors is the Board of Directors of the
District. Acting in the capacity of the Board of Directors, the Pima County Board of Supervisors is able to
impose its will on the District. The Board of Directors levies the car rental surcharge rates and the recreation
vehicle (RV) park tax for the District. The District is reported as a special revenue fund (blended component
unit) in these financial statements. Complete financial statements for the District can be obtained from the Pima
County Department of Finance and Risk Management located at 130 West Congress Street, Tucson, Arizona
85701.
The Pima County Library District was established in 1986 when legislation allowed full taxing authority and the
ability to enter into agreements with other jurisdictions for the provision of library services. The Pima County
Board of Supervisors is the Board of Directors of the District. The Library District is reported as a special
revenue fund (blended component unit) in these financial statements. Separate financial statements for the
District are not available.
The Pima County Regional Flood Control District was established in 1978. The District is responsible for
floodplain management activities for the unincorporated areas of Pima County (except national forests, parks,
monuments, and Native American Nations), the City of South Tucson, and the Town of Sahuarita. The Pima
County Board of Supervisors is the Board of Directors for the Flood Control District. The Regional Flood
Control District is reported as a special revenue fund (blended component unit) in these financial statements.
Separate financial statements for the District are not available.
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
The Pima County Street Lighting Improvement Districts (SLIDs) are responsible for street lighting for specific
regions of unincorporated Pima County. All budgetary and operational activities are administered by the Pima
County Board of Supervisors and meet the criteria for a blended component unit. SLIDs are reported as a
special revenue fund in these financial statements. Separate financial statements for the SLIDs are not
available.
The Southwestern Fair Commission, Inc. (SFC) is a nonprofit corporation, which manages and maintains the
fairgrounds owned by the County and conducts annual fair and other events at the fairgrounds. The
Commission’s members are appointed and can be removed at any time by the Pima County Board of
Supervisors. Based on these factors, and because SFC does not provide services entirely, or almost entirely to
the County, but rather to the general citizenry, SFC is reported as a separate component unit (discrete
presentation) in these financial statements. Complete financial statements for SFC can be obtained from the
Pima County Department of Finance and Risk Management located at 130 West Congress Street, Tucson,
Arizona 85701.
The Pima County Sports and Tourism Authority (S&TA) is a nonprofit municipal corporation established to
promote professional and amateur sports events and other suitable activities for the benefit of the public and to
increase opportunities for amateur youth sports in Pima County. S&TA members are appointed and can be
removed at any time by the Board of Supervisors. Based on these factors, and because S&TA does not provide
services entirely, or almost entirely to the County, but rather to the general citizenry, S&TA is reported as a
separate component unit (discrete presentation) in these financial statements. Separate financial statements
are unavailable for S&TA.
Related Organization:
The Industrial Authority of Pima County (Authority) is a legally separate entity that was created to promote
economic development and the development of affordable housing. The Authority fulfills its function through
the issuance of tax-exempt bonds. The County Board of Supervisors appoints the Authority’s Board of
Directors. The Authority’s operations are completely separate from the County and the County is not
financially accountable for the Authority. Therefore, the financial activities of the Authority have not been
included in the accompanying financial statements.
B.

Basis of Accounting

Primary government:
The government-wide, proprietary fund, and fiduciary fund financial statements are presented using the
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting with the exception of agency
funds, which have no measurement focus. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at
the time liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place. Property taxes are
recognized as revenue in the year for which they are levied. Grants and donations are recognized as revenue as
soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.
Governmental funds in the fund-based financial statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recognized
when measurable and available. The County considers all revenues reported in the governmental funds to be
available if the revenues are collected within 30 days after year-end. Revenues that are collected after 30 days
are reported as deferred revenues. The County’s major revenue sources that are susceptible to accrual are
property taxes, intergovernmental, and charges for services. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund
liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt, claims and judgments,
compensated absences, landfill closure and post-closure care costs, and pollution remediation, which are
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
recognized as expenditures to the extent they are due and payable. General capital asset acquisitions are
reported as expenditures in governmental funds. Proceeds of general long-term debt and acquisitions under
capital lease agreements are reported as other financing sources. The County may fund certain programs by a
combination of restricted, committed, assigned, and/or unassigned (general) revenues. When an
expenditure/expense is incurred that can be paid from either restricted or unrestricted fund balances/net
position, the County uses restricted fund balance/net position first. When an expenditure is incurred that can
be paid from more than one category of unrestricted fund balances, the County will use committed amounts
first, followed by assigned amounts, and lastly unassigned amounts. Fund balances of the governmental funds
are reported separately within classifications based on a hierarchy of the constraints placed on the use of those
resources. The classifications are based on the relative strength of the constraints that control how the specific
amounts can be spent. The classifications are nonspendable, restricted, and unrestricted, which includes
committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance classifications.
The nonspendable fund balance classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either not
in spendable form, such as inventories, or are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.
Restricted fund balances are those that have externally imposed restrictions on their usage by creditors, such as
through debt covenants, grantors, contributors, or laws and regulations.
Committed fund balances are self-imposed limitations set prior to the year-end closing. The Pima County
Board of Supervisors is the highest level of decision making authority. Imposed limitations on the use of funds
must be approved by the Board of Supervisors at a regular supervisory meeting. Any modifications and/or
rescissions must also be approved by the board.
Assigned fund balances are limitations resulting from the intended use of funds. The Pima County Board of
Supervisors and/or its representative, the County Administrator, can authorize the constraints for the specific
purpose. Modifications or rescissions of the constraints can also be authorized by the same action that limited
the funds.
The unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General Fund and includes all spendable
amounts not reported in the other classifications. Also, deficits in fund balances of the other governmental
funds are reported as unassigned.
The County does not have a formal minimum fund balance policy, however, all County funds fund balances or
net position are analyzed throughout the year and reserved as necessary during the budgetary appropriation
process.
The County’s business-type activities and enterprise funds follow FASB Statements and Interpretations issued
on or before November 30, 1989, Accounting Principles Board Opinions, and Accounting Research
Bulletins, unless those pronouncements conflict with GASB pronouncements. The County has chosen the
option not to follow FASB statements and interpretations issued after November 30, 1989.

C.

Basis of Presentation

The basic financial statements include both government-wide and fund-based financial statements. The
government-wide statements focus on the County as a whole, while the fund-based statements focus on major
funds. Each presentation provides valuable information that can be analyzed and compared between years and
between governments to enhance the usefulness of the information.
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Government-wide statements provide information about the primary government and its component units.
The statements include a statement of net position and a statement of activities. These statements report the
financial activities of the overall government, except for fiduciary activities. They also distinguish between
thegovernmental and business-type activities of the County and between the County and its discretely
presentedcomponent units.
Governmental activities are financed primarily through taxes and
intergovernmental revenues. Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to
external parties. A statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program
revenues for each function of the County’s governmental activities and segment of its business-type activities.
Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program or function and, therefore, are clearly
identifiable to a particular function. The County does not allocate indirect expenses to programs or functions.
Program revenues include:




Charges for services (fines and forfeitures, licenses and permits, and special assessments);
Operating grants and contributions; and
Capital grants and contributions

Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including internally dedicated resources and all taxes
levied or imposed by the County, are reported as general revenues. The net effect of interfund activity has
been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements to minimize the double counting of internal
activities.
Fund-based financial statements provide information about the County’s funds, including fiduciary funds
and blended component units. Separate statements are presented for the governmental, proprietary, and
fiduciary fund categories. The emphasis of fund-based financial statements is on major governmental and
enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining governmental and enterprise funds are
aggregated and reported as non-major funds. Fiduciary funds are aggregated and reported by fund type.
Proprietary funds are financed mainly by fees and charges received from users of the services provided by the
fund’s operations. Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods
in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. All revenues and expenses not meeting
this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.
The County reports the following major governmental funds:
The General Fund is the County’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the
general government, except for those required to be accounted for in another fund.
The Capital Projects Fund accounts for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or construction of
capital facilities and other capital assets, other than those financed by proprietary funds.
The Debt Service Fund accounts for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment of, general long-term
debt principal and interest.
The County reports the following major enterprise funds:
Pima Health System and Services (PHS&S) provided payment for health care services including inpatient
hospital care and outpatient clinical care for medical and psychiatric problems, indigent health care under the
Arizona Health Care Cost Containment System (AHCCCS), an alternative to Medicaid, home health services,
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
and long-term nursing care. The County’s AHCCCS contracts terminated on September 30, 2011, and the
Pima Health System and Services ceased operations. All residual balances of the fund were transferred to the
other governmental funds at June 30, 2012.
Regional Wastewater Reclamation (RWR) accounts for the management and operation of wastewater
treatment and water pollution control programs.
The County reports the following fund types:
Internal Service Funds account for the financing of goods or services provided by one department or agency
to other departments or agencies of the County, or to other governmental units, on a cost-reimbursement
basis.These funds account for fleet maintenance and operation, insurance, graphic services, and
telecommunications services.
Investment Trust Funds account for assets held by the County Treasurer in an external investment pool and
individual investment accounts for the benefit of outside jurisdictions.
Agency Funds account for the assets held by the County as an agent for individuals, private organizations, or
other governmental units. The agency funds are custodial in nature and do not present results of operations.
D.

Cash and Investments

Primary government:
For purposes of its statements of cash flows, the County considers only those highly liquid investments, with a
maturity period of 3 months or less when purchased, to be cash equivalents. All investments are stated at fair
value.
If an individual fund has a deficit balance in the amount on deposit with the County Treasurer at year-end, that
balance is reclassified as an amount due to other funds.
E.

Inventories and Prepaids

The County accounts for its inventories in the Health Fund using the purchase method. Inventories of the
Health Department consist of expendable supplies held for consumption and are recorded as expenditures at
the time of purchase. Amounts on hand at year-end are shown on the balance sheet as an asset for
informational purposes only and are offset by nonspendable fund balance to indicate that they do not constitute
“available spendable resources.” These inventories are stated at cost using the first-in, first-out method or
average cost method.
Inventories of the Transportation Department are recorded as assets when purchased and expensed when used.
Inventories in Transportation are valued at lower of cost or market, cost being determined using the moving
average method.
Inventories in the government-wide and proprietary funds’ financial statements are recorded as assets when
purchased and expensed when consumed.
Inventories of RWR, an enterprise fund, are valued at lower of cost or market, cost being determined using the
moving average method.
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Inventories of Internal Service Funds are valued at lower of cost or market, cost being determined using the
moving average method.
Prepaid expenses/expenditures are accounted for using the consumption method, except for the School Reserve
Fund reported as an Other Governmental Fund, which uses the purchase method.
F.

Property Tax Calendar

The County levies real and personal property taxes on or before the third Monday in August that become due
and payable in two equal installments. The first installment is due on the first day of October and becomes
delinquent after the first business day of November. The second installment is due on the first day of March of
the next year and becomes delinquent after the first business day of May. A lien assessed against real and
personal property attaches on the first day of January preceding assessment and levy.
G.

Capital Assets

Capital assets are reported at actual cost or estimated historical cost if historical records are not available.
Donated assets are reported at estimated fair value at the time received.
Capitalization thresholds, depreciation methods, and estimated useful lives of capital assets reported in the
government-wide statements and proprietary funds are as follows (excluding component units):

Capitalization
Threshold

Depreciation
Method

Estimated
Useful Life

Land

All

N/A

N/A

Land improvements (Reported in buildings and improvements)

All

Straight Line

20 - 30 Years

$100

Straight Line

10 - 50 Years

$5

Straight Line

4 - 25 Years

Infrastructure/Sewer conveyance systems

$100

Straight Line

10 - 50 Years

Intangible (Reported in land, equipment, and infrastructure)

$100

Straight Line

Varies

Buildings and improvements
Equipment

Discretely presented component units:
SFC capital assets are reported at actual cost. Depreciation is provided by the straight-line method over the
assets’ estimated useful life, which range from 5 to 40 years.
H.

Investment Earnings

Investment earnings are composed of interest, dividends, and net changes in the fair value of applicable
investments.
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I.

Compensated Absences

Compensated absences consist of vacation leave and a calculated amount of sick leave earned by employees
based on services already rendered.
Employees may accumulate up to 240 hours of vacation depending upon years of service, but any vacation
hours in excess of the maximum amount that are unused at their year-end are forfeited. Upon termination of
employment, all unused and unforfeited vacation benefits are paid to employees. Accordingly, vacation
benefitsareaccrued as a liability in theJRYHUQPHQWZLGHDQGSURSULHWDU\IXQG financial statementsin
(PSOR\HH&RPSHQVDWLRQ
Employees may accumulate up to 1920 hours of sick leave. Generally, sick leave benefits provide for ordinary
sick pay and are cumulative but are forfeited upon termination of employment. Sick leave benefits do not vest
with employees; however, employees who are eligible to retire from County service into the Arizona State
Retirement System, Public Safety Personnel Retirement System, or Corrections Officer Retirement Plan may
request sick leave be converted to annual leave on a predetermined conversion basis. An estimate of those
retirement payouts is accrued as a liability in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements in
Employee Compensation. &ompensaWHGDEVHQFHV for the governmental funds is accrued based on vacation
and sick leave paid within the first two pay periods after fiscal year end.

52

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2012
(in thousands)

Note 2: Fund Balance Classifications
The table below details the fund balance categories and classifications:

General
Fund

Capital Projects
Fund

Debt Service
Fund

Other
Governmental
Funds

CAFR
Total

Net Position:
Nonspendable:
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Loan receivable
Permanent fund principal
Total nonspendable

$

67
1,984
669

$

2,720

Restricted for:
Capital Projects
Streets and highways
Other
Justice Court Complex
Judicial activities
Flood Control District
Health
Law enforcement
Library District
Parks and recreation
School reserve
Social services
Streets and highways
Tire fund
Other purposes
Total restricted

$

42,385
78,481
22,651

$

1,441
2,056
728
45
4,270

157,688

34,367
9,712
9,792
4,385
15,217
17
508
3,186
22,877
1,214
4,193
105,468

42,385
78,481
22,651
34,367
23,883
9,792
4,385
15,217
17
508
3,186
22,877
1,214
4,526
263,489

7,234
7,234

414
4,440
5,410
10,264

414
4,440
12,644
17,498

805
1,648
1,890
1,130
11,209
16,682

28,298
114
805
1,652
1,890
1,130
11,209
45,098

14,171

333
333

1,374
72
59
45
1,550

Committed to:
School reserve
Sports promotion (Stadium)
Other purposes
Total committed
Assigned to:
Debt service reserve
Judicial activities
Health
Parks and recreation
Landfill
School reserve
Other purposes
Total assigned
Unassigned:
Total Net Position

$

114

28,298

4

118
$

77,596
80,767

28,298
(3,553)
161,369

$

53

$

28,298

$

(9,013)
124,951

$

65,030
395,385
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Note 3: Cash and Investments
Primary Government
The County’s cash and investment policies are governed by State statutes and by bond covenants. The County
Treasurer is authorized to invest public monies in the State Treasurer’s Investment Pool; interest bearing
savings accounts, certificates of deposit and repurchase agreements in eligible depositories; bonds or other
obligations issued or guaranteed by the United States government or any of the senior debt of its agencies,
sponsored agencies, corporations, sponsored corporations, or instrumentalities; specified state and local
government bonds; specified commercial paper, bonds, debentures, and notes issued by corporations organized
and doing business in the United States; bonds or other evidences of indebtedness of the State of Arizona or any
of its counties, cities, towns, or school districts as specified by statute; and bonds of any county municipal
district, municipal utility, or special taxing district of any state that are payable from revenues, earnings, or a
special tax pledged for all payments on the obligations. In addition, the County Treasurer may invest trust
funds in fixed income securities of corporations doing business in the United States.
Credit risk—The State statutes have the following requirements for credit risk:
1.

Commercial paper must be of prime quality and be rated within the top two ratings by a nationally
recognized rating agency.

2.

Corporate bonds, debentures, and notes must be rated within the top three ratings by a nationally
recognized rating agency.

3.

Fixed income securities must carry one of the two highest ratings by Moody’s Investors Service and
Standard and Poor’s rating service. If only one of the above-mentioned services rates the security, it
must carry the highest rating of that service.

Custodial credit risk—Statutes require collateral for demand deposits and certificates of deposit at 101 percent
of all deposits not covered by federal depository insurance.
Concentration of credit risk—Statutes do not include any requirements for concentration of credit risk.
Interest rate risk—Statutes require that public monies invested in securities and deposits have a maximum
maturity of 5 years. Investments in repurchase agreements must have a maximum maturity of 180 days.
Foreign currency risk—Statutes do not allow foreign investments.
Deposits—At June 30, 2012, the carrying amount of the County’s deposits was $57,136 and the bank balance
was $66,485.
Custodial credit risk—Custodial credit risk is the risk that the County will not be able to recover its deposits if
a financial institution fails. The County does not have a formal policy with respect to custodial credit risk. As
of June 30, 2012, $1,977 of the County’s bank balance was exposed to custodial credit risk because it was
uninsured and uncollateralized.

54

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2012
(in thousands)

Note 3: Cash and Investments (continued)
Investments—At June 30, 2012, the County’s investments consisted of $552,258 invested in marketable
securities and $471,556 invested in the State Treasurer’s Investment Pool. Cash from the County and from
externally legally separate governments are pooled to purchase the investments in marketable securities and the
State Treasurer’s Pool. The State Board of Investment provides oversight for the State Treasurer’s pools. The
fair value of a participant’s position in the pool approximates the value of that participant’s pool shares and the
participant’s shares are not identified with specific investments.
Credit risk—Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.
The County does not have a formal investment policy with respect to credit risk.
At June 30, 2012, credit risk for the County’s investments was as follows:

Investment Type

Rating

Rating Agency

Amount

S&P / Moody's
$
S&P / Moody's
S&P / Moody's
S&P / Moody's
S&P / Moody's
S&P / Moody's
Marketable securities

Commercial paper
Corporate bonds
Federal Farm Credit Bank
Federal Home Loan Bank
Freddie Mac (Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp)
Money market mutual fund

A1/P1
A-/A3
AA+/Aaa
AA+/Aaa
AA+/Aaa
AAAm/Aaa

State Treasurer Investment Pool 5
State Treasurer Investment Pool 500
State Treasurer Investment Pool 7

S&P
AAAf/S1+
Unrated
Unrated
State Treasurer's Investment Pool

234,756
72,529
164,271
471,556
$

Total

38,545
376,649
15,204
52,582
5,099
11,175
499,254

970,810

Custodial credit risk—For an investment, custodial risk is the risk that, in the event of the counterparty’s
failure, the County will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the
possession of an outside party. The County has no formal policy with respect to custodial credit risk. Of the
County’s $1,023,814 of investments, $541,083, consisting of the commercial paper, corporate bonds, Federal
Farm Credit Bank, Federal Home Loan Bank, Freddie Mac discount notes, and U.S. Treasury notes, is
uninsured and held by a counterparty in the County’s name in book entry form.
Concentration of credit risk—The County has no formal policy with respect to limiting the amount the
Treasurer may invest in any one issuer. At June 30, 2012, the County had investments in the Federal Home
Loan Bank with a fair value of $52,582 or 5.1% of total investments.
Interest rate risk—Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect an
investment’s fair value. The County does not have a formal investment policy with respect to interest rate risk.
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Note 3: Cash and Investments (continued)
As of June 30, 2012, the County had the following investments:

Investment Type

Weighted Average
Maturity (Years)

Amount
$

State Treasurer Investment Pool 5
State Treasurer Investment Pool 500
State Treasurer Investment Pool 7
Commercial paper
Corporate bonds
Federal Farm Credit Bank
Federal Home Loan Bank
Freddie Mac (Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp)
U.S. Treasury Notes
Money market mutual fund

234,756
72,529
164,271
38,545
376,649
15,204
52,582
5,099
53,004
11,175

0.07
7.36
0.08
0.17
1.72
2.40
1.67
0.48
1.14
0.14

$ 1,023,814

Total

A reconciliation of cash, deposits, and investments to amounts shown on the Statements of Net Position follows:

Cash on
Hand
Cash, deposits, and investments:

$

57

Amount of
Deposits
$
57,136

Amount of
Investments
$ 1,023,814

Total
$ 1,081,007

Governmental Business-type Investment
Activities
Activities
Trust Funds
Statement of Net Position:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and
cash equivalents
Total

Agency
Funds

Totals

$

504,113

$

107,152

$

297,724

$

57,450

$ 966,439

$

2,326
506,439

$

112,242
219,394

$

297,724

$

57,450

114,568
$ 1,081,007

County Treasurer’s Investment Pool—Arizona Revised Statutes require community colleges, school districts,
and other local governments to deposit certain public monies with the County Treasurer. The County Treasurer
has a fiduciary responsibility to administer those and the County monies under her stewardship. The County
Treasurer invests, on a pool basis, all idle monies not specifically invested for a fund or program. In addition,
the County Treasurer determines the fair value of those pooled investments annually at June 30. The County
Treasurer’s Investment Pool is not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission as an investment
company and there is no regulatory oversight of its operations. The structure of the Pool does not provide for
shares and the County has not provided or obtained any legally binding guarantees to support the value of the
participants’ investments. The County Treasurer allocates interest earnings to each of the Pool’s participants.

56

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2012
(in thousands)

Note 3: Cash and Investments (continued)
Substantially, all deposits and investments of the County’s primary government are included in the County
Treasurer’s investment pool. Therefore, the deposit and investment risks of the Treasurer’s investment pool are
substantially the same as the County’s deposit and investment risks disclosed above.
The Pool’s assets consist of the following:

Commercial paper
Corporate bonds
Federal Farm Credit Bank
Federal Home Loan Bank
Freddie Mac (Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp)
U.S. Treasury Notes
State Treasurer Investment Pool 5
Deposits
Interest Receivable
Total assets

Principal

Interest
Rates

Maturities

Fair Value

$ 38,550
358,606
15,000
52,250
5,000
51,290
76,601
19,605
96

0.1-0.2%
0.4-7.3%
0.5-1.7%
0.3-3.1%
4.1%
1.1-3.9%
N/A
N/A
N/A

07/12-11/12
08/12-03/17
10/13-12/15
08/12-05/16
12/12
08/12-07/14
N/A
N/A
N/A

$

$

A condensed statement of the investment pool’s net position and changes in net position follows:

Statement of Net Position
Assets held in trust for:
Internal participants
External participants
Total assets
Total liabilities
Total net position held in trust
Statement of Changes in Net Position
Total additions
Total deductions
Net increase
Net position held in trust:
July 1, 2011
June 30, 2012

57

$

503,836
133,549
637,385

$

637,385

$ 7,353,082
(7,321,183)
31,899
$

605,486
637,385

38,545
376,649
15,204
52,582
5,099
53,004
76,601
19,605
96
637,385
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Note 4: Due from Other Governments
Governmental activities:
Capital
Projects
Fund

General
Fund
Federal government:
Grants and contributions
State of Arizona:
Taxes and shared revenues
Grants and contributions
Other Cities:
Reimbursement for services
Other governments:
Reimbursement for services
Total due from other governments
fund based statements

$

187

$

Debt
Other
Service Governmental
Fund
Funds

-

20,083

$ 1,733

995

802

248

8,483

$ 21,513

$ 11,018

$

$

11

$

11

$

16,951

Internal
Service
Funds

Total
Governmental
Activities

$

$

1

17,139

7,720
3,305

3

29,536
3,308

1,544

88

3,440

288

20

9,039

29,808

$

112

$

62,462

Note 5: Capital Assets
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2012, was as follows:
Balance
July 1, 2011
(as reclassified)*
Governmental activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Total capital assets not being depreciated

$

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements
Infrastructure
Equipment
Total capital assets being depreciated

448,790
202,977
651,767

$

601,905
1,155,494
118,810
1,876,209

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements
Infrastructure
Equipment
Total accumulated depreciation

(169,797)
(561,651)
(77,798)
(809,246)

Total capital assets being depreciated, net
Governmental activities capital assets, net

Increases

1,066,963
$

1,718,730
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$

19,813
122,018
141,831

$

(942)
(76,678)
(77,620)

9,342
47,894
34,871
92,107

(7,522)
(321)
(6,686)
(14,529)

(16,373)
(34,688)
(11,044)
(62,105)

5,324
321
5,939
11,584

30,002

(2,945)

171,833

Balance
June 30, 2012

Decreases

$

(80,565)

$

467,661
248,317
715,978
603,725
1,203,067
146,995
1,953,787
(180,846)
(596,018)
(82,903)
(859,767)
1,094,020

$

1,809,998

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2012
(in thousands)

Note 5: Capital Assets (continued)
Balance
July 1, 2011
Business-type activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Total capital assets not being depreciated

$

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements
Infrastructure
Equipment
Total capital assets being depreciated

15,409
165,481
180,890

$

369,351
681,720
110,063
1,161,134

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements
Infrastructure
Equipment
Total accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets being depreciated, net
Business-type activities capital assets, net

Increases

(162,270)
(246,488)
(27,556)
(436,314)
724,820
905,710

$

$

215,835
215,835

$

(39,205)
(39,205)

20,202
21,149
5,339
46,690

(2,879)
(633)
(1,894)
(5,406)

(14,624)
(13,264)
(7,931)
(35,819)

2,666
319
1,687
4,672

10,871
226,706

Balance
June 30, 2012

Decreases

$

(734)
(39,939)

$

15,409
342,111
357,520
386,674
702,236
113,508
1,202,418
(174,228)
(259,433)
(33,800)
(467,461)

$

734,957
1,092,477

* At July 1, 2011, the general government buildings, improvements, and infrastructure of $40 and $104, respectively were reclassified to equipment.
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Note 5: Capital Assets (continued)
Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:
Governmental activities:
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Sanitation
Health
Welfare
Culture and recreation
Education and economic opportunity
Internal service funds
Total governmental activities depreciation expense

$

10,203
9,981
29,711
1,119
687
85
5,938
871
3,510
62,105

$

Business-type activities:
Pima Health System & Services
Parking Garages
Regional Wastewater Reclamation
Development Services
Total business-type activities depreciation expense

$

115
218
35,477
9
35,819

$

Balance
July 1, 2011

Increases

Balance
June 30, 2012

Decreases

Discretely presented component units:
Southwestern Fair Commission (SFC):
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Total capital assets being depreciated

$

5,017
2,417
7,434

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Total accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets being depreciated, net
SFC capital assets, net

$

366
171
537

(2,857)
(1,738)
(4,595)

(220)
(184)
(404)

2,839

133

2,839

60

$

$

133

$

(45)
(45)

$

5,383
2,543
7,926
(3,077)
(1,877)
(4,954)

45
45

2,972
$

2,972

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2012
(in thousands)

Note 6: Claims, Judgments, and Risk Management
Risk Management and Claims Liability
The County is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; injuries to employees; medical malpractice; environmental claims; and natural disasters.
Claims against the County are accounted for in the Self Insurance Trust Fund (the Fund), an internal service
fund. Annually, an actuarial evaluation is performed to determine the County’s anticipated losses except for
environmental, unemployment, and dental losses. Environmental losses are based on reported claims and the
County risk manager’s knowledge and experience. Unemployment and dental losses are based on claims that
have been submitted but not yet paid by the Fund. Losses accounted for include reported and paid, reported
but unpaid, and incurred but not reported. All liabilities of the Fund except for environmental, unemployment,
and dental losses are reported at their present value using an expected future investment yield assumption of
four percent.
The Fund is liable for any single general or automobile liability claim up to $2,500, per occurrence; workers’
compensation claim up to $1,000, per occurrence; or any medical malpractice claims in aggregate up to
$5,000, in any policy year. The County purchases commercial insurance for claims in excess of coverage
provided by the Fund and for some other risks of loss. Settled claims have not exceeded insurance coverage in
any of the last three fiscal years.
Payment of unemployment and dental claims is fully self-funded. Payment of environmental claims is
generally self-funded, although some claims filed could result in past insurers being liable for such losses.
All of the County’s departments participate in the Fund. With the exception of environmental, dental, and
unemployment losses, charges are based on actuarial estimates of the amounts needed to pay prior- and
current-year claims. Charges for environmental losses are based on historical experience. Charges for dental
and unemployment losses are based on actual claims paid.
The claims liability of $35,397 reported in the Fund at June 30, 2012, is based on estimates of the ultimate cost
of claims that have been reported but not settled and of claims that have been incurred but not reported. The
ultimate cost of claims includes incremental claim adjustment expenses that have been allocated to specific
claims, as well as salvage and subrogation. No other claim adjustment expenses have been included.
2012

2011

Claims liabilities - beginning
Current-year claims and changes in estimates
Claims payment

$

40,795
2,209
(7,607)

$

38,378
9,099
(6,682)

Claims liabilities balance - ending

$

35,397

$

40,795

Litigation
Pima County is a defendant in a number of court actions. In the opinion of County management, the final
disposition of these actions, if unfavorable, will not have a material effect upon the County's financial
statements.
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Note 6: Claims, Judgments, and Risk Management (continued)
Pollution Remediation
The County has estimated and reported an environmental liability of $805 in the government-wide financial
statements for governmental activities (in noncurrent liabilities). Remediation efforts are currently underway at one
County site: El Camino del Cerro.
Remediation efforts continue at the El Camino del Cerro site which is approximately bordered by the Santa Cruz
River on the west, Interstate 10 on the east and El Camino del Cerro Road on the south. The groundwater
contamination is suggested to resonate from the municipal and solid waste landfill operated on the site from 1973 to
1977.
The estimated liability was calculated based upon the expected future outlays associated with the estimate of one
pump-and-treat system for one year. There is potential for changes due to increased costs associated with sewage
disposal costs, construction costs for extraction and injection wells, and/or changes in the estimated extent of
contamination.
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Note 7: Long-Term Liabilities
The following schedule details the County’s long-term liability and obligation activity for the year ended June
30, 2012.
Balance
July 1, 2011

Additions

Balance
Due within
Reductions June 30, 2012
1 year

$

$

$

Governmental activities:
General obligation bonds
Plus unamortized deferred amount
Total general obligation bonds

452,750
3,106
455,856

456,145
5,412
461,557

$ 49,175
400
49,575

26,285
159
26,444

138,070
3,466
141,536

12,055
73
12,128

46,895
1,340
48,235

8,165
298
8,463

38,730
1,042
39,772

3,875
23
3,898

18,565
(790)

2,230
(290)
298
2,238

16,335
(500)
596
16,431

2,780
(282)
298
2,796

2,210
5,397

23,455
11,942

4,202
2,114

131,410
(35)
131,375

Transportation revenue bonds
Plus unamortized deferred amount
Total transportation revenue bonds
Certificates of participation
Plus unamortized deferred amount
Total certificates of participation
Capital leases payable:
Jail capital lease
Less unamortized deferred amount
Other capital leases
Total capital leases

76,225
3,689
79,914
32,945
3,660
36,605

894
894

17,775

Reported but unpaid losses (Note 6)
Incurred but not reported losses (Note 6)

23,456
17,339

2,209

Landfill closure and post-closure
care costs (Note 8)

19,944

928

1,033

Pollution remediation (Note 6)
Total governmental activities
long-term liabilities

$

715,013

72,830
1,383
74,213

$

20,872
228

$ 120,550
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$ 119,193

805
$

716,370

$

74,713
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Note 7: Long-Term Liabilities (continued)
Balance
July 1, 2011

Additions

Reductions

Balance
June 30, 2012

Due within
1 year

$

$

169,310
1,712
171,022

$ 14,895

5,225
3,114
8,339

348,935
30,418
379,353

9,550

3,685
(14)
3,671

23,719

2,550

23,719

2,550

1,341

15,365

Business-type activities:
Sewer revenue bonds
Plus unamortized deferred amount
Total revenue bonds payable

$

182,430
2,352
184,782

Sewer revenue obligations
Plus unamortized deferred amount
Total revenue obligations payable

165,000
11,849
176,849

Regional Wastewater Reclamation
(RWR) loans payable
Less unamortized deferred amount
Total loans payable

27,404
(14)
27,390

$ 189,160
21,683
210,843

4,657

Contracts and notes

12,049
3,080

Incurred but not reported losses
Total business-type activities
long-term liabilities

13,120
640
13,760

$

393,678

$ 225,972

14,895

9,550

3,080
$

27,111

$

592,539

$ 26,995

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS OUTSTANDING
Governmental Activities
(Payments made from property tax revenues of the Debt Service Fund)
General obligation bonds payable at June 30, 2012, consisted of the outstanding general obligation bonds
presented below. Of the total amounts originally authorized, $7,697 from the May 20, 1997, $66,318 from the
May 18, 2004, and $4,666 from the May 16, 2006 bond elections remain unissued.
The following table presents amounts outstanding by issue.
Issue
Amount
Issue
Series of 2003
50,000
Series of 2004
65,000
Series of 2005
65,000
Series of 2007
95,000
Series of 2008
100,000
Series of 2009
75,000
Series of 2009A
90,000
Series of 2009A Refunding
23,535
Series of 2011
75,000
Series of 2012A
60,000
Series of 2012B Refunding
16,225
G.O. bonds outstanding
Plus unamortized deferred amount:

Interest
Rates
4.00%
3.00 - 5.00%
3.50 - 5.00%
3.00 - 4.50%
3.50 - 4.00%
3.00 - 4.13%
3.00 - 4.00%
3.00 - 3.50%
2.00 - 5.00%
1.00 - 4.00%
2.00 - 3.00%

Maturities
2013
2013-19
2013-20
2013-21
2013-22
2013-23
2013-24
2013-16
2013-26
2013-27
2013-17

Total G.O. bonds outstanding
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Outstanding
June 30, 2012
$
3,750
32,660
35,635
62,295
71,250
38,000
73,435
10,820
52,075
60,000
16,225
456,145
5,412
$
461,557
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Note 7: Long-Term Liabilities (continued)
The following schedule details general obligation bond debt service requirements to maturity at June 30, 2012.
Year Ending June 30,
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018 - 2022
2023 - 2027
Total

Principal
49,175
41,775
37,015
38,045
39,710
189,105
61,320
$
456,145
$

Interest
16,974
15,361
13,886
12,560
11,207
34,457
5,764
$
110,209
$

REFUNDED GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
In 2012, the County defeased $15,850 of General Obligation Bonds, Series 2003 by issuing $16,225 of General
Obligation Bonds that have an average life of 3.54 years and an average interest rate of 2.355%. This refunding
transaction resulted in an economic gain of $875 and a reduction in debt service payments of $910. The
proceeds of the new bonds were placed in an irrevocable trust to provide for future debt service payments of the
refunded debt. Accordingly, the trust account assets and liability for the defeased bonds are not included in the
County’s financial statements. The Series 2003 Bonds remain legally defeased in substance at the amount
disclosed below.
Principal
Outstanding
June 30, 2012
Issue
2003 General Obligation Refunded Bonds

$

15,850

TRANSPORTATION BONDS PAYABLE
Governmental Activities
(Payments made from street and highway revenues)
Pima County transportation revenue bonds were issued to provide monies to construct improvements to the
County’s streets and highways. Of the total amount originally authorized, $89,375 from the November 4, 1997
bond election remains unissued.
Issue
Interest
Amount
Rates
Maturities
Issue
Series of 2003
35,000
4.00%
2013
Series of 2005
51,200
3.50 - 5.00%
2013-20
Series of 2007
21,000
3.25 - 4.75%
2013-22
Series of 2008
25,000
3.25 - 4.50%
2013-22
Series of 2009
15,000
3.00 - 4.00%
2013-24
Series of 2009 Refunding
8,420
3.00 - 4.00%
2013-24
Series of 2012
18,425
3.00 - 5.00%
2013-27
Series of 2012 Refunding
14,520
4.00 - 5.00%
2013-18
Transportation bonds outstanding
Plus unamortized deferred amount:
Total transportation bonds outstanding
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Outstanding
June 30, 2012
2,670
36,865
17,770
24,400
15,000
8,420
18,425
14,520
138,070
3,466
$
141,536
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Note 7: Long-Term Liabilities (continued)
The following schedule details transportation bond debt service requirements to maturity at June 30, 2012.
Year Ending June 30,
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018 - 2022
2023 - 2027
Total

Principal
12,055
12,425
12,910
13,430
14,050
59,985
13,215
$
138,070
$

Interest
5,537
4,969
4,488
3,983
3,372
8,743
1,116
$
32,208
$

Pima County has pledged future highway user revenues, net of specified operating expenses, to repay $138,070
in transportation revenue bonds issued between 2003 and 2012. Proceeds from the bonds provide financing for
construction of various highways and streets within Pima County. The bonds are payable from net highway
user revenues and are payable through 2027. Annual principal and interest payments on the bonds are expected
to require approximately 96 percent of net revenues. Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the
bonds is  $170,278.  Principal and interest paid  for bonds in the current year and  total QHWKLJKZD\XVHU
UHYHQXHVwere $15,940 and $13,499, respectively.
REFUNDED TRANSPORTATION BONDS
In 2012, the County defeased $15,270 of Transportation Bonds, Series 2003, by issuing $14,520 of
Transportation Bonds that have an average life of 4.18 years and an average interest rate of 4.195%. The
proceeds of the new bonds were placed in an irrevocable trust to provide for legal defeasance of the refunded
debt on July 1, 2013. This refunding transaction was performed primarily to restructure outstanding debt in
order to align projected future revenues with corresponding debt service requirements and resulted in a
reduction in debt service payments of $1,167 and an economic gain of $1,106. The Series 2003 Bonds remain
legally defeased in substance at the amount disclosed below.
Principal
Outstanding
June 30, 2012

Issue
2003 Transportation Refunded Bonds

$

15,270

CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION
Governmental Activities
(Payments made from General Fund revenues)
Certificates of Participation represent proportionate interests in semiannual lease payments. The County’s
obligation to make lease payments is subject to annual appropriations being made by the County for that
purpose. On May 1, 2007, the County issued Certificates of Participation Series 2007A for $28,765 to finance
the acquisition of and improvements to a 22-story office tower located in downtown Tucson and to acquire and
construct replacement facilities for the Pima County Community Services Department. On February 4, 2010,
the County issued Certificates of Participation Series 2010 for $20,000 to finance the replacement computer
enterprise system composed of servers and other hardware, computer terminals, software, and system training.
The new enterprise system will serve the County with finance, budget, procurement, human resources, and
material management systems.
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Note 7: Long-Term Liabilities (continued)
The following schedule details outstanding Certificates of Participation payable at June 30, 2012.
Issue
Interest
Amount
Rates
Maturities
Issue
Series of 2007A
$ 28,765
4.25 - 5.00%
2013-22
Series of 2010
20,000
3.00 - 5.25%
2013-19
Certificates of participation outstanding
Plus unamortized deferred amount:
Total certificates of participation outstanding

Outstanding
June 30, 2012
$
22,505
16,225
38,730
1,042
$
39,772

The following schedule details debt service requirements to maturity for the County’s Certificates of
Participation payable at June 30, 2012.
Year Ending June 30,
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018 - 2022
Total

Principal
3,875
4,020
4,170
4,345
4,570
17,750
$
38,730
$

Interest
1,766
1,627
1,472
1,297
1,074
2,269
$
9,505
$

CAPITAL LEASES
Governmental Activities
On February 1, 1997, the County entered into an agreement to sell certain jail facilities and then lease them
back for a 15-year term. The jail facilities were sold for $34,500, and the proceeds were used to finance the
construction of the baseball stadium. On September 1, 1999 and October 1, 2003, Pima County amended the
capital lease agreement between U.S. Bank Trust National Association and Pima County. The amendments
extended the lease term to 2014 and 2018 respectively, increased the range of interest rates, and increased the
County’s obligation under the lease agreement. The County has also entered into capital leases for heavy
equipment for use at its landfill sites. The outstanding balance as of June 30, 2012, for these leases totaled $596.
The net book value of assets acquired through capital leases consists of $15,908 of buildings and $867 of
equipment.
The following schedule details capital lease debt service requirements to maturity at June 30, 2012.
Governmental Activities:
Year Ending June 30,
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018

Buildings
Principal
Interest
$
2,780
$
647
2,485
511
2,605
399
2,710
293
2,820
181
2,935
62
$ 16,335
$
2,093
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Equipment
Interest
Principal
$
298
298

$

596
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Note 7: Long-Term Liabilities (continued)
SEWER REVENUE BONDS, LOANS, AND OBLIGATIONS
Business-type Activities
(Payments made from user charges received in the RWR)
Pima County sewer revenue bonds, as presented below, were issued to provide monies to construct
improvements to the County’s Regional Wastewater Reclamation system and for the defeasance of prior sewer
revenue bonds. As of June 30, 2012, the County has issued the total amounts originally authorized from the
May 20, 1997 and May 18, 2004 bond elections.
Issue
Interest
Amount
Rates
Issue
Maturities
Series of 2004 Refunding
25,770
4.60 - 5.50%
2013-15
Series of 2007
50,000
3.75 - 5.00%
2013-26
Series of 2008
75,000
4.00 - 5.00%
2013-23
Series of 2009
18,940
3.25 - 4.25%
2013-24
Series of 2011 Refunding
43,625
2.00 - 5.00%
2013-16
Sewer revenue bonds outstanding
Plus unamortized deferred amount:
Total sewer revenue bonds outstanding

Outstanding
June 30, 2012
$
10,405
38,770
73,580
16,715
29,840
169,310
1,712
$
171,022

The following schedule details sewer revenue bond debt service requirements to maturity at June 30, 2012.
Year Ending June 30,
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018 - 2022
2023 - 2026
Total

Principal
$
14,895
16,765
17,555
15,950
11,250
65,300
27,595
$
169,310

Interest
$
7,347
6,661
5,882
5,057
4,354
14,260
2,086
$
45,647

On June 17, 2010, Pima County entered into an agreement, whereby future revenues were pledged, that
provided monies to be used primarily to pay a portion of the capital project costs associated with the
construction, expansion, and improvement of sewer treatment facilities and conveyance systems for the countywide sewer system, including the Ina Road and Roger Road Wastewater Reclamation Facilities. In December
2011, the County issued Sewer Revenue Obligations Series 2011B for $189,160 to provide additional funding
for the construction and improvements of the County’s wastewater conveyance systems and treatment facilities.
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Note 7: Long-Term Liabilities (continued)

Issue
Interest
Amount
Rates
Maturities
Issue
Series of 2010
$ 165,000
2.50 - 5.00%
2014-25
Series of 2011B
189,160
1.00 - 5.00%
2013-26
Sewer revenue obligations outstanding
Plus unamortized deferred amount:
Total sewer revenue obligations outstanding

Outstanding
June 30, 2012
$
165,000
183,935
348,935
30,418
$
379,353

The following schedule details sewer revenue obligation debt service requirements to maturity at June 30, 2012.
Year Ending June 30,
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018 - 2022
2023 - 2026
Total

Principal
9,550
11,935
12,330
12,850
25,915
149,710
126,645
$
348,935
$

Interest
17,028
16,646
16,169
15,596
14,984
54,785
14,609
$
149,817
$

In prior years, the Regional Wastewater Reclamation Enterprise Fund entered into loan agreements (1996 to
provide funds for the defeasance of prior sewer revenue bonds, and 2004 which was used for construction and
improvement of wastewater treatment facilities). In October 2009, the County entered into an additional loan
agreement for the funding of construction of wastewater treatment facilities. Interest is payable semiannually
and is calculated based on the principal amount of the loan outstanding during such period.

Issue
1996 Loans payable
2004 Loans payable
2009 Loans payable

Issue
Amount
$ 11,313
19,967
8,002

Interest
Rate
Maturities
3.19%
2013
1.81%
2013-24
0.96%
2013-24
Total loans payable

Outstanding
June 30, 2012
$
1,105
15,518
7,096
$
23,719

The following schedule details loans payable debt service requirements to maturity at June 30, 2012.
Year Ending June 30,
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018 - 2022
2023 - 2026
Total

Principal
2,550
1,489
1,535
1,581
1,629
8,922
6,013
$
23,719
$

69

Interest
687
622
576
529
480
1,613
278
$
4,785
$
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Note 7: Long-Term Liabilities (continued)
Pima County has pledged future user charges, net of specified operating expenses, to repay $169,310 in sewer
revenue bonds issued between 2004 and 2011, $23,719 in sewer revenue loans issued between 1996 and 2009,
and $348,935 in sewer revenue obligations issued in 2010 and 2011. Proceeds from the bonds, loans, and
obligations provided financing for construction of various treatment facilities and sewer infrastructure within
Pima County. The bonds, loans, and obligations are payable from net sewer revenues and are payable through
fiscal year 2026. Annual principal and interest payments on the bonds and obligations are expected to require
approximately 42 percent of net revenues. The annual principal and interest payments on the loans are expected
to require approximately 9 percent of net revenues. Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the
bonds is $214,957. Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the loans is $28,504. Total principal
and interest remaining to be paid on the obligations is $498,752. Principal and interest paid for bonds, loans
and obligations in the current year and total customer net revenues were $39,586, $4,069, and $80,142,
respectively.
All sewer revenue bonds were issued and the loan agreements were executed with a first lien on the pledge of
the RWR net revenues and have restrictive covenants, primarily related to minimum utility rates and limitations
on future bond issues. The bond covenants also require the RWR to either maintain a surety bond guaranteeing
the payment of annual debt service or to maintain in the Bond Reserve Account monies equal to the average
annual debt service payment. At June 30, 2012, the RWR had a surety bond to meet the requirements of the
debt covenants. The County is also authorized to issue for the RWR additional parity bonds if certain
conditions are met, primarily that net revenues for the fiscal year immediately preceding issuance of the parity
bonds exceed 120 percent of the maximum annual debt service requirements immediately after such issuance.
CONTRACTS AND NOTES
Business-type Activities
(Payments made from restricted assets in the RWR)
Contracts and notes consist of contract retentions for several construction projects. Generally, interest is not
accrued and the timing of payments is based on completion of the related construction projects.
LEGAL DEBT MARGIN
County General Obligation Bonds
General obligation debt may not exceed 6 percent of the value of the County’s taxable property as of the latest
assessment. However, with voter approval, debt may be incurred up to 15 percent of the value of taxable
property. Pima County has received voter approval for all general obligation debt. The legal debt margin at
June 30, 2012, is as follows:

Net assessed valuation

$ 8,448,282

Debt limit (15% of net assessed valuation):

1,267,242

Less amount of debt applicable to debt limit:
General obligation bonds outstanding

$

Less fund balance in debt service fund
available for payment of general
obligation bond principal

456,145

(22,602)

Legal debt margin available

433,543
$

70

833,699
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Note 8: Landfill Liabilities
Solid Waste Landfill Closure and Post-Closure Care Costs:
State and Federal laws and regulations require the County to place a final cover on its solid waste landfill sites
when these sites stop accepting waste and to perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the sites
for thirty years after their closure. Although closure and post-closure care costs will not be paid until near or
after the date the landfills stop accepting waste, the County records a portion of these closure and post-closure
care costs as a long-term liability in each period, based on landfill capacity used as of each balance sheet date.
The $20,872 reported as landfill closure and post-closure care long-term liability within the governmental
activities represents the cumulative amount reported to date, based on the percentage used of each landfill's total
estimated capacity. The County will recognize the remaining estimated cost of closure and post-closure care of
$5,608 as the remaining estimated capacities are used. These amounts are based on what it would cost to
perform all closure and post-closure care in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012; actual costs may change due to
inflation, changes in technology, or changes in regulations.

Landfill Site

Capacity Used
June 30, 2012

Ajo
Sahuarita
Tangerine

71%
51%
95%

Estimated
Remaining
Service Life
38 Years
30 Years
5 Years

The County plans to fund the estimated closure and post-closure care costs with proceeds of general obligation
bonds and with solid waste tipping fees.
According to State and Federal laws and regulations, the County must comply with the local government
financial test requirements that ensure the County can meet the costs of landfill closure, post-closure, and
corrective action when needed. The County is in compliance with these requirements. The Ina Road Landfill
facility is closed to municipal solid waste and only receives green waste and construction debris. It is not
subject to the closure and post-closure cost requirements referred to above. Pima County estimates that it will
cost approximately $10,596 when closure occurs and plans to fund the costs with proceeds of general obligation
bonds and with solid waste tipping fees. At this time, there is no closure date available.
Note 9: Pension and Other Post (PSOR\PHQW%HQHILWV
Pension Plan Descriptions
The County contributes to the Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS), the Corrections Officer Retirement
Plan (CORP), the Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS), consisting of Pima County Sheriffs
and Pima County - County Attorney Investigators, and the Elected Officials Retirement Plan (EORP). The
EORP and the PSPRS are not described due to their relative insignificance to the County’s financial
statements. Benefits are established by state statute and generally provide retirement, death, long-term
disability, survivor, and health insurance premium benefits. The retirement benefits are generally paid at a
percentage, based on years of service, of the retiree’s average compensation. Long-term disability benefits
vary by circumstance, but generally pay a percentage of the employee’s monthly compensation. Health
insurance premium benefits are generally paid as a fixed dollar amount per month towards the retiree’s
healthcare insurance premiums, in amounts based on whether the benefit is for the retiree or for the retiree and
his or her dependents.
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Note 9: PensionV and Other 3RVW(PSOR\PHQW%HQHILWV (continued)
The ASRS administers a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan; a cost-sharing, multipleemployer defined benefit health insurance premium plan; and a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit
long-term disability plan that covers employees of the State of Arizona and employees of participating political
subdivisions, including general employees of the County and school districts. The ASRS is governed by the
Arizona State Retirement System Board according to the provisions of A.R.S. Title 38, Chapter 5, Article 2.
The PSPRS administers an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan and an agent multipleemployer defined benefit health insurance premium plan that covers public safety personnel who are regularly
assigned hazardous duty as employees of the State of Arizona or one of its political subdivisions. The PSPRS,
acting as a common investment and administrative agent, is governed by a seven-member board, known as The
Board of Trustees, and the participating local boards according to the provisions of A.R.S. Title 38, Chapter 5,
Article 4.
The CORP administers an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan and an agent multipleemployer defined benefit health insurance premium plan that covers certain employees of the State of Arizona’s
Departments of Corrections and Juvenile Corrections and County employees whose primary duties require
direct inmate contact. The CORP is governed by the Board of Trustees of PSPRS and the participating local
boards according to the provisions of A.R.S. Title 38, Chapter 5, Article 6.
Each plan issues a publicly available financial report that includes its financial statements and required
supplementary information. A report may be obtained by contacting the applicable plan.
ASRS

PSPRS and CORP

3300 N. Central Ave
Phoenix, AZ 85012
(602) 240-2000 or
(800) 621-3778

3010 East Camelback Road
Suite 200
Phoenix, AZ 85016-4416
(602) 255-5575

Funding Policy
The Arizona State Legislature establishes and may amend active plan members’ and the County’s contribution
rates for ASRS, PSPRS and CORP.
Cost-sharing plans
For the year ended June 30, 2012, active ASRS members were required by statute to contribute at the
actuarially determined rate of 10.74 percent (10.5 percent for retirement and 0.24 percent for long-term
disability) of the members’ annual covered payroll. The County is required by statute to contribute at an
actuarially determined rate. For the year ended June 30, 2012 the County contributed 10.74 percent (9.87
percent for retirement, 0.63 percent for health insurance premium, and 0.24 percent for long-term disability) of
the members’ annual covered payroll. For the year ended June 30, 2011, the County contributed 9.85
percent (9.01 percent for retirement, .59 percent for health insurance premium, and 0.25 percent for longterm disability) of the members’ annual covered payroll. For the year ended June 30, 2010, the County
contributed 9.4 percent (8.34 percent for retirement, 0.66 percent for health insurance premium, and 0.40
percent for long-term disability) of the members’ annual covered payroll.
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Note 9: Pension and Other Post (PSOR\PHQW%HQHILWV (continued)

ASRS
Retirement
Fund

Health Benefit
Supplement
Fund

Long-term
Disability
Fund

Year ended June 30, 2012
2012
2011
2010

$
$
$

21,290
21,774
20,234

$
$
$

1,359
1,426
1,601

$
$
$

518
604
970

Agent plans
For the year ended June 30, 2012, active PSPRS members were required by statute to contribute 8.65 percent of
the members’ annual covered payroll, and the County was required to contribute at the actuarially determined
rate of 24.24 percent, the aggregate of which is the actuarially required amount. As allowed by statute, the
County contributed 3.65 percent of the members’ required contribution, with the members contributing 5.00
percent. The health insurance premium portion of the contribution was set at 1.83 percent of covered payroll.
Active CORP members were required by statute to contribute 8.41 percent of the members’ annual covered
payroll, and the County was required to contribute at the actuarially determined rate of 9.38 percent, the
aggregate of which is the actuarially required amount. The health insurance premium portion of the contribution
rate was actuarially set at 1.30 percent of covered payroll.
Actuarial methods and assumptions
The contribution requirements for the year ended June 30, 2012 were established by the June 30, 2010 actuarial
valuations and those actuarial valuations were based on the following actuarial methods and assumptions.
Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability
of events in the future. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plans and the annual required
contributions are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations and new
estimates are made. The required schedule of funding progress presented as required supplementary information
provides multi-year trend information that shows whether the actuarial value of the plans’ assets are increasing
or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits.
Projections of benefits are based on 1) the plans as understood by the County and plans’ members and include
the types of benefits in force at the valuation date, and 2) the pattern of sharing benefit costs between the
County and plans’ members to that point. Actuarial calculations reflect a long-term perspective and employ
methods and assumptions that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the
actuarial value of assets. The significant actuarial methods and assumptions used are the same for all plans and
related benefits (unless noted), and the actuarial methods and assumptions used to establish the fiscal year 2012
contribution requirements, are as follows:
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Note 9: Pension and Other Post (PSOR\PHQW%HQHILWV (continued)
PSPRS
June 30, 2010
Projected unit credit

Actuarial valuation date
Actuarial cost method
Actuarial Assumptions:
Investment rate of return
Projected salary increases
includes inflation at
Amortization method
Remaining amortization period

CORP
June 30, 2010
Projected unit credit

8.50%
5.50% - 8.50%
5.50%
Level percent-of-pay closed

8.50%
5.50% - 8.50%
5.50%
Level percent-of-pay closed

26 Years for unfunded actuarial accrued liability,
20 years for excess

26 Years for unfunded actuarial accrued liability,
20 years for excess

7-year Smoothed market value

7-year Smoothed market value

Asset valuation method

Annual Pension and OPEB Cost
The County’s pension/OPEB cost for the PSPRS and CORP agent plans for the year ended June 30, 2012, and
related information follows:
PSPRS

CORP

Health
Insurance

Pension

Health
Insurance

Pension

Annual pension/Healthcare cost

$

8,445

$

638

$

2,076

$

288

Contributions made

$

8,699

$

384

$

2,218

$

146
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Note 9: Pension and Other Post Employment Benefits (continued)
Trend Information
Annual pension cost information for the current and 2 preceding years follows for the PSPRS and CORP agent
plans. Annual OPEB cost information for FY 2012, FY 2011 and FY 2010 is as follows:
Plan

Year Ended
June 30

Annual Pension/
Healthcare
Cost

Percentage of
Annual Cost
Contributed

Net Pension/
Healthcare
Obligation

PSPRS
Pension

2012

$

8,445

103%

Health insurance

2012

$

638

60%

Pension

2011

$

8,303

103%

Health insurance

2011

$

624

63%

Pension

2010

$

8,761

102%

Health insurance

2010

$

591

75%

Pension

2012

$

2,076

107%

Health insurance

2012

$

288

51%

Pension

2011

$

1,824

108%

Health insurance

2011

$

282

50%

Pension

2010

$

1,943

102%

Health insurance

2010

$

232

79%

$

254

$

232

$

151

$

142

$

140

$

49

CORP

Funded Status
The funded status of the plans, as of the most recent valuation date of June 30, 2012, along with the actuarial
assumptions and methods used in those valuations follow. Additionally, the required schedule of funding
progress, presented as Exhibit B-2 following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend
information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the
actuarial accrued liability for benefits.
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Note 9: Pension & Other Post (PSOR\PHQW%HQHILWV (continued)

PSPRS
Pension
Actuarial accrued liability

$

268,903

Actuarial value of assets

$

149,085

Unfunded actuarial accrued liability
(funding excess)

$

119,818

Funded ratio
$

Unfunded actuarial accrued liability
(funding excess) as a percentage of covered payroll

Remaining amortization period
Asset valuation method

$

$

55.4 %

Covered payroll

Actuarial valuation date
Actuarial cost method
Actuarial Assumptions:
Investment rate of return
Projected salary increases
includes inflation at
Amortization method

CORP
Health
Insurance

31,920
375.4 %

Pension

7,325

$

83,526

0

$

51,797

7,325

$

31,729

0 %
$

31,920
22.9 %

Health
Insurance
$

3,161
0

$

3,161

62.0 %
$

21,743

0 %
$

21,743

145.9 %

PSPRS
June 30, 2012
Entry Age Normal

CORP
June 30, 2012
Entry Age Normal

8.00%
5.00% - 9.00%
5.00%
Level percentage of pay closed

8.00%
5.00% - 8.25%
5.00%
Level percentage of pay closed

24 Years for unfunded ,
20 years for overfunded
7-year smoothed market

24 Years for unfunded ,
20 years for overfunded
7-year smoothed market

76

14.5 %

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2012
(in thousands)

Note 10: Interfund Transactions
A. Interfund Assets/Liabilities
Due from / Due to Other funds are used to record loans or unpaid operating transfers between funds.

$

12
$

Se
rv
ic
e

$

77

680

$

44

To
ta
l

In
te
r

R
RW

7,408

77

na
l

ta
l

$

130

Debt Service

O
t
ov her
er
nm
en
G

eb
tS
er
D

Ca
p
$

Capital Projects

vi
ce

Pr
oj
ec
ts
ita
l

al
en
er
G

Amounts recorded as due to:

General

s

Amounts recorded as due from:

$

31

$

7,528

217

1,148

3

4,892

1,575

Other Governmental

412

50

1

43

RWR

1,575
4,427

44

Other Enterprise

3

3

Internal Services

218

218

Total

$

543

$

1,901

$

77

$

12,515

$

121

$

251

$

15,408

B. Transfers
Transfers are used to record transactions between individual funds to subsidize their operations and fund debt
service payments and capital construction projects.

General
Capital Projects

$

Other Governmental

56,512

7,420

16,792 $

19,535

175
$

Other Enterprise

132

s
Se
rv
ice
To
tal

na
l
In
ter

ise
R
RW

Ot
he
rE
nt
er
pr

vi
ce
Se
r

PH
S&

5,190

8,815

RWR

s

m
en
tal
Ot
he
rG

$

Debt Service

Total

ov
er
n

Pr
oj
ec
ts
Ca
p

ita
l

al
ne
r
Ge

Amounts recorded as transfers in:

Amounts recorded as transfers out:

$
$
326

96
613 $

$
18

254

65,677

68

25,237

26,110

45,820

343

475

1,000
$

36,770 $

5,190

1,000
132 $

79,012 $

77

26,436 $

709 $

18 $

322 $

143,399
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Note 11: Construction and Other Significant Commitments
At June 30, 2012, Pima County had the following major contractual commitments related to Facilities
Management; General Government; Natural Resources, Parks and Recreation; Pima Health System and
Services; Regional Flood Control; Regional Wastewater Reclamation; and Transportation.
Facilities Management
At June 30, 2012, the Pima County Facilities Management Department had construction contractual
commitments of $42,025 and other contractual commitments related to service contracts of $6,525. Funding for
these expenditures will be provided from general fund revenues.
General Government
At June 30, 2012, Pima County had contractual commitments related to service contracts for Community
Development and Neighborhood Conservation Department of $11,051, Office of Court Appointed Counsel of
$55,324 and, Institutional Health of $63,593. Procurement Department had construction contractual
commitments of $95,429 and other contractual commitments related to service contracts of $3,851. Sheriff
Department had contractual commitments related to construction contracts of $3,275 and other related
contractual commitments related to service contracts of $8,960. Funding for these expenditures will be
provided from general fund revenues.
Natural Resources, Parks and Recreation
At June 30, 2012, Pima County had contractual commitments related to construction contracts for Natural
Resources, Parks and Recreation of $14 and other contractual commitments related to services of $20,032.
Funding for these expenditures will be provided from general obligation bonds.
Pima Health System & Services
At June 30, 2012, Pima County had contractual commitments related to service contracts for Pima Health
System & Services of $18,922. Funding for these expenses will be primarily provided from federal and state
funding sources.
Regional Flood Control
At June 30, 2012, the Regional Flood Control fund had construction contractual commitments of $790 and other
contractual commitments related to service contracts of $7,196. Funding for these expenditures will be
primarily from tax levy revenues.
Regional Wastewater Reclamation
At June 30, 2012, the Regional Wastewater Reclamation Enterprise Fund had construction contractual
commitments of $77,916 and other contractual commitments related to service contracts of $30,958. Funding
for these expenses will be primarily from Sewer Revenue Obligations and related fees.
Transportation
At June 30, 2012, the Pima County Transportation Department had construction contractual commitments of
$37,415 and other contractual commitments related to service contracts of $21,481. Funding for these
expenditures will be primarily provided from Transportation Revenue Bonds and Highway User Tax Revenue,
the primary source of revenue for the Transportation Department.
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Note 12: Subsequent Event
Sewer System Revenue Obligations – On December 1, 2012 the RWR will issue Series 2012A Obligations in
the amount of $150,000 to provide funds for the construction of improvements and extensions to the sewer
system of the County.
Interest is payable semiannually and is calculated based on the principal amount of the loan outstanding during
such period. Payments will be made from user charges received in the Regional Wastewater Reclamation
Enterprise Fund.
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APPENDIX F
BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM
THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS APPENDIX HAS BEEN PROVIDED BY DTC.
NO
REPRESENTATION IS MADE BY THE COUNTY, BOND COUNSEL, OR THE UNDERWRITER AS TO THE
ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF SUCH INFORMATION PROVIDED BY DTC OR AS TO THE ABSENCE
OF MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGES IN SUCH INFORMATION SUBSEQUENT TO THE DATE HEREOF.
DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully-registered securities
registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an
authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered Bond certificate will be issued for each maturity of the
Bonds, each in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC.
DTC, the world’s largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York
Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the
Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code,
and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and
municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct
Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales
and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and
pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities
certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust
companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly owned subsidiary of The
Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities
Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC
is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both
U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear
through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect
Participants”). DTC has a Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on
file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com.
Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will
receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Bond
(“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive
written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written
confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct
Participant or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of
ownership interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct Participants and
Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates
representing their ownership interests in Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Bonds
is discontinued.
To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the
name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such
other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual
Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts
such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct Participants and Indirect
Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.
Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to
Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by
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arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.
Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of
significant events with respect to the Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the
Bond Resolution. For example, Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the
Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial
Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent and request that
copies of notices be provided directly to them.
Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Bonds
unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC
mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent as soon as possible after the record date. The
Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts
Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).
Principal, interest and redemption payments on the Bonds will be made by the Bond Registrar and Paying
Agent to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s
practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information
from the County or the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent, on payable date in accordance with their respective
holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing
instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form
or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, the Bond Registrar
and Paying Agent or the County, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to
time. Payment of principal, interest and redemption proceeds to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be
requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent,
disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such
payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct Participants and Indirect Participants.
DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Bonds at any time by giving
reasonable notice to the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent or the County. Under such circumstances, in the event
that a successor depository is not obtained, Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered.
The County may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a
successor securities depository). In that event, Bond certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC.
NEITHER THE COUNTY NOR THE BOND REGISTRAR AND PAYING AGENT WILL HAVE
RESPONSIBILITY OR OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPANTS WITH RESPECT TO (1) THE ACCURACY OF
ANY RECORDS MAINTAINED BY DTC, ANY DIRECT PARTICIPANT, OR ANY INDIRECT
PARTICIPANT; (2) ANY NOTICE THAT IS PERMITTED OR REQUIRED TO BE GIVEN TO THE OWNERS
OF THE BONDS UNDER THE BOND RESOLUTION; (3) THE SELECTION BY DTC OR ANY DIRECT
PARTICIPANT OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANT OF ANY PERSON TO RECEIVE PAYMENT IN THE EVENT
OF A PARTIAL REDEMPTION OF THE BONDS; (4) THE PAYMENT BY DTC OR ANY DIRECT
PARTICIPANT OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANT OF ANY AMOUNT WITH RESPECT TO THE PRINCIPAL OR
REDEMPTION PREMIUM, IF ANY, OR INTEREST DUE WITH RESPECT TO THE BONDS; (5) ANY
CONSENT GIVEN OR OTHER ACTION TAKEN BY DTC AS THE OWNER OF BONDS; OR (6) ANY
OTHER MATTERS.
So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Bonds, as nominee for DTC, references herein to
owner of the Bonds (other than under the caption “TAX MATTERS”) shall mean Cede & Co., as aforesaid, and
shall not mean the Beneficial Owners of such Bonds.
When reference is made to any action which is required or permitted to be taken by the Beneficial Owners,
such reference shall only relate to those permitted to act (by statute, regulation or otherwise) on behalf of such
Beneficial Owners for such purposes. When notices are given, they shall be sent by the County or the Bond
Registrar and Paying Agent to DTC only.
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DEPOSITORY TRUST AGREEMENT
between
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
and
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
as Trustee and Depository Trustee
Dated as ofJune 1, 2013

providing payment for certain
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2004
and
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2005

DEPOSITORY TRUST AGREEMENT

THIS DEPOSITORY TRUST AGREEMEN . F. dated as of June 1, 2013 (this
"Agrcincrlt"), between PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA (the - (ounty") and U.S. 13ANI:
NA LIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee under the hereinafter described Trust Agreement and
Depoitory Trustee (the "Depository Trustee" or the - Trustee . ),
WITNI SSETH:
WHEREAS, the County has previously issued, and now desires to refund in advance of
their respective maturities, the bonds identified on Exhibits A-1 and A-2 attached hereto
(collectively, the "Bonds to be Refunded"); and
WHEREAS, the County, by a resolution adopted on May 7, 2013 (the "Bond
Resolution - ), has authorized the issuance and sale of the County's General Obligation Refunding
Bonds, Series 2013B (the - 2013B Bonds"), and the application of the proceeds from the sale of
such bonds to refund and redeem in advance of their maturities the Bonds to be Refunded and
pay certain costs of issuance relating to the 2013B Bonds (the - Bond Proceeds' and
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Bond Resolution, the County has sold and delivered the
2013B Bonds to the purchaser thereof against payment therefor and the Bond Proceeds shall be
applied to pay the issuance costs of the 2013B Bonds and to purchase obligations issued or
guaranteed by the United States Government (hereinafter referred to as "Government
Obligations"), the maturing principal of and investment income from which will be sufficient to
pay the principal of, premium, and interest on the Bonds to be Refunded as such becomes due
and to redeem the Bonds to be Refunded on the respective dates specified in Exhibits A-1 and A2 attached hereto: and
WHEREAS, the Bond Resolution approves the execution and delivery of this Agreement
with the Depository Trustee for the purpose of creating an irrevocable trust for the administration
and safekeeping of the Government Obligations and other moneys to be held in trust for, and
irrevocably pledged to, the payment of the Bonds to be Refunded; and
WHEREAS. the Depository Trustee agrees to accept and administer the trust for such
purpose created hereby,
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, conditions and
agreements hereinafter contained, IT IS HEREBY AGREED as follows:
Section I.
Definitions. For the purpose of this Depository Trust Agreement, unless
the context otherwise requires, the following words and phrases shall have the following
meanings:

"2004 Bonds to be Refunded" means the County's General Obligation Bonds, Series
2004. identified on Exhibit A-1 attached hereto.
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"2005 Bonds to be Refunded" means the County's
2005, identified on Fxhibit . -2 attached hereto.

Obligation Bonds, Series

"Bonds to be Refunded" means, collectively, the 2004 Bonds to be Refunded and the
2005 Bonds to be Refunded.
Acquired Obligations" means any security listed in Exhibit B attached hereto.
"Bond Counsel - means a firm of attorneys of national reputation acceptable to the
Depository Trustee and experienced in the field of municipal bonds whose opinions are generally
accepted by purchasers of municipal bonds.
Business Day" means a day of the year (i) which is not a Saturday or Sunday, (ii) on
which banks located in the city in which the principal corporate trust office of the Depository
Trustee is located are not required or authorized to remain closed and (iii) on which the New
York Stock Exchange is not closed.
-

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
"Depository Trust Agreement" means this Depository Trust Agreement, dated as of
June 1,2013, between the County and the Depository Trustee.
Depository Trustee" means U.S. Bank National Association and its successors, as the
Depository Trustee under this Depository Trust Agreement.
-

"Expense Account" means the account so named created pursuant to Section 12 hereof.
"Report" means the written verification report addressed to the Depository Trustee by
Grant Thornton LLP, certified public accountants, of the accuracy of the arithmetical
computations of the adequacy of the maturing principal of and interest on the investments held
by Depository Trustee in the trust accounts created hereunder to pay, when due, principal,
premium, if any, and interest, on the Bonds to be Refunded as the same become due.
"State"means the State of Arizona.
"Trust Account - means the trust fund so named created pursuant to Section 3 hereof.
Section 2.
Acknowledgment by Depository Trustee. The Depository Trustee
acknowledges receipt of copies of this Depositor} Trust Agreement and the Report.
Section 3.

Creation of Trust Account; Payment of Debt; Costs of Issuance Fund.

The County hereby declares this Depository Trust Agreement to be an irrevocable
(a)
trust made for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds to be Refunded, as their respective interests
may appear (the -Beneficiaries")

In the e cat that this Depository Trust .\ureement is e er declared \ nd. made voidacdo,
terminate( or canceled ror any reason., the e \press trust created herein shall continue ldr die
benefit or the Beneficiaries. and the Count\ shall Use its best C1 '1.)11.s to obtain a qualified
successor hank to act as Depositor\ trustee hereunder. In the rurther event that 110 iiccessor
leftisitor ■ trustee shall qualiiV to succeed as trustee hereunder. the trust herein declared shall not
terminate. and the County shall hold the mone■ s and Acquired Obligations then on deposit in the
hereinafier described 'Frost Account in trust for the Beneficiaries.

The County shall cause to be deposited with the Depository Trustee the aggregate
(b)
sum of $41,733,008.07. The Depository Trustee shall deposit $221.285.00 of such moneys in
the Expense Account described in Section 12 hereof. The Depository Trustee agrees to hold the
remaining amount of the deposit and all investments made with such moneys and all earnings
from investment and reinvestment of such moneys as a special trust fund (the "Trust Account - )
separate from all other funds and investments held by the Depository Trustee.
The amounts credited to the Trust Account, other than an initial cash balance of
(c)
$343.45, shall be applied immediately to create the portfolio of moneys and Acquired
Obligations described in Exhibit B attached hereto. The Depository Trustee shall keep adequate
and accurate records of such moneys, Acquired Obligations and investment earnings thereon and
all payments from the Trust Account. The Depository Trustee shall not redeem the Acquired
Obligations in advance of their maturity dates except as provided in this Depository Trust
Agreement. Amounts earned on investments held in the Trust Account shall be deposited, as and
when the same are earned, thereto.
If on the date of the deposit to the Trust Account (the - Closing Date"), the
(d)
Depository Trustee shall not receive from the seller thereof any of the Acquired Obligations
listed in Exhibit B attached hereto ("Failed Escrow Securities"), the Depository Trustee shall
accept, as temporary substitutes, at the same purchase price, other Government Obligations
(collectively, "Substitute Escrow Securities"), the payments on which are scheduled to provide,
as determined by an independent certified public accountant, at least the same amounts of
moneys on or before the same dates as the Failed Escrow Securities for which they are
substituted. The Depository Trustee may rely upon the opinion of independent public
accountants that the condition in the preceding sentence is satisfied.
If Substitute Escrow Securities are delivered thereafter, upon delivery by the seller to the
Depository Trustee of Failed Escrow Securities together with any amounts paid thereon
subsequent to the Closing Date. the Depository Trustee shall return to the seller an amount of
Substitute Escrow Securities, and any amounts paid thereon subsequent to the Closing Date,
corresponding to the Failed Escrow Securities which the Substitute Escrow Securities replaced.
The moneys and Acquired Obligations credited to the Trust Account and all proceeds
thereof are pledged solely to payment of principal of and interest or redemption premium on the
Bonds to be Refunded to the extent necessary for such payment and shall be used solely for that
purpose except as otherwise expressly provided herein. To secure such payment, the
Beneficiaries are granted a security interest in such moneys and Acquired Obligations and
proceeds thereof to the extent necessary for such payment.
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Section 4.

Payment of Bonds to be Refunded; Notices.

The Depository Trustee is hereby irrevocably authorized and directed to remit to
(a)
the Paying Agent or Paying Agents for the Bonds to be Refunded in sufficient time to make
payments of principal. premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds to be Refunded, when due. the
respective amounts due on such payment dates for the Bonds to be Refunded in accordance with
Exhibits 0-1 and D-2 attached hereto. The Paying Agents for the Bonds to be Refunded are set
forth on Exhibits A-1 and A-2 attached hereto.
The Depository Trustee is also authorized and directed to mail notice of the
(b)
advance refunding of the 2004 Bonds to be Refunded, in substantially the form set forth as
Exhibit C-1 attached hereto, to each registered owner of a 2004 Bond to be Refunded, such
mailing to take place within a reasonable time after creation of the Trust Account. The
Depository Trustee is also authorized and directed to mail notice of the advance refunding of the
2005 Bonds to be Refunded, in substantially the form set forth as Exhibit C-2 attached hereto, to
each registered owner of a 2005 Bond to be Refunded, such mailing to take place within a
reasonable time after creation of the Trust Account.
The Depository Trustee hereby acknowledges receipt of notice of the County's
(c)
irrevocable election to call the Bonds to be Refunded for redemption on the respective
redemption dates set forth on Exhibit A-1 or A-2 and the Depository Trustee is hereby also
authorized and directed to mail notices of redemption to each registered owner of a Bond to be
Refunded, such mailing to take place at least 30 but not more than 60 days prior to the
redemption dates.
Application of Moneys; Reinvestment; Liquidation. The Depository
Section 5.
Trustee shall, at all times, hold the Acquired Obligations and all moneys in the Trust Account for
the account of the Bond Fund of the County, but for the benefit of the Beneficiaries, shall
maintain the Trust Account wholly segregated from other funds and securities on deposit with
the Depository Trustee, shall never commingle such Acquired Obligations and other moneys
with other funds or obligations of the Depository Trustee, and shall never at any time use, loan or
borrow the same in any way.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Depository Trustee may liquidate investments and
reinvestments held in the Trust Account in advance of their maturity dates, and may reinvest or
otherwise disburse the liquidation proceeds or other amounts only upon receipt of:
Written instructions from the County to do so;
An opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such action will not adversely
(b)
affect the exclusion from gross income for purposes of Federal income taxation of the interest
income on the Bonds to be Refunded, and will not cause the Bonds to be Refunded to become
arbitrage bonds" as that term is defined in Section 148 of the Code; and
-

A report from an independent certified public accountant or firm of independent
(c)
certified public accountants NN hose members are also members of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and acceptable to the Depository Trustee and the County, verifying
We accuracy of the arithmetical computations of the adequacy of the proceeds from the
liquidation, if any, together with any additional deposits and the maturing principal of and
interest on the Acquired Obligations, if any, to be acquired by the Depository Trustee in
accordance with the County's instructions, to pay, when due, without reinvestment the amounts
to be paid from the Trust Account as provided herein.
Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, all reinvestments shall be in
Acquired Obligations, and the Depository Trustee shall rely upon the report to show that such
Acquired Obligations shall mature on or before the dates required to pay, when due, the principal
of and interest and redemption premium, if any, of the Bonds to be Refunded and in an amount at
least equal to the purchase price thereof.
Security for Deposits. Any moneys credited to the Trust Account which
Section 6.
are not invested in Acquired Obligations as provided herein, shall be held as cash and shall at all
times be insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or be secured by Acquired
Obligations at least equal in value to the amount of such moneys.
Section 7.

Certain Covenants. The County covenants that:

It will take no action or fail to take any action, either directly or through affiliates,
(a)
which action or failure to take action would adversely affect the exemption from federal income
taxation of the interest income on any of the Bonds to be Refunded.
It will not take or direct any action which will cause the Bonds to be Refunded to
(b)
become "arbitrage bonds" as that term is defined in Section 148(a) of the Code.
It will preserve the validity of the Bonds to be Refunded and the exclusion from
(c)
gross income for purposes of federal income tax of interest on the Bonds to be Refunded.
Acceptance. The Depository Trustee shall have only the duties set forth
Section 8.
herein with no liability in connection with any action or omission to act hereunder, except for its
own negligence, willful misconduct or breach of trust, and no liability for payments on the
Bonds to be Refunded except from the funds herein pledged for that purpose. By executing this
Depository Trust Agreement, the Depository Trustee shall evidence its acceptance of the powers,
duties and responsibilities bestowed upon and requested of the Depository Trustee under the
terms hereof.
Reports. On or prior to July 15, 2013, January 15, 2014, July 15, 2014,
Section 9.
January 15, 2015 and July 15, 2015, the Depository Trustee shall submit to the County a report
covering all moneys it shall have received and all payments it shall have made under the
provisions hereof for the immediately preceding semiannual period until the Bonds to be
Refunded have been paid and redeemed.
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Section 10.

Responsibilities and Indemnification.

(a)
The Depository Trustee shall have no responsibility or liability for any action
taken in accordance with the express provisions hereof and shall have no liability for the
genuineness of any investments made or received hereunder or for any loss resulting from any
investments made pursuant hereto. In the event the Depository Trustee is required or permitted
hereby, or is requested hereunder, to take any action (or refrain from taking any action) which
exposes the Depository Trustee to unreasonable risk of liability or expense, the Depository
Trustee shall have no duty to take (or refrain from taking) any such action until the Depository
Trustee has been furnished with indemnity adequate, in its sole judgment, to protect the
Depository Trustee, its directors, officers, employees, agents and attorneys for, from and against
such liability or expense, and all reasonable costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys'
fees) in connection therewith, or until its duty as to any such action (or inaction) shall have been
finally adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction and all applicable periods in which to
appeal or seek appellate review have expired.
(b)
The County agrees, to the extent permitted by law, to indemnify and hold the
Depository Trustee, its directors, officers, employees, agents and attorneys harmless for, from
and against any and all claims, liabilities, judgments, losses, costs and expenses (including
reasonable attorneys' fees) arising from the Depository Trustee's performance of its duties
hereunder. Such indemnification shall not extend to claims successfully brought against the
Depository Trustee, its directors, officers, employees, agents or attorneys, for, or liabilities,
losses, costs and expenses incurred as a result of, the Depository Trustee's own negligence,
willful misconduct or breach of trust. In the event any action or proceeding is instituted or
pending against the Depository Trustee, its directors, officers, employees, agents or attorneys by
reason of the Depository Trustee's performance of its duties hereunder, the County may, at its
election, assume the defense of any such action or proceeding with counsel satisfactory to the
indemnified party. If any such action or proceeding includes any claims alleging the Depository
Trustee's own negligence, willful misconduct or breach of trust in the performance of its duties
hereunder, the indemnified party shall reimburse the County its expenses (including reasonable
attorneys' fees), if any, of assuming the defense of such action or proceeding if it is determined
by a final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction that the said party is not entitled to be
indemnified by the County as authorized in this Section 10(b). The County may, without the
prior approval of the indemnified party, settle any such action or proceeding on such terms as
may be acceptable to the County provided the County assumes all responsibility and liability in
connection with any such settlement. Any such settlement shall not, of itself, create a
presumption as to the merits of any claims alleging the Depository Trustee's own negligence,
willful misconduct or breach of trust in the performance of its duties hereunder.
Section 11.
Fees. The Depository Trustee hereby acknowledges receipt of its fee in
the amount of $500.00. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, such fees, which the
County hereby agrees to pay on or promptly after the Closing Date, constitute all payments the
Depository Trustee shall receive with respect to services hereunder; provided, however, that the
County also agrees to pay or reimburse the Depository Trustee for any unusual or extraordinary
costs incurred by it in performance of its duties and to pay the Depository Trustee its usual and
customary fees and to reimburse the Depository Trustee for its reasonable costs (including

reasonable attorne\ s lees) in connection \\ ith the Fedemption of the Bonds to be Refunded.
Nom itlistandinL2 the foreLloin. the Depositor\ 1 iui cc hul1 be oblillated to perlOrm its duties
hereunder if i[ L.loe; not reeek e the lees payable to it hereunder. l..xccpt as specifically pr o\ ided
in the first sentent.:e of Section 16 hereof. the Depository Trustee shall ha e no lien nor assert any
lien on mone ■ s or in\ estments in the Trust Account securing payment of its fees or expenses.
Expense Account. The Depository Trustee is hereby authorized and
Section 12.
directed to pay solely from the $221,285.00 of moneys deposited with the Depository Trustee as
described in Section 3 hereof for such purpose, the costs and expenses associated with the
prepayment and defeasance of Bonds to be Refunded to the parties and in the amounts set forth
on Schedule I attached hereto, upon presentation of an invoice, except the Depository Trustee
does not need to present an invoice. Amounts deposited with the Depository Trustee for such
purpose shall be held in a separate account (the "Expense Account") and shall not constitute a
part of the Trust Account created with respect to the Bonds to be Refunded. Any moneys
remaining in the Expense Account after all authorized expenses have been paid or after
December 31. 2013 shall be transferred into the Bond Fund established in the Bond Resolution.
Amounts in the Expense Account shall be invested as directed by the County in writing.
Section 13. Assignment. The rights and duties of the Depository Trustee under this
Depository Trust Agreement shall not be assigned to any other person, corporation, partnership
or trustee unless the Depository Trustee is required by law to divest, or does divest, itself of its
trust department or unless the Depository Trustee shall sell or assign substantially all of its trust
business in which event the trust hereunder shall be continued by the Depository Trustee's
successor in interest.
Section 14. Right to Deal in Bonds. The Depository Trustee may in good faith buy,
sell or hold and deal in any Bonds to be Refunded with like effect as if it were not such
Depository Trustee but such action shall not abrogate, alter or diminish any duty of the
Depository Trustee as the depository trustee under this Depository Trust Agreement.
Irrevocability; Amendments. The parties hereto recognize that the
Section 15.
holders of the Bonds to be Refunded have a beneficial and vested interest in the moneys and
investments in the Trust Account to pay when due principal of and redemption premiums, if any,
on the Bonds to be Refunded. It is therefore recited, understood and agreed by the parties hereto
that this Depository Trust Agreement shall not be revoked or amended without the consent of the
holders of 100% of the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds to be Refunded, except that this
Depository Trust Agreement may be amended without notice to or consent of the holders of the
Bonds to be Refunded for one or more of the following purposes:

To insert any unintentionally omitted material or to cure any formal defect or
(a)
omission or to cure any ambiguity, provided any such amendment shall not, in the opinion of the
Depository Trustee (in reliance upon an opinion of counsel), materially adversely affect the
interests of the holders of the Bonds to be Refunded;
To grant or confer upon the holders of the Bonds to be Refunded any additional
(b)
rights, remedies, powers or authority that may lawfully be granted or conferred upon them;
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(c)
To secure or provide additional revenues or security or reser\ cs fir the payment
of the Bonds to be Refunded; or
(d)
To reflect the severance of any section, paragraph, subdi \ ision, sentence, clause
or phrase hereof which has been held illegal or unenforceable.
Section 16.
Termination. When all amounts payable on the Bonds to be Refunded
have become due and the Depository Trustee has on deposit all moneys necessary for the
payment of such amounts, and in any event on the Business Day following the date on which the
last of the Bonds to be Refunded is to be retired, the Depository Trustee shall deposit all moneys
and investments credited to the Trust Account and not needed for payment of principal of and
interest on the Bonds to be Refunded or fees and expenses of the Depository Trustee into the
Bond Fund established in the Bond Resolution. Any moneys held by the Depository Trustee or
any paying agent for the payment of the principal of and interest on any Bonds to be Refunded
remaining unclaimed for four years after the principal of all Bonds to be Refunded has become
due and payable shall then be paid to the Bond Fund established in the Bond Resolution and the
holders of any Bonds to be Refunded not theretofore presented for payment shall thereafter be
entitled to look only to the County for payment thereof and all liability of the Depository Trustee
and any paying agent with respect to such moneys shall thereupon cease and this Depository
Trust Agreement shall terminate. Any claims of the Depository Trustee against the County for
amounts due the Depository Trustee pursuant to Sections 10 and 11 hereof shall survive the
termination of this Depository Trust Agreement.
Section 17.
Severability. If any section, paragraph, subdivision, sentence, clause or
phrase hereof shall for any reason be held illegal or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect
the validity of the remaining portions hereof. If any provision hereof contains an ambiguity
which may be construed as either valid or invalid, the valid construction shall be adopted.
Section 18.
Applicable Laws. This Depository Trust Agreement shall be governed
exclusively by the provisions hereof and by the applicable laws of the State.
Section 19.
Headings for Reference Only. The headings herein are inserted for
reference only and shall not define or limit the provision hereof.
Section 20.
Counterparts. This Depository Trust Agreement may be executed in
.C\ eral counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but all of which together shall constitute
but one instrument.
Section 21.
Notices. All notices. consents or other communications required or
permitted to be made hereunder to the parties hereto shall be deemed sufficient if given in
writing, addressed and mailed by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid as follows:
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To the County:

To the Depository
Trustee or the Trustee:

flPima County, Arizona
130 \Vest Congress. 6th Floor
Tucson. Arizona 85701
Attention: Finance and Risk Management Director

U.S. Bank National Association
101 North First Avenue, Suite 1600
Phoenix, Arizona 85003
Attention: Corporate Trust Services

or to such other address as such party may hereafter designate by notice in writing addressed and
mailed or delivered to each other party hereto.
Section 22.
Statutory Notice Regarding Cancellation of Contracts. As required by
the provisions of Arizona Revised Statutes Section 38-511, as amended, notice is hereby given
that the County may cancel any contract, without penalty or further obligation, made by the
County if any person significantly involved in initiating, negotiating, securing, drafting or
creating the contract on behalf of the County is, at any time while the contract or any extension
of the contract is in effect, an employee of any other party to the contract in any capacity or a
consultant to any other party of the contract with respect to the subject matter of the contract.
The cancellation shall be effective when written notice from the County's Board of Supervisors
is received by all other parties to the contract unless the notice specifies a later time. All parties
represent that to the best of their knowledge, no basis exists for the County to cancel this
Depository Trust Agreement pursuant to Arizona Revised Statutes Section 38-511 as of the date
hereof. The Depository covenants not to employ as an employee, an agent or, with respect to the
subject matter of this Depository Trust Agreement, a consultant, any person significantly
involved in initiating, negotiating, securing, drafting or creating this Depository Trust Agreement
on behalf of the County within 3 years from execution of this Depository Trust Agreement,
unless a waiver of A.R.S. § 38-511 is provided by the County's Board of Supervisors.
Section 23.

Certain Warranties and Certifications from the Depository Trustee.

(a)
To the extent applicable under Arizona Revised Statutes ( -A.R.S.") § 41-4401,
the Depository Trustee, in its capacity as Depository Trustee hereunder, including its
subcontractors who work on this Depository Trust Agreement, warrants compliance with all
federal immigration laws and regulations that relate to its employees and compliance with the E
verify requirements under A.R.S. § 23-214(A). The breach by the Depository Trustee of the
foregoing shall he deemed a material breach by the Depository Trustee of this Depository Trust
Agreement and may result in the termination of its role as Depository Trustee hereunder and its
replacement with a successor in such capacity. The County retains the legal right to randomly
inspect the papers and records of the Depository Trustee to ensure that the Depository Trustee is
complying with the above-mentioned warranty. The Depository Trustee shall keep such papers
and records open for random inspection by the County during normal business hours. The
Depository Trustee shall cooperate with the random inspections by the County, including
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the Count) entry rights onto its property to perform such random inspections and
CLLfli in
NA an ing its respective rights to :cep such papers and records confidential.
-391.06 and 35-393.06, the Depository Trustee certifies
Pursuant to A.R.S.
(b)
LISJless operation in Sudan or Iran. For the purpose of this
l b usiness
that it does not ha \e a scruti
subsection, the term "scrutiniied busincss operations" shall have the meanings set forth in A.R.S.
§§ 35-391 and 35-393, as applicable. If the County determines that the Depository Trustee
submitted a false certification, the County may impose remedies as provided by law, including
termination of its role as Depository Trustee hereunder and its replacement with a successor in
such capacity.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the purtie. hereto have eLiused this De] os. nry Trust
A!.,2reement to be signed in their names and on their behalf by their dal \ authorized olticers, all as
of the date and ■ car first above written.
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as
Trustee and Depository Trustee

By:
Vice President

PIMA COUNTY: AR

By:

ATTEST:

By:

APPROVED AS TO FORM:
SQUIRE SANDERS (US) LLP,
Bond Counsel

By:

[Signature page of Depository Trust Agreement]

EXHIBIT A-1
TO
DEPOSITORY TRUST AGREEMENT

2004 Bonds to be Refunded

General Obligation Bonds, Series 2004

Maturity
Date
(July 1)

Outstanding
Principal
Amount

Principal
Amount
Refunded

Redemption
Date

2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

$4,415.000
4,635,000
4.870,000
5,115,000
5,385,000

$4,415,000
4,635,000
4,870,000
5,115,000
5.385,000

July 1,2014
July 1, 2014
July 1,2014
July 1,2014
July 1, 2014

Bond Registrar and Paying Agent: U.S. Bank National Association

Redemption
Price
100%
100
100
100
100

TO
DEPOSITORY TRLST AGREEMENT
2005 Bonds to be Refunded

General Obligation Bonds, Series 2005
Maturity
Date
(July 1)

Outstandinp,
Principal
Amount

Principal
Amount
Refunded

Redemption
Date

2017
2018
2020

$4,530,000
4,735,000
5,170,000

$4,530,000
4,735,000
5,170,000

July 1, 2015
July 1,2015
July 1, 2015

Bond Registrar and Paying Agent: U.S. Bank National Association

Redemption
Price
100%
100
100

EXHIBIT- B
TO
DEPOSITORY TRUST AGREEMENT
ACQUIRED OBLIGATIONS FOR BONDS TO BE REFUNDED

Type
Treasury Note
Treasury Note
Treasury Note
Treasury Note
Treasury Note

Maturity
Date
06/30/13
12/31/13
06/30/14
12/31/14
06/30/15

$

Par Amount

Coupon

271,000.00
270,000.00
24,700,000.00
131,000.00
14,573.000.00

0.375%
1.500
2.625
2.625
1.875

Accrued
Interest

Cost
$

$19.945.000.00

271,090.87
272,145.89
25,353,540.76
135,965.56
15,077,809.74

$41,110,552.82

B

$

437.94
1,745.30
279,410.22
1,481.89
117,751.45

$400,826.80

Purchase Price
$

271.528.81
273,891.19
25,632,950.98
137,447.45
15,195.561.19

$41,511,379.62

F.X111131T C-1
TO
DEPOSITORY TRUST AGREEMENT
NOTICE OF ADVANCE REFUNDING

THIS IS NOT A NOTICE OF REDEMPTION. THIS NOTICE IS FOR
INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY AND DOES NOT REQUIRE OR
SOLICIT THE PRESENTMENT TO SURRENDER OR EXCHANGE THE
DESCRIBED BONDS AT THIS TIME.
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
SERIES 2004
Dated: June 1, 2004
Maturity Dates
Being Refunded

Outstanding
Balance

Principal Balances
Being Refunded

CUSIP
(721663)

July 1,2015
July 1, 2016
July 1,2017
July 1,2018
July 1, 2019

$4,415,000
4,635,000
4,870,000
5,115,000
5,385,000

$4,415,000
4,635,000
4,870,000
5,115,000
5,385,000

RU8
RV6
RW4
RX2
RYO

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the above-referenced bonds have been refunded in
advance of their stated maturity dates by the establishment of an irrevocable trust account with
U.S. Bank National Association. as Trustee. According to a Report by Grant Thornton LLP,
certified public accountants, the moneys and obligations issued or guaranteed by the United
States of America, which have been deposited in the irrevocable trust are scheduled to provide
funds in amounts sufficient to pay interest due on the bonds prior to their redemption date, and
call for redemption and to redeem on their redemption date, the principal called for redemption
plus the indicated redemption premium expressed as a percentage of the principal amount of the
bonds redeemed. and accrued and unpaid interest due on the bonds. The redemption date for the
above-referenced bonds is July 1,2014.
The CUSIP Numbers provided are listed as a convenience only and the Depository
Trustee does not certify as to their correctness or completeness.
Dated:

,20l3.
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Depository Trustee
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EXHIBIT C-2
TO
DEPOSITORY TRUST AGREEMENT
NOTICE OF ADVANCE REFUNDING
THIS IS NOT A NOTICE OF REDEMPTION. THIS NOTICE IS FOR
INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY AND DOES NOT REQUIRE OR
SOLICIT THE PRESENTMENT TO SURRENDER OR EXCHANGE THE
DESCRIBED BONDS AT THIS TIME.
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
SERIES 2005
Dated: May 1, 2005
Maturity Dates
Being Refunded
July 1,2017
July 1,2018
July 1, 2020

Outstanding
Balance

Principal Balances
Being Refunded

CUSIP
(721663)

$4,530.000
4,735,000
5,170,000

$4.530.000
4,735,000
5,170,000

SL7
SM5
SP8

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the above-referenced bonds have been refunded in
advance of their stated maturity dates by the establishment of an irrevocable trust account with
U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee. According to a Report by Grant Thornton LLP,
certified public accountants, the moneys and obligations issued or guaranteed by the United
States of America, which have been deposited in the irrevocable trust are scheduled to provide
funds in amounts sufficient to pay interest due on the bonds prior to their redemption date, and
call for redemption and to redeem on their redemption date, the principal called for redemption
plus the indicated redemption premium expressed as a percentage of the principal amount of the
bonds redeemed, and accrued and unpaid interest due on the bonds. The redemption date for the
abo\ e-referenced bonds is July 1,2015.
The CUSIP Numbers provided are listed as a convenience only and the Depository
Trustee does not certify as to their correctness or completeness.
Dated:

,2013.
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Depository Trustee

EXHIBIT D-1
TO
DEPOSITORY TRUST AGREEMENT
DEBT SERVICE
2004 Bonds to be Refunded
Payment
Date

Principal
Retired

Interest
$ 459,525.00

07/01/14

-0-024,420,000.00

TOTAL

$24,420,000.00

$1,378,575.00

07/01/13
01/01/14

$

459,525.00
459,525.00

Premium

N/A
N/A
N/A

Total

$

459,525.00
495,525.00
24,879,525.00

$25,798,575.00

EXIIIBIT 1)-2
TO
DEPOSITORY TRUST AGREEMENT

DEBT SERVICE
2005 Bonds to be Refunded

Payment
Date

Principal
Retired

Interest

07/01/13
01/01/14
07/01/14
01/01/15
07/01/15

-0-0-0-0$14,435.000.00

$ 275,775.00
275,775.00
275,775.00
275,775.00
275,775.00

TOTAL

$14,435,000.00

$1,378,875.00

Premium

Total

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

$ 275,775.00
275,775.00
275,775.00
275,775.00
14,710,775.00
$15,813.875.00

SCHEDULE I
Costs and Expenses
Amount

Payee
Underwriter's Counsel
Fitch Ratings
S&P Ratings Service
Bond Counsel
Verification Agent
Bond Registrar
Depository Trustee
Official Statement Printing
Miscellaneous
TOTAL:

1'ho1-mxI3 .19455 2

S25,000.00
31,000.00
29.700.00
115,585.00
3,500.00
550.00
750.00
5,200.00
10,000.00
$221,285.00

PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
S50,000,000
$38,575,000
GENERAL OBLIG.-kTION BONDS GENERAL OBLIGATION REF LNDING BONDS
SERIES 2013B
SERIES 2013A

BOND REGISTRAR, TRANSFER AGENT AND PAYING AGENT AGREEMENT

FEDERAL TAXPAYER I.D. NO. 86-6000543

This Bond Registrar, Transfer Agent and Paying Agent Agreement dated as of June 1, 2013
(the "Agreement"), made and entered into by and between PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA (hereinafter
called the "County"); and U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (hereinafter called the "Bank")
witnesseth as follows:
The County will issue its bonds which will be known as $50.000,000 aggregate prinicipal
amount of General Obligation Bonds, Series 2013A and $38,575,000 aggregate principal amount of
General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2013B (collectively, the "Bonds"). The Bonds will be
issued in the aggregate principal amount of $88,575,000. The services of a registrar, transfer agent and
paying agent are necessary and in the best interests of the County. Initially, the Bonds will be issued in
book-entry-only form through The Depository Trust Company ("DTC") and, so long as the
book-entry-only system is in effect, the Bonds will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., the
nominee name of DTC.
The Bank desires to perform registrar, transfer agent and paying agent services during the life
of the Bonds.
For and in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants, conditions and agreements
hereinafter set forth, the parties do agree as follows:
Services. The Bank hereby agrees to provide the following services:

A.
Registrar services which shall include, but not be limited to
(1) authenticating and verifying the Bonds; (2) keeping registration books sufficient to comply with
Section 149 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"); (3) recording transfers of
ownership of the Bonds promptly as such transfers occur; (4) protecting against double or overissuance;
(5) authenticating new Bonds prepared for issuance to transferees of original and subsequent
purchasers; and (6) informing the County of the need for additional printings of the Bonds should the
forms printed prior to initial delivery prove inadequate.
Transfer agent services which shall include, but not be limited to,
B.
(1) receiving and verifying all Bonds tendered for transfer; (2) preparing new Bonds for delivery to
transferees and delivering same either by delivery or by mail, as the case may be; (3) destroying Bonds
submitted for transfer; and (4) providing proper information for recordation in the registration books.

Paying agent services which shall include, but not be limited to,
C.
(1) providing a billing to the County at least illirty (30) days prior to a Bond iiitcrcst payment date
setting forth the amount of principal and interest due on such date; (2) prepariiiLl. executing. wiring or
mailing all interest payments to each registered 0\\ ner of the Bonds one (1) business clay prior to the
scheduled payment date or as soon as mone) for pa) ment of such interest has been transferred to the
pa) ing agent but in no e cm (unless sufficient funds to make such payments have not been received by
the Bank) later than the time established by DTC, on the date such payments are due; (3) verifying all
matured Bonds upon their surrender; (4) paying all principal and premium, if any, due upon the Bonds
as they are properly surrendered therefor to the Bank; (5) preparing a semiannual reconciliation
showing all principal and interest paid during the period and providing copies thereof to the County; (6)
inventorying all cancelled checks, or microfilm proof of such checks, for (6) years after payment; and
(7) making proof of such payments available to the County or any owner or former owner.
Record Date. The Record Date for the payment of interest will be the fifteenth
2.
(15 111 ) day of the month preceding an interest payment date. Normal transfer activities will continue
after the Record Date but the interest payment on a particular certificate will be mailed to the registered
owners of Bonds as shown on the books of the Bank on the close of business on the Record Date.
Principal (and premium, if any) shall be paid only on surrender of the particular Bond at or after its
maturity or prior redemption date, if applicable.
Redemption Notices. The Bank agrees to provide certain notices to the Bond
3.
owners as required to be provided by the Bank in, and upon being provided with a copy of, the
resolution of the County approving the issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds. So long as the
Book-Entry-Only System is in effect, the Bank shall notify DTC of redemption in the manner required
by DTC. If the Book-Entry-Only System is discontinued, notice of redemption of any Bonds
redeemed prior to their stated maturity date shall be mailed by first class mail to each Registered Owner
not more than sixty (60) days nor less than thirty (30) days prior to the date of redemption. Notice of
redemption may be sent to any securities depository by mail, facsimile transmission, wire transmission
or any other means of transmission of the notice generally accepted by the respective securities
depository. The Bank also agrees to send notice of redemption to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking
Board (the "MSRB"), currently through the MSRB's Electronic Municipal Market Access system in
the manner required by the MSRB.
Notice of redemption shall be sent by first class mail or electronically to the Treasurer
of the County (the "Treasurer") and any depository institution which is a registered owner, such that
the notice of redemption is received not less than two (2) days prior to the date of general release to the
public. The Bank agrees to send a duplicate notice of redemption by first class mail to any registered
owner who has not submitted Bonds for redemption within thirty (30) days after the date set for
redemption.
Each redemption notice must contain, at a minimum, the complete official name of the
issue ith series designation, CUSIP number, certificate numbers, amount of each Bond called (for
partial calls). date of issue, interest rate, maturity date, publication date (date of release to the general
public or the date of general mailing of notices to Bond owners and information services), redemption
date, redemption price, redemption agent and the name and address of the place where Bonds are to be
tendered, including the name and phone number of the contact person. Such redemption notices may
contain a statement that no representation is made as to the accuracy of the CUSIP numbers printed
therein or on the Bonds.
2

Upon an:, redemption of Bonds. ihe Bank shall solicit from the
debt ser\ ice schedule and shall provide the same to the Treasurer.

a

revised Bond

4.
Issuance and Transfer of Bonds. 1 he Bank \\ iH issue Bonds to registered
owners. require Bonds to be surrendered and cancelled and new Bonds issued upon transfer, and
mai ntailt a set of registration books showing the names and addresses of the OM ners from time to time
of the Bonds. The Bank shall promptly record in the reuistration books all changes in ownership of
Bonds.
5.
Payment Deposit. The County will transfer or cause to be transferred,
immediately available funds to the Bank no later than one (1) business day prior to or, if agreed to by
the parties hereto, on the date on which the interest, principal and premium payments (if any) are due
on the Bonds but in no event later than the time established by DTC, on the date such payments are due.
The Bank shall not be responsible for payments to Bond owners from any source other than moneys
transferred, or caused to be transferred, to it by the County.
6.
Collateral. The Bank shall collateralize the funds on deposit at the Bank in
accordance with A.R.S. §§ 35-323 and 35-491.
7.
Turnaround Time. The Bank will comply with the three (3) business day
turnaround time required by Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 17Ad-2 on routine transfer
items.
Fee Schedule; Initial Fee. For its services under this Agreement, the County
8.
shall pay the Bank in accordance with the fee schedule set forth in the attached Exhibit A, which is
incorporated herein by reference. The fee for the Bank's initial services hereunder and services to be
rendered until the end of the County's next fiscal year (fiscal year 2013-2014) is $800.00 and shall be
billed by the Bank to the County after closing and paid by the County after the initial delivery of Bonds
solely from proceeds of the Bonds. Subsequent payments shall be made in accordance herewith.
9.
Fees for Services in Subsequent Fiscal Years. The Bank will bill the County.
prior to June 1, 2013, and prior to each June 1 thereafter.
10.
Costs and Expenses. The County hereby agrees to pay all costs and expenses
of the Bank pursuant hereto. If, for any reason, the amounts the County agrees to pay herein may not
be paid from the annual tax levy for debt service on the Bonds, such costs shall be paid by the County
from any funds lawfully available therefor and the County agrees to take all actions necessary to budget
for and authorize expenditure of such amounts.
11.
Hold Harmless. The Bank shall indemnify and hold harmless the Treasurer.
the County and all boards, commissions, officials, officers and employees of the Treasurer and the
County, individually and collectively, from the Bank's failure to perform to its standard of care as
herein stated.
12.
Standard of Care Required. In the absence of bad faith on its part in the
performance of its services under this Agreement, the Bank shall not be liable for any action taken or
omitted to be taken by it in good faith and believed by it to be authorized hereby or within the rights and
powers conferred upon it hereunder, nor for action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith and

in
ordance with advice of counsel, and shall not be liable for any mistakes of fact or error of
judument or for any actions or omissions of an kind unless caused by its ow n illful misconduct or
ne 121 i genCe.

13.
Entire Agreement. This Agreement and Exhibit A attached hereto contain the
entire understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and no waiver, alteration or
modification of any of the provisions hereof, shall be binding unless in writing and signed by a duly
authorized representative of all parties hereto.
14.
Amendment. The County and the Bank reserve the right to amend any
individual service set forth herein or all of the services upon providing a sixty (60) day prior written
notice. Any corporation, association or agency into which the Bank may be converted or merged, or
with which it may be consolidated, or to which it may sell or transfer its corporate trust business and
assets as a whole or substantially as a whole, or any corporation or association resulting from such
conversion, sale merger, consolidation or transfer to which it is a party, ipso facto, shall be and become
successor registrar, transfer agent and paying agent under this Agreement and vested with all or the
same rights, powers, discretions, immunities, privileges and all other matters as was its predecessor,
without the execution or filing of any instrument or any further act, deed or conveyance on the part of
any of the parties hereto, anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding.
15.
Resignation or Replacement. The Bank may resign or the County may
replace the Bank as registrar, transfer agent and paying agent at any time by giving thirty (30) days
written notice of resignation or replacement to the County or to the Bank, as applicable. The
resignation shall take effect upon the appointment of a successor registrar, transfer agent and paying
agent. A successor registrar, transfer agent and paying agent will be appointed by the County;
provided, that if a successor registrar, transfer agent and paying agent is not so appointed within ten (10)
days after a notice of resignation is received by the County, the Bank may apply to any court of
competent jurisdiction to appoint a successor registrar, transfer agent and paying agent. Any
resignation or replacement of the Bank pursuant to this Section shall be without cost to the County.

In the event the Bank resigns or is replaced, the County reserves the right to appoint a
successor registrar, transfer agent and paying agent who may qualify pursuant to A.R.S. § 35-491, et
seq., or any subsequent statute pertaining to the registration, transfer and payment of bonds. In such
event the provisions hereof with respect to payment by the County shall remain in full force and effect,
but the County shall then be authorized to use the funds collected for payment of the costs and expenses
of the Bank hereunder to pay the successor registrar, transfer agent and paying agent or as
reimbursement if the County acts as registrar, transfer agent and paying agent.
16.
Reports to Arizona Department of Revenue. The Bank shall make such
reports to the Arizona Department of Revenue (the "Department") pertaining to the retirement of any
Bonds and of all payments of interest thereon, within thirty (30) days of a request therefor, from the
Treasurer or the County, or the agents of either, to comp!) with the requirements of the Department
pursuant to A.R.S. § 35-502.
17.
Form of Records. The Bank's records shall be kept in compliance with
standards as have been or may be issued from time to time by the Securities and Exchange Commission,
the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board of the United States, the requirements of the Code and any
other securities industry standard. The Bank shall retain such records in accordance with the applicable
6497 1 4
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record keepine standard oldie Internal :Revenue s,:r\ ice. In lieu oldestruction nid immediatel ■ prior
to the date the Bank w d destro\ ;in Bond }H or Bond pa N meat records maintained by the
Bank pursuant to this AL.,,,reement, such record, ',Hall be provided to thc County.
18.
Advice of Counsel and Special Consultants. When the Bank deems it
necessary or reasonable, it may apply to Squire Sanders (US) LIP or such other law firm or attorney
for instructions or advice. Any tees and costs incurred shall be added to the next fiscal year's fees. costs
and expenses to be paid to the Bank.
19.
Examination of Records. The County or its duly authorized agents may
examine the records relating to the Bonds at the office of the Bank where such records are kept at
reasonable times as agreed upon with the Bank and such records shall be subject to audit from time to
time at the request of the County.
20.
Payment of Unclaimed Amounts. In the event any check for payment of
interest on a Bond is returned to the Bank unendorsed or is not presented for payment within two (2)
years from its payment date or any Bond is not presented for payment of principal at the maturity or
redemption date, if applicable, if funds sufficient to pay such interest or principal due upon such Bond
shall have been made available to the Bank for the benefit of the owner thereof, it shall be the duty of
the Bank to hold such funds, without liability for interest thereon, for the benefit of the owner of such
Bond who shall thereafter be restricted exclusively to such funds for any claim of whatever nature
relating to such Bond or amounts due thereunder. The Bank's obligation to hold such funds shall
continue for two years and six months (subject to applicable escheat or unclaimed property law)
following the date on which such interest or principal payment became due, whether at maturity, or at
the date fixed for redemption, or otherwise, at which time the Bank shall surrender such unclaimed
funds so held to the County, whereupon any claim of whatever nature by the owner of such Bond
arising under such Bond shall be made upon the County and shall be subject to the provisions of
applicable law.
21.
Invalid Provisions. If any provision hereof is held to be illegal, invalid or
unenforceable under present or future laws, this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such
illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision had never comprised a part of this Agreement; and the
remaining provisions hereof shall remain in full force and effect and shall not be affected by the illegal,
invalid or unenforceable provision.
22.
Mutilated, Lost or Destroyed Bonds. With respect to Bonds which are
mutilated. lost or destroyed. the Bank shall cause to be executed and delivered a new Bond of like date
and tenor in exchange and substitution for and upon the cancellation of such mutilated Bond or in lieu
of and in substitution for such Bond lost or destroyed, upon the registered owner's paying the
reasonable expenses and charges in connection therewith and, in the case of any Bond destroyed or lost,
filing by the registered owner with the Bank and the County of evidence satisfactory to the Bank and
the County that such Bond was destroyed or lost, and furnishing the Bank and the County with a
sufficient indemnity bond pursuant to A.R.S.§ 47-8405.
23.
Conflict of Interest. Each party gives notice to the other parties that A.R.S.
§ 38-511 provides that the State of Arizona (the "State"), its political subdivisions or any department or
agency of either. may within three (3) years after its execution cancel any contract without penalty or
further oblftat ion made by the State. its political subdivisions or any of the departments or agencies of

either, if any person significantly involved in initiating, negotiating, securing, drafting or creating the
contract on behalf of the State, its political subdivisions or any of the departments or agencies of either,
is at any time while the contract or any extension of the contract is in effect, an employee or agent of
any other party to the contract in any capacity or a consultant to any other party to the contract with
respect to the subject matter of the contract.
24.
Waiver of Trial by Jury. Each party hereto hereby agrees not to elect a trial
by jury of any issue triable of right by jury, and waives any right to trial by jury fully to the extent
that any such right shall now or hereafter exist with regard to this Agreement, or any claim,
counterclaim or other action arising in connection herewith. This waiver of right to trial by jury is
given knowingly and voluntarily by each party, and is intended to encompass individually each
instance and each issue as to which the right to a trial by jury would otherwise accrue.
25.
Levy for Expenses. Except for the initial fiscal year's costs and expenses, all
costs and expenses incurred with respect to services for registration, transfer and payment of the
Bonds and, if applicable, for costs and expenses in connection with the calculation of arbitrage
rebate shall be treated as interest on the Bonds and the County agrees to include the same in the taxes
levied for interest debt service during each of the ensuing fiscal years. The transferor of the Bonds
will be responsible for all fees and costs relating to the transfer of ownership of the Bonds
26.

Governing Law. This Agreement is governed by the laws of the State.

27.
Transfer Expenses. The transferor of any Bond will be responsible for all fees
and costs relating to such transfer of ownership.
28.
E-verify Requirements. To the extent applicable under A.R.S. § 41-4401,
the Bank and its subcontractors warrant compliance with all federal immigration laws and
regulations that relate to their employees and compliance with the E-verify requirements under
A.R.S. § 23-214(A). The Bank's, or a subcontractor's, breach of the above-mentioned warranty shall
be deemed a material breach of this Agreement and may result in the termination of the Agreement
by the County. The County retains the legal right to randomly inspect the papers and records of the
Bank and its subcontractors who work on the Agreement to ensure that the Bank and its
subcontractors are complying with the above-mentioned warranty.
The Bank and its subcontractors warrant to keep the papers and records open for
random inspection by the County during normal business hours. The bank and its subcontractors
shall cooperate with the County's random inspections including granting the County entry rights
onto its property to perform the random inspections and waiving their respective rights to keep such
papers and records confidential.
29.
Scrutinized Business Operations. Pursuant to A.R.S. §§ 35-391.06 and
35-393.06, the Bank certifies that it does not have scrutinized business operations in Sudan or Iran.
For the purpose of this Section the term "scrutinized business operations" shall have the meanings
set forth in A.R.S. §§ 35-391 and/or 35-393, as applicable. If the County determines that the bank
submitted a false certification, the County may impose remedies as provided by law including
terminating this Agreement.
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This

cement is clated arid effective •i ,; of J .Line 1, 2013.
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By:

ATTEST:

By:

APPROVED AS TO FORM:
SQUIRE SANDERS (US) LEP.
Bond Counsel

By

Attachment: Exhibit A, Fee Schedule of the Registrar.

[Signature page of Bond Registrar, Transfer Agent and Paying Agent Agreement]
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EXHIBIT J.
REGISTRAR. TRANSFER AGENT AND PAYING AGENT'S FEE SCHEDULE
See attached Fee Schedule.
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Schedule of Fees for Services as
Depository Trustee, Bond Registrar and Paying Agent

COUNTY OF PIMA, ARIZONA
General Obligation and Refunding Bonds, Series 2013
Acceptance Fee
The acceptance fee includes the administrative review of documents, initial set-up of
the accounts, and other reasonably required services up to and including the closing.
Also includes payment of Costs of Issuance, if required. This is a one-time fee,
payable at closing.

$250.00

One Time Depository Trustee Fee
Administration fee for performance of the routine duties of the depository trustee
associated with the management of the account. This is a one time fee payable at
closing.

$750.00

Annual Registrar and Paying Agent Fee
Annual administration fee for performance of the routine duties of the registrar and
paying agent associated with the management of the account. Payable at closing
and annually in advance thereafter.

$300.00

Direct Out of Pocket Expenses
Reimbursement of expenses associated with the performance of our duties, including
but not limited to publications, legal counsel after the initial close, travel expenses
and filing fees.

At Cost

Extraordinary fees are payable to the Trustee or Agent for duties or responsibilities not expected to be incurred at the
outset of the transaction, not routine or customary, and not incurred in the ordinary course of Business. Payment of
extraordinary fees is appropriate where particular inquiries, events or developments are unexpected, even if the possibility
of such things could have been identified at the inception of the transaction.
IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT PROCEDURES FOR OPENING A NEW ACCOUNT:
To help the government fight the funding of terrorism and money laundering activities, Federal law requires all financial
institutions to obtain, verify and record information that identifies each person who opens an account. For a non-individual
person such as a business entity, a charity, a Trust or other legal entity we will ask for documentation to verify its formation
and existence as a legal entity. We may also ask to see financial statements, licenses, identification and authorization
documents from individuals claiming authority to represent the entity or other relevant documentation.

Dated: May 28, 2013

*FINAL*
SETTLEMENT, DELIVERY & CLOSING PROCEDURES
ISSUE:

Pima County, Arizona
$50,000,000
General Obligation Bonds
Series 2013A

BONDS DATED:

INTEREST PAYMENT
DATES:

MATURITY DATES,
PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS,
INTEREST RATES:

CLOSING:

$38,575,000
General Obligation Refunding Bonds
Series 2013B

June 5, 2013

Interest payable semiannually on January 1 and July 1 of each year, commencing
January 1, 2014.

See Exhibit A.

The Closing will be held telephonically on Wednesday, June 5, 2013 at 8:30 a.m.
(MST). Details for the call are as follows:
Dial-In No. 1-866-365-4406
Access Code 3815365

PARTICIPANTS:

REGISTRATION &
AUTHENTICATION:

See Exhibit D.

After the Bonds have been registered and executed, U.S. Bank National Association
(the “Bond Registrar and Paying Agent”) will confirm arrangements for a F.A.S.T.
closing with the Depository Trust Co. (DTC), 55 Water Street, 1st Floor, New York,
New York 10041.

SETTLEMENT
INSTRUCTIONS:
Par Value @ 100
Plus: Original Issue Premium
Less: Underwriter’s Discount
Purchase Price

$88,575,000.00
5,791,271.10
(584,595.00)
$93,781,676.10

Settlement, Delivery & Closing Procedures
$88,575,000
Pima County, Arizona
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2013A and
General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2013B
Page 2

FLOW OF FUNDS:

On the day of closing, RBC Capital Markets, LLC (“RBC”) will initiate the
following wire transfers:
(A) $52,048,668.03, representing the amount necessary to pay project costs and make
a deposit to the debt service fund, will be wire transferred by RBC, in federal or
immediately available funds, to the Pima County Treasurer’s Office (the
“County Treasurer”) as follows:
Bank of America
201 E Washington
Phoenix, AZ 85004
ABA No.: 026009593
Credit to: Pima County Treasurer
Account Number: 412724156
Reference: PC GO Bonds 2013A
Confirmation of the receipt of funds will be made on the morning of closing with
Rosemary Davenport at the Pima County Treasurer’s Office at (520) 724-8814.
(B) 41,733,008.07, representing the amount necessary to purchase escrow securities to
provide for the Bonds Being Refunded (see attached Exhibit B) and pay costs of
issuance, will be wire transferred by RBC, in federal or immediately available
funds, to U.S. Bank National Association (the “Depository Trustee”) as follows:
U.S. Bank
ABA #091000022
U.S. Bank Trust A/C # 180121167365
BNF: Corp Trust Wire Clearing Acct
Ref: Account #204303000, Pima County GO 2013B
Attention: Veverly Saucer (602) 257-5413

USES:

(1) The amount listed under (A) above will be applied as follows:
(A) $49,932,000.00 in proceeds received by the County Treasurer will be used
for project costs.
(B) $2,116,668.03 in proceeds received by the County Treasurer will be
deposited into the Debt Service Fund and used to pay interest on the Bonds.
(2) The amount listed under (B) above will be applied as follows:
(A) $41,511,723.07 in proceeds received by the Depository Trustee will be
deposited into the Trust Account and used to fund an initial cash deposit
and purchase escrow securities (see attached Exhibit C) to provide for the
Bonds Being Refunded.
(B) $221,285.00 in proceeds received by the Depository Trustee will be
deposited into the Expense Account and used to pay delivery costs for the
Bonds.

DELIVERY
INSTRUCTIONS:

When all parties are satisfied that all monies have been transferred and that
documentation is in order, the Bonds will be released to the credit of RBC, via the
DTC closing desk (212) 855-3752.
Prepared by
RBC Capital Markets
2398 E Camelback Road, Suite 700
Phoenix, AZ 85016
June 4, 2012

Exhibit A-1
$50,000,000
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
SERIES 2013A

Maturity Dates, Principal Amount, Interest Rates and CUSIPs

Dated:

Date
01/01/2014
07/01/2014
01/01/2015
07/01/2015
01/01/2016
07/01/2016
01/01/2017
07/01/2017
01/01/2018
07/01/2018
01/01/2019
07/01/2019
01/01/2020
07/01/2020
01/01/2021
07/01/2021
01/01/2022
07/01/2022
01/01/2023
07/01/2023
01/01/2024
07/01/2024
01/01/2025
07/01/2025
01/01/2026
07/01/2026
01/01/2027
07/01/2027
01/01/2028
07/01/2028
Totals

06/05/2013

Delivered:

Principal (1)

Coupon

$3,000,000

1.000%

2,885,000

1.500%

2,930,000

1.750%

2,980,000

1.750%

3,030,000

2.000%

3,095,000

2.000%

3,155,000

(2)

3,230,000

(3)

3,325,000

3.000%

3,425,000

3.000%

3,525,000

3.000%

3,630,000

4.000%

3,775,000

4.000%

3,930,000

4.000%

4,085,000

4.000%

$50,000,000

Interest

Total D/S

$797,005.42
696,412.50
681,412.50
681,412.50
659,775.00
659,775.00
634,137.50
634,137.50
608,062.50
608,062.50
577,762.50
577,762.50
546,812.50
546,812.50
507,987.50
507,987.50
462,525.00
462,525.00
412,650.00
412,650.00
361,275.00
361,275.00
308,400.00
308,400.00
235,800.00
235,800.00
160,300.00
160,300.00
81,700.00
81,700.00

$797,005.42
3,696,412.50
681,412.50
3,566,412.50
659,775.00
3,589,775.00
634,137.50
3,614,137.50
608,062.50
3,638,062.50
577,762.50
3,672,762.50
546,812.50
3,701,812.50
507,987.50
3,737,987.50
462,525.00
3,787,525.00
412,650.00
3,837,650.00
361,275.00
3,886,275.00
308,400.00
3,938,400.00
235,800.00
4,010,800.00
160,300.00
4,090,300.00
81,700.00
4,166,700.00

$13,970,617.92

$63,970,617.92

FY Total

CUSIP
(721663)

4,493,417.92

WV0

4,247,825.00

WW8

4,249,550.00

WX6

4,248,275.00

WY4

4,246,125.00

WZ1

4,250,525.00

XA5

4,248,625.00

(2)

4,245,975.00

(3)

4,250,050.00

XD9

4,250,300.00

XE7

4,247,550.00

XF4

4,246,800.00

XG2

4,246,600.00

XH0

4,250,600.00

XJ6

4,248,400.00

XK3

$63,970,617.92

(1) The Series 2013A Bonds maturing on or after July 1, 2024 are subject to optional redemption prior to their stated
maturity on or after July 1, 2023 at Par.
(2) Represents a split maturity: $1,700,000 with CUSIP 721663XB3 at 2.000% coupon and $1,455,000 with
CUSIP 721663XT4 at 3.000% coupon.
(3) Represents a split maturity: $1,195,000 with CUSIP 721663XC1 at 2.500% coupon and $2,035,000 with
CUSIP 721663XU1 at 3.000% coupon.

06/05/2013

Exhibit A-2
$38,575,000
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS
SERIES 2013B

Maturity Dates, Principal Amount, Interest Rates and CUSIPs

Dated:

Date
01/01/2014
07/01/2014
01/01/2015
07/01/2015
01/01/2016
07/01/2016
01/01/2017
07/01/2017
01/01/2018
07/01/2018
01/01/2019
07/01/2019
01/01/2020
07/01/2020
Totals

06/05/2013

Delivered:

Principal (1)

Coupon

$10,000

2.000%

4,480,000

3.000%

4,650,000

3.000%

9,355,000

3.000%

9,680,000

(2)

5,245,000

3.000%

5,155,000

3.000%

$38,575,000

Interest

Total D/S

$699,112.50
610,875.00
610,775.00
610,775.00
543,575.00
543,575.00
473,825.00
473,825.00
333,500.00
333,500.00
156,000.00
156,000.00
77,325.00
77,325.00

$699,112.50
620,875.00
610,775.00
5,090,775.00
543,575.00
5,193,575.00
473,825.00
9,828,825.00
333,500.00
10,013,500.00
156,000.00
5,401,000.00
77,325.00
5,232,325.00

$5,699,987.50

$44,274,987.50

FY Total

CUSIP
(721663)

1,319,987.50

XL1

5,701,550.00

XM9

5,737,150.00

XN7

10,302,650.00

XP2

10,347,000.00

(2)

5,557,000.00

XR8

5,309,650.00

XS6

$44,274,987.50

(1) The Series 2012B Bonds are not subject to optional redemption prior to their stated maturity.
(2) Represents a split maturity: $3,220,000 with CUSIP 721663XQ0 at 3.000% coupon and $6,460,000 with
CUSIP 721663XW7 at 4.000% coupon.
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Exhibit B

$38,575,000
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS
SERIES 2013B

Bonds to be Refunded
Pima County, Arizona
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2004

Maturity Date

CUSIP
(721663)

07/01/2015
07/01/2016
07/01/2017
07/01/2018
07/01/2019

RU8
RV6
RW4
RX2
RY0

Total

Par Amount
$4,415,000
4,635,000
4,870,000
5,115,000
5,385,000

Interest Rate

Call Date

4.125%
4.375%
4.500%
3.000%
3.000%

07/01/2014
07/01/2014
07/01/2014
07/01/2014
07/01/2014

Call Price
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

$24,420,000

Pima County, Arizona
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2005

Maturity Date

CUSIP
(721663)

07/01/2017
07/01/2018
07/01/2020

SL7
SM5
SP8

Total

Par Amount
$4,530,000
4,735,000
5,170,000
$14,435,000

Interest Rate

Call Date

4.000%
4.000%
3.500%

07/01/2015
07/01/2015
07/01/2015

Call Price
100%
100%
100%

Exhibit C
$38,575,000
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS
SERIES 2013B
Escrow Securities*

Type of
Security

Maturity
Date

T-Note
T-Note
T-Note
T-Note
T-Note

06/30/2013
12/31/2013
06/30/2014
12/31/2014
06/30/2015

Par Amount
$

271,000
270,000
24,700,000
131,000
14,573,000
$ 39,945,000

Rate
0.375%
1.500%
2.625%
2.625%
1.875%

Price

100.033531% $
271,090.87
100.794773%
272,145.89
102.645914%
25,353,540.76
103.790504%
135,965.56
103.464007%
15,077,809.74

* Does not include initial cash deposit of $343.45 into the Trust Account.

Accrued
Interest

Cost
$

Total
Cost

437.94 $
271,528.81
1,745.30
273,891.19
279,410.22
25,632,950.98
1,481.89
137,447.45
117,751.45
15,195,561.19

Exhibit D
PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2013A
AND
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2013B
PRELIMINARY DISTRIBUTION LIST

PIMA COUNTY

BOND COUNSEL

Finance and Risk Management Department
130 West Congress, 10th Floor
Tucson, AZ 85701
Fax: (520) 740-8171

Squire Sanders (US) LLP
1 E. Washington Street, Suite 2700
Phoenix, AZ 85004
Fax: (602) 253-8129

Tom Burke
Finance and Risk Management Director
(520) 724-3030
e-mail: tom.burke@pima.gov

Timothy E. Pickrell
P: (602) 528-4031
C: (602) 617-9260
e-mail: timothy.pickrell@squiresanders.com

Finance and Risk Management Department
130 West Congress, 6th Floor
Tucson, AZ 85701
Fax: (520) 243-2329

Pedro Miranda
(602) 528-4843
e-mail: pedro.miranda@squiresanders.com
Jennifer R. Cosper
(602) 528-4880
e-mail: jennifer.cosper@squiresanders.com

Ellen Moulton
(520) 724-3138
e-mail : ellen.moulton@pima.gov

UNDERWRITER
Michelle Campagne
(520) 724-8410
e-mail: michelle.campagne@pima.gov

RBC Capital Markets, LLC
2398 East Camelback Road, Suite 700
Phoenix, AZ 85016
Fax: (602) 381-5380

County Attorney’s Office
130 West Congress
Tucson, Arizona 85701

Kurt M. Freund
(602) 381-5365
e-mail: kurt.freund@rbccm.com

Regina Nassen
(520) 724-5411
e-mail: regina.nassen@pcao.pima.gov

Kathryn Pong
(602) 381-5359
e-mail: kathryn.pong@rbccm.com

PIMA COUNTY TREASURER
Pima County Treasurer's Office
115 North Church
Tucson, AZ 85701
Fax: (520) 884-4809

Kathy Salcido
(602) 381-5371
e-mail : kathy.salcido@rbccm.com
3 World Financial Center
200 Vesey St., 5th Floor
New York, NY 10281

Beth Ford
County Treasurer
(520) 724-8341
e-mail: beth.ford@pima.gov

Jonathan Kasper
(212) 858-8372
e-mail : jonathan.kasper@rbccm.com
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UNDERWRITER (continued)

RATING AGENCIES

BROADRIDGE

Standard & Poor’s Corporation
One Market, Steuart Tower 15th Floor
San Francisco, California 94105-1000
Fax: (415) 371-5090

BROADRIDGE
FBO RBC Capital Markets
1155 LONG ISLAND AVE
EDGEWOOD NY 11717
(631) 254-7270
Attention: Receiving

Alda Mostofi
(415) 371-5061
e-mail: alda_mostofi@sandp.com
55 Water Street, 38th Floor
New York, New York 10041
Fax: (212) 438-2156

Sabrina Neat
Sabrina.neat@broadridge.com
Marielle Manigat
Marielle.manigat@broadridge.com

Sussan Corson
(212)438-2014
e-mail: sussan_corson@sandp.com

Magdeline Delacruz
Magdeline.delacruz@broadridge.com

Fitch Ratings
111 Congress Avenue
Austin, TX 78701
Fax: (512) 215-3738

UNDERWRITER’S COUNSEL

Greenberg Traurig LLP
2375 East Camelback Road, Suite 700
Phoenix, AZ 85016
Fax: (602) 445-8100

Steve M. Murray
(512) 215-3729
e-mail: steve.murray@fitchratings.com

Mr. Michael Cafiso
(602) 445-8452
e-mail: cafisom@gtlaw.com

Rebecca Meyer
(512) 215-3733
e-mail: rebecca.meyer@fitchratings.com

Brigitte Finley Green
(602) 445-8467
e-mail: greenb@gtlaw.com

BOND REGISTRAR & PAYING AGENT
U.S. Bank National Association
101 North First Avenue, Suite 1600
Phoenix, Arizona 85003
Fax: (602) 257-5433
Keith Henselen
(602) 257-5431
e-mail: keith.henselen@usbank.com
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